CALIX, INC Form 424B3 December 15, 2010 Table of Contents

Filed Pursuant to Rule 424 (b)(3)

Registration No. 333-170282

The accompanying proxy statement/prospectus is dated December 14, 2010, and is first being mailed to Occam stockholders on or about December 17, 2010.

MERGER PROPOSED YOUR VOTE IS VERY IMPORTANT

Dear Occam Networks, Inc. Stockholders:

The board of directors of Occam Networks, Inc. (Occam) has unanimously adopted and approved an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization in which a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Calix, Inc. (Calix) will merge with Occam, with Occam continuing as the interim surviving entity. Immediately thereafter, Occam will merge with a second direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Calix, with such subsidiary continuing as the final surviving entity. The first merger is referred to herein as the first-step merger, the second merger is referred to herein as the second-step merger, and the first-step merger and second-step merger are collectively referred to herein as the merger transaction. We are sending you the accompanying proxy statement/prospectus to notify you of the special meeting of Occam stockholders being held to vote on the adoption of the merger agreement and related matters and to ask you to vote at the special meeting in favor of the adoption of the merger agreement.

If the merger agreement is adopted by our stockholders and the merger transaction is completed, for each share of Occam common stock that you hold as of the effective time of the first-step merger, which we refer to as the effective time, you will be entitled to receive (i) 0.2925 shares of Calix common stock and (ii) \$3.8337 in cash. We refer to this combination of cash and stock together as the merger consideration.

Calix s common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol CALX, and Occam s common stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol OCNW.

For a discussion of risk factors that you should consider in evaluating the merger transaction and the other matters on which you are being asked to vote, see <u>Risk Factors</u> beginning on page 26 of the enclosed proxy statement/prospectus. The market price of Calix common stock will continue to fluctuate following the date of the stockholder vote on the merger proposal at the special meeting. Consequently, at the time of the stockholder vote, the value of the stock consideration will not yet be determined.

We cannot complete the merger transaction without the approval of holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting. A failure to vote on the proposal to adopt the merger agreement has the same effect as a vote by you AGAINST the adoption of the merger agreement. Therefore, your vote is very important, regardless of the number of shares of common stock you own, and we urge you to take the time to vote by following the instructions on your proxy card regardless of whether you plan to attend the special meeting.

You will also have an opportunity to vote to approve the adjournment of the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are an insufficient number of votes at the time of such adjournment to adopt the merger agreement, referred to as the adjournment proposal.

The special meeting will be held at 10:00 a.m. (local time) on January 27, 2011, at Occam s offices at 3185 Laurelview Court, Fremont, California 94538.

The Occam board of directors unanimously recommends that you vote FOR the adoption of the merger agreement and FOR the adjournment proposal.

Sincerely,

Robert L. Howard-Anderson

President and Chief Executive Officer

Occam Networks, Inc.

Neither the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of the securities to be issued under the accompanying proxy statement/prospectus or determined that the accompanying proxy statement/prospectus is accurate or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The accompanying proxy statement/prospectus incorporates important business and financial information about Calix and Occam from other documents that are not included in or delivered with the proxy statement/prospectus. This information is available to you without charge upon your request. You can obtain documents in this proxy statement/prospectus or filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part, without charge, by requesting them in writing or by telephone from the appropriate company at the following addresses:

Calix, Inc. 1035 N. McDowell Boulevard Petaluma, California 94954 Attn: Investor Relations Tel: (415) 445-3232 Occam Networks, Inc. 6868 Cortona Drive Santa Barbara, California Attn: Investor Relations Tel: (805) 692-2957

In addition, if you have questions about the merger transaction or the proxy statement/prospectus, would like additional copies of the proxy statement/prospectus or need to obtain proxy cards or other information related to the proxy solicitation, you may contact Innisfree M&A Incorporated, Occam s proxy solicitor, at the address and telephone number listed below. You will not be charged for any of such documents that you request.

Innisfree M&A Incorporated

501 Madison Avenue, 20th Floor

New York, New York 10022

Stockholders May Call Toll-Free: (888) 750-5834

Banks & Brokers May Call Collect: (212) 750-5833

To obtain timely delivery of the documents in advance of the special meeting of stockholders, you must request the information no later than January 20, 2011 (which is five business days prior to the date of the special meeting).

For more information, see Where You Can Find More Information beginning on page 284.

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

TO BE HELD ON JANUARY 27, 2011

To the Stockholders of Occam Networks, Inc.:

A special meeting of the stockholders of Occam Networks, Inc., a Delaware corporation (Occam), will be held on January 27, 2011, starting at 10:00 a.m., local time, at Occam s offices at 3185 Laurelview Court, Fremont, California 94538, for the following purposes:

- to consider and vote upon the proposal to adopt the Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of September 16, 2010 (as it may be amended from time to time prior to the date hereof, the merger agreement), by and among Calix, Inc., Ocean Sub I, Inc., Ocean Sub II, LLC and Occam, a copy of which is attached as <u>Annex A</u> to the proxy statement/prospectus accompanying this notice, which proposal is referred to as the merger proposal; and
- 2. to consider and vote upon any proposal to adjourn the special meeting to a later date or time, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there are an insufficient number of votes at the time of such adjournment to adopt the merger agreement, which proposal is referred to as the adjournment proposal.

Occam s board of directors has designated the close of business on December 13, 2010 as the record date that will determine the stockholders who are entitled to receive notice of, and to vote at, the special meeting or at any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting. Only stockholders of record at the close of business on the record date are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the special meeting and at any adjournment or postponement thereof. The list of stockholders entitled to vote at the special meeting will be available for inspection at 6868 Cortona Drive, Santa Barbara, California 93117, beginning 10 days prior to the date of the special meeting and continuing through the special meeting.

At a meeting duly called and held, Occam s board of directors has (i) unanimously determined that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby are fair to, advisable and in the best interests of Occam s stockholders, (ii) unanimously approved and adopted the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby and (iii) unanimously resolved to recommend adoption of the merger agreement and the other transactions contemplated thereby by the stockholders of Occam.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF OCCAM UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FOR THE MERGER PROPOSAL AND FOR THE ADJOURNMENT PROPOSAL.

Your vote is very important. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Occam entitled to vote at the special meeting is required to adopt the merger agreement. Accordingly, a failure to vote, or an abstention from voting, will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST the adoption of the merger agreement.

Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting in person, we urge you to submit your proxy as promptly as possible (1) through the Internet, (2) by telephone or (3) by marking, signing and dating the enclosed proxy card and returning it in the pre-addressed postage-paid envelope provided. You may revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted at the special meeting. If you attend the special meeting and wish to vote in person, then you may revoke your proxy and vote in person. If your shares are held in street name by your bank, broker or other nominee, only that bank, broker or other nominee can vote your shares and a vote cannot be cast unless you provide such bank, broker or other nominee with instructions or obtain a legal proxy from them. You should follow the directions provided by your bank, broker or other nominee regarding how to instruct them to vote your shares.

Please review the proxy statement/prospectus accompanying this notice for more complete information regarding the merger transaction, the merger agreement and the other matters to be considered at the special meeting. We urge you to read the accompanying proxy statement/prospectus and its annexes carefully and in their entirety.

By Order of the Board of Directors of Occam Networks, Inc.

Robert L. Howard-Anderson President and Chief Executive Officer

December 14, 2010

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER TRANSACTION AND THE SPECIAL MEETING	1
<u>SUMMARY</u>	7
Information about the Companies (page 135)	7
The Merger (page 73)	8
Merger Consideration (page 117)	8
Treatment of Occam Options and Other Equity Awards (page 117)	8
Risk Factors (page 26)	8
Special Meeting of Occam Stockholders (page 69)	9
Occam s Reasons for the Merger: Recommendation of the Occam Board of Directors (page 90)	9
Opinion of Occam s Financial Advisor (page 95)	10
Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger (page 106)	10
Outstanding Stock Entitled to Vote held by Certain Stockholders and the Vote Required to Adopt the Merger Agreement	11
Regulatory Approvals Required for the Merger (page 109)	11
Appraisal Rights (page 110)	11
NYSE Listing of Calix Common Stock (page 116)	12
Delisting and Deregistration of Occam Common Stock (page 116)	12
Conditions to the Merger (page 127)	12
Expected Timing of the Merger (page 110)	13
No Solicitation of Offers by Occam (page 125)	13
Termination of the Merger Agreement (page 129)	13
Termination Fees and Expenses (page 130)	14
Accounting Treatment (page 113)	15
Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger Transaction (page 113)	15
Management of Calix Following the Merger	15
Comparison of Rights of Calix Stockholders and Occam Stockholders (page 273)	16
SELECTED HISTORICAL AND UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL DATA	17
Selected Historical Financial Data of Calix	17
Selected Consolidated Historical Financial Data of Occam	19
Selected Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Data	22
Comparative Historical and Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Per Share Data	24
Comparative Per Share Market Price Data	25
RISK FACTORS	26
Risks Related to the Merger	20 26
<u>Risks Related to Calix (and the Combined Company in the event the Merger Transaction is Completed)</u>	20 30
Risks Related to Occam	49
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	67
THE SPECIAL MEETING OF OCCAM STOCKHOLDERS	69
Date, Time and Place	69
Purpose of Special Meeting	69
Recommendation of the Occam Board of Directors	69
Occam Record Date; Shares Entitled to Vote	69
Quorum	69
Required Vote	70

i

	Page
Abstentions	70
Shares Held in Street Name	70
Voting of Proxies by Holders of Record	70
Stockholders Sharing an Address	71
Revocability of Proxies	71
Adjournments and Postponements	71
Solicitation of Proxies	72
PROPOSAL ONE THE MERGER	73
General	73
Background of the Merger	73
Occam s Reasons for the Merger: Recommendation of the Occam Board of Directors	90
Considerations Regarding Calix Common Stock.	92
Recommendation of the Occam Board of Directors	94
<u>Calix s Reasons for the Merger</u>	94
Opinion of Occam s Financial Advisor	95
Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger	106
Management of Calix Following the Merger	109
Manner and Procedure for Exchanging Shares of Occam Common Stock	109
Regulatory Approvals Required for the Merger	109
Expected Timing of the Merger	110
No Calix Stockholder Approval Required	110
<u>Appraisal Rights</u>	110
Merger Expenses, Fees and Costs	113
Accounting Treatment	113
Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger Transaction	113
NYSE Listing of Calix Common Stock	116
Delisting and Deregistration of Occam Common Stock	116
THE MERGER AGREEMENT	117
Structure of the Merger	117
Merger Consideration	117
Treatment of Occam Options and Other Equity-Based Awards	117
Representations and Warranties	118
Conduct of Business Pending the Merger	121
Reasonable Best Efforts of Occam to Obtain the Required Stockholder Vote	122
Agreement to use Reasonable Best Efforts With Respect to Certain Matters	122
Other Covenants and Agreements	123
No Solicitation of Offers by Occam	125
Conditions to the Merger	128
<u>Effective Time</u>	129
Termination of the Merger Agreement	129
Termination Fees and Expenses	130
Amendment and Waiver	131
Exclusive Jurisdiction	131
AGREEMENTS ENTERED INTO IN CONNECTION WITH THE MERGER AGREEMENT	132
Support Agreement	132
PROPOSAL TWO ADJOURNMENT OR POSTPONEMENT OF SPECIAL MEETING	134
Approval of Adjournment or Postponement of the Special Meeting of Occam Stockholders	134
INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANIES	135
Calix, Inc.	135
Ocean Sub I, Inc.	135

	Page
Ocean Sub II, LLC	135
Occam Networks, Inc.	135
CALIX BUSINESS	136
Overview	136
Industry Background	136
Access Networks are Critical and Strategic to CSPs and Policymakers	137
Limitations of Traditional Access Networks	137
The Calix Solution	139
Calix s Strategy	140
Customers	142
Products and Technology	144
Research and Development	152
Manufacturing	152
Intellectual Property	153
Competition	153
Government Funding Initiatives	154
Employees	155
Properties	155
Legal Proceedings	155
Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure	157
Corporate Information	157
OCCAM BUSINESS	158
Corporate Information	158
Overview	158
Industry Background	158
The Occam Networks Solution	160
<u>Strategy</u>	161
Products	162
Technology	164
Customers	165
Sales and Marketing	166
Technical Service and Customer Support	167
Research and Development	167
Patents and Intellectual Property	167
Manufacturing	168
Competition	168
Governmental Regulation	169
Employees	171
Facilities	171
Backlog	171
Geographic Information	171
Legal Proceedings	171
Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure	175
MARKET PRICE AND DIVIDEND INFORMATION	176
Comparative Stock Prices and Dividends	176
Number of Holders of Common Stock and Number of Shares Outstanding	170
SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA OF CALIX	178
Summary Historical Financial Data of Calix	178

	Page
CALIX MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS	180
Overview	180
Basis of Presentation	180
Results of Operations	190
Quarterly Results of Operations	197
Liquidity and Capital Resources	199
Working Capital and Capital Expenditure Needs	202
Contractual Obligations and Commitments	203
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements	203
Recent Accounting Pronouncements	203
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT THE MARKET RISK OF CALIX	205
SELECTED CONSOLIDATED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA OF OCCAM	206
Summary Historical Financial Data of Occam	206
OCCAM MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS	208
<u>Overview</u>	208
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates	208
Results of Operations	212
Quarterly Results of Operations	220
Liquidity and Capital Resources	222
Working Capital	224
Contractual Obligations	225
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements	225
Indemnification Obligations	225
Recent Accounting Pronouncements	226
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT THE MARKET RISK OF OCCAM	227
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	228
Introduction	228
Pro Forma Combined Information	228
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet	230
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations	231
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations	232
Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information	233
MANAGEMENT FOLLOWING THE MERGER	236
Management of Calix	236
Executive Officers and Directors	236
Executive Officers	236
Board of Directors	238
Committees of the Board of Directors	241
Director Compensation	243
Executive Compensation	245
Pension Benefits	256
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation	256
Quantification of Termination-Based and Change in Control-Based Payments	256
Offer Letters	257
Limitation of Liability and Indemnification	258

	Page
Non-Employee Directors of Occam	259
Director Compensation	261
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation	263
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMBINED COMPANY	264
Preferred Stock Issuances	264
Investors Rights Agreement	266
Voting Agreement	266
Promissory Note	266
Stock Purchase Agreement 2008 Stock Option Repricing	266 266
2009 Stock Option Exchange Program	200
Stock Option Grants	268
Change in Control Arrangements	268
Indemnification Agreements	268
Policies and Procedures for Related Party Transactions	268
DESCRIPTION OF CALIX CAPITAL STOCK	269
Authorized Share Capital	269
Voting Rights	269
Supermajority Voting	269
Quorum	269
Dividend Rights	269
Rights and Preferences Board of Directors Number, Removal and Classification	270 270
Liquidation Rights	270
<u>New Shares</u>	270
Preferred Stock	270
Registration Rights	270
Antitakeover Provisions	271
Stock Exchange Listing	272
COMPARISON OF RIGHTS OF CALIX STOCKHOLDERS AND OCCAM STOCKHOLDERS	273
PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS OF CALIX	279
PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS OF OCCAM	282
LEGAL MATTERS	284
EXPERTS	284
FUTURE STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS	284
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	284
INDEX TO CALIX, INC. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	F-1
INDEX TO OCCAM NETWORKS, INC. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	
ANNEX A: Merger Agreement	
ANNEX A: Merger Agreement ANNEX B: Opinion of Jefferies & Company, Inc.	
ANNEX C: Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporations Law	
ANNEX D: Support Agreement	

v

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER TRANSACTION AND

THE SPECIAL MEETING

Set forth below are commonly asked questions and answers about the merger transaction, the merger agreement and the special meeting of Occam stockholders called in connection with the merger transaction. These questions and answers do not address all questions that may be important to you as an Occam stockholder. For a more complete description of the legal and other terms of the merger transaction, please read carefully this entire proxy statement/prospectus, including the annexes. See Where You Can Find More Information beginning on page 284.

All references in this proxy statement/prospectus to Calix refer to Calix, Inc., a Delaware corporation; all references in this proxy statement/prospectus to Occam refer to Occam Networks, Inc., a Delaware corporation; all references in this proxy statement/prospectus to Ocean Sub I refer to Ocean Sub I, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Calix; all references to Ocean Sub II refer to Ocean Sub II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Calix; all references to the merger agreement refer to the Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of September 16, 2010, by and among Calix, Ocean Sub I, Ocean Sub II and Occam, as it may be amended from time to time, and all references to the merger transaction refer to the first-step merger and the second-step merger contemplated by the merger agreement taken together. Throughout this proxy statement/prospectus, we refer to Calix s registered shares, par value \$0.025 per share, as Calix common shares or Calix shares or Calix common stock; and Occam common stock, \$0.001 par value per share, as Occam common stock or Occam shares.

Questions About the Merger Transaction

Q: Why am I receiving this document?

A: Calix has agreed to acquire Occam pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement that is described in this proxy statement/prospectus. A copy of the merger agreement is attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as <u>Annex A</u>.

In order to complete the merger transaction, Occam stockholders must adopt the merger agreement. Occam is holding a special meeting of stockholders to obtain this stockholder approval.

This proxy statement/prospectus contains important information about the merger transaction and the special meeting of the stockholders of Occam, and you should read it carefully and in its entirety. The enclosed voting materials allow you to vote your shares without attending the special meeting in person.

Your vote is very important. We encourage you to vote as soon as possible. For more information on how to vote your shares, please see the section entitled The Special Meeting of Occam Stockholders beginning on page 69.

Q: What vote is required to adopt the merger agreement?

A: The affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Occam common stock is the only vote of the holders of any Occam common stock necessary to adopt the merger agreement and thereby approve the merger transaction. Because the vote required to adopt the merger agreement is based upon the total number of outstanding shares of Occam common stock entitled to vote, the failure to submit a proxy card (or the failure to submit a proxy by telephone or over the Internet or to vote in person at the special meeting), the failure to instruct your bank, broker or other nominee how to vote, or the abstention from voting by a stockholder will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST the merger agreement.

Q: What will happen in the merger transaction?

A: As the first step in the transaction, a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Calix will merge with Occam, with Occam continuing as the surviving entity. Immediately thereafter, Occam will merge with a second direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Calix, with such second subsidiary continuing as the surviving company. The first-step merger is referred to herein as the first-step merger, the second merger is referred to herein as the second-step merger, the first-step merger and the second-step merger are collectively referred to herein as the merger transaction and the effective time of the first-step merger is referred to herein as the effective time. For more information, please see the sections titled Proposal One The Merger and The Merger Agreement beginning on pages 73 and 117, respectively.

Q: What will I receive for my shares of Occam common stock in the merger transaction?

A: If the merger transaction is completed, each share of Occam common stock, other than dissenting shares, if any, and shares owned by Calix, Occam or any of their respective subsidiaries (which will be cancelled), will be converted into the right to receive (i) 0.2925 shares of Calix common stock and (ii) \$3.8337 in cash.

For further information, please see the section titled The Merger Agreement Merger Consideration beginning on page 117.

Q: Is the merger transaction taxable to the Occam stockholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes?

A: The merger transaction has been structured to qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, and the consummation of the merger transaction is conditioned on the receipt by Occam of an opinion from its counsel to the effect that the merger transaction will so qualify. Assuming the merger transaction qualifies as a reorganization, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, U.S. stockholders of Occam will recognize gain (but not loss) with respect to their Occam common stock in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) any gain realized with respect to that stock or (ii) the amount of cash received with respect to that stock (other than any cash received instead of a fractional share of Calix common stock); and will recognize gain (or loss) to the extent any cash received instead of a fractional share of Calix common stock exceeds (or is less than) the basis of the fractional share.

The tax consequences of the merger transaction to each stockholder will depend on such stockholder s own situation. Occam stockholders are urged to read the discussion in the section titled Proposal One The Merger Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger Transaction beginning on page 113 of this proxy statement/prospectus and to consult their tax advisors as to the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger transaction, as well as the effects of state, local and non-U.S. tax laws.

Q: What conditions must be satisfied to consummate the merger transaction?

A: In addition to the Occam stockholder approval described above, the consummation of the first-step merger is subject to a number of conditions. These conditions include:

the adoption of the merger agreement by the required vote of the Occam stockholders;

expiration or termination of the applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act, or the HSR Act, and any other applicable antitrust laws in the United States and the receipt of any required clearances, consents, approvals, orders and authorizations required by any antitrust laws in the United States;

the absence of any temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction, or any other order, decree or law, in each case, issued, enacted or adopted by any governmental authority of a competent jurisdiction in the United States making consummation of the merger illegal;

the declaration of the effectiveness of the registration statement on Form S-4 (of which this proxy statement/prospectus forms a part) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the absence of any stop order or proceeding seeking a stop order affecting such registration statement;

the representations and warranties of each party to the merger agreement remaining true at signing and the effective time, subject, in certain instances, to materiality qualifiers described in further detail in this proxy statement/prospectus;

the performance or compliance by each party to the merger agreement in all material respects with its obligations and covenants under the merger agreement;

the absence of any continuing material adverse effect concerning the business, assets, liabilities, operations or financial condition of the parties since the date of the agreement;

the receipt of a written opinion from Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C. to the effect that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the merger transaction will qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code;

the absence of any proceeding (pending or threatened) by a governmental authority or competent jurisdiction that (i) challenges or seeks to prohibit the merger transaction, (ii) would limit Calix s ability to exercise ownership rights with respect to Occam, (iii) would materially and adversely affect Calix s ability to own the assets or operate the business of Occam or (iv) seeks to compel any party to dispose of or hold separate any material assets as a result of the merger transaction; and

the Calix common shares deliverable to Occam stockholders in connection with the merger transaction shall have been authorized for listing on the New York Stock Exchange, upon official notice of issuance.

Calix and Occam were granted early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act effective November 16, 2010. For additional information, please see the section titled The Merger Agreement Conditions to the Merger beginning on page 128.

Q: Am I entitled to appraisal rights in connection with the merger transaction?

A: Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, referred to as the DGCL, Occam stockholders who do not vote for the adoption of the merger agreement have the right to seek appraisal of the fair value of their shares as determined by the Delaware Court of Chancery if the first-step merger is completed, but only if they comply with all requirements of the DGCL, which are summarized in this proxy statement/prospectus. This appraisal amount could be more than, the same as, or less than the amount an Occam stockholder would be entitled to receive under the merger agreement. Any Occam stockholder intending to exercise appraisal rights, among other things, must submit a written demand for appraisal to Occam prior to the vote on the adoption of the merger agreement and must not vote or otherwise submit a proxy in favor of adoption of the merger agreement. Failure to follow exactly the procedures specified under the DGCL will result in the loss of appraisal rights. Because of the complexity of the DGCL relating to appraisal rights, if you are considering exercising your appraisal right, we encourage you to seek the advice of your own legal counsel.

For additional information, please see the section titled Proposal One The Merger Appraisal Rights beginning on page 110.

Q: How do I exchange my Occam shares for merger consideration?

A: As soon as reasonably practicable after the effective time, instructions for exchanging your Occam certificates and book-entry shares for the merger consideration will be mailed to you. You should read these instructions carefully. Assuming the merger transaction closes and provided that you complete and submit any documentation in accordance with the instructions and include your certificates, if any, representing your Occam shares, you will not need to take any further action in order to receive the merger consideration, which the exchange agent will forward to you promptly following such time. Any Calix common shares you receive in the merger transaction will be issued in book-entry form.

Q: How will I receive the merger consideration to which I am entitled?

A: After receiving the proper documentation from you, the exchange agent will forward to you the cash and Calix common shares to which you are entitled. More information on the documentation you are required to deliver to the exchange agent may be found under the section titled Proposal One The Merger Manner and Procedure for Exchanging Shares of Occam Common Stock beginning on page 109. Occam stockholders will not receive any fractional Calix common shares in the merger transaction and will instead receive cash in lieu of any such fractional Calix common shares.

Q: Are there any risks in the merger transaction that I should consider?

A: Yes. There are risks associated with all business combinations, including the merger transaction. These risks are discussed in more detail in the section titled Risk Factors beginning on page 26.

Questions About the Special Meeting of Occam Stockholders

Q: When and where will the special meeting be held?

A: The special meeting is scheduled to be held at Occam s offices at 3185 Laurelview Court, Fremont, California 94538 on Thursday, January 27, 2011 at 10:00, local time.

Q: On what am I being asked to vote?

A: Occam stockholders are being asked to vote on the following:

to adopt the merger agreement; and

to approve the adjournment proposal.

Q: How does the Board of Directors of Occam recommend that I vote regarding the merger agreement?

- A: After careful consideration, the board of directors of Occam, which we refer to in this proxy statement/prospectus as the Occam board, unanimously recommends that Occam stockholders vote FOR the adoption of the merger agreement and FOR the adjournment proposal. For a description of the reasons underlying the recommendation of the Occam board, please see the section entitled Proposal One The Merger Occam s Reasons for the Merger; Recommendation of the Occam Board of Directors beginning on page 90 of this proxy statement/ prospectus.
- **Q:** Are there any other matters to be addressed at the special meeting?

A: We know of no other matters to be brought before the special meeting, but if other matters are brought before the special meeting or at any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting, the officers named in your proxy intend to take such action as in their judgment is in the best interest of Occam and its stockholders.

Q. Who is entitled to vote at the special meeting?

A: All holders of issued and outstanding shares of Occam common stock who hold shares at the close of business on the record date (December 13, 2010) are entitled to receive notice of and to vote at the special meeting and any adjournment or postponement thereof provided that such shares remain outstanding on the date of the special meeting.

Q: How do I vote my shares at the special meeting?

A: If you are a registered stockholder, you may vote in person at the special meeting. However, to ensure that your shares are represented at the special meeting, you are recommended to vote promptly by proxy by taking any of the following steps, even if you plan to attend the special meeting in person:

By Internet: Go to the website specified on your proxy card and follow the instructions.

By Telephone: Call the toll-free number specified on your proxy card from a touch-tone telephone in the United States or Canada and follow the instructions on your proxy card and the voice prompts on the telephone.

By Mail: Mark your vote, sign and date your proxy card and return it in the pre-addressed postage-paid envelope provided. If you received more than one proxy card (which means that you have shares in more than one account), you must mark, sign, date and return each proxy card or use an alternative voting method. Any proxy card mailed must actually be received prior to the special meeting.

If you are not a registered stockholder, but instead hold your shares in street name through a bank, broker or other nominee, please follow the instructions provided to you by your bank, broker or other nominee to vote by proxy and ensure your shares are represented at the special meeting. If you want to vote in person at the special meeting, you must provide a proxy executed in your favor from your bank, broker or other nominee. For more information on how to vote your shares, please see the section titled The Special Meeting of Occam Stockholders Voting of Proxies by Holders of Record beginning on page 70.

Q: What happens if I do not vote or submit a proxy, or do not instruct my bank, broker or other nominee to vote, or abstain from voting?

A: If you fail to submit a proxy or attend the meeting in person, it will be more difficult for us to obtain the necessary quorum to hold the special meeting. In addition, your failure to submit a proxy or to vote in person, your failure to instruct your bank, broker or other nominee how to vote, or your abstention from voting, will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST the adoption of the merger agreement.

Q: What constitutes a quorum for the special meeting?

A: A majority of the shares of Occam common stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote at the special meeting being present constitutes a quorum for the purpose of considering the proposals to be voted upon at the special meeting.

Q: What should I do if I want to change my vote?

A: If you submit your proxy through the Internet, by telephone or by mail, you may revoke your proxy at any time before the vote is taken at the special meeting in any one of the following ways:

through the Internet or by telephone before the deadlines for voting described above;

by submitting a later-dated proxy by mail that is actually received by the Occam Corporate Secretary prior to the special meeting;

by sending written notice of revocation to the Occam Corporate Secretary that is actually received by the Occam Corporate Secretary prior to the special meeting; or

by voting in person at the special meeting.

Your attendance at the special meeting does not automatically revoke your proxy. If you are not a registered stockholder, but instead hold your shares in street name through a bank, broker or other nominee, the above-described options for revoking your proxy do not apply. Instead, you will need to follow the instructions provided to you by your bank, broker or other nominee in order to revoke your proxy and submit new voting instructions.

Q: What happens if I sell my shares after the record date but before the special meeting?

A: The record date of the special meeting is earlier than the date of the special meeting and the date that the merger transaction is expected to be completed. If you transfer your shares of Occam after the record date but before the date of the special meeting, you will retain your right to vote at the special meeting (provided that such shares remain outstanding on the date of the special meeting), but you will not have the right to receive the merger consideration to be received by Occam stockholders in the merger transaction. In order to receive the merger consideration, you must hold your shares through completion of the merger transaction.

Q: Who may attend the special meeting?

A: Occam stockholders as of the record date (or their authorized representatives) and invited guests of Occam may attend the special meeting. Verification of share ownership will be required at the meeting. If you own your shares in your own name or hold them through a broker (and can provide documentation showing ownership such as a letter from your broker or a recent account statement) at the close of business on the record date (December 13, 2010), you will be permitted to attend the special meeting. Stockholders may call the Occam corporate office at (805) 692-2900 to obtain directions to Occam s offices at 3185 Laurelview Court, Fremont, California 94538.

Q: Will a proxy solicitor be used?

A: Yes. Occam has retained Innisfree M&A Incorporated to assist in the distribution and solicitation of proxies for the special meeting and will pay Innisfree M&A Incorporated a fee of up to \$75,000 plus reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses. In addition, Occam s directors, officers and employees may solicit proxies in person or by telephone, e-mail, facsimile transmission or other means of communication, but no additional compensation will be paid to them.

Q: Whom should I call with questions?

A: Occam stockholders should call Innisfree M&A Incorporated, Occam s proxy solicitor, toll-free at (888) 750-5834, and banks & brokers should call collect at (212) 750-5833 with any questions about the merger transaction and the other matters to be voted on at the special meeting, or to obtain additional copies of this proxy statement/prospectus or additional proxy cards.

⁶

SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information from this proxy statement/prospectus. It may not contain all of the information that is important to you. You are urged to carefully read the entire proxy statement/prospectus and the other documents referred to in this proxy statement/prospectus because the information in this section does not provide all the information that might be important to you with respect to the merger agreement, the merger transaction and the other matters being considered at the special meeting. For additional information, see Where You Can Find More Information beginning on page 284. Each item in this summary refers to the page of this proxy

where You Can Find More Information beginning on page 284. Each item in this summary refers to the page of this pro statement/prospectus on which that subject is discussed in more detail.

Information about the Companies (page 135)

Calix, Inc.

Calix Inc., or Calix, is a leading provider in North America of broadband communications access systems and software for copper- and fiberbased network architectures that enable communications service providers, or CSPs, to connect to their residential and business subscribers. Calix develops and sells carrier-class hardware and software products, which is referred to as the Unified Access portfolio, designed to enhance and transform CSP access networks to meet the changing demands of subscribers rapidly and cost-effectively. The Unified Access portfolio consists of Calix s two core platforms, the C-Series multiservice, multiprotocol access platform, or C-Series platform, and the E-Series Ethernet service access platforms and nodes, or E-Series platforms and nodes, along with complementary P-Series optical network terminals, or ONTs, and the Calix Management System, or CMS, network management software. Calix also offers installation, training, post-sales software support and extended warranty services. Calix s principal executive offices are located at 1035 N. McDowell Blvd, Petaluma, California 94954 and its telephone number is (707) 766-3000.

Ocean Sub I, Inc.

Ocean Sub I, Inc., or Ocean Sub I, is a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Calix. Ocean Sub I has not carried on any activities to date, other than activities incidental to its formation or undertaken in connection with the transactions contemplated by the merger transaction. Ocean Sub I s principal executive offices are located at 1035 N. McDowell Blvd, Petaluma, California 94954 and its telephone number is (707) 766-3000.

Ocean Sub II, LLC

Ocean Sub II, LLC, or Ocean Sub II, is a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Calix. Ocean Sub II has not carried on any activities to date, other than activities incidental to its formation or undertaken in connection with the transactions contemplated by the merger transaction. Ocean Sub II s principal executive offices are located at 1035 N. McDowell Blvd, Petaluma, California 94954 and its telephone number is (707) 766-3000.

Occam Networks, Inc.

Occam Networks, Inc., or Occam, develops, markets and supports innovative broadband access products designed to enable telecom service providers to offer bundled voice, video and high speed internet, or Triple Play, services over both copper and fiber optic networks. Occam s core product line is the Broadband Loop Carrier, or BLC, an integrated hardware and software platform that uses Internet Protocol, or IP, and Ethernet technologies to increase the capacity of local access networks, enabling the delivery of advanced Triple Play services. Occam also offers a family of ONTs for fiber optic networks, remote terminal cabinets and professional services. Occam s principal executive offices are located at 6868 Cortona Drive, Santa Barbara, California 93117, and its telephone number is (805) 692-2900.

The Merger (page 73)

Calix and Occam agreed to the acquisition of Occam by Calix upon the terms and subject to the conditions in the merger agreement that is described in this proxy statement/prospectus. As the first step in the transaction, Ocean Sub I will merge with Occam, with Occam continuing as the surviving entity. Immediately thereafter, Occam will merge with Ocean Sub II, with Ocean Sub II continuing as the surviving corporation. The first merger is referred to as the first-step merger, the second merger is referred to as the second-step merger, the first-step merger and second-step merger are collectively referred to as the merger transaction and the effective time of the first-step merger is referred to as the effective time. For more information, please see the sections titled Proposal One The Merger and The Merger Agreement beginning on pages 73 and 117, respectively.

Merger Consideration (page 117)

At the effective time, each share of Occam common stock, other than shares owned by Calix, Occam or any of their respective subsidiaries (which will be cancelled), will be converted into the right to receive (i) 0.2925 shares of Calix common stock and (ii) \$3.8337 in cash.

Treatment of Occam Options and Other Equity Awards (page 117)

Stock Options and Restricted Stock Units. Immediately prior to the effective time, (a) each outstanding Occam stock option or restricted stock unit as of immediately prior to the effective time which was or shall become vested as of the effective time with a per share exercise price that is less than (i) \$3.8337 plus (ii) 0.2925 multiplied by the average volume weighted average trading price of Calix common stock during the five consecutive trading days ending on the trading day that is one day before the effective time, such amount being referred to as the cash-out consideration, (b) certain additional Occam options or restricted stock units that may be included, depending on the number of shares of Calix common stock issuable pursuant to the merger agreement and (c) unless determined otherwise by Calix, any Occam options or restricted stock units held by persons who are not Occam employees or consultants immediately prior to the effective time will be automatically cancelled and extinguished and the vested portion thereof will be automatically converted into the right to receive the cash-out consideration for the aggregate number of shares of Occam common stock that were issuable upon the exercise of such stock options or restricted stock units, less any applicable per share exercise price. If additional equity awards are cancelled in accordance with (b) above, equity awards with the highest exercise price will be cashed out first, and for these purposes a restricted stock unit is treated as having a \$0 exercise price.

Unvested portions of each outstanding Occam stock option or restricted stock unit held by employees who continue to be employed by Calix or its subsidiaries after the effective time that are not cancelled as described above will be, at the effective time, automatically converted into options or restricted stock units, as the case may be, for Calix common stock, subject to adjustments in accordance with the compensatory award exchange ratio, and will otherwise be subject to the terms and conditions of such award prior to the effective time, including vesting and exercisability.

Restricted Stock. Immediately prior to the effective time, the restrictions on each restricted stock award held by a non-employee director shall lapse and the underlying Occam common stock shall be treated in the merger in the same manner as other shares of Occam common stock.

Risk Factors (page 26)

There are risks associated with the merger transaction, which are described in the section titled Risk Factors beginning on page 26. You should carefully read and consider these risks, which include, without limitation, the following:

because the market price of Calix common shares will fluctuate, you cannot be assured of the market value of Calix common shares that you will receive in the merger transaction;

the merger transaction is subject to the adoption of the merger agreement by Occam stockholders;

future results of the combined company may differ materially from the unaudited pro forma combined financial statements presented in this proxy statement/prospectus and the financial forecasts provided to Calix s and Occam s financial advisors in connection with discussions concerning the merger transaction;

the pendency of the merger transaction could materially adversely affect the future business and operations of Calix and Occam or result in a loss of Occam employees;

directors and executive officers of Occam have interests in the merger transaction that are different from, or in addition to, the interests of Occam stockholders generally;

the failure to complete the merger transaction could negatively impact the stock prices and the future business and financial results of Calix and Occam; and

the Calix common shares to be received by Occam stockholders as a result of the merger transaction will have different rights from shares of Occam common stock.

Special Meeting of Occam Stockholders (page 69)

Date, Time and Place. The special meeting of Occam stockholders will be held on January 27, 2011 at 10:00 a.m., local time, at Occam s offices at 3185 Laurelview Court, Fremont, California 94538.

Purpose. At the special meeting, Occam stockholders will be asked to consider and vote upon:

adoption of the merger agreement; and

approval of the adjournment proposal.

Record Date and Quorum. Only holders of record of Occam common stock at the close of business on December 13, 2010, the record date, are entitled to notice of and to vote at the special meeting and any adjournment or postponement thereof. You will have one vote for each share of Occam common stock that you owned on the record date. As of the record date, there were 21,551,376 shares of Occam common stock outstanding and entitled to vote at the special meeting. A majority of the shares of Occam common stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote at the special meeting. A majority of the purpose of considering the proposals to be voted upon at the special meeting.

Vote Required. Occam cannot complete the merger transaction unless the merger agreement is adopted by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Occam common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting. The adjournment proposal must be approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the votes cast at the special meeting on such proposal.

Occam s Reasons for the Merger; Recommendation of the Occam Board of Directors (page 90)

At a meeting duly called and held, the Occam board has (i) unanimously determined that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby are fair to, advisable and in the best interests of the Company s stockholders, (ii) unanimously approved and adopted the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby and (iii) unanimously resolved to recommend adoption of the merger agreement and the other transactions contemplated thereby by the stockholders of Occam.

In determining whether to adopt the merger agreement and approve the transactions contemplated thereby, the Occam board considered the factors described under Proposal One The Merger Occam s Reasons for the Merger; Recommendation of the Occam Board of Directors beginning on page 90.

Opinion of Occam s Financial Advisor (page 95)

Occam retained Jefferies & Company, Inc., which we refer to in this proxy statement/prospectus as Jefferies, to act as its financial advisor in connection with the merger transaction and to render to the Occam board an opinion as to the fairness of the consideration to be received by the holders of Occam common stock pursuant to the merger agreement. At the meeting of the Occam board on September 15, 2010, Jefferies rendered its opinion to the Occam board to the effect that, as of that date, and based upon and subject to the various considerations set forth in its opinion, the consideration to be received by holders of Occam common stock pursuant to the merger agreement was fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders.

Jefferies opinion sets forth, among other things, the assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations on the scope of the review undertaken by Jefferies in rendering its opinion. Jefferies opinion was directed to the Occam board and addresses only the fairness, from a financial point of view and as of the date of the opinion, of the consideration to be received by holders of Occam common stock. It does not address any other aspects of the merger transaction and does not constitute a recommendation as to how any holder of Occam common stock should vote on the merger transaction or any matter related thereto.

The full text of the written opinion of Jefferies is attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as <u>Annex B</u>. Occam encourages its stockholders to read Jefferies opinion carefully and in its entirety.

Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger (page 106)

Occam s executive officers and directors have financial interests in the merger transaction that are different from, or in addition to, their interests as Occam stockholders generally. The independent members of the Occam board were aware of and considered these interests, among other matters, in evaluating the merger agreement, and in recommending that the Occam stockholders adopt the merger agreement.

Each of Occam s executive officers are parties to change in control severance agreements with Occam, which provide severance and other benefits in the case of qualifying terminations of employment following a change in control, including completion of the merger transaction that may result in the receipt by such executive officers of cash severance payments and other benefits with a total value of approximately \$1,413,987 (collectively, not individually, and excluding the value of any accelerated vesting of stock awards) and the acceleration of stock awards held by those officers.

In addition, for Occam s executive officers and non-employee directors, the completion of the merger transaction will result in, among other things, the conversion of vested stock options or restricted stock units into the right to receive the cash-out consideration less any applicable per share exercise price, the accelerated vesting and conversion of restricted stock into the right to receive merger consideration and the conversion of outstanding but unvested Occam stock options and restricted stock units into stock options and restricted stock units of Calix, subject to the compensatory award exchange ratio and which will remain subject to the vesting terms specified in the applicable award agreement. Occam s officers and directors also have rights to indemnification and directors and officers liability insurance that will survive completion of the merger transaction.

For further information, including a discussion of the approximate value of the potential benefits that could be received by the executive officers and the directors of Occam upon completion of the merger transaction, please see Proposal One The Merger Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger beginning on page 106.

Outstanding Stock Entitled to Vote held by Certain Stockholders and the Vote Required to Adopt the Merger Agreement

As of November 30, 2010, all directors and executive officers of Occam, together with their affiliates, beneficially owned approximately 27% of the shares of Occam common stock. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of Occam common stock issued and outstanding is required for approval of the merger proposal.

Certain stockholders of Occam who collectively held approximately 27% of Occam s common stock as of November 30, 2010 have entered into a support agreement pursuant to which Occam stockholders have agreed to vote their shares of Occam common stock in favor of the adoption of the merger agreement and have also agreed to certain limitations on the ability to transfer their Occam shares and to exercise other stockholder rights. This support agreement is discussed in greater detail in the section entitled Support Agreement in this proxy statement/prospectus.

Regulatory Approvals Required for the Merger (page 109)

Calix and Occam agreed to use their reasonable best efforts to obtain all governmental and regulatory approvals required to complete the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. These approvals include approval under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act, or the HSR Act. Under the HSR Act, and the rules promulgated by the Federal Trade Commission, or the FTC, the merger transaction may not be completed until (1) certain information and materials are furnished to the Department of Justice, or the DOJ, and the FTC and (2) the applicable waiting period under the HSR Act is terminated or expires. Calix and Occam filed the required HSR notification and report forms with the FTC on September 27, 2010. Calix and Occam were granted early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act effective November 16, 2010.

Calix and Occam also intend to make all required filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, relating to the merger transaction, and obtain all other approvals and consents which may be necessary to give effect to the merger transaction.

Appraisal Rights (page 110)

Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, referred to as the DGCL, Occam stockholders who do not vote for the adoption of the merger agreement have the right to seek appraisal of the fair value of their shares as determined by the Delaware Court of Chancery if the first-step merger is completed, but only if they comply with all requirements of the DGCL, which are summarized in this proxy statement/prospectus. This appraisal amount could be more than, the same as, or less than the amount an Occam stockholder would be entitled to receive under the merger agreement. Any Occam stockholder intending to exercise appraisal rights, among other things, must submit a written demand for appraisal to Occam prior to the vote on the adoption of the merger agreement and must not vote or otherwise submit a proxy in favor of adoption of the merger agreement . Failure to follow exactly the procedures specified under the DGCL will result in the loss of appraisal rights. Because of the complexity of the DGCL relating to appraisal rights, if you are considering exercising your appraisal right, we encourage you to seek the advice of your own legal counsel.

NYSE Listing of Calix Common Stock (page 116)

Calix s common shares currently trade on the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, under the stock symbol CALX. It is a condition to completion of the merger transaction that the Calix common shares to be issued by Calix to Occam stockholders in connection with the merger transaction be approved for listing on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance. Calix has agreed to use all reasonable best efforts to cause the Calix common shares issuable in connection with the merger transaction, including those shares to be reserved for issuance upon the exercise or conversion of equity awards described above, to be authorized for listing on the NYSE and expects to obtain the NYSE s approval to list such shares prior to completion of the merger transaction, subject to official notice of issuance.

Delisting and Deregistration of Occam Common Stock (page 116)

Shares of Occam common stock currently trade on the NASDAQ Global Market under the stock symbol OCNW. Upon completion of the merger transaction, all shares of Occam common stock will cease to be listed for trading on the NASDAQ Global Market and will be deregistered under the Exchange Act.

Conditions to the Merger (page 128)

The obligations of each of Occam, Calix and Ocean Sub I to consummate the first-step merger are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:

the merger agreement having been adopted by the required vote of the Occam stockholders;

expiration or termination of any applicable waiting period (and any extension thereof) under the HSR Act and any other applicable antitrust laws in the United States, and receipt of any required clearances, consents, approvals, orders and authorizations required by any antitrust laws in the United States;

the absence of any temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction, or any other order, decree or law, in each case, issued, enacted or adopted by any governmental authority of a competent jurisdiction in the United States making consummation of the merger transaction illegal; and

declaration of effectiveness of the registration statement on Form S-4 (of which this proxy statement/prospectus forms a part) under the Securities Act and the absence of any stop order or proceeding seeking a stop order affecting the registration statement. Calix and Occam were granted early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act effective November 16, 2010.

In addition, the obligations of Occam to consummate the first-step merger are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:

the continued accuracy of the representations and warranties made by Calix, Ocean Sub I, and Ocean Sub II, under the merger agreement, at signing and at closing, subject to certain materiality qualifications and limitations described in further detail on page 128;

Calix, Ocean Sub I, and Ocean Sub II, having complied in all material respects with their respective obligations and covenants under the merger agreement;

the absence of any continuing material adverse effect concerning the business, assets, liabilities, operations or financial condition of Calix and its subsidiaries since the date of the agreement;

the receipt by Occam of an executed closing certificate from Calix;

the receipt by Occam of the written opinion of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C. to the effect that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the merger transaction will qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code, or the Code; and

the Calix common shares deliverable to Occam stockholders in connection with the merger transaction shall have been authorized for listing on the NYSE, upon official notice of issuance.

The obligation of Calix, Ocean Sub I, and Ocean Sub II, to complete the merger transaction is subject to the following conditions in addition to those described above:

the continued accuracy of the representations and warranties made by Occam under the merger agreement, subject in certain instances to materiality qualifications and limitations described in further detail on page 129;

Occam having complied in all material respects with its obligations and covenants under the merger agreement;

the absence of any continuing material adverse effect concerning the business, assets, liabilities, operations or financial condition of Occam and its subsidiaries since the date of the agreement;

Occam s delivery to Calix of (i) an executed closing certificate; and (ii) written resignations of all the Occam directors and officers, which, in each case, shall be in full force and effect; and

the absence of any proceeding (pending or threatened) that (i) challenges or seeks to prohibit the merger transaction, (ii) would limit Calix s ability to exercise ownership rights with respect to Occam, (iii) would materially and adversely affect Calix s ability to own the assets or operate the business of Occam or (iv) seeks to compel any party to dispose of or hold separate any material assets as a result of the transaction.

Expected Timing of the Merger (page 110)

Calix and Occam currently expect to complete the merger transaction in the first quarter of 2011, subject to the receipt of required stockholder and regulatory approvals and the satisfaction or waiver of the other conditions to completion of the merger transaction. Calix and Occam were granted early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act effective November 16, 2010. Because many of the conditions to completion of the merger transaction are beyond the control of Calix and Occam, the exact timing for completion of the merger transaction cannot be predicted with any amount of certainty.

No Solicitation of Offers by Occam (page 125)

The merger agreement contains detailed provisions that restrict Occam, its subsidiaries and their respective representatives from soliciting, initiating or knowingly encouraging, or taking other actions intended to facilitate, the submission of any other acquisition proposal. The merger agreement also contains restrictions on Occam, its subsidiaries and their respective representatives from participating in any discussions or negotiations regarding any other acquisition proposal. The merger agreement does not, however, prohibit the Occam board from considering and recommending to Occam stockholders an alternative transaction with a third party if specified conditions are met, including, in certain circumstances, the payment of a termination fee required by the merger agreement.

Termination of the Merger Agreement (page 129)

The merger agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the completion of the first-step merger by mutual consent of Occam and Calix. The merger agreement may also be terminated, subject to certain conditions, by either Occam or Calix if:

the merger transaction has not been consummated on or before March 15, 2011;

by mutual agreement of Calix and Occam, if the merger transaction has not been consummated by December 15, 2010 and if Calix and Occam make a mutual good-faith determination that certain conditions relating to antitrust approval are not likely to be satisfied on or before March 15, 2011;

any final and non-appealable order, injunction or decree issued by any governmental authority of competent jurisdiction in the United States permanently prohibits the merger transaction; or

Occam stockholders do not adopt the merger agreement at the special meeting.

provided, with the exception of the circumstances described in the second bullet in the above list, no party may terminate the merger agreement for any of the circumstances stated above if such party s breach of the merger agreement resulted in the occurrence of any circumstances. Calix and Occam were granted early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act effective November 16, 2010.

Calix may terminate the merger agreement, subject to certain conditions, if:

certain triggering events relating to other acquisition proposals occur at any time prior to the adoption of the merger agreement by Occam stockholders; or

any of Occam s representations and warranties are inaccurate or if Occam has breached any of its covenants or obligations (in each case, if such breach is not cured within 30 days written notice thereof), such that the required conditions to Calix s obligations to close would not be satisfied (provided that Calix, Ocean Sub I or Ocean Sub II are not then in material breach of the merger agreement).

Occam may terminate the merger agreement, subject to certain conditions, if:

prior to Occam stockholder approval, the Occam board recommends, accepts or agrees to enter into a superior proposal (as defined in the merger agreement and described in further detail in the section titled The Merger Agreement No Solicitation of Offers by Occam beginning on page 125; or

any of Calix s representations and warranties are inaccurate or Calix has breached any of its covenants or obligations (in each case, if such breach is not cured within 30 days written notice thereof), such that the required conditions to Occam s obligations to close would not be satisfied (provided that Occam is not then in material breach of the merger agreement).

Termination Fees and Expenses (page 130)

Occam has agreed to pay Calix a termination fee of \$5,200,000 if:

(i) the merger agreement is terminated because Occam stockholders do not adopt the merger agreement at the Occam stockholder meeting; and (ii) at or prior to the Occam stockholder meeting, an acquisition proposal involving a third party is publicly announced or becomes publicly known and has not been withdrawn; and (iii) within twelve months following the termination of the merger agreement pursuant to (i) above, Occam enters into a definitive agreement to effect an acquisition of Occam and such transaction is subsequently consummated;

the merger agreement (i) is terminated (A) by mutual agreement of Calix and Occam between December 15, 2010 and March 15, 2011 or (B) by either Calix or Occam after March 15, 2011, in each case, as a result of the antitrust conditions not being likely to be satisfied or not being met by March 15, 2011 and (ii) at or prior to such termination an acquisition proposal involving a third party is publicly announced or becomes publicly known and such acquisition proposal has not been withdrawn and (iii) within six months following such termination Occam enters into a definitive agreement to effect an acquisition of Occam with such third party and such transaction is subsequently consummated;

the merger agreement is terminated by Calix because certain triggering events relating to other acquisition proposals occur prior to the adoption of the merger agreement by Occam stockholders; or

the merger agreement is terminated by Occam, prior to Occam stockholder adoption of the merger agreement, because the Occam board recommends to its stockholders a superior proposal and is entering into an agreement with respect to such superior proposal.

Calix and Occam were granted early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act effective November 16, 2010.

Calix has agreed to pay Occam a termination fee of \$5,000,000 if the merger agreement is terminated:

by mutual agreement of Calix and Occam, if the merger transaction has not been consummated by December 15, 2010 and if Calix and Occam make a mutual good-faith determination that certain conditions relating to antitrust approval are not likely to be satisfied on or before March 15, 2011, and if on such date, all of the merger transaction closing conditions, other than those relating to antitrust approval, are reasonably capable of being satisfied. Calix and Occam were granted early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act effective November 16, 2010.

Calix has agreed to pay Occam a termination fee of \$10,000,000 if the merger agreement is terminated:

by either Occam or Calix because the merger transaction has not been consummated on or before March 15, 2011, and if on such date all of the merger transaction closing conditions have been satisfied or waived other than conditions that, by their nature, can only to be satisfied at the closing or those relating to antitrust approval. Calix and Occam were granted early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act effective November 16, 2010.

Accounting Treatment (page 113)

In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP, Calix will account for the merger transaction using the purchase method of accounting for business combinations.

Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger Transaction (page 113)

The merger transaction has been structured to qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code, and the consummation of the merger transaction is conditioned on the receipt by Occam of an opinion from its counsel to the effect that the merger transaction will so qualify. Assuming the merger transaction qualifies as a reorganization, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, U.S. stockholders of Occam will recognize gain (but not loss) with respect to their Occam common stock in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) any gain realized with respect to that stock or (ii) the amount of cash received with respect to that stock (other than any cash received instead of a fractional share of Calix common stock); and will recognize gain (or loss) to the extent any cash received instead of a fractional share of Calix common stock exceeds (or is less than) the basis of the fractional share.

The tax consequences of the merger transaction to each stockholder will depend on such stockholder s own situation. Occam stockholders are urged to read the discussion in the section titled Proposal One The Merger Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger Transaction beginning on page 113 of this proxy statement/prospectus and to consult their tax advisors as to the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger transaction, as well as the effects of state, local and non-U.S. tax laws.

Management of Calix Following the Merger

Upon the effective time and subject to the review and approval of Calix s board, one member of the Occam board who is not an employee of Occam, which individual shall be mutually and reasonably agreed to by Calix and Occam, will be appointed to the Calix board and will be nominated by the Calix board for election at Calix s next annual meeting of stockholders. As of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus, no determination has been made as to the identity of the designee who will be appointed to the Calix board. There are currently no changes to Calix s executive officers contemplated in connection with the merger transaction. Information about the Calix directors and executive officers who will continue to be Calix directors and executive officers after the

effective time is set forth below in the section Management Following the Merger Management of Calix, and information about members of the Occam board who are not employees of Occam, one of whom will be appointed to the Calix board after the effective time, is set forth below in the section Management Following the Merger Non-Employee Directors of Occam.

Comparison of Rights of Calix Stockholders and Occam Stockholders (page 273)

The rights of Occam stockholders are currently governed by the Occam certificate of incorporation, the Occam bylaws and the DGCL. Occam stockholders, who will receive a portion of the merger consideration in Calix common shares, will become stockholders of Calix upon completion of the merger transaction. Thereafter, their rights will be governed by the Calix certificate of incorporation, the Calix bylaws and the DGCL. As a result, these Occam stockholders will have different rights once they become stockholders of Calix due to the differences in the governing documents of Calix and Occam. The key differences are described in the section titled Comparison of Rights of Calix Stockholders and Occam Stockholders beginning on page 273 of this proxy statement/prospectus.

SELECTED HISTORICAL AND UNAUDITED PRO FORMA

CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL DATA

Selected Historical Financial Data of Calix

The following tables summarize Calix s financial data. The statements of operations data for the nine months ended September 26, 2009 and September 25, 2010 and the balance sheet data as of September 25, 2010 are derived from Calix s unaudited financial statements and related notes. The statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2008 and 2009 are derived from Calix s audited financial statements and related notes, which are included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus. The statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006 and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 are derived from Calix s audited financial statements and related notes, which are not included in this proxy statement/prospectus. Historical results are not indicative of the results that should be expected in the future.

	2005	Years Ended December 31, 2006 2007 2008 (in thousands, except per share data)			2009	Nine Months Ended September 26, September 25, 2009 2010 (unaudited, in thousands, except per share data)		
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:								
Revenue	\$ 133,516	\$ 203,590	\$ 193,819	\$ 250,463	\$ 232,947	\$ 144,588	\$ 195,348	
Cost of revenue:								
Products and services ⁽¹⁾	92,527	138,651	128,025	165,925	150,863	93,584	117,194	
Amortization of existing technologies		4,987	5,440	5,440	5,440	4,080	4,080	
Total cost of revenue	92,527	143,638	133,465	171,365	156,303	97,664	121,274	
Gross profit	40,989	59,952	60,354	79,098	76,644	46,924	74,074	
Operating expenses:								
Research and development ⁽¹⁾	30,312	43,469	44,439	44,348	46,132	33,187	39,232	
Sales and marketing ⁽¹⁾	20,632	29,852	28,439	31,627	33,486	23,691	29,014	
General and administrative ⁽¹⁾	6,541	8,938	12,103	15,253	15,613	11,629	19,515	
Acquisition-related costs							2,137	
Amortization of acquired intangible assets		2,378	740	740	740	555	555	
In-process research and development		9,000						
Total operating expenses	57,485	93,637	85,721	91,968	95,971	69,062	90,453	
Loss from operations	(16,496)	(33,685)	(25,367)	(12,870)	(19,327)	(22,138)	(16,379)	
Other income (expense), net	1,468	14,331	530	(130)	(3,466)	(3,097)	(1,001)	
Net loss before provision (benefit) from								
income taxes	(15,028)	(19,354)	(24,837)	(13,000)	(22,793)	(25,235)	(17,380)	
Provision (benefit) from income taxes	27	105	102	(81)	(352)	51	435	
Net loss before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle	(15,055)	(19,459)	(24,939)	(12,919)	(22,441)	(25,286)	(17,815)	
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle	(8,278)							
N-41	(22,222)	(10.450)	(24.020)	(12.010)	(22,441)	(05.084)	(17.015)	
Net loss Preferred stock dividends	(23,333)	(19,459)	(24,939)	(12,919) 4,065	(22,441)	(25,286) 3.041	(17,815) 900	
Preferreu stock dividends			1,016	4,005	3,747	3,041	900	

Net loss attributable to common stockholders	\$ (23,333)	\$ (19,459)	\$ (25,955)	\$ (16,984)	\$ (26,188)	\$ (28,327)	\$	(18,715)
--	-------------	-------------	-------------	-------------	-------------	-------------	----	----------

	2005	2006	Ended Decemb 2007 ls, except per s	2008	2009	Nine Me September 26 2009 (unaudited except pe	, Sept I, in th	tember 25, 2010 tousands,
Net loss per common share:								
Basic and diluted	\$ (10.86)	\$ (6.25)	\$ (6.96)	\$ (4.27)	\$ (6.48	3) \$ (7.03)	\$	(0.70)
Pro forma basic and diluted (unaudited) ⁽²⁾					\$ (0.77	/)	\$	(0.50)
Weighted average number of shares used to compute net loss per share:								
Basic and diluted	2,149	3,111	3,727	3,975	4,040	4,029		26,751
Pro forma basic and diluted (unaudited) ⁽²⁾					28,991			35,540

(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:

Cost of revenue	\$ 164	\$ 277	\$ 379	\$ 619	\$ 581	\$ 516	\$ 1,152
Research and development	259	824	1,852	3,189	2,657	1,969	4,014
Sales and marketing	427	659	1,285	1,998	1,840	1,287	3,034
General and administrative	1,248	1,053	2,738	4,134	4,118	2,918	9,282
	\$ 2,098	\$ 2,813	\$ 6,254	\$ 9,940	\$ 9,196	\$ 6,690	\$ 17,482

(2) Pro forma weighted average shares outstanding reflects the conversion of Calix s convertible preferred stock (using the if-converted method) into common stock as though the conversion had occurred on the original dates of issuance.

	As of December 31,					As of
	2005	2006	2007 (In thousands)	2008	2009	September 25, 2010 (In thousands, unaudited)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:						
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable						
securities	\$ 11,926	\$ 11,750	\$ 29,645	\$ 23,214	\$ 68,049	\$ 109,243
Working capital (deficit)	(6,268)	(11,637)	15,465	41,403	77,999	127,102
Total assets	54,437	203,530	202,677	189,455	241,116	262,066
Current and long-term loans payable	4,262	23,262	16,512	21,000	20,000	
Preferred stock warrant liabilities	16,023	3,195	1,561	232	195	
Convertible preferred stock	281,262	379,316	422,337	426,403	479,628	
Common stock and additional paid-in						
capital	22,357	26,062	33,307	43,597	52,841	608,602
Total stockholders equity (deficit)	(282,990)	(296,993)	(315,676)	(322,397)	(339,358)	197,785

Selected Consolidated Historical Financial Data of Occam

The following tables summarize Occam s financial data. The statements of operations data for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and September 30, 2010 and the balance sheet data as of September 30, 2010 are derived from Occam s unaudited financial statements and related notes. The consolidated financial data set forth below as of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2009 and for the years ended December 31, 2007, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2009 are derived from, and qualified by reference to, Occam s audited consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus. The statements of operations data for the years ended December 25, 2005 and December 31, 2006 and the balance sheet data as of December 25, 2005 and December 31, 2006 and 2007 are derived from Occam s audited financial statements and related notes, which are not included in this proxy statement/prospectus. Historical results are not indicative of the results that should be expected in the future. The consolidated financial data set forth below for and as of the year ended December 25, 2005 has been restated as a result of Occam s audit committee review as described below.

On October 16, 2007, Occam announced that the audit committee of the Occam board had completed its previously announced internal review of its revenue recognition practices. Among other matters, Occam s audit committee, assisted by independent forensic accountants and legal advisors, reviewed its practices relating to the following:

commitments to provide customers with software, hardware and software maintenance, hardware and software upgrades, training, and other services in connection with customers purchases of Occam s network equipment;

sales to value added resellers; and

use of intermediate shipping vendors in connection with shipments of product at the end of quarters falling on weekends. As a result of Occam s audit committee s review, Occam identified errors in its previous recognition of revenue and determined that Occam recognized approximately \$33.0 million of revenue prematurely during fiscal years 2004 through 2006. As a result, Occam restated its consolidated financial statements for the following fiscal periods: (i) the fiscal years ended December 25, 2005 and December 26, 2004; (ii) each of the interim quarterly periods in the fiscal years ended December 25, 2005 and December 26, 2004; and (iii) each of the interim quarterly periods ended March 26, June 25, and September 24, 2006.

All references to earnings and the number of shares of Occam s common stock have been retroactively restated to reflect the 1-for-40 reverse stock split effected on March 10, 2006.

	December 25, 2005	Dec	2006	Dec	al Year End cember 31, 2007 s except per	Dec	ember 31, 2008 data)	Dec	ember 31, 2009	Nine Mo September 30, 2009 (unaudited except pe	, Sept , in th	ember 30, 2010 ousands
Statement of Operations Data:												
Revenue	\$ 39,597	\$	68,203	\$	75,149	\$	99,268	\$	84,046	\$ 62,120	\$	75,930
Cost of revenue ⁽¹⁾	27,736		42,473		46,137		56,877		50,019	36,970		44,396
Gross margin	11,861		25,730		29,012		42,391		34,027	25,150		31,534
Operating expenses												
Research and product development ⁽¹⁾	7,440		9,584		13,321		18,964		16,091	12,186		11,549
Sales and marketing ⁽¹⁾	8,349		11,222		14,650		19,855		17,588	13,404		14,200
General and administrative ⁽¹⁾	3,420		4,095		11,823		10,812		7,940	6,179		5,702
Restructuring charges									213	213		
Loss on legal settlement									1,700	1,700		
In-process research and development					2,180				,	,		
Merger related expenses					_,							2,840
Total operating expenses	19,209		24,901		41,974		49,631		43,532	33,682		34,291
Income (loss) from operations	(7,348)		829		(12,962)		(7,240)		(9,505)	(8,532)		(2,757)
Other income (expense), net							(342)		147	147		
Interest income (expense), net	(259)		470		2,632		1,120		227	274		8
Income (loss) before provision for (benefit												
from) income taxes	(7,607)		1,299		(10,330)		(6,462)		(9,131)	(8,111)		(2,749)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes			64		56		256		(206)	(35)		32
Net income (loss)	(7,607)		1,235		(10,386)		(6,718)		(8,925)	(8,076)		(2,781)
Beneficial conversion feature	(1,822)		(3,437)		(10,000)		(0,710)		(0,,,,,)	(0,070)		(2,701)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders	\$ (9,429)	\$	(2,202)	\$	(10,386)	\$	(6,718)	\$	(8,925)	\$ (8,076)	\$	(2,781)
Basic and diluted net loss per share	\$ (1.40)	\$	(0.24)	\$	(0.53)	\$	(0.34)	\$	(0.44)	\$ (0.40)	\$	(0.13)
Shares used to compute basic and diluted	\$ (1.40)	φ	(0.24)	φ	(0.55)	φ	(0.34)	φ	(0.44)	\$ (0.40)	φ	(0.13)
net loss per share	6,759		9,020		19,760		19,874		20,259	20,214		20,820
(1)Stock-based compensation included in:												
Cost of revenue	\$	\$	288	\$	233	\$	377	\$	504	\$ 326	\$	234
Research and product development	519		748		754		1,128		1,152	778		594
Sales and marketing	70		476		558		731		1,002	692		560
General and administrative	6		390		546		811		1,370	889		644
Total stock-based compensation	\$ 595	\$	1,902	\$	2,091	\$	3,047	\$	4,028	\$ 2,685	\$	2,032

	As of						
	December 25, 2005	December 31, 2006	December 31, 2007 (in thousands)	December 31, 2008	December 31, 2009	September 30, 2010 (unaudited, in thousands)	
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:							
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 6,571	\$ 59,219	\$ 37,637	\$ 30,368	\$ 39,268	\$ 44,174	
Restricted cash	3,749	4,378	13,103	13,771	5,721	1,804	
Working capital	12,225	66,096	51,765	47,953	45,521	46,356	
Total assets	30,638	87,758	90,885	92,734	83,162	90,305	
Total debt and capital lease obligation	2,557		64	67	46		
Total liabilities	17,645	19,615	30,619	35,563	30,312	36,875	
Convertible preferred stock and warrants	34,942						
Total stockholders equity (deficit)	(21,949)	68,143	60,266	57,171	52,850	53,430	

Selected Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Data

The following selected unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data was prepared using the purchase method of accounting. The Calix and Occam selected unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet data as of September 25, 2010 assume that the merger transaction took place on September 25, 2010, and combines the Calix historical balance sheet at September 25, 2010 with Occam s historical consolidated balance sheet at September 30, 2010. The Calix and Occam selected unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations data assume that the merger transaction took place as of January 1, 2009. The selected unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations data for the year ended December 31, 2009 combines the Calix historical statement of operations data for the year ended December 31, 2009 with the Occam historical statement of operations data for the nine months ended September 25, 2010 combines the Calix historical statement of operations data for the nine months ended September 25, 2010 with the Occam historical statement of operations data for the nine months ended September 25, 2010 combines the Calix historical statement of operations data for the nine months ended September 25, 2010 combines the Calix historical statement of operations data for the nine months ended September 30, 2010.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements assume that, at the effective time of the first-step merger, each outstanding share of Occam common stock (other than those with respect to which appraisal rights are available, properly exercised and not withdrawn) will be converted into the right to receive (a) \$3.8337 per share in cash plus (b) 0.2925 of a validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable share of Calix s common stock.

The selected unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data is based on estimates and assumptions that are preliminary, presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the combined financial position or results of operations of future periods or the results that actually would have been realized had the entities been a single entity during these periods. The selected unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus and should be read in conjunction with those statements and the related notes. See Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements in this proxy statement/prospectus.

	Year Ended December 31, 2009 (in t	 10nths Ended ber 25, 2010 ⁽¹⁾
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations Data:		
Revenue	\$ 299,381	\$ 258,243
Gross profit	101,159	98,773
Loss from operations	(53,900)	(32,696)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders	(59,805)	(34,717)
Net loss per common share:		
Basic and diluted	\$ (5.87)	\$ (1.06)
Pro forma combined basic and diluted ⁽²⁾	\$ (1.60)	\$ (0.81)
Weighted average common shares outstanding:		
Basic and diluted	10,189	32,900
Pro forma combined basic and diluted ⁽²⁾	35,140	41,689

	Septer	As of nber 25, 2010
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet Data:		
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities	\$	64,551
Working capital		88,384
Total assets		371,387
Accumulated deficit		(410,897)
Total stockholders equity		280,059

(1) Includes the historical results of Occam for the nine months ended September 30, 2010.

(2) Pro forma combined weighted average shares outstanding reflects the conversion of Calix convertible preferred stock (using the if-converted method) into common stock as though the conversion had occurred on the original dates of issuance.

Comparative Historical and Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Per Share Data

The following table contains certain historical per share data of Calix and Occam and combined per share data on an unaudited pro forma combined basis after giving effect to the merger using the purchase method of accounting.

The unaudited pro forma combined per share data was derived from financial information of Calix and Occam included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus. The information in the table should be read in conjunction with the historical financial statements of Calix and Occam and related notes, which are included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus. The unaudited pro forma combined data is based on estimates and assumptions that Calix and Occam believe are reasonable. It is not necessarily indicative of the consolidated financial position or results of income in future periods or the results that actually would have been realized had Calix and Occam been a combined company as of the beginning of the periods presented.

Calix:	Year Decer	nd for the • Ended nber 31, 09 ⁽¹⁾	Nine Er Septer	nd for the Months nded mber 25, 010 ⁽¹⁾
Book value per share				
Historical	\$	4.85	\$	5.57
Pro forma combined		NA	\$	8.51
Basic and diluted net loss per share				
Historical	\$	(0.77)	\$	(0.50)
Pro forma combined	\$	(1.60)	\$	(0.81)

(1) The historical and pro forma combined per share data for the year ended December 31, 2009 and nine months ended September 25, 2010 reflects the conversion of all outstanding shares of Calix convertible preferred stock (using the if-converted method) into shares of common stock as though the conversion had occurred on the original dates of issuance and the reclassification of Calix preferred stock warrant liabilities to additional paid-in capital, immediately prior to the completion of Calix s initial public offering.

Occam:	Yea Dece	nd for the r Ended mber 31, 009 ⁽¹⁾	Nine Er Septer	nd for the Months nded mber 30, 2010
Book value per share				
Historical	\$	2.56	\$	2.52
Pro forma combined equivalent		NA	\$	2.49
Basic and diluted net loss per share				
Historical	\$	(0.44)	\$	(0.13)
Pro forma combined equivalent	\$	(0.47)	\$	(0.24)

(1) Occam s equivalent pro forma amounts per share are calculated by multiplying the Calix pro forma combined share amounts by the assumed exchange ratio of 0.2925.

Comparative Per Share Market Price Data

Calix common stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol CALX, and Occam common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol OCNW. The following table shows the closing sales prices of the Calix common stock and Occam common stock as reported on the NYSE and the NASDAQ Global Market on September 15, 2010, the last trading day before the merger agreement was announced, and on December 13, 2010, the latest practicable date prior to the date of this proxy statement/prospectus.

The table also shows the implied value of the merger consideration proposed for each share of Occam common stock, which was calculated by adding \$3.8337 to the product of the closing price on the NYSE of Calix common shares as of the respective date and the exchange ratio. The actual value of the Calix common stock a stockholder will receive on the date of the merger transaction may be higher or lower than the prices set forth below.

				Ν	Aerger
				Consid	deration per
	Calix Co	mmon Oco	cam Common	s	hare of
	Stoc	k	Stock	(Occam
September 15, 2010	\$ 1	3.30 \$	5.29	\$	7.724
December 13, 2010	\$	5.90 \$	8.34	\$	8.484

RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information included in this proxy statement/prospectus, including the matters addressed in the section titled Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements beginning on page 67, you should carefully consider the following risks before deciding whether to vote for the adoption of the merger agreement. In addition, you should read and consider the risks associated with each of the businesses of Occam and Calix. With respect to Calix or the combined company if the merger transaction is completed, these risks can be found in the section titled Risk Factors Risks Related to Calix (and the Combined Company in the event the Merger Transaction is Completed). With respect to Occam in the event Occam continues as a standalone company, these risks can be found in the section titled Risk Factors Risks Related to Occam. For further information, please see the section titled Where You Can Find More Information beginning on page 284.

Risks Related to the Merger

Because the market price of Calix common shares will fluctuate, Occam stockholders cannot be sure of the market value of Calix common shares that they will receive in the merger transaction.

At the effective time of the merger transaction, each share of Occam common stock, other than dissenting shares, if any, and shares owned by Calix, Occam or any of their respective subsidiaries (which will be cancelled), will be converted into the right to receive \$3.8337 in cash, without interest and 0.2925 shares of Calix common stock. There will be a time lapse between the date on which Occam stockholders vote on the adoption of the merger agreement and the date on which Occam stockholders will actually receive such shares. The market value of Calix common shares will fluctuate during this period. These fluctuations may be caused by changes in the businesses, operations, results and prospects of both Calix and Occam, market expectations of the likelihood that the merger transaction will be completed and the timing of its completion, the effect of any of the conditions or restrictions imposed on or proposed with respect to the merging parties by regulatory agencies, general market value of Calix common shares, when received by Occam stockholders, will depend on the market value of those shares on that date. This market value may be less than the value used to determine the number of shares to be received, as that determination was made as of September 15, 2010.

The failure to successfully combine the businesses of Calix and Occam in the expected time frame may adversely affect Calix s future results, which may adversely affect the value of the Calix common shares that Occam stockholders may receive in the merger transaction.

The success of the merger transaction will depend, in part, on the ability of a post-merger Calix to realize the anticipated benefits from combining the businesses of Calix and Occam, including integrating Occam into Calix s business. To realize these anticipated benefits, Calix s business and Occam s business must be successfully combined. If Calix is unsuccessful in combining Calix s business and Occam s business in the expected timeframe, the anticipated benefits of the merger transaction may not be realized fully or at all or may take longer to realize than expected. In addition, the actual integration may result in additional and unforeseen expenses, which could reduce the anticipated benefits of the merger transaction.

Calix and Occam, including their respective subsidiaries, have operated and, until the completion of the merger transaction, will continue to operate independently. It is possible that the integration process could result in the loss of key employees, as well as the disruption of each company s ongoing businesses or inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures and policies. Any or all of those occurrences could adversely affect Calix s ability to maintain relationships with customers and employees after the merger transaction or to achieve the anticipated benefits of the merger transaction. Integration efforts between the two companies will also divert management attention and resources. These integration matters could have an adverse effect on the combined company.

Future results of the combined company may differ materially from the unaudited pro forma combined financial statements presented in this proxy statement/prospectus and the financial forecasts provided to Calix s and Occam s financial advisors in connection with discussions concerning the merger transaction and the potential benefits of the merger transaction may not be realized.

The future results of the combined company may be materially different from those shown in the unaudited pro forma combined financial statements presented in this proxy statement/prospectus, which show only a combination of the historical results of Calix and Occam and the financial forecasts provided to Calix s and Occam s financial advisors in connection with discussions concerning the merger transaction. Calix expects to incur significant costs associated with the completion of the merger transaction and combining the operations of the two companies, the exact magnitude of which is not yet known. In addition, these costs may decrease the capital that the combined company could use for revenue-generating investments in the future. Furthermore, potential growth, expected financial results, perceived synergies and anticipated opportunities may not be realized through the completion of the merger transaction.

Whether or not the merger transaction is completed, the announcement and pendency of the merger transaction could cause disruptions and materially adversely affect the future business and operations of Calix and Occam or result in a loss of Occam employees.

In connection with the announcement or pendency of the merger transaction, it is possible that some customers, suppliers and other persons with whom Calix or Occam have a business relationship may delay or defer certain business decisions, or determine to purchase a competitor s products. In particular, customers could be reluctant to purchase the products of Calix and/or Occam due to uncertainty about the direction of their respective technology and products, and uncertainty regarding the willingness of the combined company to support and service existing products after the merger transaction. If Calix s or Occam s customers, suppliers or other persons, delay or defer business decisions, or purchase a competitor s products, it could negatively impact revenues, earnings and cash flows of Calix or Occam, as well as the market prices of Calix common shares or Occam common stock, regardless of whether the merger transaction is completed.

Similarly, current and prospective employees of Occam may experience uncertainty about their future roles with Occam and Calix following completion of the merger transaction. These potential distractions of the merger may adversely affect Occam s ability to attract, motivate and retain executives and key employees and keep them focused on the strategies and goals of the combined company. Any failure by Occam to retain and motivate executives and key employees during the period prior to the completion of the merger transaction could seriously harm its business, as well as the business of the combined company.

Directors and executive officers of Occam have interests in the merger transaction that are different from, or in addition to, the interests of Occam stockholders generally, and Occam stockholders should consider these interests in connection with their votes on the merger agreement.

Some of the directors and executive officers of Occam have interests in the merger transaction that are different from, or in addition to, the interests of Occam stockholders generally. These interests include:

the vesting and settlement or conversion of Occam equity awards into awards for Calix common shares held by Occam directors and executive officers;

executive officers receipt of specified benefits under their change in control agreements, if certain terminations of employment occur in connection with the merger transaction; and

Calix s agreement to indemnify directors and officers against certain claims and liabilities and to continue such indemnification for a period of six years from the effective time.

Occam stockholders should consider these interests in connection with their votes on the merger agreement. For more information, please see the section titled Proposal One The Merger Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger beginning on page 106.

Failure to complete the merger transaction could negatively impact the stock prices and future businesses and financial results of Calix and Occam.

If the merger transaction is not completed, neither Calix nor Occam would realize any anticipated benefits from being a part of the combined company. In addition, Calix and/or Occam may experience negative reactions from the financial markets, which could cause a decrease in the market price of their stock, particularly if the market price reflects a market assumption that the merger will be completed. Calix and Occam may also experience negative reactions from their respective customers, employees and dealers. Such reactions may have an adverse effect on Calix s and/or Occam s business. Calix and/or Occam also could be subject to litigation related to any failure to complete the merger transaction or to enforcement proceedings commenced against Calix and/or Occam to perform their respective obligations under the merger agreement.

In addition, if the merger transaction is not completed, the ongoing businesses of Calix and Occam may be adversely affected and Calix and Occam will be subject to several risks and consequences, including the following:

Occam may be required, under certain circumstances, to pay Calix a termination fee of \$5.2 million under the merger agreement;

Calix may be required, under certain circumstances, to pay Occam a termination fee of \$5.0 million or \$10.0 million under the merger agreement;

Occam may not be able to find another buyer willing to pay an equivalent or higher price in an alternative transaction than the price that would be paid pursuant to the merger transaction;

under the merger agreement, Occam is subject to certain restrictions on the conduct of its business prior to completing the merger transaction which may adversely affect its ability to execute certain of its business strategies;

Occam and Calix will be required to pay certain costs relating to the merger transaction, whether or not the merger transaction is completed, such as legal, accounting, financial advisor and printing fees; and

matters relating to the merger transaction may require substantial commitments of time and resources by Calix and Occam management, which could otherwise have been devoted to other opportunities that may have been beneficial to Calix and Occam as independent companies.

Occam s obligation to pay a termination fee under certain circumstances and the restrictions on its ability to solicit other acquisition proposals may discourage other companies from trying to acquire Occam.

Until the merger transaction is completed or the merger agreement is terminated, with limited exceptions, the merger agreement prohibits Occam from entering into or soliciting any acquisition proposal or offer for a merger or other business combination with a party other than Calix. Occam has agreed to pay Calix a termination fee of \$5.2 million under specified circumstances. These provisions could discourage other companies from trying to acquire Occam for a higher price.

A different set of factors and conditions affect Calix common shares and could have a negative impact on its stock price.

Upon completion of the merger transaction, Occam stockholders will become holders of Calix common shares. The businesses and segments of Calix and the other companies it has acquired and may acquire in the future, are different from those of Occam. There is a risk that various factors, conditions and developments which

would not affect the price of Occam s common stock could negatively affect the price of Calix s common shares. Please see the section titled Risk Factors Risks Related to Calix (and the Combined Company in the event the Merger Transaction is completed) beginning on page 30 and the section titled Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements beginning on page 67 for a summary of some of the key factors that might affect Calix and the prices at which Calix common shares may trade from time to time.

The Calix common shares to be received by Occam stockholders as a result of the merger transaction will have different rights from shares of Occam common stock.

Following completion of the merger transaction, Occam stockholders will no longer be stockholders of Occam but will instead be stockholders of Calix. There are important differences between the rights of Occam stockholders and the rights of Calix stockholders. See Comparison of Rights of Calix Stockholders and Occam Stockholders beginning on page 273 for a discussion of the different rights associated with Calix common shares and Occam common stock.

Occam stockholders will own a smaller percentage of Calix than they currently own in Occam.

After completion of the merger transaction, Occam stockholders will own a smaller percentage of Calix than they currently own in Occam. Occam stockholders, in the aggregate, will own between approximately 14.1% and 15.9% of Calix s outstanding shares of common stock immediately after completion of the merger transaction (such ownership percentages are based on the number of Calix shares of common stock outstanding as of September 14, 2010 and will vary based upon the actual number of Calix and Occam shares outstanding as of the effective time).

Four purported class action lawsuits, as well as an additional lawsuit, have been filed against Occam and its directors challenging the merger, and an unfavorable judgment or ruling in these lawsuits could prevent or delay the consummation of the merger, result in substantial costs or both.

On September 17, 2010, September 20, 2010 and September 21, 2010, three purported class action complaints were filed by three purported stockholders of Occam in the California Superior Court for Santa Barbara County: Kardosh v. Occam Networks, Inc., et al. (Case No. 1371748), or the Kardosh complaint; Kennedy v. Occam Networks, Inc., et al. (Case No. 1371762), or the Kennedy complaint; and Moghaddam v. Occam Networks, Inc., et al. (Case No. 1371802), or the Moghaddam complaint, respectively. The Kardosh, Kennedy and Moghaddam complaints, which are referred to collectively as the California class action complaints, are substantially similar. Each of the California class action complaints names Occam, the members of the Occam board and Calix as defendants. The Kennedy complaint also names Calix s merger subsidiaries, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II, as defendants.

The California class action complaints generally allege that the members of the Occam board breached their fiduciary duties in connection with the proposed acquisition of Occam by Calix, by, among other things, engaging in an allegedly unfair process and agreeing to an allegedly unfair price for the proposed merger transaction. The California class action complaints further allege that Occam and the other entity defendants aided and abetted the alleged breaches of fiduciary duty. The plaintiffs in the California class action complaints seek injunctive relief directing the individual defendants to comply with their fiduciary duties and enjoining the proposed merger transaction, and rescinding the merger transaction and awarding damages in an unspecified amount in the event the merger transaction closes, as well as plaintiffs costs, attorney s fees, and other relief. On November 19, 2010, the California Superior Court issued an order staying the California class actions in favor of a substantively identical stockholder class action pending in the Delaware Court of Chancery (see below).

On October 6, 2010, a purported class action complaint was filed by purported stockholders of Occam in the Delaware Court of Chancery: Steinhardt v. Howard-Anderson, et al. (Case No. 5878-VCL). On November 24, 2010, these purported stockholders filed an amended complaint, or the amended Steinhardt complaint. The

amended Steinhardt complaint names Occam and the members of the Occam board as defendants. The amended Steinhardt complaint does not name Calix as a defendant.

Like the California class action complaints, the amended Steinhardt complaint generally alleges that the members of the Occam board breached their fiduciary duties in connection with the proposed acquisition of Occam by Calix, by, among other things, engaging in an allegedly unfair process and agreeing to an allegedly unfair price for the proposed merger transaction. The amended Steinhardt complaint also alleges that Occam and the members of the Occam board breached their fiduciary duties by failing to disclose certain allegedly material facts about the proposed merger in the preliminary Form S-4 Registration Statement that Calix filed with the SEC on November 2, 2010. The amended Steinhardt complaint seeks injunctive relief enjoining the proposed merger, or rescinding the merger transaction and awarding damages in an unspecified amount in the event the merger transaction closes, as well as plaintiffs costs, attorney s fees, and other relief.

On November 12, 2010, a complaint was filed by two purported stockholders of Occam in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California: Kennedy and Moghaddam v. Occam Networks, Inc., et al. (Case No. CV10-8665), or the Federal complaint. The Federal complaint names Occam, the members of the Occam board, Calix, Ocean Sub I, and Ocean Sub II as defendants. The Federal complaint generally alleges that the defendants violated sections 14(a) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in connection with the proposed acquisition of Occam by Calix, by, among other things, making material misstatements and omissions about the proposed merger in the preliminary Form S-4 Registration Statement that Calix filed with the SEC on November 2, 2010, and/or aiding and abetting the issuance of the allegedly misleading registration statement. The plaintiffs in the Federal complaint seek injunctive relief enjoining the proposed merger transaction, as well as plaintiffs costs, attorney s fees, and other relief.

Occam s management believes that the allegations in the California actions, the Delaware action, and the Federal action are without merit and intends to vigorously contest the actions. However, there can be no assurance that the defendants will be successful in their defense. In addition, Occam has obligations, under certain circumstances, to hold harmless and indemnify each of the defendant directors against judgments, fines, settlements and expenses related to claims against such directors and otherwise to the fullest extent permitted under Delaware law and Occam s bylaws and certificate of incorporation. Such obligations may apply to these lawsuits. An unfavorable outcome in these lawsuits could prevent or delay the consummation of the merger, result in substantial costs to Occam or both.

Risks Related to Calix (and the Combined Company in the event the Merger Transaction is Completed)

Risks Related to Calix s Business and Industry

Calix s markets are rapidly changing and the company has a limited operating history, which make it difficult to predict future revenue and plan expenses appropriately.

Calix was incorporated in August 1999 and shipped its first product in December 2001. Calix has a limited operating history and competes in markets characterized by rapid technological change, changing needs of communications service providers, or CSPs, evolving industry standards and frequent introductions of new products and services. Calix has limited historical data and has had a relatively limited time period in which to implement and evaluate its business strategies as compared to companies with longer operating histories. In addition, Calix likely will be required to reposition its product and service offerings and introduce new products and services as the company encounters rapidly changing CSP requirements and increasing competitive pressures. Calix may not be successful in doing so in a timely and responsive manner, or at all. As a result, it is difficult to forecast the future revenues and plan the operating expenses of Calix appropriately, which also makes it difficult to predict the future operating results of Calix.

Calix has a history of losses and negative cash flow, and the company may not be able to generate positive operating income and cash flows in the future.

Calix has experienced net losses in each year of its existence. For the nine months ended September 25, 2010 and September 26, 2009, the company incurred net losses of \$17.8 million and \$25.3 million, respectively. As of September 25, 2010, Calix had an accumulated deficit of \$410.9 million.

Calix expects to continue to incur significant expenses for research and development, sales and marketing, customer support and general and administrative functions as the company expands its operations. Given the rapid growth rate and the intense competitive pressures the company faces, Calix may be unable to control its operating costs.

Calix cannot guarantee that it will achieve profitability in the future. The revenue growth trends in prior periods may not be sustainable. In addition, the company will have to generate and sustain significantly increased revenue, while continuing to control expenses, in order to achieve and then maintain profitability. Calix may also incur significant losses in the future for a number of reasons, including the risks discussed in this Risk Related to Calix (and the Combined Company in the event the Merger Transaction is Completed) section and factors that the company cannot anticipate. If Calix is unable to generate positive operating income and cash flow from operations, its liquidity, results of operations and financial condition will be adversely affected.

Fluctuations in quarterly and annual operating results may make it difficult to predict Calix s future performance, which could cause Calix s operating results to fall below investor or analyst expectations, which could adversely affect the trading price of Calix common stock.

A number of factors, many of which are outside of the control of Calix, may cause or contribute to significant fluctuations in quarterly and annual operating results. These fluctuations may make financial planning and forecasting difficult. Comparing the company s operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful, and you should not rely on Calix s past results as an indication of its future performance. If Calix s revenue or operating results fall below the expectations of investors or securities analysts, or below any guidance the company may provide to the market, the price of Calix common stock would likely decline. Moreover, Calix may experience delays in recognizing revenue under applicable revenue recognition rules, particularly from government-funded contracts, such as those funded by the United States Department of Agriculture s Rural Utility Service, or RUS. The extent of these delays and their impact on company revenues can fluctuate over a given time period depending on the number and size of purchase orders under these contracts during such time period. In addition, unanticipated decreases in the company s available liquidity due to fluctuating operating results could limit growth and delay implementation of Calix s expansion plans.

In addition to the other risk factors listed in this Risk Related to Calix (and the Combined Company in the event the Merger Transaction is Completed) section, factors that may contribute to the variability of Calix s operating results include:

the company s ability to predict its revenue and plan its expenses appropriately;

the capital spending patterns of CSPs and any decrease or delay in capital spending by CSPs due to economic, regulatory or other reasons;

the impact of government-sponsored programs on the company s customers;

intense competition;

the ability to develop new products or enhancements that support technological advances and meet changing CSP requirements;

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

the company s ability to achieve market acceptance of its products and CSPs willingness to deploy the new products;

the concentration of the company s customer base;

the length and unpredictability of the company s sales cycles;

the focus on CSPs with limited revenue potential;

the lack of long-term, committed-volume purchase contracts with the company s customers;

the ability to increase sales to larger North American as well as international CSPs;

the company s exposure to the credit risks of its customers;

fluctuations in the company s gross margin;

the interoperability of products with CSP networks;

the dependence on sole and limited source suppliers;

the ability to manage relationships with the company s contract manufacturers;

the ability to forecast manufacturing requirements and manage inventory;

the company s products compliance with industry standards;

the ability to expand international operations;

the ability to protect the company s intellectual property and the cost of doing so;

the quality of the company s products, including any undetected hardware errors or bugs in its software;

the ability to estimate future warranty obligations due to product failure rates;

the company s ability to obtain necessary third-party technology licenses;

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

any obligation to issue performance bonds to satisfy requirements under RUS contracts;

the attraction and retention of qualified employees and key personnel; and

the company s ability to maintain proper and effective internal controls. Calix s business is dependent on the capital spending patterns of CSPs, and any decrease or delay in capital spending by CSPs, in response to recent economic conditions or otherwise, would reduce revenues and harm the company s business.

Demand for Calix s products depends on the magnitude and timing of capital spending by CSPs as they construct, expand and upgrade their access networks. For the nine months ended September 25, 2010, CenturyLink, Inc., hereafter referred to as CenturyLink, purchased a significant amount of Calix s access systems and software. However, the company cannot anticipate the level of CenturyLink s purchases in the future. In April 2010, CenturyLink announced their pending merger with Qwest Communications. If the pending merger is completed, this could create uncertainty for Calix as to whether it will be chosen as a preferred network equipment vendor for the combined company. In addition, the recent economic downturn has contributed to a slowdown in telecommunications industry spending, including in the specific geographies and markets in which Calix operates. In response to reduced consumer spending, challenging capital markets or declining liquidity trends, capital spending for network infrastructure projects of CSPs could be delayed or cancelled. In addition, capital spending is cyclical in the industry and sporadic among individual CSPs, and can change on short notice. As a result, Calix may not have visibility into changes in spending behavior until nearly the end of a given quarter. CSP spending on network construction, maintenance, expansion and upgrades is also affected by seasonality in their purchasing cycles, reductions in their budgets and delays in their purchasing cycles.

Many factors affecting Calix s results of operations are beyond the company s control, particularly in the case of large CSP orders and network infrastructure deployments involving multiple vendors and technologies where the achievement of certain thresholds for acceptance is subject to the readiness and performance of the customer or other providers, and changes in customer requirements or installation plans. Further, CSPs may not pursue infrastructure upgrades that require the company s access systems and software. Infrastructure improvements may be delayed or prevented by a variety of factors including cost, regulatory obstacles, mergers, lack of consumer demand for advanced communications services and alternative approaches to service delivery. Reductions in capital expenditures by CSPs may slow Calix s rate of revenue growth. As a consequence, the company s results for a particular quarter may be difficult to predict, and its prior results are not necessarily indicative of results likely in future periods.

Government-sponsored programs could impact the timing and buying patterns of CSPs, which may cause fluctuations in Calix s operating results.

Many of Calix s customers are Independent Operating Companies, or IOCs, which have revenues that are particularly dependent upon interstate and intrastate access charges, and federal and state subsidies. The Federal Communications Commission, or FCC, and some states are considering changes to such payments and subsidies, and these changes could reduce IOC revenues. Furthermore, many IOCs use or expect to use, government-supported loan programs or grants, such as RUS loans and grants and the Broadband Stimulus programs under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, or ARRA, to finance capital spending. Changes to these programs could reduce the ability of IOCs to access capital and reduce Calix s revenue opportunities.

The company believes that uncertainties related to Broadband Stimulus programs may be delaying investment decisions by IOCs. In addition, to the extent that the company s customers do receive grants or loans under these stimulus programs, those customers may be encouraged to accelerate their network development plans and purchase substantial quantities of products, from Calix or other suppliers, while the programs and funding are in place. Customers may thereafter substantially curtail future purchases of products as ARRA funding winds down or because all purchases have been completed. Award grants under the Broadband Stimulus programs were issued between December 2009 and September 2010. Funded projects must be two-thirds complete within two years of the award and complete within three years of the award.

Therefore, all funds that are awarded are expected to be allocated by September 2013. The revenue recognition guidelines related to the sales of Calix s access systems to CSPs who have received Broadband Stimulus funds may create uncertainties around the timing of the company s revenue, which could harm financial results. In addition, any decision by CSPs to reduce capital expenditures caused by changes in government regulations and subsidies would have an adverse effect on Calix s operating results and financial condition.

Calix faces intense competition that could reduce the company s revenue and adversely affect its financial results.

The market for Calix products is highly competitive, and the company expects competition from both established and new companies to increase. Competitors include companies such as ADTRAN, Inc., Alcatel- Lucent S.A., Enablence Technologies Inc., Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd., LM Ericsson Telephone Company, or Ericsson, Motorola, Inc., Occam Networks, Inc., Tellabs, Inc. and Zhone Technologies, Inc.

Calix s ability to compete successfully depends on a number of factors, including:

the successful development of new products;

the ability to anticipate CSP and market requirements and changes in technology and industry standards;

the ability to differentiate Calix products from its competitors offerings based on performance, cost-effectiveness or other factors;

the ability to gain customer acceptance of its products; and

the ability to market and sell its products.

The market for broadband access equipment is dominated primarily by large, established vendors. In addition, some of Calix s competitors have merged, made acquisitions or entered into partnerships or other strategic relationships with one another to offer more comprehensive solutions than they individually had offered. Examples include the merger of Alcatel S.A. with Lucent Technologies, Inc. in November 2006, Ericsson s acquisitions of Redback Networks Inc. in January 2007 and Entrisphere Inc. in February 2007, Ciena Corporation s acquisition of World Wide Packets, Inc. in 2008, Nortel s Metro Ethernet Networks business in March 2010 and Enablence Technologies, Inc. s acquisition of Teledata Networks, Ltd. in June 2010. Calix expects this trend to continue as companies attempt to strengthen or maintain their market positions in an evolving industry. Many of the company s current or potential competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition, larger customer bases and significantly greater financial, technical, sales, marketing and other resources than Calix does and are better positioned to acquire and offer complementary products and services technologies. Many of Calix s competitors have broader product lines and can offer bundled solutions, which may appeal to certain customers. Such competitors may invest additional resources in developing more compelling product offerings. Potential customers may also prefer to purchase from their existing suppliers rather than a new supplier, regardless of product performance or features, because the products that Calix and its competitors offer require a substantial investment of time and funds to install. In addition, as a result of these transition costs, competition to secure contracts with potential customers is particularly intense. Some of Calix s competitors may offer substantial discounts or rebates to win new customers. If the company is forced to reduce prices in order to secure customers, it may be unable to sustain gross margins at desired levels or achieve profitability. Competitive pressures could result in increased pricing pressure, reduced profit margins, increased sales and marketing expenses and failure to increase, or the loss of, market share, any of which could reduce revenue and adversely affect the company s financial results.

Product development is costly and if Calix fails to develop new products or enhancements that meet changing CSP requirements, the company could experience lower sales.

Calix s market is characterized by rapid technological advances, frequent new product introductions, evolving industry standards and unanticipated changes in subscriber requirements. The company s future success will depend significantly on its ability to anticipate and adapt to such changes, and to offer, on a timely and cost-effective basis, products and features that meet changing CSP demands and industry standards.

Calix intends to continue making significant investments in developing new products and enhancing the functionality of its existing products. Developing products is expensive, complex and involves uncertainties. The company may not have sufficient resources to successfully manage lengthy product development cycles. For the nine months ended September 25, 2010 and September 26, 2009, Calix s research and development expenses were \$39.2 million, or 20% of revenue, and \$33.2 million, or 23% of revenue, respectively. The company believes that it must continue to dedicate a significant amount of resources to its research and development efforts to maintain a competitive position. These investments may take several years to generate positive returns, if ever. In addition, the company may experience design, manufacturing, marketing and other difficulties that could delay or prevent the development, introduction or marketing of new products and enhancements. If Calix fails to meet its development targets, demand for its products will decline.

In addition, the introduction of new or enhanced products also requires that the company manage the transition from older products to these new or enhanced products in order to minimize disruption in customer ordering patterns, fulfill ongoing customer commitments and ensure that adequate supplies of new products are available for delivery to meet anticipated customer demand. If Calix fails to maintain compatibility with other software or equipment found in its customers existing and planned networks, the company may face substantially reduced demand for its products, which would reduce revenue opportunities and market share.

Moreover, as customers complete infrastructure deployments, they may require greater levels of service and support than Calix has provided in the past. Calix may not be able to provide products, services and support to compete effectively for these market opportunities. If the company is unable to anticipate and develop new products or enhancements to its existing products on a timely and cost-effective basis, it could experience lower sales which would harm Calix s business.

Calix s new products are early in their life cycles and are subject to uncertain market demand. If customers are unwilling to install Calix products or deploy new services or the company is unable to achieve market acceptance of its new products, business and financial results will be harmed.

Calix s new products are early in their life cycles and are subject to uncertain market demand. They also may face obstacles in manufacturing, deployment and competitive response. Potential customers may choose not to invest the additional capital required for initial system deployment. In addition, demand for products is dependent on the success of Calix s customers in deploying and selling services to their subscribers. Calix s products support a variety of advanced broadband services, such as high-speed Internet, Internet protocol television, mobile broadband, high-definition video and online gaming, and basic voice and data services. If subscriber demand for such services does not grow as expected or declines, or if Calix customers are unable or unwilling to deploy and market these services, demand for the company s products may decrease or fail to grow at anticipated rates.

Calix s strategy includes developing products for the access network that incorporate Internet protocol and Ethernet technologies. If these technologies are not widely adopted by CSPs for use in their access networks, demand for the company s products may decrease or not grow. As a result, Calix may be unable to sell its products to recoup its expenses related to the development of these products and results of operations would be harmed. The company may also be delayed in recognizing revenue related to its new products and related services and may be required to recognize costs and expenses for such products before it can recognize the related revenue.

Calix s customer base is concentrated, and there are a limited number of potential customers for its products. The loss of any of key customers, a decrease in purchases by those key customers or Calix s inability to grow its customer base would adversely impact its revenues.

Historically, a large portion of Calix s sales have been to a limited number of customers. For example, for the year ended December 31, 2009, CenturyLink accounted for 38% of Calix s revenue. In 2008, CenturyLink and one other customer accounted for 25% and 11% of revenue, respectively. In 2007, CenturyLink and another different customer accounted for 22% and 15% of revenue, respectively.

Calix anticipates that a large portion of its revenues will continue to depend on sales to a limited number of customers. In addition, some larger customers may demand discounts and rebates or desire to purchase their access systems and software from multiple providers. As a result of these factors, the company s future revenue opportunities may be limited and its margins could be reduced, and profitability may be adversely impacted. The loss of, or reduction in, orders from any key customer would significantly reduce Calix s revenues and harm its business.

Furthermore, in recent years, the CSP market has undergone substantial consolidation. Industry consolidation generally has negative implications for equipment suppliers, including a reduction in the number of potential customers, a decrease in aggregate capital spending, and greater pricing leverage on the part of CSPs over equipment suppliers. Continued consolidation of the CSP industry, including the pending merger between CenturyLink and Qwest Communications, and among the Incumbent Local Exchange Carrier, or ILEC, and IOC customers, who represent a large part of Calix s business, could make it more difficult for the company to grow its customer base, increase sales of its products and maintain adequate gross margins.

Calix s sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, and its sales efforts require considerable time and expense. As a result, sales are difficult to predict and may vary substantially from quarter to quarter, which may cause the company s operating results to fluctuate significantly.

The timing of Calix s revenues is difficult to predict. Sales efforts often involve educating CSPs about the use and benefits of the company s products. CSPs typically undertake a significant evaluation process, which frequently involves not only Calix products but also those of its competitors and results in a lengthy sales cycle. Calix spends substantial time, effort and money in its sales efforts without any assurance that such efforts will produce any sales. In addition, product purchases are frequently subject to budget constraints, multiple approvals and unplanned administrative, processing and other delays. If sales expected from a specific customer for a particular quarter are not realized in that quarter or at all the company may not achieve its revenue forecasts and the business could be harmed.

Calix s focus on CSPs with relatively small networks limits its revenues from sales to any one customer and makes future operating results difficult to predict.

Calix currently focuses a large portion of its sales efforts on IOCs, cable multiple system operators and selected international CSPs. In general, the company s current and potential customers generally operate small networks with limited capital expenditure budgets. Accordingly, Calix believes the potential revenues from the sale of its products to any one of these customers is limited. As a result, the company must identify and sell products to new customers each quarter to continue to increase its sales. In addition, the spending patterns of many of its customers are characterized by small and sporadic purchases. As a consequence, Calix has limited backlog and will likely continue to have limited visibility into future operating results.

Calix does not have long-term, committed-volume purchase contracts with its customers, and therefore has no guarantee of future revenue from any customer.

Calix s sales are made predominantly pursuant to purchase orders, and typically the company has not entered into long-term, committed-volume purchase contracts with its customers, including its key customers which account for a material portion of the company s revenues. As a result, any of its customers may cease to purchase Calix products at any time. In addition, Calix s customers may attempt to renegotiate the terms of its agreements, including price and quantity. If any key customers stop purchasing Calix s access systems and software for any reason, business and results of operations would be harmed.

The company s efforts to increase its sales to larger North American as well as international CSPs may be unsuccessful.

Calix s sales and marketing efforts have been focused on CSPs in North America. A part of its long-term strategy is to increase sales to larger North American as well as international CSPs. Calix will be required to devote substantial technical, marketing and sales resources to the pursuit of these CSPs, who have lengthy equipment qualification and sales cycles, without any assurance of generating sales. In particular, sales to these CSPs may require the company to upgrade its products to meet more stringent performance criteria, develop new customer-specific features or adapt its product to meet international standards. If Calix is unable to successfully increase sales to larger CSPs, its operating results and long-term growth may be negatively impacted.

Calix s exposure to the credit risks of its customers may make it difficult to collect accounts receivable and could adversely affect operating results and financial condition.

In the course of its sales to customers, Calix may encounter difficulty collecting accounts receivable and could be exposed to risks associated with uncollectible accounts receivable. The recent challenging economic conditions have impacted some of Calix s customers ability to pay their accounts payable. While the company attempts to monitor these situations carefully and attempts to take appropriate measures to collect accounts

receivable balances, the company has written down accounts receivable and written off doubtful accounts in prior periods and may be unable to avoid accounts receivable write-downs or write-offs of doubtful accounts in the future. Such write-downs or write-offs could negatively affect Calix s operating results for the period in which they occur, and could harm its operating results.

Calix s gross margin may fluctuate over time and its current level of product gross margins may not be sustainable.

Calix s current level of product gross margins may not be sustainable and may be adversely affected by numerous factors, including:

changes in customer, geographic or product mix, including the mix of configurations within each product group;

increased price competition, including the impact of customer discounts and rebates;

the ability to reduce and control product costs;

loss of cost savings due to changes in component pricing or charges incurred due to inventory holding periods if parts ordering does not correctly anticipate product demand;

introduction of new products;

changes in shipment volume;

changes in distribution channels;

increased warranty costs;

excess and obsolete inventory and inventory holding charges;

expediting costs incurred to meet customer delivery requirements; and

liquidated damages relating to customer contractual terms. The company s products must interoperate with many software applications and hardware products found in its customers networks. If Calix is unable to ensure that its products interoperate properly, its business would be harmed.

Calix products must interoperate with its customers existing and planned networks, which often have varied and complex specifications, utilize multiple protocol standards, software applications and products from multiple vendors and contain multiple generations of products that have been added over time. As a result, the company must continually ensure that its products interoperate properly with these existing and planned networks. To meet these requirements, Calix must undertake development efforts that require substantial capital investment and employee resources. The company may not accomplish these development efforts quickly or cost-effectively, if at all. If Calix fails to maintain compatibility with other software or equipment found in its customers existing and planned networks, the company may face substantially reduced demand for its products, which would reduce its revenue opportunities and market share.

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

Calix has entered into interoperability arrangements with a number of equipment and software vendors for the use or integration of their technology with Calix products. These arrangements give the company access to, and enable interoperability with, various products that it does not otherwise offer. If these relationships fail, Calix may have to devote substantially more resources to the development of alternative products and processes, and its efforts may not be as effective as the combined solutions under its current arrangements. In some cases, these other vendors are either companies that Calix competes with directly, or companies that have extensive relationships with Calix s existing and potential customers and may have influence over the purchasing decisions of those customers. Some of the company s competitors have stronger relationships with some of Calix s existing

and potential other vendors and, as a result, its ability to have successful interoperability arrangements with these companies may be harmed. Calix s failure to establish or maintain key relationships with third-party equipment and software vendors may harm the company s ability to successfully sell and market its products.

As Calix does not have manufacturing capabilities, the company depends upon a small number of outside contract manufacturers and the company does not have supply contracts with these manufacturers. Its operations could be disrupted if Calix encounters problems with these contract manufacturers.

Calix does not have internal manufacturing capabilities, and relies upon a small number of contract manufacturers to build its products. In particular, the company relies on Flextronics International Ltd., or Flextronics, for the manufacture of most of its products. Calix s reliance on a small number of contract manufacturers makes it vulnerable to possible capacity constraints and reduced control over component availability, delivery schedules, manufacturing yields and costs. The company does not have supply contracts with Flextronics or its other manufacturers. Consequently, these manufacturers are not obligated to supply products to Calix for any specific period, in any specific quantity or at any certain price. In addition, Calix has limited control over its contract manufacturers quality systems and controls, and therefore may not be able to ensure levels of quality manufacture suitable for its customers.

The revenues that Flextronics generates from the company s orders represent a relatively small percentage of Flextronics overall revenues. As a result, fulfilling Calix s orders may not be considered a priority in the event Flextronics is constrained in its ability to fulfill all of its customer obligations in a timely manner. In addition, a substantial part of the company s manufacturing is done in Flextronics facilities which are located outside of the United States. Calix believes that the location of these facilities outside of the United States increases supply risk, including the risk of supply interruptions or reductions in manufacturing quality or controls.

If Flextronics or any of its other contract manufacturers were unable or unwilling to continue manufacturing Calix s products in required volumes and at high quality levels, the company would have to identify, qualify and select acceptable alternative contract manufacturers. An alternative contract manufacturer may not be available to Calix when needed or may not be in a position to satisfy the company s production requirements at commercially reasonable prices and quality. Any significant interruption in manufacturing would require Calix to reduce the supply of products to its customers, which in turn would reduce revenues and harm the company s relationships with its customers.

Calix depends on sole source and limited source suppliers for key components and products. If the company were unable to source these components on a timely basis, Calix would not be able to deliver its products to customers.

Calix depends on sole source and limited source suppliers for key components of its products. For example, certain of its application-specific integrated circuits processors and resistor networks are purchased from sole source suppliers. Calix may from time to time enter into original equipment manufacturer, or OEM, or original design manufacturer, or ODM, agreements to manufacture and/or design certain products in order to enable the company to offer products into key markets on an accelerated basis. For example, a third party assisted in the design of and manufactures Calix s E5-100 platform family. Any of the sole source and limited source suppliers, OEMs and ODMs upon whom the company relies could stop producing Calix components or products, cease operations or be acquired by, or enter into exclusive arrangements with, the company s competitors. Calix generally does not have long-term supply agreements with its suppliers, and its purchase volumes are currently too low for the company to be considered a priority customer by most of its suppliers. As a result, most of these suppliers could stop selling to Calix at commercially reasonable prices, or at all. Any such interruption or delay may force the company to seek similar components or products from alternative sources, which may not be available. Switching suppliers, OEMs or ODMs may require that the company redesign its products to accommodate new components, and may potentially require Calix to re-qualify its products with customers,

which would be costly and time-consuming. Any interruption in the supply of sole source or limited source components for its products would adversely affect Calix s ability to meet scheduled product deliveries to its customers, could result in lost revenue or higher expenses and would harm the business.

If Calix fails to forecast its manufacturing requirements accurately and manage its inventory with contract manufacturers, the company could incur additional costs, experience manufacturing delays and lose revenue.

Calix bears inventory risk under its contract manufacturing arrangements. Lead times for the materials and components that Calix orders through its contract manufacturers vary significantly and depend on numerous factors, including the specific supplier, contract terms and market demand for a component at a given time. Lead times for certain key materials and components incorporated into Calix products are currently lengthy, requiring the company or its contract manufacturers to order materials and components several months in advance of manufacture. If Calix overestimates its production requirements, the contract manufacturers may purchase excess components and build excess inventory. If the company s contract manufacturers, at its request, purchase excess components that are unique to Calix products or build excess products, the company could be required to pay for these excess parts or products and recognize related inventory write-down costs. Historically, Calix has reimbursed its primary contract manufacturer for inventory purchases when the inventory has been rendered obsolete, for example due to manufacturing and engineering change orders resulting from design changes, manufacturing discontinuation of parts by the company s suppliers, or in cases where inventory levels greatly exceed projected demand. If Calix experiences excess inventory write-downs associated with excess or obsolete inventory, this would have an adverse effect on the company s gross margins, financial condition and results of operations. Calix has experienced unanticipated increases in demand from customers which resulted in delayed shipments and variable shipping patterns. If the company underestimates its products and result in delays or cancellation of sales.

If Calix fails to comply with evolving industry standards, sales of its existing and future products would be adversely affected.

The markets for Calix products are characterized by a significant number of standards, both domestic and international, which are evolving as new technologies are deployed. The company s products must comply with these standards in order to be widely marketable. In some cases, Calix is compelled to obtain certifications or authorizations before its products can be introduced, marketed or sold. In addition, the ability to expand Calix s international operations and create international market demand for products may be limited by regulations or standards adopted by other countries that may require the company to redesign its existing products or develop new products suitable for sale in those countries. Although the company believes its products are currently in compliance with domestic and international standards and regulations in countries in which they currently sell, Calix may not be able to design its products to comply with evolving standards and regulations in the future. Accordingly, this ongoing evolution of standards may directly affect the company s ability to market or sell its products. Further, the cost of complying with the evolving standards and regulations, or the failure to obtain timely domestic or foreign regulatory approvals or certification such that the company may not be able to sell its products where these standards or regulations apply, would result in lower revenues and lost market share.

Calix may be unable to successfully expand its international operations. In addition, the company s international expansion plans, if implemented, will subject it to a variety of risks that may harm its business.

Calix currently generates almost all of its sales from customers in North America and the Caribbean, and has very limited experience marketing, selling and supporting its products and services outside North America and the Caribbean or managing the administrative aspects of a worldwide operation. While Calix intends to expand its international operations, the company may not be able to create or maintain international market demand for its products. In addition, as it expands its operations internationally, the company support

organization will face additional challenges including those associated with delivering support, training and documentation in languages other than English. If Calix invests substantial time and resources to expand its international operations and is unable to do so successfully and in a timely manner, the business, financial condition and results of operations will suffer.

In the course of expanding its international operations and operating overseas, Calix will be subject to a variety of risks, including:

differing regulatory requirements, including tax laws, trade laws, labor regulations, tariffs, export quotas, custom duties or other trade restrictions;

greater difficulty supporting and localizing its products;

different or unique competitive pressures as a result of, among other things, the presence of local equipment suppliers;

challenges inherent in efficiently managing an increased number of employees over large geographic distances, including the need to implement appropriate systems, policies, compensation and benefits and compliance programs;

limited or unfavorable intellectual property protection;

risk of change in international political or economic conditions; and

restrictions on the repatriation of earnings. Calix may have difficulty managing growth, which could limit its ability to increase sales.

Calix has experienced significant growth in sales and operations in recent years. The company expects to continue to expand its research and development, sales, marketing and support activities. The company s historical growth has placed, and planned future growth is expected to continue to place, significant demands on Calix s management, as well as its financial and operational resources, to:

manage a larger organization;

expand its manufacturing and distribution capacity;

increase sales and marketing efforts;

broaden customer support capabilities;

implement appropriate operational and financial systems; and

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

maintain effective financial disclosure controls and procedures.

If Calix cannot grow, or fails to manage its growth effectively, the company may not be able to execute its business strategies and the business, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected.

Calix may not be able to protect its intellectual property, which could impair the ability to compete effectively.

Calix depends on certain proprietary technology for its success and ability to compete. As of September 25, 2010, Calix held 25 U.S. patents expiring between 2015 and 2028, and had 31 pending U.S. patent applications. Two of the U.S. patents are also covered by granted international patents, one in five countries and the other in three countries. The company currently has no pending international patent applications. Calix relies on intellectual property laws, as well as nondisclosure agreements, licensing arrangements and confidentiality provisions, to establish and protect its proprietary rights. U.S. patent, copyright and trade secret laws afford the company only limited protection, and the laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights to the

- 1	ſ	٦
4	L	J

same extent. Calix s pending patent applications may not result in issued patents, and its issued patents may not be enforceable. Any infringement of Calix s proprietary rights could result in significant litigation costs. Further, any failure by the company to adequately protect its proprietary rights could result in Calix s competitors offering similar products, resulting in the loss of competitive advantage and decreased sales.

Despite efforts to protect the company s proprietary rights, attempts may be made to copy or reverse engineer aspects of Calix s products or to obtain and use information that the company regards as proprietary. Accordingly, Calix may be unable to protect its proprietary rights against unauthorized third-party copying or use. Furthermore, policing the unauthorized use of its intellectual property would be difficult for the company. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce Calix s intellectual property rights, to protect its trade secrets or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. Litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could harm Calix s business.

On December 28, 2009, Calix filed a lawsuit against Wi-LAN Inc., or Wi-LAN, of Ontario, Canada, in the federal court in the Northern District of California, seeking declaratory relief that the company does not infringe U.S. Patents Nos. 5,956,323 and 6,763,019, allegedly owned by Wi-LAN. Wi-LAN withdrew a motion to dismiss or to transfer the Calix lawsuit to the Eastern District of Texas, where Wi-LAN had filed a separate subsequent action accusing Calix of infringement of the two patents. On December 6, 2010, the court in the Eastern District of Texas granted Calix s motion to transfer that action to the Northern District of California. Both parties have filed extensive written discovery requests in the California action. The company intends to continue to vigorously pursue the lawsuit and defend against all Wi-LAN claims and counterclaims. While Calix believes it has substantial and meritorious arguments and defenses, neither the outcome of the litigation nor the amount and range of potential damages or exposure associated with the litigation can be assessed with certainty, and the company is not currently able to estimate the loss, if any, that may result from the claims against it. If Wi-LAN is successful in obtaining injunctive relief, it could force the company to stop or alter certain of its business activities.

Calix could become subject to litigation regarding intellectual property rights that could harm its business.

Calix may be subject to intellectual property infringement claims that are costly to defend and could limit the company s ability to use some technologies in the future. Third parties may assert patent, copyright, trademark or other intellectual property rights to technologies or rights that are important to Calix s business. Such claims may involve patent holding companies or other adverse patent owners who have no relevant product revenue, and therefore the company s own issued and pending patents may provide little or no deterrence. Calix has received in the past and expects that in the future it may receive, particularly as a public company, communications from competitors and other companies alleging that the company may be infringing their patents, trade secrets or other intellectual property rights and/or offering licenses to such intellectual property or threatening litigation. In addition, Calix has agreed, and may in the future agree, to indemnify its customers for any expenses or liabilities resulting from claimed infringements of patents, trademarks or copyrights of third parties. Any claims asserting that Calix s products infringe, or may infringe on, the proprietary rights of third parties, with or without merit, could be time-consuming, resulting in costly litigation and diverting the efforts of the engineering teams and management. These claims could also result in product shipment delays or require the company to modify its products or enter into royalty or licensing agreements, if required, may not be available to Calix on acceptable terms, if at all.

The quality of Calix s support and services offerings is important to its customers, and if the company fails to continue to offer high quality support and services Calix could lose customers which would harm the business.

Once Calix s products are deployed within its customers networks, they depend on the company s support organization to resolve any issues relating to those products. A high level of support is critical for the successful marketing and sale of its products. If Calix does not effectively assist its customers in deploying its products,

succeed in helping them quickly resolve post-deployment issues or provide effective ongoing support, it could adversely affect the ability to sell Calix products to existing customers and harm the company s reputation with potential new customers. As a result, the failure to maintain high quality support and services could result in the loss of customers which would harm Calix s business.

Calix s products are highly technical and may contain undetected hardware errors or software bugs, which could harm the company s reputation and adversely affect its business.

Calix s products are highly technical and, when deployed, are critical to the operation of many networks. The company s products have contained and may contain undetected errors, bugs or security vulnerabilities. Some errors in its products may only be discovered after a product has been installed and used by customers, and may in some cases only be detected under certain circumstances or after extended use. Any errors, bugs, defects or security vulnerabilities discovered in its products after commercial release could result in loss of revenues or delay in revenue recognition, loss of customer goodwill and customers and increased service and warranty cost, any of which could adversely affect the business, operating results and financial condition. In addition, Calix could face claims for product liability, tort or breach of warranty. Calix s contracts with customers contain provisions relating to warranty disclaimers and liability limitations, which may not be upheld. Defending a lawsuit, regardless of its merit, is costly and may divert management s attention and adversely affect the market s perception of the company and its products. In addition, if Calix s business liability insurance coverage proves inadequate or future coverage is unavailable on acceptable terms or at all, the business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely impacted.

Calix s estimates regarding future warranty obligations may change due to product failure rates, shipment volumes, field service obligations and rework costs incurred in correcting product failures. If the estimates change, liability for warranty obligations may be increased, impacting future cost of goods sold.

Calix s products are highly complex, and the product development, manufacturing and integration testing may not be adequate to detect all defects, errors, failures and quality issues. Quality or performance problems for products covered under warranty could adversely impact the company s reputation and negatively affect its operating results and financial position. The development and production of new products with high complexity often involves problems with software, components and manufacturing methods. If significant warranty obligations arise due to reliability or quality issues arising from defects in software, faulty components or manufacturing methods, Calix s operating results and financial position could be negatively impacted by:

cost associated with fixing software or hardware defects;

high service and warranty expenses;

high inventory obsolescence expense;

delays in collecting accounts receivable;

payment of liquidated damages for performance failures; and

declining sales to existing customers.

Calix s use of open source software could impose limitations on the company s ability to commercialize its products.

Calix incorporates open source software into its products. Although the company closely monitors its use of open source software, the terms of many open source software licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on Calix s ability to sell its products. In such event, Calix could be required to make its proprietary software generally available to third parties, including competitors, at no cost, to seek licenses from third parties

in order to continue offering its products, to re-engineer products or to discontinue the sale of products in the event re-engineering cannot be accomplished on a timely basis or at all, any of which could adversely affect the company s revenues and operating expenses.

If Calix is unable to obtain necessary third-party technology licenses, the company s ability to develop new products or product enhancements may be impaired.

While Calix s current licenses of third-party technology relate to commercially available off-the-shelf technology, the company may in the future be required to license additional technology from third parties to develop new products or product enhancements. These third-party licenses may be unavailable to Calix on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. Calix s inability to obtain necessary third-party licenses may force the company to obtain substitute technology of lower quality or performance standards or at greater cost, any of which could harm the competitiveness of its products and result in lost revenues.

Calix may pursue acquisitions, which involve a number of risks. If the company is unable to address and resolve these risks successfully, such acquisitions could disrupt the business.

In February 2006, Calix acquired Optical Solutions, Inc. in order to support the expansion of its product and service offerings. On September 16, 2010, the company entered into a definitive agreement to acquire Occam Networks, Inc., which is discussed further in the report on Form 8-K that Calix filed on September 16, 2010 and in this proxy statement/prospectus. Calix may in the future acquire businesses, products or technologies to expand its product offerings and capabilities, customer base and business. Calix has evaluated, and expects to continue to evaluate, a wide array of potential strategic transactions. The company has limited experience making such acquisitions. Any of these transactions could be material to its financial condition and results of operations. The anticipated benefit of acquisitions may never materialize. In addition, the process of integrating acquired businesses, products or technologies may create unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures. Some of the areas where Calix may face acquisition-related risks include:

diversion of management time and potential business disruptions;

expenses, distractions and potential claims resulting from acquisitions, whether or not they are completed;

retaining and integrating employees from any businesses the company may acquire;

issuance of dilutive equity securities or incurrence of debt;

integrating various accounting, management, information, human resource and other systems to permit effective management;

incurring possible write-offs, impairment charges, contingent liabilities, amortization expense or write-offs of goodwill;

difficulties integrating and supporting acquired products or technologies;

unexpected capital expenditure requirements;

insufficient revenues to offset increased expenses associated with the acquisition;

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

opportunity costs associated with committing capital to such acquisitions; and

acquisition-related litigation.

Foreign acquisitions would involve risks in addition to those mentioned above, including those related to integration of operations across different cultures and languages, currency risks and the particular economic, political and regulatory risks associated with specific countries. Calix may not be able to address these risks successfully, or at all, without incurring significant costs, delays or other operating problems. The company s inability to address successfully such risks could disrupt the business.

Calix s obligation to issue performance bonds to satisfy requirements under RUS contracts and ARRA-related contracts may negatively impact its working capital and financial condition.

The company is often required to issue performance bonds to satisfy requirements under its RUS contracts, and expects that it may also be required to issue such bonds under the terms of contracts required by the Broadband Stimulus programs under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, or ARRA. The performance bonds generally cover the full amount of the RUS contract, and may be the same for ARRA contracts. Upon Calix s performance under the contract and acceptance by the customer, the performance bond is released. The time period between issuing the performance bond and its release can be lengthy. Calix issues letters of credit under its existing credit facility to support these performance bonds. In the event the company does not have sufficient capacity under its credit facility to support these bonds, Calix will have to issue certificates of deposit, which could materially impact its working capital or limit its ability to satisfy such contract requirements. In the event that Calix is unable to issue such bonds, the company may lose business and customers who purchase under RUS and ARRA contracts. In addition, if Calix exhausts its credit facility or working capital reserves in issuing such bonds, the company may be required to eliminate or curtail expenditures to mitigate the impact on its working capital or financial condition.

Calix s use of and reliance upon development resources in China may expose the company to unanticipated costs or liabilities.

Calix operates a wholly foreign-owned enterprise in Nanjing, China, where a dedicated team of engineers performs quality assurance and cost reduction engineering. The company also outsources a portion of its software development to a team of software engineers based in Shenyang, China. This reliance upon development resources in China may not enable the company to achieve meaningful product cost reductions or greater resource efficiency. Further, the company s development efforts and other operations in China involve significant risks, including:

difficulty hiring and retaining appropriate engineering resources due to intense competition for such resources and resulting wage inflation;

the knowledge transfer related to Calix technology and exposure to misappropriation of intellectual property or confidential information, including information that is proprietary to the company, its customers and third parties;

heightened exposure to changes in the economic, security and political conditions of China;

fluctuation in currency exchange rates and tax risks associated with international operations; and

development efforts that do not meet the company s requirements because of language, cultural or other differences associated with international operations, resulting in errors or delays.

Difficulties resulting from the factors above and other risks related to its operations in China could expose Calix to increased expense, impair its development efforts, harm the company s competitive position and damage its reputation.

Calix s customers are subject to government regulation, and changes in current or future laws or regulations that negatively impact its customers could harm the company s business.

The FCC has jurisdiction over all of Calix s U.S. customers. FCC regulatory policies that create disincentives for investment in access network infrastructure or impact the competitive environment in which the company s customers operate may harm its business. For example, future FCC regulation affecting providers of broadband Internet access services could impede the penetration of Calix s customers into certain markets or affect the prices they may charge in such markets. Furthermore, many of its customers are subject to FCC rate regulation of interstate telecommunications services, and are recipients of federal universal service fund payments, which are intended to subsidize telecommunications services in areas that are expensive to serve. In

addition, many of the company s customers are subject to state regulation of intrastate telecommunications services, including rates for such services, and may also receive funding from state universal service funds. Changes in rate regulations or universal service funding rules, either at the federal or state level, could adversely affect its customers revenues and capital spending plans. In addition, various international regulatory bodies have jurisdiction over certain of Calix s non-U.S. customers. Changes in these domestic and international standards, laws and regulations, or judgments in favor of plaintiffs in lawsuits against CSPs based on changed standards, laws and regulations could adversely affect the development of broadband networks and services. This, in turn, could directly or indirectly adversely impact the communications industry in which Calix s customers operate. To the extent the company s customers are adversely affected by laws or regulations regarding their business, products or service offerings, Calix s business, financial condition and results of operations would suffer.

Calix may be subject to governmental export and import controls that could subject the company to liability or impair its ability to compete in additional international markets.

Calix s products may be or become subject to U.S. export controls that will restrict the company s ability to export them outside of the free-trade zones covered by the North American Free Trade Agreement, Central American Free Trade Agreement and other treaties and laws. Therefore, future international shipments of the company s products may require export licenses or export license exceptions. In addition, the import laws of other countries may limit Calix s ability to distribute its products, or Calix s customers ability to buy and the products, in those countries. Changes in the company s products or changes in export and import regulations may create delays in the introduction of Calix s products in international markets, prevent its customers with international operations from deploying the products or, in some cases, prevent the export or import of products to certain countries altogether. Any change in export or import regulations or related legislation, shift in approach to the enforcement or scope of existing regulations, or change in the countries, persons or technologies targeted by such regulations, could negatively impact Calix s ability to sell its products to existing or potential international customers.

If Calix loses any of its key personnel, or is unable to attract, train and retain qualified personnel, the company s ability to manage its business and continue its growth would be negatively impacted.

Calix s success depends, in large part, on the continued contributions of its key management, engineering, sales and marketing personnel, many of whom are highly skilled and would be difficult to replace. None of the company s senior management or key technical or sales personnel is bound by a written employment contract to remain with Calix for a specified period. In addition, Calix does not currently maintain key man life insurance covering its key personnel. If the company loses the services of any key personnel, its business, financial condition and results of operations may suffer.

Competition for skilled personnel, particularly those specializing in engineering and sales, is intense. Calix cannot be certain that it will be successful in attracting and retaining qualified personnel, or that newly hired personnel will function effectively, both individually and as a group. In particular, the company must continue to expand its direct sales force, including hiring additional sales managers, to grow the customer base and increase sales. In addition, if Calix offers employment to personnel employed by competitors, the company may become subject to claims of unfair hiring practices, and incur substantial costs in defending itself against these claims, regardless of their merits. If the company is unable to effectively recruit, hire and utilize new employees, execution of its business strategy and its ability to react to changing market conditions may be impeded, and its business, financial condition and results of operations may suffer.

Volatility or lack of performance in the Calix common stock price may also affect the company s ability to attract and retain key personnel. Calix s executive officers have become, or will soon become, vested in a substantial amount of shares of common stock or stock options. Employees may be more likely to leave the company if the shares they own or the shares underlying their vested options have significantly appreciated in

value relative to the original purchase prices of the shares or the exercise prices of the options, or if the exercise prices of the options that they hold are significantly above the market price of the company common stock. If Calix is unable to retain its employees, its business, operating results and financial condition will be harmed.

If Calix fails to maintain proper and effective internal controls, its ability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis could be impaired, which would adversely affect the company s operating results, its ability to operate its business and Calix s stock price.

Ensuring that Calix has adequate internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis is a costly and time-consuming effort that needs to be re-evaluated frequently. The company has in the past discovered, and may in the future discover, areas of its internal financial and accounting controls and procedures that need improvement.

Calix s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of its financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The company s management does not expect that its internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system s objectives will be met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within Calix will have been detected.

Calix expects that it will be required to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in connection with its annual report on Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2011. The company is expending significant resources in developing the necessary documentation and testing procedures required by Section 404. Calix cannot be certain that the actions it is taking to improve those internal controls over financial reporting will be sufficient, or that the company will be able to implement its planned processes and procedures in a timely manner. In addition, if Calix is unable to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis, investors could lose confidence in the reliability of its financial statements, which could cause the market price of the company s common stock to decline and make it more difficult to finance its operations and growth.

Calix incurs significant increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, which may adversely affect its operating results and financial condition.

As a public company, Calix incurs significant accounting, legal and other expenses that it did not incur as a private company, including costs associated with public company reporting requirements. The company also anticipates that it will continue to incur costs associated with corporate governance requirements, including requirements under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as well as rules implemented by the Securities Exchange Commission, or SEC, and the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE. Furthermore, these laws and regulations could make it more difficult or more costly for Calix to obtain certain types of insurance, including director and officer liability insurance, and the company may be forced to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. The impact of these requirements could also make it more difficult for Calix to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on its board of directors, on board committees or as executive officers.

New laws and regulations as well as changes to existing laws and regulations affecting public companies, including the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and rules adopted by the SEC and NYSE, would likely result in increased costs to Calix as it responds to their requirements. Calix is investing resources to comply with evolving laws and regulations, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative expense and a diversion of management s time and attention from revenue generating activities to compliance activities.

Risks Related to Ownership of Calix s Common Stock

Calix s stock price may be volatile, and the value of an investment in the company s common stock may decline.

An active public market for Calix shares may not continue to develop or be sustained. Shares of the company s common stock were sold in an initial public offering in March 2010 at a price of \$13.00 per share, and the common stock has subsequently traded as high as \$18.00 and as low as \$9.57. The trading price of Calix common stock could be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond the company s control. These factors include those discussed in this Risk Factors section of this proxy statement/prospectus and others such as:

quarterly variations in Calix s results of operations or those of its competitors;

changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities analysts;

announcements by Calix or its competitors of new products, significant contracts, commercial relationships, acquisitions or capital commitments;

developments with respect to intellectual property rights;

the ability to develop and market new and enhanced products on a timely basis;

the commencement of, or involvement in, litigation;

changes in governmental regulations or in the status of regulatory approvals; and

a slowdown in the communications industry or the general economy.

In recent years, the stock market in general, and the market for technology companies in particular, has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. Broad market and industry factors may seriously affect the market price of Calix common stock, regardless of the company s actual operating performance. In addition, in the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market price of a particular company s securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against these companies. This litigation, if instituted against Calix, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of the management s attention and resources.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about Calix s business or if they issue an adverse or misleading opinion regarding Calix s stock, the stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for Calix s common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about the company or its business. If any of the analysts who cover the company issue an adverse or misleading opinion regarding its stock, the stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of Calix or fail to publish reports on the company regularly, it could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause Calix s stock price or trading volume to decline.

Calix s directors, executive officers and principal stockholders and their respective affiliates will continue to have substantial influence over the company and could delay or prevent a change in corporate control.

As of December 7, 2010, Calix s directors, executive officers and holders of more than 5% of the company common stock at such time, together with their affiliates, beneficially own, in the aggregate, approximately 50.3% of Calix outstanding common stock. As a result, these stockholders, acting together, could have significant influence over the outcome of matters submitted to Calix stockholders for approval, including the election of directors and any merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of its assets. In addition, these stockholders, acting together, could have significant influence over the management and affairs of the company. Accordingly, this concentration of ownership might harm the market price of Calix common stock by:

delaying, deferring or preventing a change in corporate control;

impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination involving Calix; or

discouraging a potential acquiror from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of Calix. *Future sales of shares by existing stockholders could cause Calix s stock price to decline.*

Of the 38,537,854 shares of Calix s common stock outstanding as of December 7, 2010, approximately 27.0 million shares were held by non-affiliates of Calix and 11.6 million shares were held by Calix directors and officers and their affiliates, which may be sold by these existing stockholders from time to time. In addition, (i) the 3.7 million shares subject to RSUs, (ii) the 0.8 million shares subject to outstanding options under Calix s 1997 Long-Term Incentive and Stock Option Plan, 2000 Stock Plan, 2002 Stock Plan and 2010 Equity Incentive Award Plan and (iii) the 5.9 million shares reserved for future issuance under Calix s 2010 Equity Incentive Award Plan and Employee Stock Purchase Plan as of December 7, 2010 may become eligible for sale in the public market in the future, subject to certain legal and contractual limitations. If these shares are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold, in the public market, the price of Calix s common stock could decline substantially.

Calix will continue to have broad discretion to determine how to use the funds raised in its recent initial public offering, and may use them in ways that may not enhance its operating results or the price of its common stock.

Calix s management will continue to have broad discretion over the use of proceeds from its recent initial public offering, and the company could spend the proceeds in ways its stockholders may not agree with or that do not yield a favorable return. Calix intends to use the net proceeds from the initial public offering for working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate purposes. The company used a portion of the net proceeds to repay its credit facility and has allocated additional amounts to acquire complementary businesses, including Occam. Calix may in the future acquired other complementary businesses, products and technologies. If the company does not invest or apply the proceeds of the initial public offering in ways that improve its operating results, Calix may fail to achieve expected financial results, which could cause the stock price to decline.

Provisions in the Calix charter documents and under the DGCL could discourage a takeover that stockholders may consider favorable and may lead to entrenchment of management.

The Calix amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could have the effect of delaying or preventing changes in control or changes in company management without the consent of the board of directors. These provisions include:

a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which may delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of a majority of the board of directors;

no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;

the exclusive right of the board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the board of directors or the resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on the board of directors;

the ability of the board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquiror;

a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of stockholders;

the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by the chairman of the board of directors, the chief executive officer or the board of directors, which may delay the ability of Calix stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors; and

advance notice procedures that stockholders must comply with in order to nominate candidates to the board of directors or to propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquiror s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of Calix.

Calix is also subject to certain anti-takeover provisions under the DGCL. Under the DGCL, a corporation may not, in general, engage in a business combination with any holder of 15% or more of its capital stock unless the holder has held the stock for three years or, among other things, the board of directors has approved the transaction. For a description of Calix capital stock, see the section titled Description of Calix Capital Stock beginning on page 269.

Calix may be unable to raise additional capital to fund its future operations, and any future financings or acquisitions could result in substantial dilution to existing stockholders.

Calix may need to raise additional capital to fund operations in the future. There is no guarantee that the company will be able to raise additional equity or debt funding when or if it is required. The terms of any financing, if available, could be unfavorable to the company and its stockholders and could result in substantial dilution to the equity and voting interests of stockholders. Any failure to obtain financing when and as required could force Calix to curtail operations which would harm its business.

Calix does not currently intend to pay dividends on its common stock and, consequently, stockholders ability to achieve a return on their investment will depend on appreciation in the price of Calix common stock.

Calix does not currently intend to pay any cash dividends on its common stock for the foreseeable future. The company currently intends to invest its future earnings, if any, to fund company growth. Additionally, the terms of Calix s credit facility restrict its ability to pay dividends. Therefore, stockholders are not likely to receive any dividends on their common stock for the foreseeable future.

Risks Related to Occam

Risks Related to Current Economic Environment and Occam s Future Revenues

Occam s business is substantially dependent on the capital spending patterns of telecom operators and has recently been adversely affected by reductions and delays in capital spending by its customers, primarily due to the economic recession. Any reductions in spending or delays in customer orders in response to macroeconomic conditions, availability of funding under government economic stimulus programs, or otherwise, would adversely affect Occam s business, operating results, and financial condition. Occam cannot predict the financial impact, if any, of government economic stimulus programs on capital spending by telecom operators.

Demand for Occam s products depends on the magnitude and timing of capital spending by telecom service providers as they construct, expand and upgrade their networks. In the fourth quarter of 2008, Occam identified a weakening in new order activity that continued throughout 2009 and into 2010. Occam believes this weakening relates to reductions in capital expenditures and capital equipment investment budgets resulting from the worldwide financial crisis and economic downturn. In addition, Occam believes that many of its customers, particularly those that participate in government funding initiatives such as the United States Department of Agriculture s RUS loan program, were delaying investment and purchase activity pending their analysis of the

availability of funding under recently announced government economic stimulus programs. Although Occam expects that its customers will continue to carefully evaluate their capital investment decisions in light of continued economic uncertainties, governmental broadband funding initiatives should have a favorable impact on capital spending trends among telecommunication carriers for the balance of 2010 and into 2011. However, Occam cannot accurately predict the extent of financial impact, if any, that such government economic stimulus programs may have on its business. In addition, these programs may not result in a net increase in capital spending activity if telecom operators substitute spending under government stimulus programs for capital spending they would otherwise have made or if private capital spending decreases by more than the incremental increase attributable to government programs. Reductions, delays, or cancellations in order activity by Occam s customers would be expected to adversely affect Occam s future revenues by reducing the revenue Occam recognizes in any quarter from orders booked and shipped in that quarter and by reducing the amount of deferred revenues that may become recognizable in future periods upon satisfaction of revenue recognition criteria.

In addition to the impact of macroeconomic factors, Occam believes capital expenditures among IOCs have also been adversely affected as Occam s customers consider their investment and capital expenditure decisions in light of the industry transition from copper wire to fiber.

Other factors affecting the capital spending patterns of telecom service providers include the following:

competitive pressures, including pricing pressures;

consumer demand for new services;

an emphasis on generating sales from services delivered over existing networks instead of new network construction or upgrades;

the timing of annual budget approvals;

evolving industry standards and network architectures;

free cash flow and access to external sources of capital; and

completion of major network upgrades.

Changes in government funding programs can also affect capital expenditures by IOCs. Because many of Occam s customers are IOCs, their revenues are particularly dependent upon intercarrier payments (primarily interstate and intrastate access charges) and federal and state universal service subsidies. The Federal Communications Commission, or FCC, and some states are considering changes to both intercarrier payments and universal service subsidies, and such changes could reduce IOC revenues, which would be expected to have an adverse impact on capital spending budgets. Furthermore, many IOCs use government supported loan programs or grants to finance capital spending. Changes to those programs, such as the Department of Agriculture s RUS loan program, could reduce the ability of IOCs to access capital. Any decision by telecom service providers to reduce capital expenditures, whether caused by the economic downturn, changes in government regulations and subsidies, or other reasons, would have a material adverse effect on Occam s business, consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

Occam s focus on independent telephone operating companies limits Occam s sales volume with individual customers and makes Occam s future operating results difficult to predict.

Occam currently focuses its sales efforts on IOCs in North America. These customers generally operate relatively small networks with limited capital expenditure budgets. Accordingly, Occam believes the total potential sales volume for its products at any individual IOC is limited, and Occam must identify and sell products to new IOC customers each quarter to continue to increase sales. In addition, the spending patterns of many IOCs are characterized by small and sporadic purchases. Moreover, because Occam s sales to IOCs are predominantly based on purchase orders rather than long-term contracts, Occam s customers may stop

purchasing equipment from Occam with little advance notice. As a result, Occam has limited backlog, Occam s future operating results are difficult to predict and Occam will likely continue to have limited visibility into future operating results.

Occam has had limited experience selling to larger telecommunication companies, and its ability to recognize revenue, if any, from contracts with these companies may be difficult to predict. In addition, FairPoint Communications, Occam s only Tier-2 customer, recently filed for bankruptcy protection.

In early 2008, Occam announced that it had been selected as the lead access equipment provider for a substantial broadband upgrade by FairPoint Communications, Inc., or Fairpoint, in its network in Vermont, New Hampshire, and Maine. FairPoint acquired these networks through its acquisition of certain assets of Verizon Communications, Inc. FairPoint represented Occam s first customer who is considered Tier-2 based on the number of telephone lines serviced. Occam has limited experience selling or servicing Tier-2 customers, and Occam s ability to recognize substantial revenue from the FairPoint relationship or any other relationships Occam may establish with Tier-2 customers will depend on several factors, including, among others, the timing of orders and the terms and conditions of the orders, which can affect Occam s ability to satisfy revenue recognition criteria. Occam cannot currently predict with any accuracy the timing of orders from FairPoint, and any delays or termination of FairPoint s anticipated upgrade of its northern New England network could have a material adverse effect on Occam s future revenues and operating results.

On October 26, 2009, FairPoint announced that it had filed a bankruptcy petition under chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. And on February 7, 2010, FairPoint filed its bankruptcy reorganization plan. Since filing for reorganization on October 26, 2009, FairPoint has operated under the supervision of the bankruptcy court. As of March 31, 2010, Occam had an outstanding receivable balance from FairPoint of \$2.1 million. Of this amount, \$1.7 million related to transactions that occurred before FairPoint filed its bankruptcy petition. FairPoint has remitted the entire balance of the \$1.7 million pre-bankruptcy petition claims and Occam has recognized revenue and related cost of revenue in the quarter ended June 30, 2010. As of September 30, 2010, Occam had an outstanding receivable balance from FairPoint of approximately \$1.8 million. There are no remaining pre-petition claims outstanding.

Fluctuations in Occam s quarterly and annual operating results may adversely affect Occam s business and prospects.

A number of factors, many of which are outside Occam s control, may cause or contribute to significant fluctuations in Occam s quarterly and annual operating results. These fluctuations may make financial planning and forecasting more difficult. In addition, these fluctuations may result in unanticipated decreases in Occam s available cash, which could limit Occam s growth and delay implementation of Occam s expansion plans. Factors that may cause or contribute to fluctuations in Occam s operating results include:

fluctuations in demand for Occam s products, including the timing of decisions by Occam s target customers to upgrade their networks and deploy Occam s products;

delays in customer orders as IOCs evaluate and consider their capital expenditures and investments in light of the industry transition from copper wire to fiber;

increases in warranty accruals and other costs associated with remedying any performance problems relating to Occam s products;

seasonal reductions in field work during the winter months and the impact of annual budgeting cycles;

the size and timing of orders Occam receives and products Occam ships during a given period;

delays in recognizing revenue under applicable revenue recognition rules, particularly from government funded contracts, as a result of additional commitments Occam may be required to make to secure purchase orders, or with respect to sales to value added resellers where Occam cannot establish based on its credit analysis that collectability is reasonably assured;

introductions or enhancements of products, services and technologies by Occam or its competitors, and market acceptance of these new or enhanced products, services and technologies;

Occam s ability to achieve targeted cost reductions;

the amount and timing of Occam s operating costs, including sales, engineering and manufacturing costs and capital expenditures; and

quarter-to-quarter variations in Occam s operating margins resulting from changes in Occam s product mix. As a consequence, operating results for a particular future period are difficult to predict and prior results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in the future. Any of the foregoing factors may have a material adverse effect on Occam s consolidated results of operations.

Occam has a history of losses and negative cash flow, and Occam may not be able to generate positive operating income and cash flows in the future to support the expansion of its operations.

Occam has incurred significant losses since its inception. As of September 30, 2010, Occam had an accumulated deficit of \$138.2 million. Occam incurred substantial losses in 2009. Occam expects to continue to incur losses in 2010. Occam cannot assure you that Occam will not continue to incur losses or experience negative cash flow in the future. Occam has only generated operating income in the quarters ended December 25, 2005, September 24, 2006, December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2008. Occam s inability to generate positive operating income and cash flow would materially and adversely affect its liquidity, consolidated results of operations and consolidated financial condition.

A significant portion of Occam s expenses are fixed, and Occam expects to continue to incur significant expenses for research and development, sales and marketing, customer support, and general and administrative functions. Given the rate of growth in Occam s customer base, Occam s limited operating history and the intense competitive pressures Occam faces, Occam may be unable to adequately control its operating costs. In order to achieve and maintain profitability, Occam must increase sales while maintaining control over expense levels.

Risks Related to Occam s Internal Controls

If Occam fails to maintain proper and effective internal controls, Occam s ability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis could be impaired, which would adversely affect Occam s consolidated operating results, Occam s ability to operate its business and Occam s stock price.

In connection with the 2007 audit committee review of Occam s revenue recognition practices and its resulting financial restatement, Occam determined that it did not have adequate internal financial and accounting controls to produce accurate and timely financial statements. Among weaknesses and deficiencies identified in the review, Occam determined that it had a material weakness with respect to revenue recognition. The material weakness continued to exist at December 31, 2008. Since the restatement was completed in October 2007, Occam has implemented new processes and procedures to improve its internal controls and has expanded its finance and accounting staff. Occam believes that these actions have remediated the identified weaknesses and deficiencies, including the material weakness. As of December 31, 2009, Occam s chief executive officer and chief financial officer determined that Occam s internal controls over financial reporting were effective to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of Occam s financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

Ensuring that Occam has adequate internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis is a costly and time-consuming effort that needs to be re-evaluated frequently. Occam s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of Occam s financial

reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. Occam s management does not expect that Occam s internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system s objectives will be met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within Occam will have been detected. As discussed in Occam s Annual Report on Form 10-K for its 2009 fiscal year and its Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for its 2009 fiscal quarters, Occam s audit committee and management, together with its current and former independent registered public accounting firms, have identified numerous control deficiencies in the past and may identify additional deficiencies in the future. Failure on Occam s part to have effective internal financial and accounting controls could cause Occam s financial reporting to be unreliable, could have a material adverse effect on Occam s business, operating results, and financial condition, and could adversely affect the trading price of Occam s common stock.

Occam was initially required to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 in connection with its Annual Report on Form 10-K for Occam s year ended December 31, 2007. Occam has expended significant resources in developing the necessary documentation and testing procedures required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act. Occam cannot be certain that the actions Occam has taken and is taking to improve its internal controls over financial reporting will be sufficient to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting in subsequent reporting periods or that Occam will be able to implement its planned processes and procedures in a timely manner. In addition, Occam may be unable to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis. Any of the foregoing could cause investors to lose confidence in the reliability of the Occam s consolidated financial statements, which could cause the market price of Occam s common stock to decline and make it more difficult for Occam to finance its operations and growth.

Risks Related to Occam s Business and Industry

Because Occam s markets are highly competitive and dominated by large, well-financed participants, Occam may be unable to compete effectively.

Competition in Occam s market is intense, and Occam expects competition to increase. The market for broadband access equipment is dominated primarily by large, established suppliers such as Alcatel Lucent SA, Motorola, Tellabs and ADTRAN Inc. While these suppliers focus primarily on large service providers, they have competed, and may increasingly compete, in the IOC market segment. In addition, a number of companies, including Calix, Inc., have developed, or are developing, products that compete with Occam s, including within Occam s core IOC segment.

Occam s ability to compete successfully depends on a number of factors, including:

the successful identification and development of new products for Occam s core market;

Occam s ability to timely anticipate customer and market requirements and changes in technology and industry standards;

Occam s ability to gain access to and use technologies in a cost-effective manner;

Occam s ability to timely introduce cost-effective new products;

Occam s ability to differentiate its products from its competitors offerings;

Occam s ability to gain customer acceptance of its products;

the performance of Occam s products relative to Occam s competitors products;

Occam s ability to market and sell its products through effective sales channels;

Occam s ability to establish and maintain effective internal financial and accounting controls and procedures and restore confidence in Occam s financial reporting;

the protection of Occam s intellectual property, including Occam s processes, trade secrets and know-how; and

Occam s ability to attract and retain qualified technical, executive and sales personnel.

Many of Occam s existing and potential competitors are larger than Occam, with longer operating histories, and have substantially greater financial, technical, marketing or other resources; significantly greater name recognition; and a larger installed base of customers than Occam does. Unlike many of Occam s competitors, Occam does not provide equipment financing to potential customers. In addition, many of Occam s competitors have broader product lines than Occam does, so they can offer bundled products, which may appeal to certain customers.

Because the products that Occam and its competitors sell require a substantial investment of time and funds to install, customers are typically reluctant to switch equipment suppliers once a particular supplier s product has been installed. As a result, competition among equipment suppliers to secure contracts with potential customers is particularly intense and will continue to place pressure on product pricing. Some of Occam s competitors have in the past and may in the future resort to offering substantial discounts to win new customers and generate cash flows. If Occam is forced to reduce prices in order to secure customers, Occam may be unable to sustain gross margins at desired levels or achieve profitability.

Occam has relied, and expects to continue to rely, on Occam s BLC 6000 product line for the substantial majority of its sales, and a decline in sales of Occam s BLC 6000 line would cause Occam s overall sales to decline proportionally.

Occam has derived a substantial majority of its sales in recent years from its BLC 6000 product line. Occam expects that sales of this product line will continue to account for a substantial majority of Occam s sales for the foreseeable future. Any factors adversely affecting the pricing of, or demand for, Occam s BLC 6000 line, including competition or technological change, could cause Occam s sales to decline materially and its business to suffer.

If Occam fails to enhance its existing products and develop new products and features that meet changing customer requirements and support new technological advances, Occam s sales would be materially and adversely affected.

Occam s market is characterized by rapid technological advances, frequent new product introductions, evolving industry standards and recurring changes in end-user requirements. Occam s future success will depend significantly on its ability to anticipate and adapt to such changes and to offer, on a timely and cost-effective basis, products and features that meet changing customer demands and industry standards. The timely development of new or enhanced products is a complex and uncertain process, and Occam may not be able to accurately anticipate market trends or have sufficient resources to successfully manage long development cycles. Occam may also experience design, manufacturing, marketing and other difficulties that could delay or prevent the development, introduction or marketing of new products and enhancements. The introduction of new or enhanced products also requires that Occam manage the transition from older products to these new or enhanced products in order to minimize disruption in customer ordering patterns and ensure that adequate supplies of new products are available for delivery to meet anticipated customer demand. If Occam is unable to develop new products or enhancements to its existing products on a timely and cost-effective basis, or if Occam s new products or enhancements fail to achieve market acceptance, Occam s business, consolidated financial condition and consolidated results of operations would be materially and adversely affected.

Occam has enhanced its BLC 6000 platform to support active Gigabit Ethernet fiber-to-the-premises, or FTTP, services. Although Occam has invested significant time and resources to develop this enhancement, these FTTP-enabled products are relatively new, with limited sales to date, and market acceptance of these products may fall below Occam s expectations. The introduction of new products is also expected to place pressure on Occam s gross margins as most new products require time and increased sales volumes to achieve cost-saving efficiencies in production. To the extent Occam s new products and enhancements do not achieve broad market acceptance, Occam may not realize expected returns on its investments, and Occam may lose current and potential customers.

If Occam s products contain undetected defects, including errors and interoperability issues, Occam could incur significant unexpected expenses to remedy the defects, which could have a material adverse effect on Occam s sales, results of operations or financial condition.

Although Occam s products are tested prior to shipment, they may contain software or hardware errors, defects or interoperability issues (collectively described as defects) that may only be detected when deployed in live networks that generate high amounts of communications traffic. In addition, defects or other malfunctions or quality control issues may not appear until the equipment has been deployed for an extended period of time. Occam also continues to introduce new products that may have undetected software or hardware defects. Occam s customers may discover defects in Occam s products at any time after deployment or as their networks are expanded and modified. Any defects in Occam s products discovered in the future, or failures of Occam s customers networks, whether caused by Occam s products or those of another vendor, could result in lost sales and market share and negative publicity regarding Occam s products. In 2007, Occam experienced higher than average failures of certain assemblies that were fabricated between October 2005 and January 2006 and identified design issues associated with a transistor that resulted in equipment disruption and that required a rework effort. Recently, Occam has identified malfunctions or defects in specific customer deployments related to capacitor power function failures in equipment that had been in service for extended periods of time that Occam was required to repair under applicable warranties or elected to repair for customer relations purposes.

Defects, malfunctions, or other performance issues relating to Occam s products could increase Occam s warranty accruals and operating expenses, could have an adverse effect on market perceptions of Occam s products, and could have a material adverse effect on Occam s business, consolidated results of operations, and consolidated financial condition. Occam quantifies and records an estimate for warranty-related costs based on a variety of factors including but not limited to Occam s actual history, projected return and failure rates and current repair costs. Occam s estimates are primarily based on an estimate of products that may be returned for warranty repair, estimated costs of repair, including parts and labor, depending on the type of service required. These estimates require Occam to examine past and current warranty issues and consider their continuing impact in the future. Occam s estimates of future warranty liability are based on prediction of future events, conditions and other complicated factors that are difficult to predict. The actual costs Occam incurs may differ materially from Occam s estimates.

Occam s efforts to increase its sales and marketing efforts to larger telecom operators, which may require Occam to broaden its reseller relationships, may be unsuccessful.

To date, Occam s sales and marketing efforts have been focused on small and mid-sized IOCs. A key element of Occam s long-term strategy is to increase sales to large IOCs, competitive local exchange carriers, regional Bell operating companies and international telecom service providers. Occam may be required to devote substantial technical, marketing and sales resources to the pursuit of these customers, who have lengthy equipment qualification and sales cycles. In particular, sales to these customers may require Occam to upgrade its products to meet more stringent performance criteria, develop new customer specific features or adapt its products to meet international standards. Occam may incur substantial technical, sales and marketing expenses and expend significant management effort without any assurance of generating sales. Because Occam has limited resources and large telecom operators may be reluctant to purchase products from a relatively small supplier like

Occam, Occam plans to target these customers in cooperation with strategic resellers. These reseller relationships may not be available to Occam, and if formed, may include terms, such as exclusivity and non-competition provisions, that restrict Occam s activities or impose onerous requirements on Occam. Moreover, in connection with these relationships, Occam may forego direct sales opportunities in favor of forming relationships with strategic resellers. If Occam is unable to successfully increase its sales to larger telecom operators or expand its reseller relationships, Occam may be unable to implement its long-term growth strategy.

If Occam were to experience payment problems with either resellers or customers for whom Occam is unable to assess creditworthiness, it could have an adverse impact on Occam s business, operating results, or financial condition.

Value added resellers, or VARs, account for a substantial portion of Occam s revenue in a quarter. Some of these VARs are not well capitalized, making collection of receivables from them uncertain. In addition, in certain instances, Occam is limited in its ability to evaluate the creditworthiness of direct customers who decline to provide Occam with financial information. In 2007, in connection with the restatement of Occam s consolidated financial statements, Occam adopted a revenue recognition policy that Occam would not recognize revenue from those resellers who lacked an independent ability to pay Occam until Occam received cash payment. Sales to VARs for whom Occam is not able to recognize revenue until Occam receives cash payment are reflected as deferred revenue. Any material collection issues Occam may experience with these resellers or direct customers could have an adverse impact on Occam s business, operating results, or financial condition and could result in increases in bad debt expense or collection costs, inventory impairments, or adjustments to Occam s reported revenues or deferred revenues. Any of these could result in a decline in Occam s stock price.

Occam relies on resellers to promote, sell, install and support Occam s products to small customers in North America, and internationally. Their failure to do so or Occam s inability to recruit or retain resellers may substantially reduce Occam s sales and thus seriously harm its business.

Occam relies on VARs who can provide high quality sales and support services. Occam competes with other telecommunications systems providers for Occam s resellers business as Occam s resellers generally market competing products. If a reseller promotes a competitor s products to the detriment of Occam s products or otherwise fails to market Occam s products and services effectively, Occam could lose market share. In addition, the loss of a key reseller or the failure of resellers to provide adequate customer service could have a negative effect on customer satisfaction and could cause harm to Occam s business. If Occam does not properly train its resellers to sell, install and service Occam s products, Occam s business, financial condition and results of operations will suffer.

Occam may be unable to successfully expand its international operations. In addition, Occam s international expansion plans, if implemented, will subject Occam to a variety of risks that may adversely affect Occam s business.

Occam currently generates almost all of its sales from customers in North America and has very limited experience marketing, selling and supporting its products and services outside North America or managing the administrative aspects of a worldwide operation. While Occam intends to expand its international operations, Occam may not be able to create or maintain international market demand for its products. In addition, regulations or standards adopted by other countries may require Occam to redesign its existing products or develop new products suitable for sale in those countries. If Occam invests substantial time and resources to expand its international operations and is unable to do so successfully and in a timely manner, Occam s business, financial condition and results of operations will suffer. In the course of expanding its international operations and operating overseas, Occam will be subject to a variety of risks, including:

differing regulatory requirements, including tax laws, trade laws, labor regulations, tariffs, export quotas, custom duties or other trade restrictions and changes thereto;

greater difficulty supporting and localizing Occam s products;

different or unique competitive pressures as a result of, among other things, the presence of local equipment suppliers;

challenges inherent in efficiently managing an increased number of employees over large geographic distances, including the need to implement appropriate systems, policies, benefits and compliance programs;

limited or unfavorable intellectual property protection;

changes in a specific country s or region s political or economic conditions; and

restrictions on the repatriation of earnings.

Occam may pursue acquisitions to broaden its product line or address new or larger markets. Acquisitions involve a number of risks. If Occam is unable to address and resolve these risks successfully, such acquisitions could have a material adverse impact to Occam s business, consolidated results of operations and consolidated financial condition.

Occam may make acquisitions of businesses, products or technologies to expand its product offerings and capabilities, customer base and business. In October 2007, Occam acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of Terawave Communications and Occam has evaluated, and expects to continue to evaluate, a wide array of potential strategic transactions. Occam has limited experience making such acquisitions. Any of these transactions could be material to Occam s consolidated financial condition and results of operations. The anticipated benefit of acquisitions may never materialize. In addition, the process of integrating an acquired business, products or technologies may create unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures. Some of the areas where Occam may face acquisition related risks include:

diversion of management time and potential business disruptions;

expenses, distractions and potential claims resulting from acquisitions, whether or not they are completed;

retaining and integrating employees from any businesses Occam may acquire;

issuance of dilutive equity securities or incurrence of debt;

integrating various accounting, management, information, human resource and other systems to permit effective management;

incurring possible write-offs, impairment charges, contingent liabilities, amortization expense or write-offs of goodwill;

difficulties integrating and supporting acquired products or technologies;

unexpected capital equipment outlays and related costs;

insufficient revenues to offset increased expenses associated with the acquisition;

under performance problems associated with acquisitions;

opportunity costs associated with committing capital to such acquisitions; and

becoming involved in acquisition related litigation.

Foreign acquisitions involve unique risks in addition to those mentioned above, including those related to integration of operations across different cultures and languages, currency risks and the particular economic, political and regulatory risks associated with specific countries. Occam cannot assure that it will be able to address these risks successfully, or at all, without incurring significant costs, delay or other operating problems.

Occam s inability to resolve any of such risks could have a material adverse impact on Occam s business, consolidated financial condition and consolidated results of operations.

If Occam loses any of its key personnel, or is unable to attract, train and retain qualified personnel, Occam s ability to manage its business and continue its growth would be negatively impacted.

Occam s success depends, in large part, on the continued contributions of Occam s key management, engineering, sales and marketing personnel, many of whom are highly skilled and would be difficult to replace. None of Occam s senior management or key technical or sales personnel is bound by a written employment contract to remain with Occam for a specified period. In addition, Occam does not currently maintain key-man life insurance covering Occam s key personnel. If Occam loses the services of any key personnel, Occam s business, financial condition and results of operations may suffer.

Competition for skilled personnel, particularly those specializing in engineering and sales is intense. Occam cannot be certain that it will be successful in attracting and retaining qualified personnel, or that newly hired personnel will function effectively, either individually or as a group. In particular, Occam must continue to expand its direct sales force, including hiring additional sales managers, to grow Occam s customer base and increase sales. Even if Occam is successful in hiring additional sales personnel, new sales representatives require up to a year to become effective, and the recent loss of a senior sales executive could have an adverse impact on Occam s ability to recruit and train additional sales personnel. In addition, Occam s industry is characterized by frequent claims relating to unfair hiring practices. Occam may become subject to such claims and may incur substantial costs in defending itself against these claims, regardless of their merits. If Occam is unable to effectively hire, integrate and utilize new personnel, the execution of its business strategy and its ability to react to changing market conditions may be impeded, and Occam s business, financial condition and results of operations could suffer.

Occam may have difficulty managing growth in its business, if any, which could limit Occam s ability to increase sales and cash flow.

Occam expects to expand its research and development, sales, marketing and support activities, including its activities outside the U.S. depending on future business and economic conditions. Occam s historical growth has placed, and is expected to continue to place, significant demands on Occam s management, as well as Occam s financial and operational resources, as required to:

implement and maintain effective financial disclosure controls and procedures, including the remediation of internal control deficiencies identified in Occam s audit committee investigation;

implement appropriate operational and financial systems;

manage a larger organization;

expand Occam s manufacturing and distribution capacity;

increase Occam s sales and marketing efforts; and

broaden Occam s customer support capabilities.

In addition, if Occam cannot grow or manage its business growth effectively, Occam may not be able to execute its business strategies and Occam s business, consolidated financial condition and consolidated results of operations would suffer.

Because Occam depends upon a small number of outside contractors to manufacture its products, its operations could be disrupted if Occam encounters problems with any of these contractors.

Occam does not have internal manufacturing capabilities and relies upon a small number of contract manufacturers to build its products. In particular, Occam relies on AsteelFlash Group (formerly Flash

Electronics), Inc. for the manufacture of Occam s BLC 6000 blade products. Occam s reliance on a small number of contract manufacturers makes Occam vulnerable to possible capacity constraints and reduced control over component availability, delivery schedules, manufacturing yields and costs. Occam does not have long-term supply contracts with its primary contract manufacturers. Consequently, these manufacturers are not obligated to supply products to Occam for any specific period, in any specific quantity or at any certain price, except as may be provided by a particular purchase order. If any of Occam s manufacturers were unable or unwilling to continue manufacturing Occam s products in required volumes and at high quality levels, Occam would have to identify, qualify and select acceptable alternative manufacturers. It is possible that an alternate source may not be available to Occam when needed or may not be in a position to satisfy Occam to reduce its supply of products to its customers, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on Occam s customer relations, business, consolidated financial condition and consolidated results of operations.

A portion of Occam s manufacturing was moved to the overseas facilities of Occam s primary contract manufacturer. This transition presents a number of risks, including the potential for a supply interruption or a reduction in manufacturing quality or controls, any of which would negatively impact Occam s business, customer relationships and results of operations.

Occam depends on sole source and limited source suppliers for key components and license technology from third parties. If Occam is unable to source these components and technologies on a timely basis, Occam will not be able to deliver its products to its customers.

Occam depends on sole source and limited source suppliers for key components of Occam s products. Occam may from time to time enter into original equipment manufacturer, or OEM, and/or original design manufacturer, or ODM, agreements to manufacture and/or design certain products. Any of the sole source and limited source suppliers, OEM and ODM suppliers upon which Occam relies could stop producing Occam s components, cease operations entirely, or be acquired by, or enter into exclusive arrangements with, Occam s competitors. Occam does not have long-term supply agreements with its suppliers, and Occam s purchase volumes are currently too low for Occam to be considered a priority customer by most of its suppliers. Occam has recently experienced supply constraints with respect to certain components as demand has increased and Occam expects that it may continue to experience supply constraints in near-term periods. As a result, these suppliers could stop selling components to Occam at commercially reasonable prices, or at all. Any such interruption or delay may force Occam to seek similar components from alternate sources, if available at all. Switching suppliers may require that Occam redesign its products to accommodate the new component and may potentially require Occam to re-qualify its products with its customers, which would be costly and time-consuming. Any interruption in the supply of sole source or limited source components would adversely affect Occam s ability to meet scheduled product deliveries to Occam s customers and would materially and adversely affect Occam s business, consolidated financial condition and consolidated results of operations.

Periodically, Occam may be required to license technology from third parties to develop new products or product enhancements. These third party licenses may be unavailable to Occam on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. Occam s inability to obtain necessary third party licenses may force Occam to obtain substitute technology of lower quality or performance standards or at greater cost, any of which could seriously harm the competitiveness of Occam s products and which would result in a material and adverse effect on Occam s business, consolidated financial condition and consolidated results of operations.

If Occam fails to accurately predict its manufacturing requirements and manage its inventory, Occam could incur additional costs, experience manufacturing delays, or lose revenue.

Lead times for the materials and components that Occam orders through its contract manufacturers may vary significantly and depend on numerous factors, including the specific supplier, contract terms and market demand for a component at a given time. If Occam overestimates its production requirements, Occam s contract

manufacturers may purchase excess components and build excess inventory. If Occam s contract manufacturers purchase excess components that are unique to Occam s products or build excess products, Occam could be required to pay for these excess parts or products and recognize related inventory write-down costs. If Occam underestimates its product requirements, Occam s contract manufacturers may have inadequate component inventory, which could interrupt manufacturing of Occam s products and result in delays or cancellation of sales. In prior periods Occam has experienced excess and obsolete inventory write downs which impact Occam s cost of revenue. This may continue in the future, which would have an adverse effect on Occam s gross margins, consolidated financial condition and consolidated results of operations.

Demand for Occam s products is dependent on the willingness of Occam s customers to deploy new services, the success of Occam s customers in selling new services to their subscribers, and the willingness of Occam s customers to utilize IP and Ethernet technologies in local access networks.

Demand for Occam s products is dependent on the success of Occam s customers in deploying and selling services to their subscribers. Occam s BLC 6000 platform simultaneously supports IP-based services, such as broadband Internet, VoIP, IPTV and FTTP, and traditional voice services. If end-user demand for IP-based services does not grow as expected or declines and Occam s customers are unable or unwilling to deploy and market these newer services, demand for Occam s products may decrease or fail to grow at rates Occam anticipates.

Occam s strategy includes developing products for the local access network that incorporate IP and Ethernet technologies. If these technologies are not widely adopted by telecom service providers for use in local access networks, demand for Occam s products may decline or not grow. As a result, Occam may be unable to sell its products to recoup its expenses related to the development of these products and Occam s consolidated results of operations would be harmed.

Changes in existing accounting or taxation rules or practices may adversely affect Occam s consolidated results of operations. In addition, as Occam expands its business, Occam could become subject to taxation in new states or jurisdictions, which will require Occam to incur additional compliance costs and potential taxes and fees associated with complying with such tax laws.

Occam is subject to numerous tax and accounting requirements, and changes in existing accounting or taxation rules or practices, or varying interpretations of current rules or practices, could have a significant adverse effect on Occam s financial results or the manner in which Occam conducts its business. For example, prior to fiscal 2006, Occam accounted for options granted to employees using the intrinsic value method, which, given that Occam generally granted employee options with exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the underlying stock at the time of grant, resulted in no compensation expense. Beginning in fiscal 2006, Occam began recording expenses for its stock based compensation plans, including option grants to employees, using the fair value method, under which Occam expects its ongoing accounting charges related to equity awards to employees to be significantly greater than those Occam would have recorded under the intrinsic value method. Occam expects to continue to use stock based compensation as a significant component of its compensation package for existing and future employees.

Accordingly, changes in accounting for stock based compensation expense are expected to have a material adverse affect on Occam s reported results. Any similar changes in accounting or taxation rules or practices could have a material impact on Occam s consolidated financial results or the way Occam conducts its business.

In recent years, the geographic scope of Occam s business has expanded, and such expansion requires Occam to comply with the tax laws and regulations of multiple jurisdictions. Requirements as to taxation vary substantially among states and other jurisdictions. Occam has recently expanded its international sales activity and may become subject to foreign tax laws as well, particularly related to value added taxes. Complying with the tax laws of these jurisdictions can be time consuming and expensive and could subject Occam to penalties

and fees if Occam inadvertently fails to comply. In the United States, tax authorities in states where Occam believed it was not subject to sales tax could assert jurisdiction and seek to collect sales taxes, which could result in increased compliance expense as well as penalties and could adversely affect Occam s customer relationships if it is determined Occam needs to collect sales taxes for prior transactions. In the event Occam fails inadvertently to comply with applicable tax laws, it could have a material adverse effect on Occam s business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Occam s customers are subject to government regulation, and changes in current or future laws or regulations that negatively impact Occam s customers could harm Occam s business.

The jurisdiction of the Federal Communications Commission, or FCC, extends to the entire telecommunications industry, including Occam s customers. Future FCC regulations affecting the broadband access industry, Occam s customers, or the service offerings of Occam s customers, may harm Occam s business. For example, FCC regulatory policies affecting the availability of data and Internet services may impede the penetration of Occam s customers into certain markets or affect the prices they may charge in such markets. Furthermore, many of Occam s customers are subject to FCC rate regulation of interstate telecommunications services, and are recipients of federal universal service subsidies implemented and administered by the FCC. In addition, many of Occam s customers are subject to state regulation of intrastate telecommunications services, and may also receive state universal service subsidies. Changes in FCC or state regulations or federal or state universal service subsidies or the imposition of taxes on Internet access service, could adversely affect Occam s customers revenues and capital spending plans. In addition, international regulatory bodies are beginning to adopt standards and regulations for the telecom industry. These domestic and foreign standards, laws and regulations address various aspects of VoIP and broadband use, including issues relating to liability for information retrieved from, or transmitted over, the Internet. Changes in standards, laws and regulations, or judgments in favor of plaintiffs in lawsuits against service providers could adversely affect the development of Internet and other IP-based services. This, in turn, could directly or indirectly materially adversely impact the telecom industry in which Occam s customers operate. To the extent Occam s customers are adversely affected by laws or regulations regarding their business, products or service offerings, Occam s business, financial condition and results of operations would suffer.

The amount of Occam s net operating loss (NOL) and credit carryforwards is uncertain. Prior transactions to which Occam or Occam s stockholders or their affiliates have been a party, and future transactions to which Occam or Occam s stockholders or their affiliates may become a party, including stock issuances and certain shareholder stock transactions could jeopardize Occam s ability to use some or all of Occam s NOLs and tax credits, and the amounts of NOLs or tax credits Occam would be precluded from using could be material. In addition, California and certain states have recently suspended or are considering suspending, the ability to use net operating loss carryforwards in future years and this could adversely affect future operating results.

Based on current tax law, Occam believes it has certain NOLs and tax credits for U.S. federal and state income tax purposes to offset future taxable income and related taxes. As of December 31, 2009, Occam has incurred significant losses and credits in the United States. Occam s ability to utilize these tax attributes may be subject to significant limitations under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code if it has undergone, or undergo in the future, an ownership change. An ownership change occurs for purposes of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code if, among other things, stockholders who own or have owned, directly or indirectly, 5% or more of Occam s common stock (with certain groups of less-than-5% stockholders treated as a single stockholder for this purpose) increase their aggregate percentage ownership of Occam s common stock by more than fifty percentage points above the lowest percentage of the stock owned by these stockholders at any time during the relevant three-year testing period. In the event of an ownership change, Sections 382 and 383 impose an annual limitation, based upon Occam s company valuation at the time of the ownership change, on the amount of taxable income a corporation may offset with NOLs and credits. Any unused annual limitation may be carried over to later years until the applicable expiration date for the respective NOLs and credits. In general, the higher Occam s company valuation at the time of such an ownership change, the higher the annual limitation would be,

and Occam could offset a greater amount of taxable income with the NOLs and credits. However, if an ownership change has occurred in a period when Occam s company valuation was low, the annual limitation would be lower, and it could only offset a lesser amount of taxable income with the NOLs and credits.

To the extent that these tax attributes become significantly limited, Occam expects to be taxed on its income, if any, at the U.S. federal and state statutory rates. As a result, any inability to utilize these tax attributes would adversely affect future operating results by the amount of the federal or state taxes that would not have otherwise been payable, having an adverse impact on Occam s operating results and financial condition. In addition, inability to use NOLs and credits would adversely affect Occam s financial condition relative to Occam s financial condition had these tax attributes been available. In addition, California and certain states have suspended use of NOLs, and other states are considering similar measures. As a result, Occam may incur higher state income tax expense in the future. Depending on Occam s future tax position, continued suspension of Occam s ability to use state NOLs could have an adverse impact on Occam s operating results and financial condition.

If Occam fails to comply with regulations and evolving industry standards, sales of Occam s existing and future products could be adversely affected.

The markets for Occam s products are characterized by a significant number of laws, regulations and standards, both domestic and international, some of which are evolving as new technologies are deployed. Occam s products are required to comply with these laws, regulations and standards, including those promulgated by the FCC. For example, the FCC required that all facilities based providers of broadband Internet access and interconnect VoIP services meet the capability requirements of the Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement Act by May 14, 2007. Subject to certain statutory parameters, Occam was required to make available to its customers, on a reasonably timely basis and at a reasonable charge, such features or modifications as are necessary to permit its customers to meet those capability requirements. In some cases, Occam is required to obtain certifications or authorizations before its products can be introduced, marketed or sold. There can be no assurance that Occam will be able to continue to design its products to comply with all necessary requirements in the future. Accordingly, any of these laws, regulations and standards may directly affect Occam s ability to market or sell its products.

Some of Occam s operations are regulated under various federal, state and local environmental laws. Occam s planned international expansion will likely subject Occam to additional environmental and other laws. For example, the European Union Directive 2002/96/EC on waste electrical and electronic equipment, known as the WEEE Directive, requires producers of certain electrical and electronic equipment, including telecom equipment, to be financially responsible for the specified collection, recycling, treatment and disposal of past and present covered products placed on the market in the European Union. The European Union Directive 2002/95/EC on the restriction of the use of hazardous substances in electrical and electronic equipment, known as the RoHS Directive, restricts the use of certain hazardous substances, including lead, in covered products. Failure to comply with these and other environmental laws could result in fines and penalties and decreased sales, which could adversely affect Occam s planned international expansion and Occam s consolidated operating results.

Compliance with changing regulation of corporate governance and public disclosure may result in additional expenses.

Changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure may create uncertainty regarding compliance matters. New or changed laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations in many cases. As a result, their application in practice may evolve over time. Occam is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and public disclosure. Complying with evolving interpretations of new or changed legal requirements may cause Occam to incur higher costs as Occam revises current practices, policies and procedures, and may divert management time and attention from revenue generating to compliance activities. If Occam s efforts to comply with new or changed laws, regulations and standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to

practice, Occam s reputation might also be harmed. Further, Occam s board members, chief executive officer and chief financial officer could face an increased risk of personal liability in connection with the performance of their duties. As a result, Occam may have difficulty attracting and retaining qualified board members and executive officers, which could harm Occam s business.

Occam may not be able to protect its intellectual property, which could adversely affect Occam s ability to compete effectively.

Occam depends on its proprietary technology for its success and ability to compete. Occam currently holds 30 issued patents and has several patent applications pending. Occam relies on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, as well as confidentiality agreements and licensing arrangements, to establish and protect its proprietary rights. Existing patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws will afford Occam only limited protection. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent, as do the laws of the U.S. Occam cannot assure you that any pending patent applications will result in issued patents, and issued patents could prove unenforceable. Any infringement of Occam s proprietary rights could result in significant litigation costs. Further, any failure by Occam to adequately protect its proprietary rights could result in Occam s competitors offering similar products, resulting in the loss of Occam s competitive advantage and decreased sales.

Despite Occam s efforts to protect its proprietary rights, attempts may be made to copy or reverse engineer aspects of Occam s products, or to obtain and use information that Occam regards as proprietary. Accordingly, Occam may be unable to protect its proprietary rights against unauthorized third party copying or use. Furthermore, policing the unauthorized use of Occam s intellectual property would be difficult for Occam. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce Occam s intellectual property rights, to protect Occam s trade secrets or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. Litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could have a material adverse effect on Occam s business, consolidated financial condition and consolidated results of operations.

Occam could become subject to litigation regarding intellectual property rights that could materially harm Occam s business.

Occam may be subject to intellectual property infringement claims that are costly to defend and could limit Occam s ability to use some technologies in the future. Occam s industry is characterized by frequent intellectual property litigation based on allegations of infringement of intellectual property rights. From time to time, third parties have asserted against Occam and may assert against Occam in the future patent, copyright, trademark or other intellectual property rights to technologies or rights that are important to Occam s business. In addition, Occam has agreed, and may in the future agree, to indemnify its customers for any expenses or liabilities resulting from claimed infringements of patents, trademarks or copyrights of third parties. Any claims asserting that Occam s products infringe, or may infringe on, the proprietary rights of third parties, with or without merit, could be time-consuming, resulting in costly litigation and diverting the efforts of Occam s management. These claims could also result in product shipment delays or require Occam to modify its products or enter into royalty or licensing agreements. Such royalty or licensing agreements, if required, may not be available to Occam on acceptable terms, if at all.

Occam s business could be shut down or severely impacted if a natural disaster or other unforeseen catastrophe occurs, particularly in California.

Occam s business and operations depend on the extent to which Occam s facilities and products are protected against damage from fire, earthquakes, power loss and similar events. Some of Occam s key business activities currently take place in regions considered as high risk for certain types of natural disasters. Despite precautions Occam has taken, a natural disaster or other unanticipated problem could, among other things, hinder Occam s research and development efforts, delay the shipment of Occam s products and affect Occam s ability

to receive and fulfill orders. While Occam believes that its insurance coverage is comparable to those of similar companies in Occam s industry, it does not cover all natural disasters, in particular, earthquakes and floods.

Risks Related to Occam s Common Stock

Occam s executive officers, directors and their affiliates hold a large percentage of Occam s stock and their interests may differ from other stockholders.

As of November 30, 2010, Occam s executive officers, directors and their affiliates beneficially owned, in the aggregate, approximately 27% of Occam s outstanding common stock, of this 25% is collectively owned by investment funds affiliated with U.S. Venture Partners and Norwest Venture Partners. Representatives of U.S. Venture Partners and Norwest Venture Partners are directors of Occam. These stockholders have significant influence over most matters requiring approval by stockholders, including the election of directors, any amendments to Occam s certificate of incorporation and significant corporate transactions.

Occam s stock price may be volatile, and you may not be able to resell shares of Occam s common stock at or above the price you paid.

Occam s shares of common stock began trading on The NASDAQ Global Market in November 2006. An active public market for Occam s shares on The NASDAQ Global Market may not be sustained. In particular, limited trading volumes and liquidity may limit the ability of stockholders to purchase or sell the company s common stock in the amounts and at the times they wish. Trading volume in Occam s common stock tends to be modest relative to Occam s total outstanding shares, and the price of Occam s common stock may fluctuate substantially (particularly in percentage terms) without regard to news about Occam or general trends in the stock market.

In addition, the trading price of Occam s common stock could become highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond Occam s control. These factors include those discussed in this Risk Factors of this proxy statement/prospectus section and others such as:

quarterly variations in Occam s consolidated results of operations or those of Occam s competitors;

changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities analysts;

announcements by Occam or its competitors of new products, significant contracts, commercial relationships, acquisitions or capital commitments;

developments with respect to intellectual property rights;

Occam s ability to develop and market new and enhanced products on a timely basis;

commencement of, or involvement in, litigation;

general market volatility;

lack of capital to invest in Occam;

changes in governmental regulations or in the status of Occam s regulatory approvals;

a slowdown in the telecom industry or general economy; and

continuation of the current economic and credit crisis.

In recent years, the stock market in general, and the market for technology companies in particular, has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. Broad market and industry factors may seriously affect the market price of Occam s common stock, regardless of Occam s actual operating performance. In addition, in the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market price of a particular company s securities,

64

securities class action litigation has often been instituted against these companies. Any litigation that may be instituted against Occam could result in substantial costs and a diversion of Occam s management s attention and resources.

Provisions in Occam s charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage a takeover that stockholders may consider favorable.

Provisions in Occam s certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as amended and restated, may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in Occam s management. These provisions include the following:

the Occam board has the right to elect directors to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the board of directors or the resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on the Occam board;

Occam s stockholders may not act by written consent or call special stockholders meetings; as a result, a holder, or holders, controlling a majority of Occam s capital stock would not be able to take certain actions other than at annual stockholders meetings or special stockholders meetings called by the board of directors, the chairman of the board, the chief executive officer or the president;

Occam s certificate of incorporation prohibits cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;

stockholders must provide advance notice to nominate individuals for election to the board of directors or to propose matters that can be acted upon at a stockholders meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquiror s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of Occam; and

the Occam board may issue, without stockholder approval, shares of undesignated preferred stock; the ability to authorize undesignated preferred stock makes it possible for the Occam board to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could impede the success of any attempt to acquire Occam.

As a Delaware corporation, Occam is also subject to certain Delaware anti-takeover provisions. Under Delaware law, a corporation may not engage in a business combination with any holder of 15% or more of its capital stock unless the holder has held the stock for three years or, among other things, the board of directors has approved the transaction. The Occam board could rely on Delaware law to prevent or delay an acquisition of Occam.

Occam may be unable to raise additional capital to fund its future operations, and any future financings or acquisitions could result in substantial dilution to existing stockholders.

While Occam anticipates its cash balances and any cash from operations, will be sufficient to fund Occam s operations for at least the next 12 months, Occam may need to raise additional capital to fund operations in the future. There is no guarantee that Occam will be able to raise additional equity or debt funding when or if it is required. The terms of any financing, if available, could be unfavorable to Occam and its stockholders and could result in substantial dilution to the equity and voting interests of Occam s stockholders. Any failure to obtain financing when and as required would have an adverse and material effect on Occam s business, consolidated financial condition and consolidated results of operations.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish misleading or unfavorable research about Occam s business, Occam s stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for Occam s common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about Occam or its business. If no or few securities or industry analysts cover Occam, the trading price for Occam s stock would be negatively impacted. If one or more of the analysts who covers the company downgrades Occam s stock or publishes misleading or unfavorable research about Occam s business, Occam s stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts coverage of Occam or fails to publish reports on Occam regularly, demand for Occam s stock could decrease, which could cause or stock price or trading volume to decline.

1	1
n	n
~	~

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This proxy statement/prospectus contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this proxy statement/prospectus, including statements regarding Calix s or Occam s future financial position, business strategy and plans and objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as believe, may, estimate, continue, anticipate, intend, should, plan. predict, potential, or the negative of these terms or other similar expressions. Forward-looking statements include, without limitation, Occam s or Calix s expectations concerning the outlook for their respective businesses, productivity, plans and goals for future operational improvements and capital investments, operational performance, future market conditions or economic performance and developments in the capital and credit markets and expected future financial performance, as well as any information concerning possible or assumed future results of operations of Calix and Occam as set forth in the sections of this proxy statement/prospectus titled Proposal One The Merger Occam s Reasons for the Merger; Recommendation of the Occam Board of Directors, Proposal One The Merger Calix s Reasons for the Merger, and Proposal One The Merger Opinion of Occam s Financial Advisor. Forward-looking statements also include statements regarding the expected benefits of the proposed acquisition of Occam by Calix.

Forward-looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions, and actual results or events may differ materially from those projected or implied in those statements. Important factors that could cause such differences include, but are not limited to:

the expectation that the merger transaction will be completed;

the expected financial condition, results of operations, earnings outlook and prospects of Calix, Occam and the combined company;

the expected benefits and synergies of the merger transaction will be fully realized and within the expected time frame;

the expectation that the acquisition of Occam will complement Calix s broadband communications access systems business;

the expectation that the merger transaction, if completed, will result in Calix s ability to accelerate access innovation, to integrate platforms and products to accelerate opportunities for customers and broaden the Calix Unified Access portfolio;

the expectation that the merger transaction, if completed, will result in increased sales and support coverage for Calix, Calix s ability to enhance solutions development, testing and quality and to increase the range of deployment options and the creation of closer relationships with customers and partners;

the expectation that the merger transaction, if completed, will result in the ability to expand resources, testing and investments and the ability to enhance the customer engagement model and expand interoperability;

increased operational efficiency and create opportunities for cost reduction through the elimination of redundant overhead expenses and public company costs; and

the other matters described in the section titled Risk Factors beginning on page 26.

In addition, the acquisition of Occam by Calix is subject to the satisfaction of the conditions to the completion of the merger transaction set forth in the merger agreement and the absence of events that could give rise to the termination of the merger agreement, the possibility that the acquisition does not close, and risks that the proposed acquisition disrupts current plans and operations and business relationships, or poses difficulties in attracting or retaining employees for each of Calix and Occam.

Calix and Occam caution you against placing undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which reflect our current beliefs and are based on information currently available to us as of the date a forward-looking statement is made. Forward-looking statements set forth herein speak only as of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus. We undertake no obligation to revise forward-looking statements to reflect future events, changes in circumstances, or changes in beliefs. In the event that we do update any forward-looking statements, no inference should be made that we will make additional updates with respect to that statement, related matters, or any other forward-looking statements. Any corrections or revisions and other important assumptions and factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from forward-looking statements, including discussions of significant risk factors, may appear in Occam s or Calix s public filings with the SEC, which are accessible at *www.sec.gov*, and which you are advised to consult. For additional information, please see the section titled Where You Can Find More Information beginning on page 284.

6	8

THE SPECIAL MEETING OF OCCAM STOCKHOLDERS

This section contains information about the special meeting of Occam stockholders that has been called to adopt the merger agreement and approve the adjournment proposal. This proxy statement/prospectus is being furnished to Occam stockholders in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Occam board to be used at the special meeting. Occam is first mailing this proxy statement/prospectus and enclosed proxy card on or about December 17, 2010.

Date, Time and Place

A special meeting of the Occam stockholders will be held on January 27, 2011, starting at 10:00 a.m., local time (unless it is adjourned or postponed to a later date) at Occam s offices at 3185 Laurelview Court, Fremont, California 94538.

Purpose of Special Meeting

The purpose of the special meeting is for Occam stockholders to: (i) consider and vote upon adoption of the merger agreement and (ii) approve the adjournment proposal.

Recommendation of the Occam Board of Directors

As discussed elsewhere in this document, at a meeting duly called and held, the Occam board has (i) unanimously determined that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby are fair to, advisable and in the best interests of the Company s stockholders, (ii) unanimously approved and adopted the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby and (iii) unanimously resolved to recommend adoption of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby by the stockholders of Occam.

Occam stockholders should carefully read this document in its entirety for more detailed information concerning the merger agreement. In particular, Occam stockholders are directed to the merger agreement, which is attached hereto as <u>Annex A</u>.

Occam Record Date; Shares Entitled to Vote

The Occam board has chosen the close of business on December 13, 2010 as the record date that will determine the stockholders who are entitled to receive notice of, and to vote at, the special meeting or at any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting. Only holders of record at the close of business on the record date are entitled to vote at the special meeting. At the close of business on the record date, there were 21,551,376 shares of Occam common stock outstanding, held by approximately 183 holders of record. A list of the names of Occam stockholders of record will be available at the special meeting and for 10 days prior to the special meeting for any purpose related to the special meeting during regular business hours at Occam s principal executive offices located at 6868 Cortona Drive, Santa Barbara, California 93117. Each holder of shares of Occam common stock outstanding on the record date will be entitled to one vote for each share held of record upon each matter properly submitted at the special meeting and at any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting.

Quorum

In order for Occam to satisfy its quorum requirements, the holders of at least a majority of the total number of outstanding shares of Occam common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting must be present in person or represented by proxy. Shares of Occam common stock represented at the meeting but not voted, including shares for which proxies have been received but for which stockholders have abstained on either or both of the matters, will be treated as present at the special meeting for purposes of determining the presence or absence of a quorum.

Broker non-votes will also be counted for the purpose of determining a quorum at the special meeting. In the event that a quorum is not present at the special meeting, it is expected that the special meeting will be adjourned or postponed to solicit additional proxies.

Required Vote

Merger agreement. The proposal to adopt the merger agreement must be approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of Occam common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting as of the record date.

Adjournment Proposal. The proposal to adjourn the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there is an insufficient number of votes at the time of such adjournment to adopt the merger agreement, requires the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the votes cast at the special meeting on such proposal.

Abstentions

The required vote of Occam stockholders on the adoption of the merger agreement is based upon the number of shares of Occam common stock outstanding on the record date, and not the number of shares that are actually voted. Accordingly, the failure to submit a proxy card or to vote by Internet, telephone or in person at the special meeting or an abstention from voting will have the same effect as a vote cast AGAINST the adoption of the merger agreement.

The required vote of Occam stockholders on the adjournment proposal is based on the number of shares that are actually voted on such proposal, not on the number of shares of Occam common stock outstanding as of the record date. Accordingly, if your shares of Occam common stock are present and entitled to vote, but you abstain, it will not count as a vote cast on such proposal and will have no effect on such proposal. Likewise, the failure by the holder of any shares of Occam common stock to submit a proxy or vote in person at the special meeting will have no effect on the outcome of the proposal to adjourn the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there is an insufficient number of votes at the time of such adjournment to adopt the merger agreement.

Shares Held in Street Name

Under the rules of the NYSE, brokers who hold shares in street name for customers have the authority to vote on routine proposals when they have not received instructions from beneficial owners. However, brokers are precluded from exercising their voting discretion with respect to approving non-routine matters, such as the merger agreement. As a result, absent specific instructions from the beneficial owner of shares held in street name, brokers are not empowered to vote those shares on non-routine matters, which results in what are referred to generally as broker non-votes.

The required vote of Occam stockholders on the adoption of the merger agreement is based upon the number of shares of Occam common stock issued and outstanding on the record date, and not the number of shares that are actually voted. Accordingly, broker non-votes will have the same effect as a vote cast AGAINST the adoption of the merger agreement.

The required vote of Occam stockholders on the adjournment proposal is based on the number of shares that are actually voted on such proposal and not on the number of outstanding shares of Occam common stock. Accordingly, broker non-votes will have no effect on the proposal to adjourn the special meeting, if necessary or appropriate to solicit additional proxies if there is an insufficient number of votes at the time of such adjournment to adopt the merger agreement.

Voting of Proxies by Holders of Record

If you are a record holder of shares of Occam common stock, you may submit your proxy, or vote, in any of the following ways:

By Internet: Go to the website specified on your proxy card and follow the instructions.

By Telephone: Call the toll-free number specified on your proxy card from a touch-tone telephone in the United States or Canada and follow the instructions on your proxy card and the voice prompts on the telephone.

By Mail: Mark your vote, sign and date your proxy card and return it in the pre-addressed postage-paid envelope provided. If you received more than one proxy card (which means that you have shares in more than one account), you must mark, sign, date and return each proxy card or use an alternative voting method. Any proxy card mailed must be actually received prior to the special meeting.

In Person: You may vote by ballot at the special meeting or send a representative with an acceptable proxy that has been signed and dated. If your shares of Occam common stock are held in the name of a bank, broker or other nominee, you must obtain a proxy, executed in their favor, from the holder of record, to be able to vote at the special meeting.

All shares of Occam common stock entitled to vote and represented by properly completed proxies received prior to the special meeting and not properly revoked, will be voted at the special meeting as instructed on the proxies. **If Occam stockholders submit a properly completed proxy but do not indicate how their shares of Occam common stock should be voted on a matter, the shares of Occam common stock represented by their properly completed proxy will be voted as the Occam board recommends and therefore, FOR the adoption of the merger agreement and FOR the adjournment proposal.**

Stockholders Sharing an Address

Consistent with notices sent to record stockholders sharing a single address, Occam is sending only one copy of this proxy statement/prospectus to that address unless Occam received contrary instructions from any stockholder at that address. This householding practice reduces Occam s printing and postage costs. Stockholders may request to discontinue householding, or may request a separate copy of this proxy statement/prospectus by contacting Occam s Corporate Secretary at 6868 Cortona Drive, Santa Barbara, California 93117 or by contacting Occam Investor Relations via phone at (805) 692-2900 or via e-mail at *ir@occamnetworks.com*.

Revocability of Proxies

If you submit your proxy through the Internet, by telephone or by mail you may revoke your proxy at any time before the vote is taken at the special meeting in any one of the following ways:

through the Internet or by telephone before the deadlines for voting described above;

by submitting a subsequent later-dated proxy by mail that is actually received by the Occam Corporate Secretary prior to the special meeting;

by sending written notice of revocation to the Occam Corporate Secretary that is actually received by the Occam Corporate Secretary prior to the special meeting; or

by voting in person at the special meeting.

Your attendance at the special meeting does not automatically revoke your proxy. If you are not a registered stockholder, but instead hold your shares in street name through a bank, broker or other nominee, the above-described options for revoking your proxy do not apply. Instead, you will need to follow the instructions provided to you by your bank, broker or other nominee in order to revoke your proxy and submit new voting instructions.

Adjournments and Postponements

Table of Contents

Although it is not currently expected, the special meeting may be adjourned or postponed for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies. Any adjournment may be made without notice, other than by an announcement made at the special meeting of the time, date and place of the adjourned meeting. For the proposal to adjourn the

special meeting, if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there is an insufficient number of votes at the time of such adjournment to adopt the merger agreement, you may vote FOR, AGAINST or ABSTAIN. Abstentions and broker non-votes will count for the purpose of determining whether a quorum is present at the special meeting. However, broker non-votes and abstentions will not count as shares entitled to vote on the adjournment proposal. As a result, abstentions and broker non-votes will not have any effect on the vote to adjourn the special meeting if necessary or appropriate, to solicit additional proxies if there is an insufficient number of votes at the time of such adjournment to adopt the merger agreement. Any signed proxies received by Occam for which no voting instructions are provided on such matter will be voted FOR the adjournment proposal. Any adjournment of the special meeting for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies will allow Occam stockholders who have already sent in their proxies to revoke them at any time prior to their use at the special meeting as adjourned.

In addition, at any time prior to convening the special meeting, the special meeting may be postponed for any reason without the approval of the Occam stockholders. If postponed, Occam will publicly announce the new meeting date. Although it is not currently expected, Occam may postpone the special meeting for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies if Occam concludes that by the date of the special meeting it is reasonably likely that Occam will not have received sufficient proxies to constitute a quorum or sufficient votes for the merger agreement. Similar to adjournments, any postponement of the special meeting for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies will allow Occam stockholders who have already sent in their proxies to revoke them at any time prior to their use.

Solicitation of Proxies

Occam will pay the cost of distributing and soliciting proxies. This proxy solicitation is being made by Occam on behalf of its board of directors. In addition to solicitation by use of the mail, Occam s directors, officers and employees may also solicit proxies in person or by telephone, e-mail, facsimile transmission or other means of communication. Occam will also request brokers and other fiduciaries to forward proxy solicitation material to the beneficial owners of shares of Occam common stock that the brokers and fiduciaries hold of record. In accordance with the regulations of the SEC and the NASDAQ Global Market, Occam will reimburse them for expenses incurred in sending proxies and proxy materials to beneficial owners of shares of Occam common stock. Occam has retained Innisfree M&A Incorporated to assist in the distribution and solicitation of proxies for the special meeting and will pay Innisfree M&A Incorporated a fee of up to \$75,000 plus reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses.

PROPOSAL ONE THE MERGER

The following is a discussion of the proposed merger transaction and the merger agreement. This is a summary only and may not contain all of the information that is important to you. This summary is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, the merger agreement, a copy of which is attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as <u>Annex A</u> and is incorporated by reference herein. Occam stockholders are urged to read this entire proxy statement/prospectus carefully, including the merger agreement, for a more complete understanding of the merger transaction.

General

Calix and Occam agreed to the acquisition of Occam by Calix under the terms of the merger agreement that is described in this proxy statement/prospectus. In the merger transaction, a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Calix will merge with Occam, with Occam continuing as the surviving entity. Immediately thereafter, Occam will merge with a second direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Calix, with such second subsidiary continuing as the surviving company.

Background of the Merger

Occam s board of directors and management regularly review and discuss Occam s business plan and strategic opportunities. These reviews and discussions focus, among other things, on the business and competitive environment facing the telecommunications industry in general and Occam in particular. These reviews also include periodic discussions regarding potential transactions that could further Occam s strategic objectives and enhance stockholder value as well as the potential benefits and risks of those transactions.

Beginning in March 2009, Occam s board of directors and management commenced an active evaluation of Occam s business, its position in the marketplace, and the opportunities and challenges facing the company. This strategic planning initiative grew out of an effort led by Occam s management to develop a long-term operating and financial plan, which in turn required a strategic assessment of Occam s businesses and how they were likely to develop over the following three to five years. The process also reflected the board s concern that Occam had been unable to increase its revenues in recent periods and that, while relatively successful with independent operating companies, or IOCs, Occam and its management team had been unsuccessful in expanding the scope and scale of Occam s business beyond this core customer set. In particular, marketing efforts outside North America had not resulted in substantial new business, and with a few notable exceptions, Occam had been unable to create material new customer relationships among larger telecommunications service providers. Occam was also beginning internal initiatives to consider its longer-term investments in product and technology development. As a result, the Occam board believed that it was timely and appropriate to evaluate Occam s prospects as a stand-alone company and work with Occam s management to develop strategies to improve Occam s competitive position in the overall industry.

As part of the strategic planning process, Occam s board of directors designated an informal committee consisting of directors Robert B. Abbott, Steven M. Krausz, Thomas E. Pardun, and Brian H. Strom to work closely with Occam s management in conducting its analysis. The Occam board did not delegate to the committee any authority to approve any transaction, but instead formed the committee to act in an advisory role with management and to ensure an effective flow of information and ideas between management and the board concerning the strategic planning process. Following initiation of discussions with Party A in July 2009 as described below, the informal committee was no longer active, and all matters relating to Occam s strategic planning process were addressed by the full Occam board of directors, consisting of directors Robert B. Abbott, Robert E. Bylin, Robert L. Howard-Anderson, Steven M. Krausz, Albert J. Moyer, Thomas E. Pardun, and Brian H. Strom.



During the spring and early summer of 2009, the informal committee met several times with Robert L. Howard-Anderson, Occam s president and chief executive officer, and Jeanne Seeley, Occam s senior vice president and chief financial officer, to identify the key opportunities and challenges facing Occam in order to complete the strategic planning process described above. Based on discussions with third party financial and market analysts, Occam s internal market assessments, and Occam s recent competitive experience, Occam s management concluded, and the informal committee and Occam s board of directors concurred, that the most significant long-term impediment to growing Occam s business beyond its existing focus on IOCs remained a lack of scale. Among other factors, the Occam board noted that the IOC opportunity is naturally constrained by the limited number of telephone lines represented by IOCs relative to larger carriers. Occam s management and board of directors, including the informal committee members, concluded that future sustained revenue growth would require increasing Occam s scale and expanding Occam s potential customer base in order to become competitive with substantially larger telecommunications equipment providers.

In evaluating the challenges Occam faced, Occam s board of directors and management also considered and weighed opportunities presented to Occam. Notably, the board of directors and management cited government broadband stimulus programs targeting regional service providers as a key opportunity, particularly given Occam s existing presence in markets anticipated to receive substantial government funding and Occam s historic participation in the Rural Utilities Service loan program administered by the Department of Agriculture. While management and the board noted the near-term opportunity presented by the stimulus programs, they also noted the temporary character of the opportunity, the uncertainty in the process and timing of the allocation of stimulus dollars to specific beneficiaries and the fact that the opportunity could be reduced or eliminated depending on political decisions or the outcome of mid-term elections. They believed the opportunity would not, in itself, eliminate the long-term strategic challenges facing Occam. Occam s board and management believed Occam was in a strong position with sufficient resources to address its current core IOC opportunities and benefit to some measurable extent from a broadband stimulus opportunity that was expected to exist through at least 2011. The board, however, determined that stimulus funding alone was insufficient, and carried sufficient risk of delay or termination, such that it could not be relied upon to build a relevant long-term competitor in the larger market. Given the Occam board s concern about Occam s ability to grow organically and the need to increase scale, the board determined that execution by Occam on a scale-enhancing strategic transaction, whether as an acquisition target or as a buyer, was in the long-term best interests of Occam s stockholders, and determined to have management seek the assistance of an investment banker to assist management and the board in their efforts to evaluate Occam s strategic alternatives, including identifying, qu

In early June 2009, Ms. Seeley requested that Jefferies assist Occam s management and board of directors in their efforts to evaluate Occam s strategic alternatives. Jefferies is an investment banking firm that is familiar with Occam and its business and had advised Occam in connection with its 2006 follow-on public offering. On June 23, 2009, members of Occam s management and members of the informal board committee described above met with representatives of Jefferies to discuss Occam s strategic alternatives. The discussion focused on ways to increase Occam s scale and grow Occam s potential customer base, particularly through acquisitions. At the end of the meeting, the informal board committee and Occam s management asked Jefferies to assist management to identify potential strategic transaction candidates and to advise on a strategy to approach these candidates.

In July 2009, the chief financial officer of a major telecommunications equipment provider, referred to as Party A, contacted Mr. Howard-Anderson on an unsolicited basis to inquire whether Occam would be interested in discussing potential strategic opportunities between the two companies. On July 31, 2009, Mr. Howard-Anderson and the chief financial officer of Party A had a telephone conversation in which they engaged in general discussions concerning the North American incumbent local exchange carrier, or ILEC, market. The parties also discussed executing a nondisclosure agreement and exchanged drafts, but no agreement was entered at that time. Over the next few months, Mr. Howard-Anderson communicated periodically with representatives of Party A about their respective companies, but no significant discussions regarding a strategic transaction between Occam and Party A resulted from these conversations.

In early August 2009, members of Occam s management held a series of meetings with representatives of Jefferies to discuss potential strategic transactions. During these meetings, representatives of Jefferies reviewed with members of Occam s management publicly available information regarding approximately 19 potential companies for Occam to consider as acquisition targets, including a European-based telecommunications equipment provider, which is referred to as Party B. Discussions and deliberations concerning these acquisition candidates focused on the strategic fit between Occam and the candidate as measured by the similarity or complementary nature of product offerings and product focus, whether a combination with the proposed candidate was likely to achieve Occam s objectives of increasing the scale of its business and expanding its potential customer base, and the likelihood that a transaction could be completed and successfully integrated given limitations imposed by Occam s size and available resources. Members of Occam s management and representatives of Jefferies also discussed tactics for approaching the companies identified in Jefferies review, including Party B. Following the meetings, Ms. Seeley authorized Jefferies to contact certain of the identified candidates to gauge their interest in being acquired.

On August 24, 2009, Mr. Howard-Anderson and Ms. Seeley met with representatives of Jefferies to discuss the results of Jefferies initial inquiries, including Jefferies contact with Party B. Following the meeting, Jefferies began initiating conversations between Occam and the identified acquisition candidates that had not already been contacted.

On August 25, 2009, the Occam board held a regularly scheduled meeting. At this meeting, Mr. Howard-Anderson and Ms. Seeley led a discussion with the board relating to the process management had undertaken with Jefferies to evaluate Occam s strategic alternatives. Mr. Howard-Anderson also advised the board regarding his recent discussion with Party A. During the meeting Steven M. Krausz, the chairman of Occam s board of directors, reminded the board that he had met with Carl Russo, the chief executive officer of Calix, on March 27, 2009, at an industry conference in San Francisco. Mr. Krausz reviewed for the board the conversation with Mr. Russo, which focused predominately on industry trends and developments. Mr. Krausz had also informed Mr. Russo that Occam s board had determined not to engage in strategic discussions at that time due to Occam s then outstanding litigation. Since Occam had recently agreed to settle the outstanding litigation, the board indicated that Mr. Krausz should contact Mr. Russo to gauge Calix s interest in a strategic transaction.

On September 9 and 28, 2009, Ms. Seeley had further telephone conversations with representatives of Jefferies regarding the status of Jefferies discussions with potential strategic acquisition candidates companies, including Party B.

On September 11, 2009, Mr. Krausz contacted Mr. Russo by email to advise him that Occam had recently announced the settlement of outstanding litigation and might be interested in evaluating strategic alternatives. As a result of Mr. Krausz s September 11, 2009 email, he and Mr. Russo had telephone conversations on September 21, 2009, and October 15, 2009. During those conversations, they discussed the potential for a transaction between Occam and Calix.

On September 18, 2009, Mr. Krausz and Mr. Howard-Anderson met with an additional strategic acquisition candidate that had been identified and contacted by Jefferies. As a result of such meeting, Occam and such acquisition candidate determined that there was not a sufficient strategic fit between the parties to merit a strategic transaction, so no further discussions resulted from the meeting.

Following Jefferies initial contact with Party B, Occam and Party B scheduled a meeting between the two companies. On October 6, 2009, Mr. Howard-Anderson and Ms. Seeley met with the chief financial officer of Party B in Geneva, Switzerland. Mr. Howard-Anderson and Ms. Seeley discussed Occam s business plan and inquired whether Party B would be interested in a strategic transaction. Party B s chief financial officer indicated that he would discuss the matter further with Party B s chief executive officer.

While in Europe, Mr. Howard-Anderson and Ms. Seeley also visited another potential acquisition candidate, but no substantive discussions emerged from that meeting. The Occam board and management eventually determined, however, that such candidate did not represent a strong candidate for a strategic transaction.

On October 22, 2009, the chief financial officer of Party B contacted Mr. Howard-Anderson and Ms. Seeley and indicated that Party B would be interested in discussing a potential acquisition. Ms. Seeley and the chief financial officer of Party B agreed to coordinate a time for the management of Occam and Party B to meet in person.

On November 4, 2009, at the request of Party B s chief executive officer, Party B s chief executive officer and chief financial officer met telephonically with Ms. Seeley and Mr. Howard-Anderson to further discuss a potential acquisition. The parties agreed to set a follow-up meeting for December 9, 2009 in Europe.

On November 13, 2009, Mr. Howard-Anderson inquired of Party A whether it had any continued interest in pursuing an acquisition of Occam. Party A requested an in-person meeting among Mr. Howard-Anderson and Party A executives, which was scheduled for December 16, 2009.

On November 18, 2009, the Occam board held a regularly scheduled meeting. At this meeting, Ms. Seeley reviewed with the board the efforts of Occam s management to evaluate strategic challenges and opportunities facing Occam. During the discussions, members of management and Jefferies led a discussion with the Occam board regarding the process that had been undertaken to narrow the number of candidates since the summer of 2009 based on further analysis and consideration of the strategic fit and likelihood that a transaction could be completed as well as the candidates interest in a potential combination as expressed to representatives of Jefferies. As part of the discussion, representatives of Jefferies joined the meeting and reviewed with the board approximately six remaining potential strategic acquisition candidates, including Party B and other candidates that had been contacted over the course of the preceding several months. Occam s board and management, together with Jefferies, reviewed the businesses and, to the extent available, financial results of each of these companies in light of their potential strategic fit, the likelihood that the transaction could be consummated with the candidate, and the candidate s potential financial contribution to Occam (including the candidate s potential contribution to Occam s scale and potential customer base). A number of the candidates, including Party B, were not publicly traded, however, and available financial information was limited. The board also discussed with management and Jefferies structural issues relating to each of the alternatives, in particular whether Occam had or could secure the cash resources to afford the potential transactions and the extent to which Occam 's common stock, which was thinly traded, could be used as consideration in a potential transaction.

Based on the information presented, the Occam board concluded that a transaction with Party B offered the most attractive strategic benefit relative to alternatives. Specifically, the board believed that a transaction with Party B would substantially increase Occam s scale given that Party B was a larger company than Occam. In addition, the board believed the transaction would expand Occam s addressable market in that Party B offered a diverse customer base, primarily in Europe, South America, and Asia, that complemented but did not overlap Occam s North American customer base. Offsetting the strategic opportunities, however, were concerns the Occam board had about substantial integration risks associated with the transaction, including general operational risks that could be increased by the substantial geographic distance between the companies, the lack, with limited exception, of experience on the part of Occam s management team in managing businesses outside of North America, and whether Occam s management had the resources, expertise and capacity to address integration challenges. The board also discussed potential structural impediments to Occam s ability to conclude a major strategic acquisition with Party B, including limited cash resources and Occam s thinly traded common stock.

At this meeting, Mr. Howard-Anderson also provided the board with an update concerning his discussions with Party A, which had since July 2009 consisted of sporadic emails between Mr. Howard-Anderson and Party A.

Following its review of discussions with Party A and Party B, the Occam board directed Occam management to continue discussions in parallel with both parties. In addition, the board requested that Jefferies and management prepare a preliminary financial analysis concerning Occam s potential acquisition of Party B.

On November 20, 2009, Ms. Seeley had a telephone conversation with representatives of Jefferies to continue their discussions regarding potential strategic acquisitions and the opportunities and challenges presented with respect to each potential transaction. Ms. Seeley and Jefferies also prepared for anticipated meetings with Party B.

In anticipation of an in-person meeting with Party B, on November 23, 2009, Occam and Party B executed a non-disclosure and confidential information agreement.

On December 9, 2009, Mr. Howard-Anderson, Ms. Seeley, Mr. Sharer, Occam s vice president of marketing and Mark Rumer, Occam s founder and chief technical officer, met in Europe with members of Party B s management, including Party B s chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief operating officer, and chief technology officer. The purpose of the meeting was to discuss a potential acquisition of Party B by Occam and to obtain relevant diligence information concerning Party B, its business, and operating results.

On December 12, 2009, Ms. Seeley met with representatives of Jefferies to discuss the outcome of the December 9, 2009, meeting with Party B. Ms. Seeley provided relevant financial and other diligence information concerning Party B and requested that Jefferies update its preliminary financial analysis based on information received from Party B.

On December 16, 2009, Mr. Howard-Anderson met with senior executives of Party A, including the chief executive officer, the chief financial officer, and a business unit manager, at Party A s headquarters. In connection with the meeting, Occam and Party A executed a non-disclosure agreement. The participants engaged in general discussions about their respective companies, including their respective customer bases, target markets, and strategic initiatives. Following the meeting, no further discussions, other than occasional emails, took place until February 2010.

On December 18, 2009, Ms. Seeley had a conversation with Mr. Krausz regarding the status of the strategic transaction process. Following that conversation, Mr. Krausz informally updated certain members of the Occam board regarding the status of management s efforts with respect to Party A.

On January 26, 2010, in anticipation of an upcoming meeting of Occam s board of directors, Mr. Howard-Anderson and Ms. Seeley had a telephone conference with representatives of Jefferies, during which representatives of Jefferies reviewed a preliminary financial analysis for Occam s potential acquisition of Party B. The analysis was based on financial and other diligence information provided by Party B since the December 2009 meeting in Europe.

On January 29, 2010, Occam s board held a regularly scheduled meeting. Mr. Howard-Anderson and Ms. Seeley reviewed the December 2009 contacts and discussions held by Occam s management with Party A and Party B. With respect to Party A, management noted that Party A had not actively engaged with Occam in the six weeks since their initial meeting with Mr. Howard-Anderson but noted that in occasional email exchanges subsequent to such meetings, Party A had suggested some continuing interest to consider a possible acquisition of Occam Representatives of Jefferies then joined the meeting and reviewed with Occam s board its preliminary financial analysis of a combination transaction with Party B. The board considered the information that management and Jefferies had provided concerning a transaction with Party B and directed management to continue discussions with both Party A and Party B.

In late January 2010, Party A s chief financial officer contacted Mr. Howard-Anderson. He and Mr. Howard-Anderson agreed to coordinate a meeting between management of the two companies to share initial due diligence information in contemplation of a potential acquisition of Occam.

On February 1, 2010, Party B s chief financial officer affirmed to Ms. Seeley Party B s interest in a potential acquisition.

On February 17, 2010, Occam entered into a second nondisclosure agreement with Party A. The nondisclosure agreement superseded the agreement entered on December 16, 2009 and included additional provisions specific to an acquisition transaction.

On February 19, 2010, Mr. Howard-Anderson, Ms. Seeley, Mr. Rumer, and Russell Sharer met with executives of Party A in Denver, Colorado. During the meeting, Occam s management provided detailed diligence information concerning Occam s business and operations, including financial, technical, and product diligence. The parties also shared their views of their respective target markets and potential opportunities and risks presented by a combination transaction. At the end of the meeting, Party A s management indicated that it would review and consider the information presented by Occam and consult with its board of directors.

On February 23, 2010, the Occam board of directors held a regularly scheduled meeting. At the meeting, Occam s management reviewed with the board recent discussions with representatives of Party A. The board and management discussed the benefits of a potential transaction with Party A, including the benefits of the increased scale a combination would bring to Occam s business in the event that the transaction included stock consideration as well as Party A s substantial resources and likely ability to acquire Occam in an all-cash transaction. On the other hand, the board and management noted that Party A s interest in acquiring Occam had been somewhat equivocal and sporadic. The board then discussed the risks and opportunities of a transaction with Party A as compared to potential alternative transactions, in particular a transaction with Party B. In an attempt to achieve greater clarity on the possibility of both transactions, the board directed management to continue active discussions with both Party A and Party B.

Discussions with Party A continued during March 2010. In telephone conversations on March 8, 2010 among Mr. Howard-Anderson, Ms. Seeley and Party A s chief financial officer, on March 24, 2010 between Mr. Howard-Anderson and Party A s chief financial officer and on March 26, 2010 among Mr. Howard-Anderson, Ms. Seeley, Party A s chief financial officer, and a Party A business unit manager, Party A indicated that it was continuing to evaluate its own strategic alternatives with its board of directors, which included alternatives that did not contemplate an acquisition of Occam. The chief financial officer of Party A indicated that Party A was considering elements of an offer and noted that, if an offer was forthcoming, it would consist entirely of cash. No formal offer resulted from these discussions, however, and Party A did not conduct any formal due diligence during this period.

On March 25, 2010, Occam s board of directors held a special telephonic meeting at which Occam s management updated the board on recent discussions with Party A as well as the status of discussions with Party B. Since the December 2009 meeting in Europe, Occam had communicated continuing interest to Party B but indicated that it was considering other alternatives as well.

On April 1, 2010, the Occam board held a special telephonic meeting to consider retaining Jefferies to act as Occam s financial advisor in connection with a sale of Occam. At this meeting, Occam management provided the board an update concerning recent developments in discussions with Party A. Following the update, representatives of Jefferies provided the Occam board with an update regarding, among other things, current market conditions, the status of discussions with Party A, and potential alternative acquirors of Occam, including Calix. Among other matters, the Jefferies representatives discussed publicly available financial information relating to Party A and publicly available information regarding valuations of technology companies in recent acquisition transactions. Following the discussion, the Jefferies representative of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C., Occam s outside counsel, or WSGR, reviewed with the board its fiduciary obligations in connection with its consideration of strategic alternatives. Occam s management then reviewed the proposed terms of the engagement letter with Jefferies. Following the discussion, the Occam board authorized management to enter into the Jefferies engagement letter.

In discussions with Party A during early April 2010, Party A s management indicated continuing interest in an acquisition of Occam and continuing consultation with its board of directors, but Party A took no affirmative steps to move forward with a transaction. By mid-April, two months had passed since the due diligence meeting with Party A in Denver, Colorado, and Occam s management and board became concerned about the difficulty of maintaining the momentum of an alternative transaction with Party B while Party A decided whether to move forward with an acquisition of Occam. Management and the board noted that it had been four months since the initial meeting with Party B in Europe and both expressed concern that Party B could view Occam s interest as being not credible.

On April 14 and 15, 2010, Ms. Seeley and Mr. Krausz met in Europe with management of Party B and certain shareholders of Party B. These meetings focused on the strategic fit between the companies, potential valuation ranges, and transaction structure issues, including Party B s desire that all or substantially all of the acquisition consideration consist of cash.

On April 16, 2010, Occam s board held a special telephonic meeting. Mr. Krausz and Ms. Seeley reported on their meetings with Party B. The board discussed the continued equivocal tenor of discussions with Party A. The board nevertheless directed management to continue discussions with both parties. With respect to Party B, the board and management discussed potential structures for a transaction, including issues relating to Party B s reluctance to accept consideration in the form of shares of Occam s common stock. Mr. Krausz and Ms. Seeley noted that certain shareholders of Party B were focused on receiving cash consideration and that at the various valuations discussed, Occam would have insufficient cash resources to conclude a transaction in the absence of incurring indebtedness to fund a portion of the acquisition costs.

On April 21, 2010, Mr. Howard-Anderson and Ms. Seeley participated in a call with Jefferies regarding continuing discussions with Party B. At the meeting, representatives of Jefferies reviewed with management an updated financial and combination analysis of Party B based on updated financial information received from Party B during Occam s financial due diligence efforts. The Jefferies representatives also led a discussion regarding financing requirements and potential financing sources for Occam in connection with such a transaction.

On April 21, 2010, Party A confirmed to Mr. Howard-Anderson that Party A remained interested in a potential transaction with Occam but that it continued to evaluate Occam as one of several alternative strategic transactions.

On April 22, 2010, the Occam board held a special telephonic meeting to consider the status of discussions with Party A and Party B. At this meeting, Occam management led a discussion with the Occam board and representatives of Jefferies regarding strategic alternatives with Party A and Party B and reviewed the updated analysis for Party B that had been prepared based on updated financial information received from Party B during Occam s financial due diligence efforts. Given the continuing delay in discussions with Party A, Occam s board directed management to proceed with more active discussions regarding the acquisition of Party B. The board also determined that the Company should reestablish contact with Calix, and since Mr. Krausz had previously discussed a potential transaction between Occam and Calix with Mr. Russo, the board asked Mr. Krausz to contact Mr. Russo.

On May 5, 2010, Ms. Seeley had a call with the chief financial officer and the chief operating officer of Party B to discuss Occam s valuation analysis for the acquisition of Party B.

On May 7, 2010, Mr. Krausz contacted Mr. Russo by telephone. Messrs. Krausz and Russo agreed to meet for breakfast to discuss the telecommunications equipment industry and the potential for a strategic combination between Occam and Calix.

On May 12, 2010, Ms. Seeley and representatives of Jefferies discussed valuation gaps between Occam and Party B and how the parties might bridge these gaps.

On May 13, 2010, Mr. Krausz and Mr. Russo met for breakfast. During this meeting, Mr. Krausz suggested that he, Mr. Russo, and Mr. Howard-Anderson meet to discuss their respective companies. Mr. Krausz and Mr. Russo agreed to meet again in a week with Mr. Howard-Anderson to continue discussions.

On May 19, 2010, Mr. Krausz, Mr. Howard-Anderson, and Mr. Russo met to discuss their views of the need for increasing scale to remain competitive against large, international and domestic telecommunications equipment providers. During the course of the meeting, Mr. Russo expressed an interest in pursuing a strategic combination with Occam and indicated he would discuss the possibility with Calix s board of directors.

On May 20, 2010, the Occam board held a regularly scheduled meeting. At the meeting, Mr. Krausz and Mr. Howard-Anderson reviewed their recent discussions with Mr. Russo. Occam management updated the board regarding recent discussions with Party A and Party B. Management noted that no material discussions or engagement had taken place with Party A since the February due diligence meeting in Denver, Colorado, and the telephone conversations concerning a potential offer in March and April 2010. Representatives of Jefferies then joined the meeting and reviewed with the Occam board an updated analysis of Party B and outlined certain strategic considerations related to a potential transaction. The board, management and representatives of Jefferies also discussed funding for the transaction, the potential unwillingness of certain major shareholders of Party B to accept equity consideration, and the availability of acquisition financing in the form of bank debt. The board discussed the potential risks of using debt to fund the acquisition and the expected ability of Occam and Party B as a combined company to repay the acquisition financing. Following discussion, Occam s board advised management to continue to engage with third parties, including Party A, Party B and Calix, regarding a potential strategic transaction. During the meeting, Mr. Rumer also made a presentation concerning on-going research and development initiatives and investments as Occam made plans for new product introductions in 2012 and beyond.

Following the board meeting, Mr. Howard-Anderson scheduled a meeting with Mr. Russo to further discuss the potential for a strategic combination between Calix and Occam.

On May 24, 2010, Mr. Howard-Anderson met with Mr. Russo in Santa Barbara, California. At this meeting, Mr. Russo indicated that Calix would be interested in acquiring Occam and that Calix would circulate a draft non-disclosure agreement in order to facilitate further discussions between the parties.

Following negotiations of various provisions between the parties, on May 27, 2010, Occam entered into a non-disclosure agreement with Calix.

In late May 2010, Ms. Seeley contacted a commercial bank to discuss obtaining a credit line for purposes of financing a portion of the acquisition of Party B.

On May 27, 2010, Ms. Seeley held a conference call with representatives of Jefferies to discuss alternative transaction structures in connection with an acquisition of Party B.

Also on May 28, 2010, the Calix board of directors held a special telephonic meeting to consider the possibility of submitting to Occam a proposal to acquire Occam. At this meeting, Calix management led a discussion with the Calix board regarding the possible risks and opportunities to Calix presented by such a transaction as well as a potential purchase price for such an acquisition. Following this discussion, the Calix board authorized Calix management to submit a term sheet to Occam proposing the material economic terms of a possible acquisition of Occam by Calix.

Following the Calix board meeting, Calix delivered to Occam a term sheet and exclusivity agreement. The term sheet provided for the acquisition of Occam with a formula purchase price to be paid entirely in shares of Calix s common stock. Based on the purchase price formula, Occam management estimated that the implied

aggregate purchase price would equal approximately \$155,400,000, subject to potential adjustment based on the respective second quarter operating results of Occam and Calix. As expressed in the term sheet, the per share purchase price would be calculated on a fully-diluted basis (including all outstanding stock options, whether vested or unvested) with the per share exchange ratio calculated based on the average closing price of Calix s common stock over the ten-trading-day period prior to executing a definitive agreement. The term sheet indicated that Calix sought Occam s entry into exclusive negotiations with Calix for approximately 30 days in order for Calix to complete its due diligence review of Occam and for the parties to negotiate definitive agreements.

On May 30, 2010, the Occam board held a meeting to consider a proposed term sheet relating to the acquisition of Party B and the terms of the Calix proposal. The board initially reviewed and discussed the proposed term sheet relating to the acquisition of Party B and then reviewed the terms with management. The Board next reviewed and discussed the Calix proposal. With respect to the Calix proposal, the board expressed concerns with respect to the purchase price being proposed by Calix, including that it was based on a formula (rather than a set purchase price), that the amount of the proposed purchase price was insufficient and that the purchase price adjustment should be removed. The board also considered that an all-stock transaction would require a Calix, stockholder vote and also considered the potential volatility of the trading price of the Calix common stock which had only recently become publicly traded. As a result of these factors, the board also discussed including covenants of the parties regarding regulatory approvals in the term sheet. Following discussion, the board authorized management to deliver the term sheet relating to the acquisition of Party B and instructed management to convey its comments and concerns regarding the term sheet to Calix.

On June 1, 2010, Occam delivered to Party B a proposed term sheet for the acquisition of Party B. The consideration would have been paid in cash and shares of Occam s common stock, with the transaction being contingent on Occam s obtaining acquisition financing from a commercial bank.

During the first week of June 2010, Ms. Seeley participated in conference calls with representatives of Jefferies to discuss Calix s proposed transaction terms as well as the status of discussions with Party A and Party B. At this point, no material discussions had taken place with Party A since the February 2010 diligence meeting in Denver, Colorado, and the subsequent March and April 2010 telephone conversations in which Party A suggested that it was contemplating a range of strategic alternatives that may or may not include an acquisition of Occam.

On June 4, 2010, Mr. Howard-Anderson informed Mr. Russo that Occam was considering Calix s proposal but would not be able to engage in discussions with Calix on an exclusive basis unless Calix increased the amount of its offer and provided for payment of a significant portion of the purchase price in cash. Mr. Howard-Anderson also indicated that any adjustments based on operating performance would need to be removed and also relayed Occam s position concerning regulatory approval covenants. Mr. Russo indicated that he would raise Occam s issues with Calix s board of directors and then respond to Mr. Howard-Anderson.

On June 8, 2010, Ms. Seeley met with Party B s chief executive officer in Los Angeles, California to discuss Occam s proposed term sheet. Following discussion, Party B s chief executive officer indicated that he was agreeable to the terms of the acquisition proposal but would need to discuss the proposed terms with Party B s primary investor and would inform Ms. Seeley of the results.

On June 10, 2010, Calix delivered a revised term sheet to Occam, which provided for an increased aggregate purchase price equal to approximately \$156,000,000, subject to potential purchase price adjustments based on the respective second quarter operating performance of Occam and Calix. The term sheet further provided that the per share consideration would be calculated on a fully-diluted basis (including all outstanding stock options, whether vested or unvested) and that the consideration would be paid in a combination of cash and stock, with the aggregate amount of Calix s common stock issuable in the transaction not exceeding 19.9% of its outstanding shares. Following delivery of the term sheet, Mr. Russo contacted Mr. Howard-Anderson to discuss the terms of the revised proposal.

On June 10, 2010, the Occam board held a special telephonic meeting to consider the terms of the revised Calix proposal and the status of discussions with Party A and Party B. Members of Occam s management provided a detailed summary of the key financial terms of the proposed transaction with Party B and the written proposal presented by Calix. Occam s board and management then discussed the opportunities and challenges associated with the potential transactions, including regulatory issues presented by the proposed transactions. Following discussion, the board directed management to continue discussions with Calix and Party B, to provide Party A with a final opportunity to submit a proposal and also requested that management work with Jefferies to provide the board with additional financial information and models to permit a comparison of the potential transactions and their impact on stockholder value.

Following the June 10, 2010, board meeting, Ms. Seeley telephoned Mr. Russo to discuss the revised terms, in particular Occam s views of the financial terms of the Calix term sheet and the provisions relating to regulatory approvals. Ms. Seeley suggested that the financial advisors for Calix and Occam meet to discuss the valuation of Occam. Subsequently, a call was set for June 18, 2010, between the financial advisors of Occam and Calix.

In mid-June 2010, at the direction of Occam s board, Mr. Howard-Anderson contacted the chief financial officer of Party A and indicated that Occam was considering alternative transactions and inquired whether Party A would be interested in moving forward to submit a proposal to acquire Occam. The chief financial officer of Party A indicated that he would discuss the matter with Party A s board of directors and respond to Mr. Howard-Anderson.

On June 14, 2010, a representative of Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, the investment bank retained by Calix to provide certain financial advisory services in connection with the proposed transaction, or Morgan Stanley, contacted a representative of Jefferies to discuss the proposed transaction and the history of discussions between Calix and Occam to date regarding a possible transaction as well as the economic terms of the then-current Calix proposal.

Also on June 14, 2010, the Occam board held a special telephonic meeting. At that meeting, members of Occam s management updated the board regarding recent discussions with Party B and Calix. The board discussed with management the proposed transactions and comparative financial analyses prepared by Jefferies relating to the proposed Party B and Calix transactions. The board also discussed with management the status of discussions with Party A, including the likelihood that it would make an acquisition proposal given Party A s relative lack of responsiveness over the period going back to July 2009 and Party A s recently expressed desire to consider a range of strategic alternatives to a transaction involving Occam. Following discussion, the Occam board directed management to continue discussions with all three potential parties.

On June 16, 2010, Ms. Seeley discussed the status of the potential acquisition of Party B with Party B s chief executive officer.

Between June 16 and June 21, 2010, representatives of Jefferies and Morgan Stanley held periodic discussions about Calix s valuation analyses for Occam.

On June 21, 2010, Mr. Russo met with Mr. Howard-Anderson and Ms. Seeley in Santa Barbara, California to discuss the opportunities and challenges of the proposed acquisition of Occam.

On June 23, 2010, Occam received a letter from Party B s chief executive officer acknowledging the terms of the potential acquisition of Party B and confirming the material terms of the proposed acquisition of Party B.

On June 23, 2010, following the recent discussions between the financial advisors of Calix and Occam, Calix sent to Occam a revised term sheet and exclusivity agreement. The revised term sheet provided for an increased aggregate purchase price equal to \$171,140,000, subject to potential purchase price adjustments based on the respective second quarter operating performance of Occam and Calix.

On June 24, 2010, Occam received a letter from Party A indicating Party A s potential interest in acquiring Occam. Although the letter suggested a preliminary price range at which Party A might consider acquiring Occam, the letter indicated that Party A would not be ready to negotiate the terms of a definitive agreement until the parties had negotiated a letter of intent containing the material terms of a possible transaction. With respect to the price range for a possible transaction, Party A s letter indicated that if Party A ultimately submitted a formal letter of intent and proceeded to negotiate a definitive agreement, the purchase price would be paid in cash based on a price range equal to the lesser of (a) 130 135% of the closing price of a share of Occam s common stock on June 23, 2010 and (b) 130 135% of the average closing price of a share of Occam s common stock for the fifty (50) trading days preceding the date of a definitive agreement. Notwithstanding the unwillingness of Party A to commence negotiations on a definitive acquisition agreement until a further letter of intent was negotiated, under Party A s letter Occam would be required to agree to an exclusivity period lasting until July 16, 2010, during which period Occam would be prohibited from considering other competing bids to acquire Occam, including that of Calix. The letter also contemplated that Occam would be subject to certain covenants restricting the operation of its business during the exclusivity period.

On June 24, 2010, the Occam board held a special telephonic meeting to consider the indication of interest from Party A and the draft term sheet from Calix. At this meeting, members of Occam s management led a discussion regarding the letters received from Party A and Calix, and representatives of Jefferies reviewed the key financial terms of the Calix proposal and Party A s indication of interest. Among other matters, the board discussed with management and representatives of Jefferies and WSGR the form of consideration of the Calix proposal and Party A s indication of interest; the strategic business aspects of a transaction with each company, including potential synergies; each party s request for exclusive negotiating rights; the potential timing of each transaction (including the timing implications of Party A s requirement that it be permitted to conduct diligence and then negotiate a letter of intent prior to negotiating a definitive agreement); the comparative financial aspects of the proposal from Calix and Party A s indication of interest; and the risk that Occam s agreement to an exclusivity period with Party A could delay and possibly jeopardize Occam s ability to consider and pursue the Calix transaction. Those present discussed the risks of entering into exclusive negotiations with Party A, particularly in light of Party A s sporadic communications during the prior eleven months and Party A s requirement that Occam enter into a further letter of intent prior to negotiation of a definitive agreement providing for an acquisition of Occam. notwithstanding the process and discussions that Party A had conducted to date. The board also observed that Party A s proposal contained significant uncertainty regarding price because it required the parties to negotiate a letter of intent during which the indicated price could be renegotiated and also because the formulaic price would fluctuate until Party A had completed its due diligence, negotiated the terms of a letter of intent and then negotiated and entered into a definitive acquisition agreement. Based on the interaction with Party A to date and the contingencies identified in Party A s indication of interest together with Calix s demonstrated interest in pursuing a transaction, the board concluded that pursuing a transaction with Party A presented a substantially higher risk of being terminated prior to the execution of a definitive agreement than a transaction with either Party B or Calix. The board, management, and representatives of Jefferies then discussed strategies and objectives for continuing discussions with each of Party A and Calix. Following this discussion, the Occam board directed Occam management and Jefferies to inform Party A that it would need to present a structure to negotiate a transaction that provided Occam greater certainty with respect to Party A s willingness to proceed more rapidly towards execution of a definitive acquisition agreement in order for Occam to consider moving forward with Party A. In particular, the board directed management and Jefferies to inform Party A that Occam required that Party A agree to proceed to negotiate a definitive agreement simultaneously with conducting its diligence. Occam s management then updated the Occam board with respect to discussions relating to Party B.

Following the June 24, 2010 board meeting, representatives of Jefferies contacted Party A on behalf of Occam and related the views of Occam s board with respect to Party A s letter of interest. Jefferies noted the board s concern over the equivocal nature of the indication of interest, the lack of a definitive purchase price and Party A s requirement that Occam agree to a prohibition on its ability to pursue discussions with competing acquirors during the proposed exclusivity period. Jefferies also informed Party A that other transactions were being considered that did not include similar contingencies and such indefinite economic terms.

On June 30, 2010, the Occam board held a special telephonic meeting to consider the status of discussions regarding a potential strategic transaction. Representatives of Jefferies also attended this meeting. Mr. Howard-Anderson and Ms. Seeley updated the Occam board regarding discussions with Party B and Calix. The board then requested that Jefferies provide an updated analysis for the next board meeting comparing, from the financial perspective of Occam and its stockholders, the proposed acquisition of Party B with the proposed sale transaction to Calix.

Representatives of Jefferies then reviewed with the Occam board a list of other potential third parties that had been identified by Occam s management and Jefferies as possibly having an interest in acquiring Occam based on their potential strategic fit with Occam s business and their potential interest in and financial capacity to pursue acquisitions of Occam s size. Following discussion, Occam s board directed management and Jefferies to contact the parties most likely to have the capability and the interest in acquiring Occam.

Following the discussion among the board, directors, and management, Mr. Russo joined the meeting and made a presentation concerning Calix, its business, and Calix s views of market opportunities and challenges associated with the proposed acquisition of Occam. After the meeting, representatives of Jefferies contacted representatives of Morgan Stanley to inform them that the Occam board had a favorable impression of Mr. Russo s presentation. Morgan Stanley responded that Calix looked forward then to receiving a formal response to the term sheet that Calix had previously submitted to Occam.

On July 1, 2010, Party A informed representatives of Jefferies that it had determined it would not continue discussions with respect to an acquisition of Occam.

On July 1 and 2, 2010, representatives of Jefferies contacted seven potential acquirors to gauge their interest in a strategic transaction with Occam.

On July 2, 2010, Occam s board held a special telephonic meeting. Occam s management advised the board that Party A had declined to continue discussions with Occam. Representatives of Jefferies then informed the board that they had contacted seven buyer candidates regarding the potential acquisition of Occam and that none of them expressed an interest in pursuing the opportunity. Ms. Seeley then updated the board on discussions with respect to the acquisition of Party B. Representatives of Jefferies then reviewed with the Occam board an updated analysis comparing a combined Occam and Party B as a continuing company and a combined Occam and Calix as a continuing company. In evaluating the Party B transaction, the board, management and Jefferies noted that the board should take into account the integration risks associated with the proposed transaction with Party B. Ms. Seeley and representatives of Jefferies also reviewed with the board various assumptions concerning operating and cost synergies potentially realizable in a transaction with each of Party B and Calix. Based on the discussion and analysis presented, the board concluded that neither transaction was clearly superior in terms of its value, from a financial perspective, to Occam s stockholders.

Occam s board then considered and discussed the updated analysis and the various aspects of the proposed transactions between Occam and each of Party B and Calix, including the potential synergies realizable from each proposal, the estimates of the value potentially realizable by Occam s stockholders in each transaction, and the assumptions and methodologies underlying the analysis. Among other matters, the board noted the ability of Occam s stockholders to continue as stockholders of Calix based on the current transaction proposal. The board also discussed challenges inherent in each transaction, including integration risks, employee retention risks, and required regulatory approvals. While the board noted that both proposed transactions presented potentially valuable strategic alternatives, the board concluded that the transaction with Party B raised substantial integration risks and greater potential for management distraction due to the geographic distance between the parties. In particular, the board discussed the fact that if a transaction with Party B was concluded, senior management of Occam would be required in Europe for a substantial period of time to facilitate the transaction.

At this point, the Occam board met in executive session without management or management directors present, and the non-management directors considered each transaction. The board noted its belief that, with limited exception, Occam s existing management lacked experience operating and managing a global business and, accordingly, believed that the proposed transaction presented material management and integration risks. Given these risks and taking into account the updated analysis provided by Jefferies, the board determined that the Calix transaction was likely to generate greater stockholder value than the proposed transaction with Party B.

As part of the July 2, 2010 meeting, representatives of WSGR reviewed the Occam board s obligations in connection with a possible sale of the company. WSGR representatives also discussed with the board the timing and structure of a potential transaction with Calix and certain provisions likely to be included in a definitive agreement regarding deal certainty. At the conclusion of the meeting, the Occam board instructed members of Occam s management to continue discussions with Party B and Calix regarding the respective proposals and to respond in writing to the Calix proposal.

On July 4, 2010, Occam delivered a revised term sheet to Calix, which proposed, among other things, that: (i) the per share consideration be calculated assuming that all vested options were exercised prior to closing, rather than on a fully-diluted basis including unvested options; (ii) following the transaction, a director from Occam be appointed to the Calix board of directors; (iii) the transaction be structured to qualify as a tax-free reorganization for purposes of the stock consideration; and (iv) the parties agree to certain covenants relating to obtaining regulatory approvals.

Additional discussions pertaining to the terms in the Calix term sheet took place between Calix and Occam from July 4 through July 12, 2010.

On July 13, 2010, Mr. Russo delivered to Ms. Seeley a revised term sheet and exclusivity agreement, which, among other things, accepted the terms proposed by Occam that the per share consideration be calculated excluding unvested options and that following the transaction, a director from Occam be appointed to Calix s board of directors. The revised term sheet also did not contain any adjustment to the price based on second quarter operating results of either Occam or Calix. Mr. Russo indicated that the revised term sheet reflected Calix s final offer and that negotiations with respect to regulatory approval covenants would be deferred to the definitive agreement.

On July 14, 2010, Occam s board held a special meeting to consider Calix s revised proposal. Members of Occam s management provided an update regarding the status of the Calix transaction and discussions with Party B. Discussion ensued regarding the revised terms of the proposed Calix term sheet and exclusivity agreement and the importance of the exclusivity period to Calix s willingness to proceed with the transaction, which would result, among other things, in Occam discontinuing discussions with Party B. The board also considered that the other potential acquirors that had been contacted had not indicated an interest in discussing a potential acquisition of Occam. Following discussion, Occam s board determined to continue discussions with Calix and directed management to enter into the exclusivity agreement based on the term sheet.

On July 15, 2010, Occam entered into the exclusivity agreement with Calix and the parties proceeded to negotiate a definitive agreement based on the term sheet. Under the original terms of the exclusivity agreement, the exclusivity period would expire on August 6, 2010, unless Calix reconfirmed on such date Calix s intention to proceed with the transaction based on the term sheet, in which case the exclusivity period would be extended until August 16, 2010.

On July 16, 2010, Calix delivered a due diligence request list to Occam to facilitate Calix s due diligence efforts. Shortly thereafter, Occam opened an online data room, and Calix commenced its due diligence review of the Company.

On July 20, 2010, the Calix board of directors held a special telephonic meeting at which members of Calix management updated the board on the status of negotiations with Occam regarding the proposed transaction.

On July 22, 2010, Occam delivered a due diligence request list to Calix to facilitate Occam s reverse due diligence efforts. Shortly thereafter, Calix opened an online data room, and Occam commenced its reverse due diligence review of Calix.

On July 23, 2010, Latham & Watkins LLP, counsel to Calix, or Latham & Watkins, distributed an initial draft of a merger agreement to WSGR and Occam. WSGR conveyed Occam s initial comments to the merger agreement to Latham & Watkins on July 28, 2010. Among matters WSGR raised on behalf of Occam were the right of Occam to terminate the merger agreement in order to accept a competing acquisition proposal received on an unsolicited basis from a third party if Occam determined that the competing proposal was superior to the Calix transaction; the respective obligations of the parties to satisfy the conditions to closing the transactions, including covenants related to the receipt of required regulatory approvals; and the terms on which each party could terminate the merger agreement and the amount of the termination fee payable in connection with the termination of the merger agreement under certain circumstances. Thereafter until the execution of the merger agreement, representatives of Calix and Occam and their respective legal counsels negotiated and exchanged several drafts of the merger agreement and related transaction agreements.

Occam s board met on July 30 and August 3, August 7, August 11, August 13 and August 16, 2010 to consider the status of the proposed transaction with Calix. At each meeting, Occam s management and representatives of WSGR advised the board regarding the current terms of the proposed transaction and the open items and potential risks presented by the proposed terms, including the conditions to closing, termination rights of each party, and expectations concerning regulatory approvals for the transaction. Members of management and representatives of WSGR also discussed the closing risks related to the transaction, including the need to obtain stockholder and regulatory approvals and the effect the failure to close the transaction once it was announced could have on Occam.

From August 4 through August 6, 2010, members of management of Occam and Calix met to conduct in person due diligence meetings regarding the potential transaction.

At the August 11, 2010 Occam board meeting, a representative of WSGR noted for the Occam board that the exclusivity period under the exclusivity agreement with Calix had expired due to Calix s failure to reconfirm on August 6, 2010, Calix s intention to proceed with the transaction based on the term sheet. Management and counsel, however, confirmed for the board that Calix was continuing to negotiate in good faith, and the board elected to continue to negotiate with Calix on an exclusive basis notwithstanding the expiration of the exclusivity period, noting the potential risks to the transaction if Calix discovered that Occam was not negotiating exclusively with Calix. The board, having taken into account the fact that Jefferies had recently contacted seven potential acquirors of Occam, each of which had expressed no interest in pursuing such a transaction with Occam, authorized management to extend the exclusivity period, if requested by Calix.

On August 13, 2010, Mr. Russo contacted Ms. Seeley and requested that Occam extend the exclusivity period provided in the original exclusivity agreement. On August 16, 2010, Occam entered into an agreement extending the exclusive negotiating period until August 23, 2010.

On August 18, 2010, the Occam board held a special telephonic meeting to consider the open issues related to the Calix transaction. Members of Occam management updated the board on discussions with Calix and the terms of the proposed merger agreement. Representatives of WSGR provided an overview of legal and corporate matters related to the proposed transaction with Calix. In addition, representatives of WSGR and additional advisors to the board made presentations and led discussions with the board concerning the regulatory profile of the proposed transaction and related risks. At the conclusion of these various management and advisor presentations, the board discussed the transaction in detail, including the risks associated with the transaction measured against the strategic benefits and synergies expected to be derived from the transaction and the ability of Occam stockholders to continue to benefit from those synergies as stockholders of Calix. The board also met in executive session without management or management directors to discuss the business, operational, and

management risks facing Occam if it continued on a stand-alone basis, including the substantial business operational, management, and integration risks associated with addressing Occam s challenges of scale and addressable market size through strategic acquisitions.

On August 19, 2010, the Occam board held a special telephonic meeting, initially in executive session without Occam s management or management directors, to consider further the operational, management, and regulatory risks presented by the proposed acquisition of Occam by Calix. During the executive session, each director present provided his views of the opportunities offered by the proposed transaction and the potential risks. The board engaged in considerable discussion concerning the opportunities and challenges facing Occam as a stand-alone company and Occam s ability to conclude, as an alternative to Calix, a strategic transaction that would position Occam as a relevant and competitive player against substantially larger companies addressing a broader potential customer base than Occam s current capacity permitted. Among other matters, the board discussed Occam s requirements for long-term product development, associated investments in research and development to ensure that Occam s product offerings remained competitive, and the substantial technology and market risks associated with Occam s product development strategy, which required that Occam make investments several years before a product could be brought to market.

In addition, at the August 19, 2010 meeting, the board noted Occam s and its management s success in addressing the IOC market but also considered the substantial operational, integration, and management challenges associated with pursuing and consummating a major acquisition transaction and subsequently successfully integrating the operations of the two companies as an alternative to the Calix transaction. The board noted that Occam had limited resources to pursue such a transaction, that it would be difficult to resurrect a transaction with Party B at that time, and that Party B was among a limited number of target companies identified during the process that likely accomplished Occam s requirements of scale while remaining affordable to Occam. The board further noted that even with respect to a transaction with Party B, Occam would be required to obtain acquisition debt financing, and the board expressed concern about incurring indebtedness to fund strategic acquisitions for a company of Occam s size.

Finally, the Occam board considered management issues associated with a stand-alone or strategic acquisition strategy. The board noted that, with limited exception, Occam s management lacked relevant experience in the acquisition, integration, and operation of large companies, particularly on an international basis. The board also noted that management had not been successful in addressing Occam s issues of scale and potential customer base through organic growth. The board concluded that pursuing a stand-alone strategy would necessarily require that Occam pursue strategic acquisitions, which would require new executive management to implement. The board then considered the various risks and uncertainties associated with identifying and recruiting new executive management as well as the expenditure of other resources that would be required to implement an acquisition strategy targeted toward increasing Occam s scale and market opportunity. At the end of this discussion, Occam s board concluded that the Calix transaction offered potential positive operational benefits that would be shared by Occam stockholders as they became stockholders of Calix. The board further concluded that these potential benefits outweighed the substantial operational, technological, business, and management risks associated with continuing as a stand-alone company and pursuing strategic acquisitions, including one with Party B.

Following these discussions, Mr. Howard-Anderson and Ms. Seeley joined the meeting. Occam s board and management continued discussions concerning the strategic opportunities and challenges facing Occam and those presented by a transaction with Calix. The board then directed management to continue to negotiate the proposed transaction with Calix.

Between August 19 and August 26, representatives of Occam and Calix and their respective legal advisors continued to conduct due diligence and to negotiate the terms of the merger agreement.

On August 23, 2010, the exclusivity period again lapsed. Consistent with its earlier deliberations when exclusivity first lapsed and in light of the substantial progress that had been made by August 23, however, Occam determined to continue to negotiate on an exclusive basis with Calix.

On August 26, 2010, Occam s board of directors held a regularly scheduled meeting. During the meeting, members of Occam s management updated the board on negotiations with Calix. Representatives of Jefferies reviewed with the Occam board an overview of the key financial terms of the proposed transaction with Calix, including the nature and allocation of the cash and equity consideration and a comparison of the financial terms in the Calix transaction compared to recent comparable transactions. Representatives of WSGR reviewed the board s fiduciary obligations in considering and potentially approving a definitive agreement relating to the Calix transaction. The WSGR representatives then reviewed with the board a summary of the material terms of the proposed merger agreement, including the allocation of consideration between cash and Calix common stock; the anticipated tax treatment of the transaction; covenants that would bind Occam prior to completion of the transaction; covenants of the parties to obtain regulatory approvals; termination rights of each party; the amount of the termination fees payable by each party and the circumstances under which they would be payable; Occam s rights in relation to the receipt of a competing acquisition proposal; and remaining open issues to be negotiated. Following discussion, Occam s board instructed management to continue to work with Calix to resolve the open issues remaining in the proposed transaction. During the August 26, 2010 meeting, Mr. Rumer also led a discussion concerning new product development and planned investments in research and development.

On August 30, 2010, the Calix board of directors held a special telephonic meeting at which members of Calix management and representatives of Morgan Stanley and Latham & Watkins updated the board on the status of negotiations with Occam regarding the proposed transaction.

On August 31, 2010, members of management of Calix and Occam as well as representatives of Morgan Stanley and Jefferies participated in a financial due diligence session regarding Occam.

On September 1, 2010, the Calix board of directors held a special telephonic meeting at which members of Calix management updated the board on the status of negotiations with Occam regarding the proposed transaction. At this meeting, representatives of Morgan Stanley discussed its preliminary financial analysis of the proposed transaction. Following this presentation, the Calix board directed management to continue to work with Occam and the parties respective legal counsel to resolve the remaining open items in the definitive acquisition agreement.

On September 2, 2010, Ms. Seeley and Mr. Russo again discussed extending the exclusive negotiating period under the agreement while the parties finalized the transaction documents and completed due diligence efforts.

On September 2, 2010, Occam s board held a special telephonic meeting. Ms. Seeley updated the board with respect to the status of negotiations with Calix. Among other matters, the board discussed recent increases in the trading price of Calix s common stock and the fact that Calix s chief executive officer recently met with institutional investors, including meetings with investors who were not then-current holders of Calix s common stock. The board considered the impact of the increased trading price on the allocation of consideration between cash and equity, and requested that Jefferies present information regarding the effects of different trading prices and average trading prices on such allocation of consideration. The board also directed Ms. Seeley to seek to negotiate an exchange ratio as part of the definitive agreement based on a trailing average price, rather than a trading price at the time of the signing of the agreement. In addition, the board considered the fact that the exclusive negotiating period with Calix had again expired. Following consideration of the risks to the transaction of not extending the exclusive negotiating period, the continued progress made in negotiations with Calix on the remaining open items in the definitive acquisition agreement and the lack of any positive response to the inquiries made by Jefferies of potential acquirors of Occam, the board authorized management to agree to an extension of the exclusivity period through a date no later than September 21, 2010.

On September 3, 2010, Calix and Occam entered into an agreement extending the exclusive negotiating period until September 16, 2010.

On September 6, 2010, Occam s board held a special telephonic meeting. Representatives of Jefferies reviewed with the board the proposed transaction with Calix from a financial point of view, including the allocation of consideration between cash and Calix common stock and, in particular, an analysis of the impact of recent changes in Calix s trading price on the cash and equity components of the transaction consideration. Ms. Seeley noted that Calix had refused to agree to an equity exchange ratio based on a trailing average stock price and insisted that the exchange ratio be based on the trading price at the time of the signing of the agreement. Representatives of Jefferies also noted that the lock-up prohibiting certain Calix insiders and affiliates to sell their shares of Calix common stock, which had been in place since Calix s initial public offering, would likely expire between the expected date of signing and closing of the merger agreement and reviewed for Occam s board an analysis of recent initial public offerings and the impact of lock-up releases on trading performance. Further discussion ensued concerning the provisions of the draft merger agreement, the process for determining the stock exchange ratios, and expectations concerning Calix s trading price and the decline in Occam s trading price.

On September 8, 2010, the Occam board held a special telephonic meeting. Representatives of Jefferies reviewed with the Occam board additional financial analyses with respect to the consideration payable in the proposed Calix transaction, including certain sensitivity analyses showing changes in the allocation of consideration based on fluctuations in Calix s trading prices. Occam s board discussed the impact of the information presented. The board considered the effects of the recent changes in Calix s trading price on the cash and equity components of the transaction consideration, Calix s trading price on the date that the board had authorized entering into an exclusivity agreement with Calix, and Calix s refusal to agree to an exchange ratio based on a trailing average stock price and the decline in Occam s trading price. After considering these factors, the board concluded that a transaction with an exchange ratio based on the trading price at the time of the signing of the agreement would nonetheless be in the best interests of Occam s stockholders, and the board directed management to continue to finalize the transaction documents and complete due diligence. The board also directed Ms. Seeley to continue to press Calix to agree to a purchase price exchange ratio based on a trailing average.

Over the course of the following week, Calix continued its due diligence review of Occam, Occam continued its reverse diligence review of Calix, and members of the Occam and Calix management continued to negotiate the open issues relating to the merger agreement.

Following the September 8, 2010 Occam board meeting, Ms. Seeley and Mr. Russo discussed, among other definitive agreement terms, the calculation of the transaction purchase price, including Occam s desire to base the exchange ratio on a trailing average of Calix s stock price. Notwithstanding Ms. Seeley s continued efforts, Mr. Russo continued to refuse to agree to an exchange ratio based on a trailing average.

On September 13, 2010, members of management of Calix and Occam as well as representatives of Morgan Stanley and Jefferies participated in financial due diligence sessions regarding Calix.

On September 14, 2010, Occam s board held a special telephonic meeting. Ms. Seeley updated the board on discussions with Calix regarding the purchase price exchange ratio. After further deliberation, the board determined to accept an exchange ratio based on Calix s closing price on September 14, 2010. Following the meeting, Ms. Seeley conveyed the board s determination to Mr. Russo.

On September 14, 2010, the Calix board held a special telephonic meeting to review the current status of negotiations with Occam and the remaining open issues in the definitive merger agreement. The Calix board received presentations from Calix management, Morgan Stanley and Latham & Watkins. After a full meeting and discussion, the Calix board adopted a series of resolutions authorizing the proposed transaction on the terms

set forth in the drafts of the transaction agreements presented to the Calix board, subject to such modifications as may be negotiated by Calix management to complete the transaction.

On September 15, 2010, Occam s board held a special telephonic meeting. Members of Occam s management updated the board on discussions with Calix. A representative of WSGR then provided an overview of the terms of the proposed transaction as set forth in the definitive agreements and the legal risks and benefits of the transaction and reviewed the resolutions proposed to be approved by the board of directors in connection with the transaction as well as the few remaining open transaction issues. Jefferies then reviewed with Occam s board of directors its financial analysis of the proposed consideration and rendered its opinion to Occam s board of directors to the effect that, as of September 15, 2010, and based upon and subject to the various considerations set forth in its opinion, the consideration to be received by holders of Occam common stock pursuant to the merger agreement was fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders. The full text of the written opinion of Jefferies is attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as <u>Annex B</u>. Occam s board then engaged in additional deliberations regarding the merger, the proposed terms of the merger agreement and the various presentations of its legal and financial advisors, taking into consideration the factors described below under Occam s Reasons for the Merger; Recommendation of the Occam Board of Directors. At this point, the board adjourned the meeting while the final open issues in the merger agreement were resolved.

The board reconvened the meeting later in the evening on September 15, 2010. Management and representatives of WSGR apprised the board of the resolution of the remaining open issues. Occam s board then unanimously adopted resolutions declaring that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby were advisable to and in the best interests of Occam and its stockholders and approved the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby and authorized Occam to enter into the merger agreement.

On the morning of September 16, 2010, prior to the opening of the Nasdaq Stock Market, Calix and Occam executed the merger agreement and issued a joint press release announcing the execution of the merger agreement.

Occam s Reasons for the Merger; Recommendation of the Occam Board of Directors

In evaluating the merger, the Occam board of directors consulted extensively with Occam s management and Occam s financial and legal advisors and considered a number of alternatives to enhance Occam s competitive position in the telecommunications industry and to increase stockholder value. Of such alternatives, the Occam board of directors believes the proposed merger is in the best interest of Occam and its stockholders. The board of directors decision to approve the merger and the merger agreement and to recommend to Occam s stockholders that they vote for the adoption of the merger agreement was based on a number of factors. These factors included the following considerations:

Considerations Regarding Operating Occam as an Independent Company

The board considered the current and historical financial condition, results of operations, and anticipated future performance of Occam, as well as the risks and uncertainties associated with continuing to operate Occam as an independent company, including the following:

the increasingly competitive nature of the telecommunication equipment industry in which Occam competes and the need to increase the scale of Occam s business and expand Occam s potential customer base, either through organic growth, strategic acquisitions by Occam, or a sale of Occam, in order to become competitive with the substantially larger telecommunications equipment companies;

the need to develop new products to remain competitive and relevant to existing and prospective customers, the substantial required investment and long lead times associated with new product development for telecommunications equipment, and the risks and uncertainties associated with developing new technologies and products;

Occam s lack of revenue growth in recent periods and prospects for future growth, considering the limitations posed by the overall size of Occam s target market of IOCs and the impediments in expanding beyond its existing customer base;

the need to increase the scale of Occam s business and expand Occam s potential customer base through significant acquisitions, the challenges of financing such acquisitions, the potential execution risks and uncertainties associated therewith, and the fact that after a comprehensive process, Occam had identified one acquisition candidate through the strategic planning process that Occam s board believed Occam could reasonably acquire, which acquisition was not clearly superior to the transaction with Calix, from a financial point of view, for Occam stockholders and which acquisition presented significant management and integration risks;

Occam s lack, with limited exception, of management experience in executing an acquisition strategy of acquiring, integrating and operating large companies that would provide scale and expand Occam s potential customer base and the associated need to recruit, attract, and retain new management and management s inability in recent periods to increase Occam s revenues and scale on an organic basis;

the near-term opportunity presented by government broadband stimulus programs targeting IOCs, as well as the recognition that such stimulus funding was subject to potential delay and political risk and in and of itself would be insufficient to build a relevant long-term competitor in the larger telecommunications market; and

the general risks associated with Occam s ability to continue to execute its financial plan and create stockholder value in excess of the merger consideration being offered by Calix.

Available Alternatives; Results of Discussions with Third Parties

The Occam board of directors considered the possible alternatives to the acquisition by Calix (including the possibility of being acquired by another company, continuing to operate Occam as an independent entity, or engage in strategic acquisitions, and the desirability and perceived risks of those alternatives), the range of potential benefits that these alternatives could bring to Occam s stockholders and the timing and likelihood of accomplishing the goals of such alternatives, as well as the board s assessment that none of these alternatives was reasonably likely to create greater value for Occam s stockholders, taking into account risks of execution as well as business, management, competitive, industry and market risks. As part of its deliberations, the Occam board considered the results of the process that was conducted, with the assistance of Occam management and Jefferies, to evaluate strategic alternatives including possible acquisitions by Occam, the lack of interest in acquiring Occam expressed by potential acquirors of Occam, both in terms of Party A s determination to discontinue further discussions after over a year of sporadic communications on the topic and in terms of the lack of interest expressed by the potential acquirors Jefferies contacted prior to Occam s entry into an exclusive negotiating period with Calix.

Analysis and Presentation of Management

The analyses and presentations by senior management of Occam regarding the business, operations, sales, management and competitive position of Occam and forecasts regarding profitability under various scenarios.

Strategic Considerations

The Occam board of directors considered their expectations that the merger would result in a larger, more competitive combined company, better positioned to compete in broader markets against larger companies in the telecommunications industry than Occam would be on a stand-alone basis. The Occam board of directors considered the benefits of a broader product portfolio, operational cost savings and scale that would accrue to the combined company and also considered that the opportunities for strategic investment, customer expansion and new growth would be significantly greater for the combined organization compared to what Occam could likely achieve as an independent company.

Considerations Regarding Calix Common Stock

Given that a significant portion of the consideration to be received by Occam s stockholders would consist of Calix common stock, the Occam board of directors considered the opportunity described in the preceding paragraph for Occam s stockholders to participate as stockholders in the potential appreciation in the stock of the combined company, in light of the perceived strategic benefits of the proposed merger of creating a more competitive and efficient company, more capable of competing against larger telecommunications equipment companies in more markets, and the significant cost synergies that would be obtained by the combined company.

The Merger Consideration; Historical Trading Price

The Occam board of directors considered that the value of the merger consideration, including both the 0.2925 of a share of Calix common stock and \$3.8337 in cash for each share of Occam common stock, represented, based on the closing price of Calix s common stock on September 14, 2010 (the last trading day prior to the approval of the merger by Occam s board of directors), a 61.1% premium over the closing price per share of Occam common stock on September 14, 2010 and a 36.9% premium over the closing price per share of Occam common stock on August 17, 2010, the 20th trading day prior to September 15, 2010. Further, the Occam board of directors considered that the stock component of the merger consideration offers Occam s stockholders the opportunity to participate in the growth and success of the combined company, and to benefit from potential synergies in product offerings, technical development expertise and operational infrastructure that would benefit the combined company, while at the same time, the cash component of the merger consideration allows Occam s stockholders to realize some liquidity and an immediate return on their investment in Occam common stock.

Financial Analysis and Opinion of Jefferies

The Occam board of directors considered the financial analysis by Jefferies, Occam s financial advisor, of the proposed consideration and the opinion of Jefferies, dated September 15, 2010, to the effect that, as of that date, and based upon and subject to the various considerations set forth in its opinion, the consideration to be received by holders of Occam common stock pursuant to the merger agreement was fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders. The full text of the written opinion of Jefferies is attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as <u>Annex</u> <u>B</u>.

Terms of the Merger Agreement

The Occam board of directors considered the terms and conditions of the merger agreement, including but not limited to the following:

the belief that the terms of the merger agreement, including the parties mutual representations, warranties, covenants and closing conditions, are reasonable;

Occam s ability, under certain conditions, to provide information to and negotiate with a third party that has made an acquisition proposal that did not result from a breach of its non-solicitation obligations under the merger agreement if the Occam board determines in good faith (after consultation with its financial advisors and outside counsel) that the acquisition proposal is or is reasonably likely to be a superior proposal and if taking such action would be required by the Occam board s fiduciary duties;

The ability of Occam s board of directors, under certain circumstances, to make a change of recommendation and/or terminate the merger agreement in response to a bona fide acquisition proposal if (i) the Occam board reasonably determines in good faith (after consultation with its financial advisors and outside counsel) that such acquisition proposal is a superior proposal; (ii) the Occam board determines in good faith (after consultation with its outside counsel) that in light of such superior proposal, taking such action is required by the Occam board s fiduciary duties; (iii) Occam complies with certain procedures provided in the merger agreement; and (iv) Occam is simultaneously entering into an agreement for the superior proposal, subject to the payment of a termination fee;

that Calix has agreed to pay Occam a termination fee of \$5.0 million if the merger agreement is terminated by the mutual agreement of Occam and Calix because the merger has not been consummated by December 15, 2010 based on a good faith determination that certain conditions relating to antitrust approval are not likely to be satisfied on or before March 15, 2011, and if on such date, all of the merger closing conditions, other than those relating to antitrust approval, are reasonably capable of being satisfied; and

that Calix has agreed to pay Occam a termination fee of \$10.0 million if the merger agreement is terminated by either Occam or Calix because the merger has not been consummated on or before March 15, 2011, and if on such date all of the merger closing conditions have been satisfied or waived other than conditions that, by their nature, can only to be satisfied at the effective time or those relating to antitrust approval.

Risks and Potentially Negative Factors

The Occam board of directors also identified and considered a number of uncertainties, risks and other potentially negative factors in its consideration of the merger and merger agreement, including but not limited to the following:

the degree of volatility in the recent trading prices of Calix common stock, and the risk that the price of Calix common stock at the time of the closing of the merger could be lower than the price of such stock as of the time of signing the merger agreement, and accordingly, the value of the stock consideration received by the Occam stockholders in the merger could be materially less than the value of such stock consideration as of the date that the merger agreement was signed;

the possibility that the merger might not be consummated, as a result of the failure to obtain required regulatory clearances to consummate the merger or the failure to obtain the requisite vote of the stockholders of Occam, and the potential adverse effects of the failure to consummate the merger on Occam s business, customers, revenues, bookings, financial condition, operating results, employees and overall competitive positioning and prospects;

the risk that as a result of the announcement of the merger, Occam s existing relationships with customers could be significantly disrupted and Occam might have increased difficulty attracting new customers after such announcement;

the risk that certain provisions of the merger agreement may have the effect of discouraging proposals for alternative acquisition transactions involving Occam, including the restriction on Occam s ability to solicit proposals for alternative transactions and the requirement that Occam pay a termination fee of approximately \$5.2 million to Calix in certain circumstances following the termination of the merger agreement;

the risk that as a result of the announcement or the completion of the merger, key employees of Occam might terminate their employment with the company and the risk of the transaction diverting management s attention from the day-to-day operation of Occam s business during the pendency of the merger;

the fees and expenses associated with completing or attempting to complete the merger;

the potential impacts of the restrictions under the merger agreement on Occam s ability to take certain actions during the period prior to the closing of the merger (which may delay or prevent Occam from undertaking business opportunities that may arise pending completion of the merger);

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

the fact that certain of Occam s directors and officers may have interests in the merger as individuals that are in addition to or different from the interests of Occam s stockholders, as further described in the section entitled Proposal One The Merger Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger beginning on page 106 of this proxy statement/prospectus; and

various other risks associated with the merger and the businesses of Occam, Calix, and the combined company, some of which are described in this proxy statement/prospectus under the section entitled Risk Factors in this proxy statement/prospectus. The Occam board of directors weighed these positive and negative factors, realizing that future results are uncertain, including any future results considered or expected in the factors noted above. In addition, many of the non-financial factors considered were highly subjective. As a result, in view of the number and variety of factors they considered, the Occam board of directors did not consider it practicable and did not attempt to quantify or otherwise assign relative weights to the specific factors it considered. Rather, the Occam board made its determination based on the totality of the information it considered. Individually, each director may have given greater or lesser weight to a particular factor or consideration.

Recommendation of the Occam Board of Directors

After careful consideration and based on the foregoing analysis, at a meeting of the Occam board of directors held on September 15, 2010, the Occam board of directors unanimously determined that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby are fair to, advisable and in the best interests of Occam s stockholders and unanimously approved and adopted the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby. The Occam board of directors unanimously recommends that the Occam stockholders vote FOR the adoption of the merger agreement.

Calix s Reasons for the Merger

Calix s board approved the merger agreement at a special meeting held on September 14, 2010, and determined that the merger agreement and the merger transaction are in the best interests of Calix and its stockholders. In reaching this decision, Calix s board considered the financial performance and condition, business operations and prospects of each of Calix, Occam and the combined organization, the terms and conditions of the merger agreement and the ancillary documents, the results of the due diligence investigation conducted by Calix s management, accountants and legal counsel, and the analysis of Calix s legal and financial advisors.

Calix s board also considered a number of potential benefits of the merger transaction, including those listed below:

the acquisition of Occam is expected to provide Calix with greater scale, product assortment and resources to successfully compete in an increasingly globally competitive environment;

the acquisition of Occam is expected to accelerate Calix s Unified Access roadmap;

the acquisition of Occam is expected to accelerate innovation and delivery of new solutions to enable CSPs to better serve their customers;

the acquisition of Occam is expected to enhance and broaden Calix s Unified Access portfolio, providing enhanced offerings for a wider range of deployment options;

the acquisition of Occam is expected to enhance Calix s direct customer engagement model by enabling closer relationships with customers and partners through direct and expanded sales coverage and support;

the acquisition of Occam is expected to combine the Calix and Occam compatibility programs to expand and enhance partner interoperability;

the acquisition of Occam is expected to be accretive to Calix on a non-GAAP earnings per share basis in future periods; and

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

the acquisition of Occam is expected to provide synergies by combining complementary technologies and resources and enabling greater operational efficiency and opportunities for cost reduction through the elimination of redundant overhead expenses and public company costs.

Calix s board also considered a number of potentially negative factors, including those listed below:

the risk that the value of the Occam business could decline after the execution of the merger agreement and announcement of entering into the merger agreement, particularly in light of the fact that the merger consideration would not be adjusted to reflect declines in the market price of Occam common stock;

the risk that the potential benefits of the merger transaction would not be realized fully as a result of challenges Calix might face in integrating the two companies technology, personnel and operations, as well as general industry-wide or economic conditions or other factors;

the risk that, if the merger transaction is not completed, Calix s management would have devoted substantial time and resources to the combination at the expense of other business opportunities;

the risk associated with the additional demands that the acquisition of Occam would place on Calix and its management, including the potential disruption of Calix s ongoing business as Calix s management and employees are required to dedicate significant time and effort in order to integrate the two companies systems, cultures, processes, controls and two separate customer experiences;

the risk that the regulatory approvals impose conditions on, jeopardize or delay completion of the merger transaction or reduce the anticipated benefits of the merger transaction;

the risk that the potential growth, perceived synergies and anticipated opportunities considered by Calix s board will not be achieved through the completion of the merger transaction; and

various other risks associated with the combined organization and the acquisition, including the risks described in the section entitled Risk Factors in this proxy statement/prospectus.

The foregoing list comprises the material factors considered by Calix s board in its consideration of the merger transaction and is intended to be a summary rather than an exhaustive list. In view of the variety and complexity of factors and information considered, Calix s board did not find it practicable to, and did not, make specific assessments of, quantify or otherwise assign relative weights to the specific factors considered in reaching its decision. Rather, the decision was made after consideration of all of the factors as a whole. In addition, individual members of Calix s board of directors may have given different weight to different factors. The Calix board of directors conducted an overall analysis of the factors described above, including thorough discussions with, and questioning of, Occam management and legal and financial advisors, and considered the factors overall to be favorable to, and to support, its determination.

Opinion of Occam s Financial Advisor

Occam retained Jefferies to act as its financial advisor in connection with the merger and to render to Occam s board of directors an opinion as to the fairness of the consideration to be received by the holders of Occam common stock pursuant to the merger agreement. At the meeting of Occam s board of directors on September 15, 2010, Jefferies rendered its opinion to Occam s board of directors to the effect that, as of that date, and based upon and subject to the various considerations set forth in its opinion, the consideration to be received by holders of Occam common stock pursuant to the merger agreement was fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders.

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

The full text of the written opinion of Jefferies, dated as of September 15, 2010, is attached hereto as <u>Annex B</u>. The opinion sets forth, among other things, the assumptions made, procedures followed, matters considered and limitations on the scope of the review undertaken by Jefferies in rendering its opinion. Occam encourages its stockholders to read the opinion carefully and in its entirety. Jefferies opinion is directed to Occam s board of directors and addresses only the fairness, from a financial point of view and as of the date of the opinion, of the consideration to be received by holders of Occam common stock pursuant to the merger agreement. It does not address any other aspects of the merger and does not constitute a recommendation as to how any holder of Occam common stock should vote on the merger or any matter related thereto. The summary of the opinion of Jefferies set forth below is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the opinion.

In arriving at its opinion, Jefferies, among other things:

reviewed a draft of the merger agreement dated September 15, 2010;

reviewed certain publicly available financial and other information about Occam and Calix;

reviewed certain information furnished to Jefferies by Occam s management, including financial forecasts for calendar years 2010 and 2011 only, having been advised by the management of Occam that it did not prepare any financial forecasts beyond such period, and analyses, relating to the business, operations and prospects of Occam;

reviewed publicly available consensus estimates of equity research analysts regarding the future financial performance of Calix and certain equity research analyst reports regarding Calix;

held discussions with members of senior management of Occam and Calix concerning the matters described in the prior three bullets above;

reviewed the share trading price history and valuation multiples for Occam common stock and Calix common stock and compared them with those of certain publicly traded companies that Jefferies deemed relevant;

compared the proposed financial terms of the merger with the financial terms of certain other transactions that Jefferies deemed relevant;

considered the potential pro forma impact of the merger; and

conducted such other financial studies, analyses and investigations as Jefferies deemed appropriate.

In Jefferies review and analysis and in rendering its opinion, Jefferies assumed and relied upon, but did not assume any responsibility to independently investigate or verify, the accuracy and completeness of all financial and other information that was supplied or otherwise made available by Occam and Calix to Jefferies or that was publicly available (including, without limitation, the information described above), or that was otherwise reviewed by Jefferies. In its review, Jefferies relied on assurances of the managements of Occam and Calix that they were not aware of any facts or circumstances that would make such information inaccurate or misleading. In its review, Jefferies did not obtain any independent evaluation or appraisal of any of the assets or liabilities of, nor did Jefferies conduct a physical inspection of any of the properties or facilities of, Occam or Calix. Jefferies was not furnished with any such evaluations or appraisals of such physical inspections and did not assume any responsibility to obtain any such evaluations or appraisals.

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

With respect to the financial forecasts provided to and examined by Jefferies, Jefferies opinion noted that projecting future results of any company is inherently subject to uncertainty. Occam informed Jefferies, and Jefferies assumed, that Occam s financial forecasts were reasonably prepared on bases reflecting the best currently available estimates and good faith judgments of the management of Occam as to the future financial performance of Occam. Jefferies was not provided with, and Jefferies did not have any access to, any financial forecasts of Calix as prepared by the management of Calix other than guidance with respect to consensus

estimates of equity research analysts regarding the future financial performance of Calix and certain equity research analyst reports regarding Calix (the Calix Research Estimates). Accordingly, upon the advice of Occam and Calix, Jefferies assumed that the Calix Research Estimates and the guidance with respect thereto provided by management of Calix are a reasonable basis upon which to evaluate the future financial performance of Calix, and Jefferies used and relied upon the Calix Research Estimates and such guidance in performing its analysis. Jefferies expressed no opinion as to Occam s financial forecasts or the Calix Research Estimates or the assumptions on which they are made.

Jefferies opinion was based on economic, monetary, regulatory, market and other conditions existing and which could be evaluated as of the date of its opinion. Jefferies expressly disclaimed any undertaking or obligation to advise any person of any change in any fact or matter affecting Jefferies opinion of which Jefferies became aware after the date of its opinion.

Jefferies made no independent investigation of any legal or accounting matters affecting Occam or Calix, and Jefferies assumed the correctness in all respects material to Jefferies analysis of all legal and accounting advice given to Occam and Occam s board of directors, including, without limitation, advice as to the legal, accounting and tax consequences of the terms of, and transactions contemplated by, the merger agreement to Occam and its stockholders. In addition, in preparing its opinion, Jefferies did not take into account any tax consequences of the merger to Occam s stockholders. In rendering its opinion, Jefferies assumed that the final form of the merger agreement would be substantially similar to the last draft reviewed by it. Jefferies also assumed that in the course of obtaining the necessary regulatory or third party approvals, consents and releases for the merger, no delay, limitation, restriction or condition would be imposed that would have an adverse effect on Occam, Calix or the contemplated benefits of the merger.

Jefferies opinion was for the use and benefit of Occam s board of directors in its consideration of the merger, and Jefferies opinion did not address the relative merits of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement as compared to any alternative transaction or opportunity that might be available to Occam, nor did it address the underlying business decision by Occam to engage in the merger or the terms of the merger agreement or the documents referred to therein. Jefferies opinion did not constitute a recommendation as to how any holder of shares of Occam common stock should vote on the merger or any matter related thereto or as to what form of consideration any such holder should elect pursuant to the merger agreement. Jefferies expressed no opinion as to the price at which shares of Occam common stock or Calix common stock would trade at any time. Jefferies did not express any view or opinion as to the fairness, financial or otherwise, of the amount or nature of any compensation payable or to be received by any of Occam s officers, directors or employees, or any class of such persons, in connection with the merger relative to the consideration. Jefferies opinion has been authorized by the Fairness Committee of Jefferies.

In preparing its opinion, Jefferies performed a variety of financial and comparative analyses. The preparation of a fairness opinion is a complex process involving various determinations as to the most appropriate and relevant quantitative and qualitative methods of financial analysis and the applications of those methods to the particular circumstances and, therefore, is not necessarily susceptible to partial analysis or summary description. Jefferies believes that its analyses must be considered as a whole. Considering any portion of Jefferies analyses or the factors considered by Jefferies, without considering all analyses and factors, could create a misleading or incomplete view of the process underlying the conclusion expressed in Jefferies opinion. In addition, Jefferies may have given various analyses more or less weight than other analyses, and may have deemed various assumptions more or less probable than other assumptions, so that the range of valuations resulting from any particular analysis described below should not be taken to be Jefferies view of Occam s or Calix s actual value. Accordingly, the conclusions reached by Jefferies are based on all analyses and factors taken as a whole and also on the application of Jefferies own experience and judgment.

In performing its analyses, Jefferies made numerous assumptions with respect to industry performance, general business, economic, monetary, regulatory, market and other conditions and other matters, many of which

are beyond Occam s and Jefferies control. The analyses performed by Jefferies are not necessarily indicative of actual values or actual future results, which may be significantly more or less favorable than suggested by such analyses. In addition, analyses relating to the per share value of Occam common stock do not purport to be appraisals or to reflect the prices at which Occam common stock may actually be sold. The analyses performed were prepared solely as part of Jefferies analysis of the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the consideration to be received by holders of Occam common stock pursuant to the merger agreement, and were provided to Occam s board of directors in connection with the delivery of Jefferies opinion.

The following is a summary of the material financial and comparative analyses performed by Jefferies in connection with Jefferies delivery of its opinion. The financial analyses summarized below include information presented in tabular format. In order to fully understand Jefferies financial analyses, the tables must be read together with the text of each summary. The tables alone do not constitute a complete description of the financial analyses. Considering the data described below without considering the full narrative description of the financial analyses, including the methodologies and assumptions underlying the analyses, could create a misleading or incomplete view of Jefferies financial analyses.

Transaction Overview

Based upon the approximately 23.0 million shares of Occam common stock that were outstanding as of September 14, 2010 on a fully diluted basis (calculated using the treasury stock method), and based upon the closing price per share of Calix common stock of \$13.38 on September 14, 2010, the exchange ratio of 0.2925 shares of Calix common stock per share of Occam common stock, and the cash consideration of \$3.8337 per share of Occam common stock, Jefferies noted that the implied value of the merger consideration pursuant to the merger agreement was approximately \$7.75 per share of Occam common stock, which is referred to as the Implied Merger Consideration Value. Net of approximately \$43.7 million of cash and cash equivalents (as of September 14, 2010), Jefferies noted that the consideration implied an enterprise value for Occam of approximately \$134.8 million. Jefferies also noted that the Implied Merger Consideration Value of \$7.75 per share of Occam common stock represented:

a premium of 61.1% over the closing price per share of Occam common stock on September 14, 2010, the last full trading day prior to the date the transaction was approved by Occam s board of directors, and

a premium of 36.9% over the closing price per share of Occam common stock on August 17, 2010, the 20th trading day prior to the date the transaction was approved by Occam s board of directors.

Occam Analysis

Comparable Public Company Analysis

Using publicly available information and information provided by Occam s management, Jefferies analyzed the trading multiples of Occam and the corresponding trading multiples of the following access and/or transport carrier infrastructure providers, which are referred to as the Occam Selected Comparable Companies :

ADTRAN, Inc.,

ADVA AG Optical Networking,

Calix, Inc.,

Tellabs, Inc.,

Vecima Networks Inc., and

Zhone Technologies, Inc.

In its analysis, Jefferies derived and compared multiples for Occam and the Occam Selected Comparable Companies, calculated as follows:

the enterprise value divided by estimated revenue for calendar year 2010, which is referred to as Enterprise Value/2010E Revenue,

the enterprise value divided by estimated revenue for calendar year 2011, which is referred to as Enterprise Value/2011E Revenue,

the enterprise value divided by estimated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, or EBITDA, for calendar year 2010, which is referred to as Enterprise Value/2010E EBITDA,

the enterprise value divided by estimated EBITDA for calendar year 2011, which is referred to as Enterprise Value/2011E EBITDA, and

the price per share divided by estimated earnings per share, or EPS, for calendar year 2011, which is referred to as Price/2011E EPS. This analysis indicated the following:

Comparable Public Company Multiples

		75 th	25 th		
Benchmark	High	Percentile	Percentile	Low	Median
Enterprise Value/2010E Revenue	3.2x	1.6x	0.8x	0.4x	1.0x
Enterprise Value/2011E Revenue	2.8x	1.4x	0.6x	0.4x	1.2x
Enterprise Value/2010E EBITDA	28.6x	11.7	6.6x	5.2x	8.0x
Enterprise Value/2011E EBITDA	21.5x	14.3x	6.5x	5.1x	10.0x
Price/2011E EPS	36.7x	24.0x	16.5x	15.3x	18.5x

Using the reference ranges for the benchmarks set forth below, Jefferies determined implied enterprise values for Occam, then added cash and cash equivalents to determine implied equity values. After accounting for the vesting of in-the-money stock options, restricted stock units and performance-based restricted stock units (using the treasury stock method), these analyses indicated the ranges of implied values per share of Occam common stock set forth opposite the relevant benchmarks below, compared, in each case, to the Implied Merger Consideration Value of \$7.75:

Comparable Public Company Reference Ranges and Implied Price Ranges

Benchmark	Reference Range	Implied Price Range
Enterprise Value/2010E Revenue	0.8x - 1.2x	\$5.58 - \$7.25
	0.010 0.000	10.000
Enterprise Value/2011E Revenue	0.7x - 1.1x	\$6.33 - \$8.66
Enterprise Value/2010E EBITDA	8.0x - 11.0x	\$3.80 - \$4.41
Enterprise Value/2011E EBITDA	7.0x - 11.0x	\$5.48 - \$7.33
Price/2011E EPS	17.0x - 19.0x	\$6.88 - \$7.69

No company utilized in the comparable company analysis is identical to Occam. In evaluating the selected companies, Jefferies made judgments and assumptions with regard to industry performance, general business, economic, market and financial conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond Occam s and Jefferies control. Mathematical analysis, such as determining the median, is not in itself a meaningful method of using comparable company data.

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

Comparable Transactions Analysis

Using publicly available information, Jefferies examined the following 10 transactions, announced since July 1, 2007, involving access and/or transport carrier infrastructure providers and total equity consideration between \$40 million and \$1.2 billion. The transactions considered and the month and year each transaction was announced were as follows:

Date Announced	Acquiror	Target
July 2010	Tyco Electronics Ltd.	ADC Telecommunications, Inc.
April 2010	Enablence Technologies Inc.	Teledata Networks Ltd.
December 2009	Genband, Inc.	Nortel Networks Corporation (VoIP business)
October 2009	Ciena Corporation	Nortel Networks Corporation (Carrier Ethernet business)
December 2008	Harmonic Inc.	Scopus Video Networks Ltd.
December 2007	Turin Networks Inc.	Carrier Access Corp.
August 2007	ARRIS Group, Inc.	C-COR Incorporated
April 2007	Motorola, Inc.	Terayon Communication Systems, Inc.
July 2007	Investor group	ECI Telecom Ltd.
Using publicly availab	le estimates and other information for each of	these transactions. Inferring reviewed the enterprise value as a multiple of

Using publicly available estimates and other information for each of these transactions, Jefferies reviewed the enterprise value as a multiple of the target company s revenue for the last 12 months, or LTM, which is referred to as Enterprise Value/LTM Revenue.

This analysis indicated the following:

Comparable Transactions Multiples

		75 th	25 th		
Benchmark	High	Percentile	Percentile	Low	Median
Enterprise Value/LTM Revenue	2.2x	1.5x	0.7x	0.3x	0.9x

Using a reference range of 0.9x - 1.5x Enterprise Value/LTM Revenue, Jefferies determined implied enterprise values for Occam, then added cash and cash equivalents to determine implied equity values. After accounting for the vesting of in-the-money stock options, restricted stock units and performance-based restricted stock units (using the treasury stock method), this analysis indicated a range of implied values per share of Occam common stock of \$5.54 - \$7.74, compared to the Implied Merger Consideration Value of \$7.75.

No transaction utilized as a comparison in the comparable transaction analysis is identical to the merger. In evaluating the merger, Jefferies made numerous judgments and assumptions with regard to industry performance, general business, economic, market, and financial conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond Occam s and Jefferies control. Mathematical analysis, such as determining the median, is not in itself a meaningful method of using comparable transaction data.

Premiums Paid Analysis

Using publicly available information, Jefferies analyzed the premiums offered in select hardware technology transactions since January 1, 2007 having equity consideration between \$100 million and \$500 million.

For each of these transactions, Jefferies calculated the premium represented by the offer price over the target company s closing share price one day and twenty days prior to the transaction s announcement. This analysis indicated the following premiums for those time periods prior to announcement:

Premiums Paid Percentages

		75 th	25 th		
Time Period Prior to Announcement	High	Percentile	Percentile	Low	Median
1 day	89.9%	53.9%	18.3%	2.3%	34.9%
20 days	65.8%	44.9%	22.3%	4.6%	32.3%

Using the reference range premiums set forth below for the one day and twenty days prior to September 15, 2010, which was the date the transaction was approved by Occam s board of directors, Jefferies performed a premiums paid analysis using the closing prices per share of Occam common stock for the periods 1-day and 20-days prior to September 15, 2010. These analyses indicated the following ranges of implied values per share of Occam common stock, compared to the Implied Merger Consideration Value of \$7.75:

Premiums Paid

Reference Ranges and Implied Price Ranges

	Reference Range	Implied Price
Time Period Prior to September 15, 2010	Premiums	Range
1 day	18.3% - 53.9%	\$5.69 - \$7.40
20 days	22.3% - 44.9%	\$6.92 - \$8.20

Calix Analysis

Comparable Public Company Analysis

Using publicly available information and information and guidance provided by Calix s management, Jefferies analyzed the trading multiples of Calix and the corresponding trading multiples of the following access and/or transport carrier infrastructure providers, which are referred to as the Calix Selected Comparable Companies :

ADTRAN, Inc.,

Ciena Corporation,

Infinera Corporation,

Juniper Networks, Inc.,

Sonus Networks, Inc.,

Tellabs, Inc., and

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

Occam Networks, Inc.

In its analysis, Jefferies derived and compared multiples for Calix and the Calix Selected Comparable Companies, calculated as follows:

Enterprise Value/2010E Revenue,

Enterprise Value/2011E Revenue,

Enterprise Value/2010E EBITDA,

Enterprise Value/2011E EBITDA,

the price per share divided by estimated EPS for calendar year 2010, which is referred to as Price/2010E EPS, and

Price/2011E EPS.

This analysis indicated the following:

Comparable Public Company Multiples

		75 th	25 th		
Benchmark	High	Percentile	Percentile	Low	Median
Enterprise Value/2010E Revenue	3.3x	2.7x	1.3x	0.6x	2.1x
Enterprise Value/2011E Revenue	2.9x	2.5x	1.2x	0.4x	1.9x
Enterprise Value/2010E EBITDA	44.1x	27.1x	11.7x	5.2x	12.4x
Enterprise Value/2011E EBITDA	21.0x	16.1x	7.4x	5.6x	10.1x
Price/2010E EPS	63.9x	57.0x	20.7x	12.1x	23.7x
Price/2011E EPS	36.4x	23.7x	16.1x	11.9x	19.1x

Using the reference ranges for the benchmarks set forth below, Jefferies determined implied enterprise values for Calix, then added cash and cash equivalents to determine implied equity values. After accounting for the vesting of in-the-money stock options, restricted stock units and performance-based restricted stock units (using the treasury stock method), these analyses indicated the ranges of implied values per share of Calix common stock set forth opposite the relevant benchmarks below, compared, in each case, to the closing price per share of the Calix common stock on September 14, 2010 of \$13.38:

Comparable Public Company Reference Ranges and Implied Price Ranges

Benchmark	Reference Range	Implied Price Range
Enterprise Value/2010E Revenue	1.2x - 2.1x	\$ 9.91 - \$15.55
Enterprise Value/2011E Revenue	1.1x - 1.9x	\$10.67 - \$16.69
Enterprise Value/2010E EBITDA	12.0x - 16.0x	\$ 6.89 - \$ 8.39
Enterprise Value/2011E EBITDA	10.0x - 12.0x	\$ 9.88 - \$11.38
Price/2010E EPS	23.0x - 25.0x	\$ 5.57 - \$ 6.06
Price/2011E EPS	16.0x - 20.0x	\$ 8.92 - \$11.15

No company utilized in the comparable company analysis is identical to Calix. In evaluating the selected companies, Jefferies made judgments and assumptions with regard to industry performance, general business, economic, market and financial conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond Calix s and Jefferies control. Mathematical analysis, such as determining the median, is not in itself a meaningful method of using comparable company data.

Equity Research

Jefferies also reviewed share price targets of various equity research analysts for Calix common stock published in July and August 2010. This review indicated a range of per share price targets for Calix common stock of \$10.00 to \$16.00, with a median of \$14.50, compared to the closing price per share of Calix common stock on September 14, 2010 of \$13.38.

Pro Forma Combination Analysis

Using publicly available information and information and guidance provided by Calix s management, Jefferies reviewed the potential pro forma effect of the merger on Calix s fiscal years 2010 and 2011 estimated EPS. Based on an illustrative merger closing date of December 1, 2010 and other assumptions relating to the merger, this analysis indicated that the merger could be dilutive to Calix s estimated EPS for fiscal year 2010 and accretive for fiscal year 2011.

General

Jefferies opinion was one of many factors taken into consideration by Occam s board of directors in making its determination to approve the merger and should not be considered determinative of the views of Occam s board of directors or management with respect to the merger or the consideration.

Jefferies was selected by Occam s board of directors based on Jefferies qualifications, expertise and reputation. Jefferies is an internationally recognized investment banking and advisory firm. Jefferies, as part of its investment banking business, is regularly engaged in the valuation of businesses and securities in connection with mergers and acquisitions, negotiated underwritings, competitive biddings, secondary distributions of listed and unlisted securities, private placements, financial restructurings and other financial services.

Jefferies maintains a market in the securities of Occam, and in the ordinary course of business, Jefferies and its affiliates may trade or hold securities of Occam or Calix and/or their respective affiliates for its own account and for the accounts of its customers and, accordingly, may at any time hold long or short positions in those securities.

Pursuant to an engagement agreement between Occam and Jefferies dated June 21, 2010, Occam has agreed to pay Jefferies a fee for its services based, in part, upon the value of the consideration to be paid in the merger, which fee is expected as of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus to be approximately \$2.7 million, of which a portion was payable upon delivery of Jefferies opinion and approximately \$2.2 million is payable contingent upon consummation of the merger. In addition, Occam has agreed to reimburse Jefferies for expenses incurred. Occam also has agreed to indemnify Jefferies against liabilities arising out of or in connection with the services rendered and to be rendered by it under its engagement. Jefferies has, in the past, provided financial advisory services to Calix. Jefferies was a joint book runner in Calix s initial public offering, or Calix s IPO. Calix and the underwriters in Calix s IPO entered into an underwriting agreement in which the Company agreed to pay to all underwriters as a whole an aggregate underwriting discount of up to approximately \$4.7 million in Calix s IPO for the shares being offered by the Company in Calix s IPO. Other than serving as a joint book runner on Calix s IPO, Jefferies has not performed any other work for Calix for which it has received or would expect to receive compensation from Calix. Jefferies is not presently providing any financial advisory services to Calix, but Jefferies may seek to, in the future, provide financial advisory and financing services to Occam, Calix or entities that are affiliated with Occam or Calix, for which it would expect to receive compensation.

Projected Financial Information

In connection with Calix s due diligence review of Occam, Occam provided Calix and Morgan Stanley (Calix s financial advisor) with internal financial projections prepared by Occam management about Occam as a stand-alone company for the three months ended September 30, 2010, the three months ending December 31, 2010 and fiscal years ending 2010 and 2011. Such projections were also provided to Jefferies (Occam s financial advisor). The internal financial projections were as follows:

Internal Financial Projections Provided by Occam to Calix, Morgan Stanley and Jefferies

(all amounts in thousands and all are approximations)

	Three Months Ended		Year Ending December 31,		
	September 30, 2010E	December 31, 2010E	2010E	2011E	
Total Revenue	27,827	28,175	102,122	142,953	
Cost of revenue	17,590	17,139	61,075	85,743	
Gross margin	10,237	11,036	41,047	57,211	
Gross margin as a percentage of Total Revenue	36.8%	39.2%	40.2%	40.0%	
Operating Expense:					
Research and product-development	3,658	3,616	14,426	21,443	
Sales and marketing	4,609	4,551	17,875	17,154	
General and administrative	1,579	1,588	6,504	7,148	
Reserves ⁽¹⁾			0	2,144	
Salary rollback ⁽¹⁾	228	224	452	1,000	
Total operating expenses	10,074	9,979	39,256	48,889	
Operating income (loss)	163	1,057	1,790	8,321	
Operating Income as a percentage of Total Revenue	0.6%	3.8%	1.8%	6%	
Interest & Other Income, net	2	0	8	1,173	
Provision for income taxes	20	0	36	949	
Non-GAAP net income ⁽²⁾	145	1,057	1,762	8,545	
Diluted earnings per share	\$ 0.01	\$ 0.05	\$ 0.08	\$ 0.40	
Diluted Shares Outstanding	21,000	21,100	20,901	21,101	
Research and product-development as a percentage of Total					
Revenue	13%	13%	14%	15%	
Sales and marketing as a percentage of Total Revenue	17%	16%	18%	12%	
General and administrative as a percentage of Total Revenue	6%	6%	6%	5%	
Stock-based compensation					
Cost of Revenue	84	84	339	336	
Research and product-development	199	199	846	796	
Sales and Marketing	186	186	776	744	
General and administrative	238	238	943	952	
Total stock-based compensation	707	707	2,904	2,828	
Excluded from Non-GAAP					
Total Excluded from Non-GAAP	707	707	2,904	2,828	
GAAP Net (Loss)/Income	(562)	350	(1,142)	5,717	
GAAP Earnings per share	\$ (0.03)	\$ 0.02	\$ (0.05)	\$ 0.27	
Adjusted EBIT ⁽³⁾	(544)	350	(1,114)	5,493	
Adjusted EBITDA ⁽⁴⁾	207	1,101	1,948	8,497	
Depreciation & Amortization	\$ 751	\$ 751	\$ 3,062	\$ 3,004	

EBITDA ⁽⁵⁾	\$ 914	\$ 5	1,808	\$ 4,852	\$ 11,325
EBITDA per share	\$ 0.04	\$ 5	0.09	\$ 0.23	\$ 0.54

(1) Occam does not include these amounts in separate line-items in its statement of operations as they would be included in the research and product-development, sales and marketing and general and administrative line-items. As indicated in the above table, the internal financial projections included these amounts in a separate line-item which provided further detail regarding certain employee-related expenses. The salary rollback line-item represented salary expenses that would be incurred due to the lapse of temporary salary decreases (which had been put in place during the economic downturn). The reserves line-item represented estimated employee incentive bonus plan expenses.

- (2) Non-GAAP net income (loss) is defined as GAAP net income (loss), excluding stock-based compensation expense.
- (3) Adjusted EBIT is defined as GAAP net income (loss) excluding interest and taxes, but including stock-based compensation expense.
- (4) Adjusted EBITDA is defined as GAAP net income (loss) excluding interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, but including stock-based compensation expense.

(5) EBITDA is defined as GAAP net income (loss) excluding stock-based compensation expense, interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. The internal financial projections were not prepared with a view to public disclosure or compliance with the published guidelines of the SEC or the guidelines established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants regarding projections or forecasts. The internal financial projections do not purport to present operations in accordance with GAAP, and neither Occam nor Occam s independent registered public accounting firm has examined, compiled or otherwise applied procedures to the internal financial projections and, accordingly, no opinion or any other form of assurance on such information or its achievability is expressed with respect thereto.

The internal financial projections were prepared solely for internal use and are subjective in many respects. As a result, the internal financial projections are susceptible to interpretations and periodic revision based on actual experience and business developments. Although presented with numeric specificity, the internal financial projections were based on numerous estimates and assumptions made by the management of Occam at the time they were prepared. Significant estimates and assumptions underlying Occam s internal financial projections included, among others, the following: (i) that Occam s product sales would grow approximately 22% from 2009 to 2010 and by approximately 40% from 2010 to 2011, primarily driven by projects funded through the government s broadband stimulus in addition to expected growth in the rural IOC customer base; (ii) that reductions in component and other product costs would offset decreases related to average selling price reductions; (iii) that improvements to Occam s product reliability would allow for a lower provisioning for warranty expense; (iv) that Occam would be able to increase revenue while leveraging current operating expense levels and headcount levels with limited incremental investment and limited increase in costs and headcount; (v) that employee related costs, such as salaries, benefits, hiring and retaining costs would not materially increase per employee and would remain comparable to current levels of cost per employee; (vi) that the incurrence of minimal one-time or non-recurring costs in future periods; (vii) that current office and IT infrastructures requirements and related costs would not change materially and capital expenditures would be less than \$2 million per year; (viii) that during 2011, research and development expense percentage growth would be faster than revenue percentage growth and would increase as a percentage of revenue as additional investment levels would be made in support of product roadmap expansion; (ix) that sales and marketing expense percentage growth would be slower than revenue percentage growth and would decrease as a percentage of revenue in the future periods by leveraging existing investment levels to support sales and marketing activities; (x) that general and administrative expense percentage growth would be slower than revenue percentage growth and would decrease as a percentage of revenue in the future period by leveraging current general and administrative investment levels; (xi) an assumed tax rate of 2% for 2010 and 10% for 2011 on operating income and interest income and (xii) an assumed interest rate earned on invested cash balances of 2.2%.

The estimates and assumptions underlying these internal financial projections involve judgments with respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive, regulatory and financial market conditions and future business decisions. In any event, these estimates and assumptions may not be realized and are inherently subject to significant business, economic, competitive and regulatory uncertainties and contingencies, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond Occam s control. In addition, the internal financial projections are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (see Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements on page 67, Risk Factors on page 26 and other risk factors as disclosed in Occam s filings with the SEC). Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the estimates and assumptions made in preparing the internal financial projections will prove accurate or that any of the internal financial projections will be realized or that actual results would not differ materially from those presented in the internal financial projections.

The internal financial projections are not being included in this proxy statement/prospectus to influence your decision whether to vote to adopt the merger agreement, but solely because such internal financial projections were made available to Calix, Morgan Stanley and Jefferies. None of Occam, Calix, any of Occam s or Calix s affiliates or any other person assumes any responsibility for the validity, reasonableness, accuracy or completeness of the internal financial projections. The inclusion of the internal financial projections should not be interpreted as an indication that Occam or Calix considers this information a reliable prediction of future results, and this information should not be unduly relied on for that purpose.

The internal financial projections represent Occam s evaluation of its future financial performance on a stand-alone basis, and without reference to whether the proposed merger transaction will be consummated, the effect of any transaction-related costs or benefits or the effect of any failure of the merger transaction to occur and should not be viewed as accurate or continuing in that context. In addition, the internal financial projections do not take into account any circumstances or events occurring after the date they were prepared. Neither Occam nor Calix intends to update or otherwise revise the internal financial projections to reflect circumstances existing or arising after the date such internal financial projections were prepared or to reflect the occurrence of future events, even in the event that any or all of the estimates and assumptions underlying the internal financial projections are shown to be in error.

In light of the foregoing, as well as the uncertainties inherent in any internal financial projections, you are cautioned not to unduly rely on the internal financial projections as a predictor of future operating results or otherwise.

Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger

Occam s executive officers and directors have financial interests in the merger transaction that are different from, or in addition to, their interests as Occam stockholders generally. The members of the Occam board were aware of and considered these interests, among other matters, in evaluating the merger agreement, and in recommending that the Occam stockholders adopt the merger agreement.

The Occam board consists of seven directors: Robert L. Howard-Anderson, Steven M. Krausz, Albert J. Moyer, Robert B. Abbott, Thomas E. Pardun, Robert E. Bylin and Brian H. Strom.

References in this section to Occam s executive officers refer to the following individuals: Robert L. Howard-Anderson, Gregory R. Dion, David C. Mason, Mark Rumer, Jeanne Seeley and Russell J. Sharer.

Change in Control Agreements

Agreements between Occam and each of its executive officers provide for change in control severance benefits in the event of certain qualifying terminations of employment in connection with or following a change in control. Completion of the merger transaction will constitute a change in control for purposes of the change in control agreements.

The following table sets forth an estimate of the amounts payable to the executive officers under their respective change in control agreements, assuming each executive officer incurred a qualifying termination of employment immediately following the effective time, which is assumed for this purpose to occur on November 30, 2010.

	Estin	nated Amount of Cash	Estima	ted Value of		
Name	5	Severance	Othe	er Benefits		Total
Robert L. Howard-Anderson	\$	260,000	\$	12,803	\$	272,803
Jeanne Seeley		250,000		6,863		256,863
David C. Mason		210,000		6,863		216,863
Gregory C. Dion		210,000		21,264		231,264
Russell J. Sharer		200,000		21,264		221,264
Mark Rumer		200,000		14,930		214,930
Total	\$	1,330,000	\$	83,987	\$ 1	1,413,987

Equity Compensation Awards

Occam s executive officers and non-employee directors participate in Occam s equity incentive plans under which stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units have been granted. As discussed under The Merger Agreement Treatment of Occam Options and Other Equity-Based Awards, at the effective time, the vested portion of each outstanding and unexpired Occam stock option or restricted stock unit with an exercise price less than the cash-out consideration, as well as certain other equity awards, will be converted into the right to receive the cash-out consideration less the applicable exercise price. Each outstanding and unexpired Occam stock option that is not cashed out pursuant to the preceding sentence and each award of Occam restricted stock units that is held by an employee or consultant who will continue to be employed by or provide consulting services to Calix after the effective time will be converted into an option or award of restricted stock units for shares of Calix common stock, subject to certain adjustments. Immediately prior to the effective time, the restrictions on awards of restricted stock held by non-employee directors will immediately lapse and the underlying Occam common stock will be treated in the merger in the same manner as other shares of Occam common stock.

Stock Options

The following table sets forth the aggregate number of the outstanding and unexpired Occam stock options held by each of the executive officers and members of the Occam board that would be cancelled and converted into the right to receive cash at the effective time (assuming the merger transaction were to have closed on November 30, 2010). The estimated total consideration is based on the \$13.38 closing price of Calix common shares on the NYSE on September 14, 2010. However, the actual amount of cash-out consideration the executive officers and directors will receive in exchange for the options may vary and cannot be determined until the effective time.

	No. of Shares Subject to Vested	Average Exercise Price of Vested	No. of Options Subject to Accelerated	Average Exercise Price of Options Subject to Accelerated	No. of Restricted Stock Units Subject to	Estimated
Name	Options	Options	Vesting	Vesting	Acceleration	Total Value
Robert L. Howard-Anderson	329,605	\$ 5.31	28,750	\$ 2.90	10,001	\$ 77,248
Jeanne Seeley	104,583	\$ 3.71	30,209	\$ 3.31	14,168	\$ 109,430
Mark Rumer	154,989	\$ 5.28	14,313	\$ 2.90	5,000	\$ 38,620
David C. Mason	159,188	\$ 5.67	14,563	\$ 2.91	5,000	\$ 38,620
Russell J. Sharer	171,156	\$ 5.81	14,313	\$ 2.90	5,000	\$ 38,620
Greg Dion	152,875	\$ 5.54	14,563	\$ 2.91	5,000	\$ 38,620
Steven M. Krausz	1,000	\$ 7.12				
Robert B. Abbott	1,250	\$ 10.16				
Robert E. Bylin	16,875	\$ 9.09				
Thomas E. Pardun	5,625	\$ 19.67				
A.J. Bert Moyer						
Brian Strom	16,250	\$ 19.00				

The following table sets forth the aggregate number of the outstanding and unexpired Occam stock options and restricted stock units held by each of the executive officers and members of the Occam board that would be assumed by Calix at the effective time (assuming the merger transaction were to have closed on November 30, 2010).

		Average Exercise	
	No. of Shares Subject to	Price of	
Name	Unvested Options	Unvested Options	No. of Restricted Stock Units
Robert L. Howard-Anderson	28,750	\$ 2.90	10,001
Jeanne Seeley	30,208	\$ 3.31	14,167
Mark Rumer	14,312	\$ 2.90	5,000
David C. Mason	14,562	\$ 2.91	5,000
Russell J. Sharer	14,312	\$ 2.90	5,000
Greg Dion	14,562	\$ 2.90	5,000

Restricted Stock

In addition, immediately prior to the effective time, any forfeiture or repurchase rights with respect to outstanding shares of Occam restricted stock held by members of the Occam board will lapse. The following table sets forth the number of shares of restricted stock held by each of the members of the Occam board that would become fully vested immediately prior to the effective time (assuming the merger transaction were to have closed on November 30, 2010) and treated as any other share of common stock in the merger transaction. The estimated total consideration is based on the \$13.38 closing price of Calix shares on the NYSE on September 14, 2010. However, the actual amount of merger consideration the directors will receive in exchange for the shares may vary and cannot be determined until the effective time.

	No. of Shares		
Name	of Restricted Stock	Estimat	ed Total Value
Steven M. Krausz	14,792	\$	114,253
Robert B. Abbott	14,792	\$	114,253
Robert E. Bylin	14,793	\$	114,261
Thomas E. Pardun	14,792	\$	114,253
A.J. Bert Moyer	14,792	\$	114,253
Brian Strom	14,792	\$	114,253
and Incommon on			

Indemnification and Insurance

Calix and Ocean Sub I have agreed that all rights to indemnification under any contracts existing as of the effective time between Occam and its subsidiaries and any of their respective current or former directors and officers and any person who becomes a director or officer of Occam or any of its subsidiaries prior to the effective time, whom we refer to herein as the indemnified persons, shall survive the merger transaction and shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with their terms following the effective time. Calix will cause the surviving company and its subsidiaries to honor and fulfill any obligations under such indemnification contracts with the indemnified persons. In addition, for six years after the effective time, the surviving company and its subsidiaries to contain provisions with respect to indemnification, exculpation and the advancement of expenses, covering acts and omissions of directors and officers (and any other employees or agents who otherwise would be entitled to similar benefits thereunder pursuant to the terms thereof in effect on the date hereof), in each case in their respective capacities as such, occurring at or prior to the effective time, to the fullest extent permitted by law.

Calix will cause individuals serving as officers and directors of Occam or its subsidiaries immediately prior to the effective time, and any other person who is covered by Occam s current directors and officers liability insurance policy, to be covered with respect to actions or omissions occurring prior to the effective time for a period of six (6) years from the effective time by a tail insurance policy with policy limits, terms and conditions at least as favorable as those in Occam s existing policy as in effect on the date of the merger agreement. In no event will Calix be required to expend annually in the aggregate an amount in excess of two hundred fifty percent (250%) of the annual premiums currently paid by Occam for such insurance.

Management of Calix Following the Merger

Upon the effective time and subject to the review and approval of Calix s board of directors, one member of the Occam board who is not an employee of Occam, which individual shall be mutually and reasonably agreed to by Calix and Occam, will be appointed to Calix s board of directors and will be nominated by the Calix board for election at Calix s next annual meeting of stockholders. As of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus, no determination has been made as to the identity of the designee who will be appointed to the Calix board of directors. There are currently no changes to Calix s executive officers contemplated in connection with the merger transaction. Information about the Calix directors and executive officers after the effective time can be found in the section Management Following the Merger Management of Calix.

Manner and Procedure for Exchanging Shares of Occam Common Stock

As soon as reasonably practicable after the effective time, the exchange agent will mail a letter of transmittal, as well as instructions for use in effecting the surrender of certificates or book-entry shares evidencing shares of Occam common stock, to each holder of record of Occam common stock as of the effective time. Such holders will be paid the merger consideration to which they are entitled promptly following the receipt by the exchange agent of such Occam stock certificates or book-entry shares and a properly completed letter of transmittal. Until holders of certificate or book-entry shares previously representing shares of Occam common stock have surrendered those certificates or book-entry shares for exchange, those holders will not receive dividends or distributions on the shares of Calix common shares into which those shares have been converted with a record date after the effective time. When holders surrender those certificates or book-entry shares, they will receive any dividends or distributions on Calix common shares with a record date after the effective time and a payment date on or prior to the date of surrender.

Any Calix common shares received as merger consideration will be issued in book-entry form and, as such, the conversion of any Occam book-entry shares into Calix common shares will occur automatically upon the receipt by the exchange agent of a properly completed letter of transmittal. After the effective time, shares of Occam common stock will no longer be outstanding, will be automatically canceled and will cease to exist and only represent the right to receive the merger consideration.

Regulatory Approvals Required for the Merger

Calix and Occam agreed to use their reasonable best efforts to obtain all governmental and regulatory approvals required to complete the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. These approvals include approval under, or notices pursuant to, the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act, or the HSR Act. Under the HSR Act and the rules promulgated by the Federal Trade Commission, or the FTC, the merger transaction may not be completed by the parties until (1) certain information and materials are furnished to the Department of Justice, or the DOJ, and the FTC and (2) the applicable waiting period under the HSR Act is terminated or expires. Calix and Occam filed the required HSR notification and report forms on September 27, 2010. Calix and Occam were granted early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act effective November 16, 2010.

Calix and Occam also intend to make all required filings under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act relating to the merger transaction, and obtain all other approvals and consents which may be necessary to give effect to the merger transaction.

For further information about the regulatory approvals required for the merger transaction and the efforts required of the parties to obtain those approvals, please read the sections titled Risk Factors and The Merger Agreement Agreement to use Reasonable Best Efforts With Respect to Certain Matters beginning on pages 26 and 122, respectively.

Expected Timing of the Merger

Occam and Calix currently expect to complete the merger transaction in the first quarter of 2011, subject to adoption of the merger agreement by Occam s stockholder and regulatory approvals, and the satisfaction or waiver of other closing conditions. Calix and Occam were granted early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act effective November 16, 2010. However, no assurance can be given as to when, or if, the merger transaction will occur. If the merger transaction has not been completed by March 15, 2011, either Calix or Occam may terminate the merger agreement, so long as the party seeking to terminate has not breached the merger agreement and such breach caused the failure of the closing to occur by such time.

No Calix Stockholder Approval Required

Calix common stockholders are not required to adopt or approve the merger agreement or the issuance of Calix common shares in connection with the merger transaction.

Appraisal Rights

Under Section 262 of the DGCL, any holder of Occam common stock who does not wish to accept the merger consideration may elect to exercise appraisal rights in lieu of receiving the merger consideration. A stockholder who exercises appraisal rights may petition the Delaware Court of Chancery to determine the fair value of his, her or its shares, exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the first-step merger, and receive payment of fair value in cash, together with interest, if any. However, the stockholder must comply with the provisions of Section 262 of the DGCL.

The following discussion is a summary of the law pertaining to appraisal rights under the DGCL and is qualified in its entirety by the full text of Section 262 of the DGCL that is attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as <u>Annex C</u>. All references in Section 262 of the DGCL and in this summary to a stockholder are to the record holder of the shares of Occam common stock who exercises appraisal rights.

Under Section 262 of the DGCL, when a merger is submitted for approval at a meeting of stockholders, as in the case of the merger agreement, the company, not less than 20 days prior to the meeting, must notify each of its stockholders entitled to appraisal rights that appraisal rights are available and include in the notice a copy of Section 262 of the DGCL. This proxy statement/prospectus constitutes the required notice, and the applicable statutory provisions are attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as <u>Annex C</u>. This summary of appraisal rights is not a complete summary of the law pertaining to appraisal rights under the DGCL and is qualified in its entirety by the text of Section 262 of the DGCL attached as <u>Annex C</u>. Any holder of Occam common stock who wishes to exercise appraisal rights or who wishes to preserve the right to do so should review the following discussion and <u>Annex C</u> carefully. Failure to strictly comply with the procedures of Section 262 of the DGCL in a timely and proper manner will result in the loss of appraisal rights. A stockholder who loses his, her or its appraisal rights, will be entitled to receive the merger consideration described in the merger agreement.

Stockholders wishing to exercise the right to seek an appraisal of their shares must do ALL of the following:

the stockholder must not vote in favor of the proposal to adopt the merger agreement. Because a proxy that does not contain voting instructions will, unless revoked, be voted in favor of the merger agreement, a stockholder who votes by proxy and who wishes to exercise appraisal rights must vote against the adoption of the merger agreement, abstain or not vote its shares;

the stockholder must deliver to Occam a written demand for appraisal before the vote on the merger agreement at the special meeting;

the stockholder must continuously hold the shares from the date of making the demand through the effective time. A stockholder will lose appraisal rights if the stockholder transfers the shares before the effective time; and

the stockholder or the surviving company must file a petition in the Delaware Court of Chancery requesting a determination of the fair value of the shares within 120 days after the effective time. The surviving company is under no obligation to file any petition and has no intention of doing so.

Voting, in person or by proxy, against, abstaining from voting on or failing to vote on the proposal to adopt the merger agreement will not constitute a written demand for appraisal as required by Section 262 of the DGCL. The written demand for appraisal must be in addition to and separate from any proxy or vote.

Only a holder of record of shares of Occam common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time may assert appraisal rights for the shares of stock registered in that holder s name. A demand for appraisal must be executed by or on behalf of the stockholder of record, fully and correctly, as the stockholder s name appears on the stock certificates. The demand must reasonably inform Occam of the identity of the stockholder and that the stockholder intends to demand appraisal of his, her or its common stock.

STOCKHOLDERS WHO HOLD THEIR SHARES IN BROKERAGE ACCOUNTS OR OTHER NOMINEE FORMS, AND WHO WISH TO EXERCISE APPRAISAL RIGHTS, SHOULD CONSULT WITH THEIR BROKERS TO DETERMINE THE APPROPRIATE PROCEDURES FOR THE NOMINEE HOLDER TO MAKE A DEMAND FOR APPRAISAL OF THOSE SHARES. A PERSON HAVING A BENEFICIAL INTEREST IN SHARES HELD OF RECORD IN THE NAME OF ANOTHER PERSON, SUCH AS A BROKER OR NOMINEE, MUST ACT PROMPTLY TO CAUSE THE RECORD HOLDER TO FOLLOW PROPERLY AND IN A TIMELY MANNER THE STEPS NECESSARY TO PERFECT APPRAISAL RIGHTS.

A stockholder who elects to exercise appraisal rights under Section 262 of the DGCL should mail or deliver a written demand to:

Occam Networks, Inc.

6868 Cortona Drive

Santa Barbara, California 93117

Attn: Chief Financial Officer

If the merger transaction is completed, Calix will give written notice of the effective time within 10 days after the effective time to each former Occam stockholder who did not vote in favor of the merger agreement and who made a written demand for appraisal in accordance with Section 262 of the DGCL. Within 120 days after the effective time, but not later, either the surviving company or any dissenting stockholder who has complied with the requirements of Section 262 of the DGCL may file a petition in the Delaware Court of Chancery demanding a determination of the value of the shares of Occam common stock held by all dissenting stockholders. The surviving company is under no obligation to file any petition and has no intention of doing so. Stockholders who desire to have their shares appraised should initiate any petitions necessary for the perfection of their appraisal rights within the time periods and in the manner prescribed in Section 262 of the DGCL.

Within 120 days after the effective time, any stockholder who, to that point in time, has complied with the provisions of Section 262 of the DGCL, may receive from the surviving company, upon written request, a statement setting forth the aggregate number of shares not voted in favor of the merger agreement and with respect to which Occam has received demands for appraisal, and the aggregate number of holders of those shares. The surviving company must mail this statement to the stockholder within the later of 10 days of receipt of the request or 10 days after expiration of the period for delivery of demands for appraisal.

If any party files a petition for appraisal in a timely manner, the Delaware Court of Chancery will determine which stockholders are entitled to appraisal rights and may require the stockholders demanding appraisal who hold certificated shares to submit their stock certificates to the court for notation of the pendency of the appraisal proceedings and any stockholder who fails to comply with this direction may be dismissed from the proceedings. The Delaware Court of Chancery will thereafter determine the fair value of the shares of Occam common stock held by dissenting stockholders, exclusive of any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger transaction, but together with interest, if any, to be paid on the amount determined to be fair value.

In determining the fair value, the Delaware Court of Chancery is required to take into account all relevant factors. The Delaware Supreme Court has stated that proof of value by any techniques or methods that are generally considered acceptable in the financial community and otherwise admissible in court should be considered in the appraisal proceedings. In addition, Delaware courts have decided that the statutory appraisal remedy, in cases of unfair dealing, may or may not be a dissenter s exclusive remedy. If no party files a petition for appraisal in a timely manner, then stockholders will lose the right to an appraisal, and will instead receive the merger consideration described in the merger agreement. The fair value of their shares as determined under Section 262 of the DGCL could be greater than, the same as, or less than the merger consideration. An opinion of an investment banking firm as to the fairness from a financial point of view of the consideration payable in a merger is not an opinion as to, and does not in any manner address, fair value under Section 262 of the DGCL.

The Delaware Court of Chancery will determine the costs of the appraisal proceeding and will allocate those costs to the parties as the Delaware Court of Chancery determines to be equitable under the circumstances. Upon application of a stockholder, the Delaware Court of Chancery may order all or a portion of the expenses incurred by any stockholder in connection with the appraisal proceeding, including reasonable attorneys fees and the fees and expenses of experts, to be charged pro rata against the value of all shares entitled to appraisal.

Any stockholder who has duly demanded an appraisal in compliance with Section 262 of the DGCL may not, after the effective time, vote the shares subject to the demand for any purpose or receive any dividends or other distributions on those shares, except dividends or other distributions payable to holders of record of shares as of a record date prior to the effective time.

Any stockholder may withdraw a demand for appraisal and accept the merger consideration by delivering a written withdrawal of the demand for appraisal to the surviving company, except that any attempt to withdraw made more than 60 days after the effective time will require written approval of the surviving company, and no appraisal proceeding in the Delaware Court of Chancery will be dismissed as to any stockholder without the approval of the Delaware Court of Chancery, and may be conditioned on the terms the Delaware Court of Chancery deems just. If the stockholder fails to perfect, successfully withdraws or loses the appraisal right, the stockholder s shares will be converted into the right to receive the merger consideration.

Failure to follow the steps required by Section 262 of the DGCL for perfecting appraisal rights may result in the loss of appraisal rights. In that event, you will be entitled to receive the consideration for your dissenting shares in accordance with the merger agreement. In view of the complexity of the provisions of Section 262 of the DGCL, if you are an Occam stockholder and are considering exercising your appraisal rights under the DGCL, you should consult your own legal advisor.

Merger Expenses, Fees and Costs

All fees and expenses incurred by Calix and Occam in connection with the merger transaction will be paid by the party incurring those fees or expenses, whether or not the merger transaction is complete, except that Calix and Occam will share certain expenses relating to the filing and provision of this proxy statement/prospectus and relating to the filings made under the HSR Act. Upon termination of the merger agreement under certain circumstances, Occam will be required to pay Calix a termination fee of \$5.2 million. Upon termination of the merger agreement under certain other circumstances, Calix will be required to pay Occam a termination fee of \$5.0 million or \$10.0 million. See The Merger Agreement Termination Fees and Expenses beginning on page 130.

Accounting Treatment

In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP, Calix will account for the merger transaction using the purchase method of accounting for business combinations. Under this method of accounting, Calix will record the acquisition based on the fair value of the consideration given, which includes the market value of its shares issued in connection with the merger transaction (based on the closing price of Calix s common shares on the effective time) and the cash consideration paid in the merger transaction. Calix will allocate the purchase price to the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values at the date of the completion of the merger transaction. Any excess of the value of consideration paid over the aggregate fair value of those net assets will be recorded as goodwill.

Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger Transaction

The following is a summary of the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger transaction to U.S. holders of Occam common stock. This discussion is based upon the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, Treasury regulations, judicial authorities, published positions of the Internal Revenue Service, or the IRS, and other applicable authorities, all as currently in effect and all of which are subject to change or differing interpretations (possibly with retroactive effect). This discussion is limited to U.S. holders (as defined below) who hold their shares of Occam common stock as capital assets for U.S. federal income tax purposes within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code (generally, assets held for investment). This discussion does not address the tax consequences applicable to Occam stockholders who are not U.S. holders, nor does it address all of the tax consequences that may be relevant to any particular U.S. holder or U.S. holders who are subject to special treatment under U.S. federal income tax laws, including, without limitation:

financial institutions;

insurance companies;

partnerships and other pass-through entities;

tax-exempt organizations;

certain former U.S. citizens or long-term residents;

regulated investment companies;

real estate investment trusts;

dealers in securities or currencies;

holders who own 5% of more of the total outstanding vote or value of Occam common stock, except where specifically indicated;

holders of Occam common stock who also own, directly or constructively for U.S. federal income tax purposes, any stock of Calix (apart from any Calix common stock that such holders receive in the merger transaction in exchange for Occam common stock);

U.S. persons whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar;

traders in securities that elect to use a mark-to-market method of accounting;

persons that hold Occam common stock as part of a straddle, hedge, constructive sale or conversion transaction;

persons who are subject to the alternative minimum tax provisions of the Code; and

persons who acquired their shares of Occam common stock through the exercise of an employee stock option or otherwise as compensation.

If a partnership or other entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes holds shares of Occam common stock, the tax treatment of a partner in the partnership generally will depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. Partnerships holding shares of Occam common stock and partners in such partnerships should consult their tax advisors about the tax consequences of the merger transaction to them.

This discussion does not address the tax consequences of the merger transaction under state, local or foreign tax laws. This discussion also does not address the tax consequences of any transaction other than the merger transaction.

OCCAM STOCKHOLDERS ARE URGED TO CONSULT WITH THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE MERGER TRANSACTION IN THEIR PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES, INCLUDING THE APPLICABILITY AND EFFECT OF U.S. FEDERAL (INCLUDING THE ALTERNATIVE MINIMUM TAX), STATE, LOCAL OR NON-U.S. AND OTHER TAX LAWS AND OF CHANGES IN THOSE LAWS.

For purposes of this section, the term U.S. holder means a beneficial owner of Occam common stock who or that for U.S. federal income tax purposes is (1) an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States, (2) a corporation, or other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or any of its political subdivisions, (3) an estate that is subject to U.S. federal income tax on its income regardless of its source, or (4) a trust (i) the substantial decisions of which are controlled by one or more U.S. persons and which is subject to the primary supervision of a U.S. court, or (ii) that has validly elected under applicable Treasury regulations to be treated as a U.S. person for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The obligation of Occam to complete the merger transaction is conditioned on, among other things, the receipt by Occam of a tax opinion from Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C., dated the date of the effective time, to the effect that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the merger transaction will qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code. The merger agreement provides that Occam may not waive the receipt of the tax opinion after the Occam stockholders have adopted the merger agreement unless further stockholder approval is obtained with appropriate disclosure. This opinion will be subject to customary qualifications and assumptions, including that the merger transaction will be completed according to the terms of the merger agreement. In rendering the tax opinion, Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C. may require and rely on representations of Calix, Ocean Sub I, Ocean Sub II, Occam, and the affiliates of Calix, Ocean Sub I, Ocean Sub II, and Occam, to be delivered at the effective time. If any such assumption or representation, without regard to any knowledge qualification, is or becomes inaccurate, the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger transaction could be adversely affected. This tax opinion will not be binding on the IRS. Neither Calix nor Occam intends to request any ruling from the IRS as to the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger transaction. Consequently, no assurance can be given that the IRS will not assert, or that a court will not sustain, a position contrary to any of the tax consequences set forth below or any of the tax consequences described in the tax opinion.

Based on and subject to the foregoing and assuming that the merger transaction qualifies as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code, the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger transaction to U.S. holders of Occam common stock will be as follows:

an Occam stockholder will recognize gain (but not loss) with respect to its shares of Occam common stock in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) any gain realized with respect to such stock or (ii) the amount of cash received with respect to such stock (other than any cash received in lieu of a fractional share of Calix common stock). A holder s gain realized will equal the difference between (x) the sum of the fair market value of the Calix common stock and cash received and (y) such holder s tax basis in the Occam common stock surrendered. Any such gain recognized will be a capital gain;

an Occam stockholder s aggregate tax basis for the shares of Calix common stock received in the merger transaction (including any fractional share interest for which cash is received) will equal the stockholder s aggregate tax basis in the shares of Occam common stock surrendered upon completion of the merger transaction, increased by any gain recognized by such holder in the merger transaction (other than gain resulting from the receipt of cash in lieu of a fractional share of Calix common stock) and reduced by the amount of any cash received in the merger transaction (other than any cash received in lieu of a fractional share of Calix common stock);

an Occam stockholder s holding period for the shares of Calix common stock received in the merger transaction (including any fractional share interest for which cash is received) will include the period during which the shares of Occam common stock surrendered in the merger transaction were held; and

an Occam stockholder who receives cash in lieu of a fractional share of Calix common stock in the merger transaction will recognize capital gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference between the amount of cash received in lieu of a fractional share and the stockholder s tax basis in its Occam common stock allocable to such fractional share of Calix common stock. An Occam stockholder who holds different blocks of Occam common stock (generally, shares of Occam common stock purchased or acquired on different dates or at different prices) should consult such stockholder s tax advisor to determine how the above rules apply to such stockholder.

Occam stockholders who owned at least 5% (by vote or value) of the total outstanding stock of Occam or Occam securities with a tax basis of \$1,000,000 or more are required to attach a statement to their tax returns for the year in which the merger is completed that contains the information listed in Treasury Regulations Section 1.368-3(b).

If the merger transaction does not qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code, then a holder of Occam common stock that receives cash and Calix common stock in the merger transaction would recognize capital gain or loss equal to the difference between the fair market value of the Calix common stock and cash received and such holder s tax basis in the Occam common stock surrendered.

Capital gains or losses recognized in the merger transaction as described above will constitute long-term capital gain or loss if the Occam stockholder s holding period in the Occam common stock surrendered in the merger transaction is more than one year as of the date of the merger transaction. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.

Dissenting Occam Stockholders. The above discussion does not apply to Occam stockholders who properly perfect dissenters rights. An Occam stockholder who perfects dissenters rights with respect to such stockholder s Occam common stock will recognize capital gain or loss equal to the difference between (i) the amount of cash received in exchange for such Occam common stock and (ii) such holder s tax basis in such Occam common stock except with respect to any amounts properly treated as interest. Capital gains and losses are subject to tax in the manner set forth above.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding. Cash payments received in the merger transaction by a U.S. holder may, under certain circumstances, be subject to information reporting and backup withholding, unless the U.S. holder provides proof of an applicable exemption, furnishes its taxpayer identification number (in the case of an individual, such individual s Social Security number) and otherwise complies with all applicable requirements of the backup withholding rules. To prevent backup withholding, each U.S. holder must complete the IRS Form W-9 or a substitute Form W-9 which will be provided by the exchange agent with the transmittal letter. Amounts withheld from payments to a U.S. holder under the backup withholding rules are not additional tax and will generally be allowed as a refund or credit against the U.S. holder s U.S. federal income tax liability, provided the required information is timely furnished to the IRS by the U.S. holder.

The foregoing discussion is for general information only and not intended to be legal or tax advice to any particular Occam stockholder. Tax matters regarding the merger transaction are very complicated, and the tax consequences of the merger transaction to any particular Occam stockholder will depend on such Occam stockholder s particular situation. Occam stockholders should consult their own tax advisors to determine the specific tax consequences of the merger transaction, including tax return reporting requirements, the applicability of U.S. federal, state, local and non-U.S. tax laws, and the effect of any proposed change in the tax laws to them.

NYSE Listing of Calix Common Stock

Calix s common shares currently trade on the New York Stock Exchange, or the NYSE, under the stock symbol CALX. It is a condition to completion of the merger transaction that the Calix common shares to be issued by Calix to Occam stockholders in connection with the merger transaction be approved for listing on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance. Calix has agreed to use all reasonable efforts to cause the Calix common shares issuable and required to be reserved for issuance in connection with the merger transaction, including those shares to be reserved for issuance upon the exercise or conversion of equity awards described above, to be authorized for listing on the NYSE and expects to obtain the NYSE s approval to list such shares prior to completion of the merger transaction, subject to official notice of issuance.

Delisting and Deregistration of Occam Common Stock

Shares of Occam common stock currently trade on the NASDAQ Global Market under the stock symbol OCNW. Upon completion of the merger transaction, all shares of Occam common stock will cease to be listed for trading on the NASDAQ Global Market and will be deregistered under the Exchange Act.

THE MERGER AGREEMENT

The following summary describes certain material provisions of the merger agreement. This summary does not purport to be complete and may not contain all of the information about the merger agreement that is important to you. This summary is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, the merger agreement, which is attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as <u>Annex A</u>. You are urged to read the merger agreement carefully and in its entirety, as it is the legal document governing the merger transaction.

The merger agreement summary below is included in this proxy statement/prospectus only to provide you with information regarding the terms and conditions of the merger agreement, and not to provide any other factual information regarding Occam, Calix or their respective businesses. The merger agreement contains customary representations and warranties of each of Occam, Calix, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II relating to their respective businesses. The representations and warranties of each of Occam, Calix, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II relating to their respective businesses. The representations and warranties of each of Occam, Calix, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II have been made solely for the benefit of the other party or parties and such representations and warranties should not be relied on by any other person. Accordingly, the representations and warranties and other provisions of the merger agreement should not be read alone, but instead should be read only in conjunction with the information provided elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus. Also, see Where You Can Find More Information on page 284.

Structure of the Merger Transaction

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the merger agreement, as the first step in the transaction, Ocean Sub I, a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Calix will merge with Occam, with Occam continuing as the surviving entity. Immediately thereafter, Occam will merge with Ocean Sub II, a second direct, wholly owned subsidiary of Calix, with Ocean Sub II continuing as the surviving company. At that time, the corporate existence of Occam will cease. The first merger is referred to as the first-step merger, the second merger is referred to as the second-step merger, the first-step merger and the second-step merger are collectively referred to as the merger transaction and the effective time of the first-step merger is referred to as the effective time.

Merger Consideration

In the first-step merger, each share of Occam common stock, other than dissenting shares, if any, and shares owned by Calix, Occam or any of their respective subsidiaries (which will be cancelled), will be converted into the right to receive (i) 0.2925 shares of Calix common stock and (ii) \$3.8337 in cash.

If the application of the exchange ratio to all shares in respect of which a Occam stockholder would be entitled to receive would cause such stockholder to receive a fraction of a Calix common share, such stockholder will instead receive an amount of cash equal to the product of (x) the fractional share interest to which such stockholder would otherwise be entitled and (y) Calix s closing stock price on the day the merger transaction becomes effective.

Treatment of Occam Options and Other Equity-Based Awards

Stock Options and Restricted Stock Units. Immediately prior to the effective time, (a) each outstanding Occam stock option or restricted stock unit as of immediately prior to the effective time which was or shall become vested as of the effective time with a per share exercise price that is less than (i) \$3.8337 plus (ii) 0.2925 multiplied by the average volume weighted average trading price of Calix common stock during the five consecutive trading days ending on the trading day that is one day before the effective time, such amount being referred to as the cash-out consideration, (b) certain additional Occam options or restricted stock units that may be included, depending on the number of shares of Calix common stock issuable pursuant to the merger agreement and (c), unless determined otherwise by Calix, any Occam options or restricted stock units held by

persons who are not Occam employees or consultants immediately prior to the effective time will be automatically cancelled and extinguished and the vested portion thereof will be automatically converted into the right to receive the cash-out consideration for the aggregate number of shares of Occam common stock that were issuable upon the exercise of such stock options or restricted stock units, less any applicable per share exercise price. If additional equity awards are cancelled in accordance with (b) above, equity awards with the highest exercise price will be cashed-out first, and for these purposes a restricted stock unit is treated as having a \$0 exercise price.

Unvested portions of each outstanding Occam stock option or restricted stock unit held by employees who continue to be employed by Calix or its subsidiaries after the effective time that are not cancelled as described above will be, at the effective time, automatically converted into options or restricted stock units, as the case may be, for Calix common stock, subject to adjustments in accordance with the compensatory award exchange ratio, and will otherwise be subject to the terms and conditions of such award prior to the completion of the first-step merger, including vesting and exercisability.

Restricted Stock. Immediately prior to the effective time, the restrictions on each restricted stock award held by a non-employee director will lapse and the underlying Occam common stock will be treated in the merger in the same manner as other shares of Occam common stock.

Representations and Warranties

The merger agreement contains representations and warranties by Occam, subject in some cases to specified exceptions and qualifications, relating to a number of matters, including the following:

the incorporation, valid existence, good standing, qualification to do business, corporate powers and authorization of Occam and its subsidiaries;

the certificate of incorporation, bylaws, stock records and certain corporate records and minutes of Occam and its subsidiaries;

the corporate authority to enter into and perform its obligations under, and enforceability and approval of, the merger agreement;

required governmental authorization, consents and approvals;

the absence of conflicts with, or violations of, organizational documents, contracts and applicable laws, or the creation of a material lien on Occam s assets, in each case, as a result of the merger transaction;

capitalization of Occam and its subsidiaries;

reports, financial statements and other documents filed by Occam with the SEC and certain internal controls and procedures;

the absence of certain changes, actions or events since June 30, 2010, including those that have a material adverse effect, result in any material damage, destruction or casualty loss affecting Occam s business or would violate Occam s operating covenants in the merger agreement;

no undisclosed liabilities;

matters with respect to Occam s material contracts;

investigations respecting, and compliance with, applicable laws, including the United States Export Administration Act, the Arms Export Control Act and the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended since January 1, 2008;

the absence of investigations and legal proceedings (pending or threatened) since January 1, 2010, and the absence of orders to which Occam is subject or which restrict the ability of Occam to conduct its business;

valid leasehold interest in, and the absence of certain liens, notices, condemnation action or special assessment with respect to, real property parcels leased by Occam and its subsidiaries;

marketable title to, or leasehold interest in, certain properties and assets, and developments that could detract from the value, or affect the marketability, of the property, including defects, maintenance, adequacy and certain liens;

intellectual property matters;

insurance matters;

possession of material licenses and permits since January 1, 2008 and the absence of any notice regarding failure to comply with any permits since January 1, 2010;

tax matters;

employees and employee benefit plans including compliance with the terms of, and applicable laws affecting, benefit plans and the effect of the merger transaction thereon;

environmental matters;

the absence of affiliate transactions;

dealings with suppliers and communications or indications regarding the continued relationship with supplier after the merger transaction;

absence of brokers, except for Jefferies, retained or entitled to any fee in connection with the transaction contemplated by the merger agreement;

receipt of an opinion from Jefferies, Occam s financial advisor in connection with the merger transaction;

actions by the Occam board to ensure the inapplicability of DGCL Section 203 to the merger agreement and the merger transaction; and

accuracy of information supplied by Occam for inclusion in this proxy statement/prospectus and the registration statement on Form S-4 of which it forms a part.

The merger agreement contains representations and warranties by Calix, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II, subject in some cases to specified exceptions and qualifications, relating to a number of matters, including the following:

the incorporation (or organization), valid existence, good standing, qualification to do business, powers and authorizations of Calix, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II;

the corporate authority to enter into and perform its obligations under, and enforceability of, the merger agreement of Calix, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II;

required governmental authorization, consents and approvals of Calix, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II;

the absence of conflicts with, or violations of, applicable laws, organizational documents and contracts of Calix, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II, in each case, as a result of the merger transaction;

capitalization of Calix, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II;

the status of Calix, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II as interested stockholders of Occam during the last three years;

reports, financial statements and other documents filed by Calix with the SEC and certain internal controls and procedures;

the absence of certain changes, actions or events since June 26, 2010, including those that have a material adverse effect, amendments to organizational documents, certain actions relating to securities or changes in accounting methods or practices;

no undisclosed liabilities;

matters with respect to Calix s material contracts;

investigations respecting, and compliance with, applicable laws since January 1, 2008;

the absence of investigations and legal proceedings (pending or threatened) since January 1, 2008, and of orders that materially restrict the ability of Calix to conduct its business as of the date of the merger agreement;

intellectual property matters;

possession of licenses and permits necessary to conduct the business of Calix and its subsidiaries and the absence of certain notices regarding permits;

employees, employee benefit plans and material compliance with applicable laws;

the absence of non-disclosed affiliate transactions;

absence of brokers, except for Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, retained or entitled to any free in connection with the transaction contemplated by the merger agreement;

Calix s financial capability to meet its obligations under the merger agreement; and

the accuracy of information supplied by Calix for inclusion in this proxy statement/prospectus and the registration statement on Form S-4 of which it forms a part.

Many of the representations and warranties of Occam and Calix are qualified by a material adverse effect standard. For the purposes of the merger agreement, material adverse effect, with respect to both parties, is defined to mean any event, change, development or state of facts that is, or would reasonably be expected to be, materially adverse to the business, assets, liabilities, operations or financial condition of the party and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

However, no event, change, development or state of facts resulting from, or arising out of, the following shall constitute, either alone or in combination, a material adverse effect with respect to either Occam or Calix:

general economic conditions in the United States economy or any other country (or changes in such conditions), general conditions in the industries in which either party or its subsidiaries conduct business (or any changes in such conditions) or general conditions in the securities or financial markets in the United States or any other country (or changes in such conditions);

- (ii) any change in GAAP or any change in laws applicable to the operation of the business of either party or its subsidiaries;
- (iii) any decline in the market price, or change in trading volume, of the capital stock of either party or any failure to meet internal or published projections, forecasts or revenue or earning predictions for any period; provided that the underlying causes of such decline, change or failure, may be considered in determining whether there has been a material adverse effect);
- (iv) political conditions (or changes in such conditions) in the United States or any other country in which either party or its subsidiaries conduct business or acts of war, sabotage or terrorism (including any escalation or general worsening of any such acts of war, sabotage or terrorism) in the United States or any other country in which either party or its subsidiaries conduct business;
- (v) earthquakes, hurricanes, tsunamis, tornadoes, floods, mudslides, wild fires or other natural disasters, weather conditions and other force majeure events in the United States or any other country in which either party or its subsidiaries conduct business;

(vi) the announcement of the merger agreement or the pendency of the transactions contemplated hereby, including the loss of employees, customers or suppliers, provided that this shall not preclude any contractual consequences that arise under the terms of any existing contract to which Calix or Occam is a party solely as a result of the execution of the merger agreement or consummation of the merger transaction from being considered in determining whether there has been a material adverse effect; or

(vii) any actions taken or failure to take action which either party has approved, consented to or requested in writing. Any event, change, development or state of facts described in (i), (ii), (iv) or (v) above may be taken into account when determining whether a material adverse effect has occurred or would reasonably be expected to occur if the event, change, development or state of facts has or would reasonably be expected to have a disproportionate impact on either party or its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as compared to other companies that conduct business in the countries and in the industries in which either party or its subsidiaries conduct business.

Conduct of Business Pending the Merger

Occam

Occam has agreed in the merger agreement that, until the effective time, Occam will conduct its business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice and use its commercially reasonable efforts to (i) preserve substantially intact its present business organization, (ii) keep available the services of Occam s officers and key employees, and (iii) maintain substantially intact its relationships with its customers and suppliers and others having material business relationships with them.

Occam has further agreed that, until the effective time, and with certain exceptions and except with Calix s prior written consent (which is not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) Occam will not, and will not permit each of its subsidiaries to, take any of the following actions:

amend its governing or organizational documents;

declare, set aside or pay any dividends or other distribution of capital stock, or redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire any securities of Occam or any of its subsidiaries, except in connection with Occam stock options, restricted stock units or other equity-based compensation awards in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

issue, deliver or sell, or so authorize, any of their equity securities, however Occam may (i) issue shares upon the exercise of certain options, the vesting of certain restricted stock units and certain grants to newly hired employees issued in the ordinary course of business up to an aggregate of 50,000 shares of Occam common stock; and (ii) amend the terms of an equity security to provide for acceleration of vesting as a result of the merger transaction or a termination of employment related to the merger transaction;

incur significant capital expenditures;

acquire (i) any organization or any assets, properties, interest or business, except operating assets in the ordinary course of business; or (ii) the securities of a third party;

make any material sale, lease, license or other disposition of assets or properties, other than pursuant to certain exceptions, existing contracts or in the ordinary course of business;

make certain loans, advances or capital contributions to any other person or organization;

make any payments to any Occam director, officer, employee or stockholder owning more than 5% of Occam s common stock (or any associates or immediate family members of each) except pursuant to existing contracts that are disclosed with the SEC or payments to Occam employees in the ordinary course of business;

create, incur or assume any indebtedness, other than debt related to bonds incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

enter into any contract that materially restricts Occam from engaging or competing in any business or enter into, modify or terminate any material contract or otherwise modify any of Occam s rights, claims or benefits thereunder outside of the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

other than pursuant to a plan or agreement otherwise disclosed to Calix or as required by law, (i) grant or increase any change-in-control, severance or termination pay to any director, officer, advisor, consultant or employee of Occam, (ii) enter into, amend or increase benefits payable under any agreements with directors or officers, advisors, consultants or employees of Occam, (iii) establish, adopt, amend, or increase compensation or benefits under any collective bargaining plan or any other benefit plan or arrangement payable to any director, officer advisor, consultant or employees of Occam (other than ordinary course increases of compensation or benefits consistent with past practice), or (iv) terminate any key employee except for cause;

change methods of accounting or accounting practices;

commence, settle, or offer to settle, any significant legal proceeding or any legal proceeding that relates to the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

make or change any material tax election or settle any material tax liability; enter into any agreement relating to any material tax; surrender or forfeit any right to a material tax refund; or consent to any extension or waiver of a statute of limitations period applicable to any material tax claim or assessment; and

agree, resolve or commit to take any of the above actions. Reasonable Best Efforts of Occam to Obtain the Required Stockholder Vote

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the merger agreement, Occam has agreed to take all action necessary under applicable law to give notice of and hold a meeting of Occam s stockholders to vote on the adoption of the merger agreement, where such meeting would be held as promptly as practicable after the date the registration statement on Form S-4 (of which this proxy statement/prospectus forms a part) is declared effective. Occam may (and will if requested by Calix) adjourn the stockholders meeting one time for up to ten business days if Occam has not received proxies representing a sufficient number of shares to conduct business at the meeting, if Occam is required to adjourn the meeting by applicable law or if the Occam board or an authorized committee determines in good faith that it is necessary or appropriate to postpone or adjourn the meeting.

Agreement to use Reasonable Best Efforts With Respect to Certain Matters

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the merger agreement, each of Calix and Occam has agreed to, and to cause its subsidiaries to, use all reasonable best efforts to, among other things:

take or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under applicable laws and regulations to consummate the first-step merger as soon as practicable;

within 15 business days after the date of the merger agreement, make all necessary filings and registrations with governmental authorities in connection with the merger agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated therein;

work together in a mutual, cooperative manner on all strategic and tactical aspects in connection with any filing or submission, provided that Calix shall be entitled, after consultation with Occam, to make all strategic and tactical decisions as to the manner in which to obtain from any governmental authority under any antitrust law any actions or non-actions, consents or approvals required to be obtained by Calix or Occam in connection with the consummation of the transaction; and

keep the other party reasonably informed of any communication received from, or given by such party to the FTC, the DOJ or any other governmental entity and of any communication received or given in connection with any proceeding by a private party, in each case regarding any of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

Neither Calix nor Occam is obligated to agree to any divestiture or operational restriction or enter into a voting trust or proxy arrangement with respect to the assets of each of their businesses, or contest, defend or appeal any proceedings brought by a governmental authority seeking to restrain or prohibit the consummation of the merger transaction or seeking to compel such a divestiture or operational restrictions.

Occam has also agreed to take all necessary actions to call, give notices of, convene and hold the special meeting for the purpose of obtaining stockholder adoption of the merger agreement. Occam is required to hold the special meeting (irrespective of whether its board has changed its recommendation of the merger transaction) unless Occam terminates the merger agreement in connection with entering into a superior proposal (as defined in the merger agreement and described in further detail in the section titled No Solicitation of Offers by Occam Exceptions to Non-Solicitation Obligations).

Other Covenants and Agreements

Access to Information

Occam has agreed to provide and cause each of its subsidiaries to provide to Calix reasonable access to Occam s offices, properties, books and records, furnish Calix with such financial and operating data for Occam and its subsidiaries as Calix may reasonably request and instruct its employees, counsel and financial advisors to cooperate with Calix in its investigation of Occam and its subsidiaries. Occam may, however, restrict access to any such information if required by applicable law, if, in Occam s good faith opinion after consultation with outside legal counsel, access to such information would result in the loss of legal privilege or if access to a contract would violate or cause a default under or give a third party a right to terminate such contract, in each case, so long as Occam and its subsidiaries use commercially reasonable efforts to communicate the information to Calix without violating such law, privilege or contract.

Notices of Certain Events

From the date of the merger agreement until the effective time, Occam has agreed to provide notice to Calix of the occurrence of the following events:

any material written notice or communication from a governmental authority indicating that a permit is revoked or about to be revoked;

any actions, suits, claims, investigations or proceedings commenced against Occam or its subsidiaries that would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on Occam;

any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations and warranties given by Occam and its subsidiaries in the merger agreement; and

any actions, suits, claims, investigations or proceedings commenced against Occam or its subsidiaries relating to the merger agreement or related transactions.

From the date of the merger agreement until the effective time, Calix has agreed to provide notice to Occam of the occurrence of the following events:

any actions, suits, claims, investigations or proceedings commenced against Calix or its subsidiaries that would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on Calix;

any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations and warranties given by Calix and its subsidiaries in the merger agreement; and

any actions, suits, claims, investigations or proceedings commenced against Occam or its subsidiaries relating to the merger agreement or related transactions.

Tax Matters

Calix, Occam, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub I have agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the first-step merger and second-step merger, taken together, to qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code and they agreed to adopt the merger agreement as a plan of reorganization within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.368-2(g).

Employee Benefits

Calix has agreed to, for any stock options or restricted stock units that it will assume upon the consummation of the merger transaction, file with the SEC, within 10 business days after the effective time, a registration statement on Form S-8 with respect to the shares of Calix common stock issuable upon exercise of the assumed awards.

Occam has also agreed to take such action as may be necessary to establish a New Exercise Date with respect to Occam s employee stock purchase plan, or ESPP, on the last day of the payroll period ending at least 10 business days prior to the effective time and Occam will terminate the ESPP as of the date of the effective time, contingent upon the occurrence of the effective time.

Calix has agreed, for at least one-year following the effective time, to maintain total cash compensation opportunities (including base pay and target bonus opportunities) for the benefit of Occam employees who continue to be employed by Calix, that are no less favorable, in the aggregate, than the total cash compensation opportunities provided to such employees immediately prior to the effective time. Additionally, from and after the effective time Calix will either continue Occam employee benefit plans or permit employees who continue to be employed by Calix and their eligible dependents to participate in the employee benefit plans, programs and policies of Calix on terms no less favorable in the aggregate than those provided to similarly situated employees of Calix. Calix will also give Occam salaried employees full service credit for purposes of eligibility, level of benefits, vesting and other appropriate benefits, excluding benefit accruals, under any employee benefit plan provided by Calix for the benefit of these employees, to the same extent service was recognized by Occam immediately prior to the effective time.

No later than five business days prior to the effective time, the Occam board will adopt resolutions terminating Occam s 401(k) plans.

Calix and Occam also agreed that the provisions described in this Employee Benefits section were included for the sole benefit of Calix and Occam and their affiliates and do not create any rights in any other person or beneficiary thereof. These provisions will also not be construed to establish, amend or modify any employee benefit plan, program, agreement or arrangement of Calix or Occam or any of their affiliates or require any of them to continue or amend any particular benefit plan after the consummation of the merger transaction.

Indemnification and Insurance

Calix and Ocean Sub I have agreed that all rights to indemnification under any contracts existing as of the effective time between the Occam and its subsidiaries and any of their respective current or former directors and officers and any person who becomes a director or officer of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries prior to the effective time, whom we refer to herein as the indemnified persons, shall survive the merger transaction and shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with their terms following the effective time. Calix will cause the surviving company and its subsidiaries to honor and fulfill any obligations under such indemnification contracts with the indemnified persons. In addition, for six years after the effective time, the surviving company and its subsidiaries to contain provisions with respect to indemnification, exculpation and the advancement of expenses, covering acts and omissions of directors and officers (and any other employees

or agents who otherwise would be entitled to similar benefits thereunder pursuant to the terms thereof in effect on the date hereof), in each case in their respective capacities as such, occurring at or prior to the effective time, to the fullest extent permitted by law.

Calix will cause individuals serving as officers and directors of Occam or its subsidiaries immediately prior to the effective time, and any other person who is covered by Occam s current directors and officers liability insurance policy, to be covered with respect to actions or omissions occurring prior to the effective time for a period of six (6) years from the effective time by a tail insurance policy with policy limits, terms and conditions at least as favorable as those in Occam s existing policy as in effect on the date of the merger agreement. In no event will Calix be required to expend annually in the aggregate an amount in excess of two hundred fifty percent (250%) of the annual premiums currently paid by Occam for such insurance.

No Solicitation of Offers by Occam

Pursuant to the merger agreement, the Occam board is required to recommend that Occam s stockholders adopt the merger agreement at the special meeting in accordance with the applicable provisions of DGCL. Moreover, except as described in the merger agreement and as set forth below under the headings Exceptions to Non-Solicitation Obligations and Ability to Accept a Superior Proposal or Effect a Change in Recommendation, neither the Occam board nor any committee thereof is permitted to withdraw, modify or qualify the board of directors recommendation in any manner adverse to Calix or adopt any resolution doing so. Any of the actions referred to in the preceding sentence is referred to as a change in recommendation. However, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Occam board will not be prohibited from disclosing to Occam stockholders a position contemplated by Rule 14e-2(a) of the Exchange Act or to comply with the provisions of Rule 14d-9 of the Exchange Act if Occam notifies Calix at least one business day prior to making such disclosure, and such communications are accompanied with a statement by the Occam board that either reaffirms the board recommendation in connection with such statement or disclosure or, if the disclosure of the information constitutes a change in recommendation, such change in recommendation is made in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the merger agreement.

Non-Solicitation Obligations

Subject to certain exceptions summarized below and set forth in the merger agreement, Occam has agreed that it will not, and that it will cause its subsidiaries not to, and each of them will direct each of their directors, officers and employees not to, directly or indirectly:

solicit, initiate, seek or knowingly encourage or facilitate any acquisition proposal (as defined below in this section) or any inquiries, expression of interest, proposal or offer that constitutes an acquisition proposal;

enter into, participate in, maintain or continue discussions or negotiations relating to any acquisition proposal with any third person other than Calix;

furnish to any third person other than Calix any non-public information that Occam believes or should reasonably know would be used for the purposes of formulating any inquiry, expression of interest proposal or offer relating to an acquisition proposal;

accept any acquisition proposal or enter into any agreement providing for the consummation of any transaction contemplated by or otherwise relating to an acquisition proposal; or

submit any acquisition proposal or any related matter to a vote of the stockholders of Occam.

The merger agreement also provides that Occam will, and will cause its subsidiaries and Occam s representatives to, immediately cease and cause to be terminated any and all existing activities, discussions or negotiations with any persons conducted on or prior to the signing of the merger agreement regarding any acquisition proposal (and request the prompt return or destruction of any confidential information previously

furnished). Occam is further obligated to notify Calix promptly upon the receipt of any acquisition proposal or of any request for information that could reasonably be expected to lead to an acquisition proposal and the material terms thereof, to keep Calix informed of the status and details of any such acquisition proposal and to provide a copy of each material written communication and a summary of each material oral communication transmitted on behalf of the interested third parties. Occam has also agreed that it will notify Calix orally and in writing if Occam determines to begin providing information or to engage in discussions concerning an acquisition proposal. The foregoing limitations on Occam s ability to solicit offers are referred to as its non-solicitation obligations.

Exceptions to Non-Solicitation Obligations

If, however, prior to the adoption of the merger agreement by Occam s stockholders, Occam receives from a third person a bona fide written acquisition proposal that did not result from a breach of its non-solicitation obligations under the merger agreement, then Occam may, to the extent that the Occam board determines in good faith (after consultation with its financial advisors and outside counsel) that the acquisition proposal is or is reasonably likely to be a superior proposal (as defined below) and taking such action would be required by its fiduciary duties, furnish information with respect to Occam and its subsidiaries to the person making the acquisition proposal and participate in discussions or negotiations with the person making such acquisition proposal regarding such acquisition proposal. However, Occam must not, and must not allow any of its subsidiaries or its or their directors, officers or employees, disclose any information to such person without first entering into a confidentiality agreement regarding the use and disclosure of all nonpublic information furnished to such person, and Occam must promptly provide to Calix or its representatives any information provided to such other person which was not previously provided to Calix.

For the purposes of this discussion, an acquisition proposal means any inquiry, expression of interest, proposal or offer from a third party relating to any transaction or series of transactions involving (i) the sale, lease, exchange, transfer, license, disposition or acquisition from Occam or its subsidiaries of any business or assets that account for 15% or more of the assets of Occam and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole (either as measured by the fair market value thereof or by revenues on a consolidated basis attributable thereto), (ii) any merger, consolidation, amalgamation, share exchange, business combination, recapitalization or other similar transaction in which any of Occam or its subsidiaries is a constituent corporation and which would result in a third party acquiring record or beneficial ownership of securities representing more than 15% of any class of voting securities of any resulting parent company of Occam or its parent company (if Occam is a surviving corporation), (iii) any issuance of securities, acquisition of securities, tender offer, exchange offer or other similar transaction (y) in which a person or group (as defined in the Exchange Act and the rules promulgated thereunder) of persons directly or indirectly acquires beneficial or record ownership of securities representing more than 15% of the outstanding securities of any class of voting securities of any of Occam or its subsidiaries, or (z) in which any of Occam or its subsidiaries issues securities representing more than 15% of the outstanding securities of any class of voting securities to any person or its subsidiaries of any of Occam or its subsidiaries is a or state of the outstanding securities of any class of voting securities of any of Occam or its subsidiaries is a surviving corporation or its subsidiaries is a surviving or other similar transaction (y) in which a person or group (as defined in the Exchange Act and the rules promulgated thereunder) of persons directly or indirectly acquires beneficial or record ownershi

For the purposes of this discussion, a superior proposal means any *bona fide* written acquisition proposal (with all references to 15% in the definition of acquisition proposal being treated as references to 50.1% for these purposes) that did not result from or arise in connection with a breach of the merger agreement by Occam and that the Occam board determines in good faith, after consultation with its financial advisors and outside counsel, is reasonably capable of being consummated, and if consummated would be more favorable to Occam s stockholders (in their capacity as such) from a financial point of view than the merger transaction, taking into account all financial, regulatory, legal and other aspects of such acquisition proposal and any adjustment to the terms and conditions of the merger agreement in response to such acquisition proposal that have been delivered to Occam by Calix in writing during the applicable notice period, that Calix has irrevocably committed to in writing and that are binding on Calix.

Ability to Accept a Superior Proposal or Effect a Change in Recommendation

In addition, the restrictions on Occam s ability to effect a change in recommendation and/or accept a superior proposal are subject to the following exceptions:

Prior to the adoption of the merger agreement by Occam s stockholders the Occam board may make a change of recommendation and/or terminate the merger agreement in response to a bona fide acquisition proposal if (i) it reasonably determines in good faith (after consultation with its financial advisors and outside counsel) that such acquisition proposal is a superior proposal; (ii) it determines in good faith (after consultation with its outside counsel) that in light of such superior proposal, taking such action is required by its fiduciary duties; (iii) Occam complies with the procedures described below; and (iv) Occam is simultaneously entering into an agreement for the superior proposal.

Prior to the adoption of the merger agreement by Occam s stockholders the Occam board may make a change in recommendation in response to an intervening event (as defined below) if the Occam board determines in good faith (after consultation with outside counsel) that taking such action is required by its fiduciary duties and Occam complies with the provisions and other procedures described below.

Prior to the Occam board making a change in recommendation or terminating the merger agreement to enter into an agreement with respect to a superior proposal, Occam must:

provide Calix with four business days prior written notice advising Calix that it is prepared to take such action;

with respect to an acquisition proposal that the Occam board deems a superior proposal, make available to Calix all information concerning its business, properties or assets made available to the third party making the superior proposal and provide Calix with the specific terms and conditions of such superior proposal, the identity of the person making such proposal and a copy of the proposed transaction agreements with the person making such superior proposal;

with respect to a change in recommendation in response to an intervening event, provide Calix with a description of such intervening event and the reason for effecting a change in recommendation; and

negotiate with Calix in good faith during the four business day window to make adjustments in the merger agreement such that such acquisition proposal would no longer constitute a superior proposal or the intervening event would no longer necessitate a change in recommendation, as applicable.

In the event of any material revisions to the superior proposal, Occam must deliver a new written notice to Calix and again comply with the procedures described above for an additional two business days.

If, after the four business day (or additional two business days in the event of a material revision to a superior proposal) window has expired, the Occam board has determined that the acquisition proposal still constitutes a superior proposal, or the intervening event still necessitates a change in recommendation, as applicable, then the Occam board may proceed to change or modify its recommendation of the merger transaction or, solely in the case of the existence of a superior proposal, terminate the merger agreement and simultaneously enter into an agreement with respect to such superior proposal, provided that Occam pays the termination fee described below under Termination Fees and Expenses.

For the purposes of this discussion, the term intervening event means the development of facts, events or circumstances since the date of the merger agreement that were not foreseen or reasonably foreseeable to Occam as of the signing of the merger agreement that would require the Occam board to take action to comply with its fiduciary duties.

Conditions to the Merger

Conditions to Each Party s Obligations: The obligations of Calix, Occam and Ocean Sub I to consummate the first-step merger are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:

adoption of the merger agreement by an affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Occam common stock entitled to vote;

the expiration or termination of the applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act, or the HSR Act, and any other applicable antitrust laws in the United States and the receipt of any required clearances, consents, approvals, orders and authorizations required by any antitrust laws in the United States;

the absence of any temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction, or any other order, decree, law or prohibition preventing the consummation of the merger transaction, in each case, issued or enacted by any governmental authority of a competent jurisdiction in the United States; and

declaration of effectiveness of the registration statement on Form S-4 (of which this proxy statement/prospectus forms a part) under the Securities Act and the absence of any stop order or proceeding seeking a stop order affecting the registration statement. Calix and Occam were granted early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act effective November 16, 2010.

Conditions to the Obligations of Calix, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II: The obligations of Calix, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II to consummate the first-step merger are subject to the satisfaction, at or prior to the effective time, of the following conditions:

the representations and warranties of Occam relating to organization and qualification, corporate authorization, capitalization, delivery of Jefferies opinion and the applicability of DGCL Section 203, shall be accurate in all material respects as of the effective time as if made on such date, in each case, (i) except for representations and warranties that speak as of a particular date (provided that Occam s capitalization representation may be inaccurate by up to one percent of the fully-diluted shares of Occam); and (ii) without giving effect to any material adverse effect or other qualifications contained in the representations and warranties;

all other representations and warranties of Occam shall be accurate in all respects as of the effective time as if made on such date (except for representations and warranties that speak as of a particular date, which shall be accurate as of such date) except, in each case, where the failure to be so accurate has not given, and would not reasonably be expected to give, effect to any material adverse effect or other qualifications contained in the representations and warranties;

Occam must have complied in all material respects with its obligations and covenants required under the merger agreement at, or prior to, the effective time;

the absence of any continuing material adverse effect concerning the business, assets, liabilities, operations or financial condition of Occam and its subsidiaries since the date of the agreement;

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

Occam s delivery to Calix of (i) an executed closing certificate; and (ii) written resignations of all the Occam directors and officers, which, in each case, shall be in full force and effect; and

the absence of any proceeding (pending or threatened) that (i) challenges or seeks to prohibit the merger transaction, (ii) would limit Calix s ability to exercise full ownership rights with respect to Occam, (iii) would materially and adversely affect Calix s ability to own the assets or operate the business of Occam or (iv) seeks to compel any party to dispose of or hold separate any material assets as a result of the transaction.

Conditions to Occam s Obligations: The obligations of Occam to consummate the first-step merger are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:

the representations and warranties of Calix, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II, relating to organization, qualification and capitalization shall be accurate in all material respects as of the effective time as if made on such date, in each case, (i) except for representations and warranties that speak as of a particular date (provided that Calix s capitalization representation may be inaccurate by up to one percent of the fully-diluted shares of Calix); and (ii) without giving effect to any material adverse effect or other qualifications contained in the representations and warranties;

all other representations and warranties of Calix, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II shall be accurate in all respects as of the effective time as if made on such date (except for representations and warranties that speak as of a particular date, which shall be accurate as of such date) except, in each case, where the failure to be so accurate has not given, and would not reasonably be expected to give, effect to a material adverse effect or other qualifications contained in the representations and warranties;

Calix, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II must have complied in all material respects with the obligations and covenants required by each entity under the merger agreement at, or prior to, the effective time;

the absence of any continuing material adverse effect concerning the business, assets, liabilities, operations or financial condition of Calix and its subsidiaries since the date of the agreement;

Occam must have received an executed closing certificate from Calix;

Occam must have received the written opinion of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C. to the effect that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the merger transaction will qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code; and

the Calix common shares deliverable to Occam stockholders in connection with the merger transaction shall have been authorized for listing on the NYSE, upon official notice of issuance.

Effective Time

Under the terms of the merger agreement, the closing of the merger transaction will occur on a date to be specified by the parties, which in no event may be later than the second business day following the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions to closing. Unless a later date is agreed upon in writing by the parties, the merger transaction will be effective at the time the certificate of merger is filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware in connection with the first-step merger or such later time as agreed to by Calix and Occam and specified in the certificate of merger.

Termination of the Merger Agreement

The merger agreement may be terminated, and the first-step merger may be abandoned, at any time prior to the completion of the merger transaction (whether before or after Occam stockholder approval has been obtained):

by mutual written agreement of Calix and Occam;

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

by either Calix or Occam if the merger transaction has not been consummated on or before March 15, 2011 (provided that this right to terminate is not available to a party whose breach of the merger agreement resulted in the failure to consummate the merger transaction by March 15, 2011);

by mutual agreement of Calix and Occam, if the merger transaction has not been consummated by December 15, 2010 and if Calix and Occam make a mutual good faith determination that certain conditions relating to antitrust approval are not likely to be satisfied on or before March 15, 2011;

by either Calix or Occam if any final, non-appealable order, injunction or decree of a governmental entity of a competent jurisdiction in the United States permanently prohibits the merger transaction

(provided that this right to terminate is not available to a party whose breach of the merger agreement caused the issuance of such order, injunction or decree); and

by either Calix or Occam if Occam stockholders do not adopt the merger agreement at the Occam stockholder meeting (provided that this right to terminate is not available to a party whose breach of the merger agreement resulted in the failure to obtain Occam stockholder approval).

Calix and Occam were granted early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act effective November 16, 2010.

Calix may terminate the merger agreement:

If, prior to the adoption of the merger agreement by Occam stockholders, (i) the Occam board withdraws, modifies or qualifies in a manner adverse to Calix the recommendation of the Occam board in this proxy statement/prospectus that the Occam stockholders adopt the merger agreement, (ii) with respect to any acquisition proposal, (A) the Occam board fails to publicly reaffirm its recommendation within ten business days after the request of Calix to do so following the public announcement of such acquisition proposal, (B) the Occam board approves, endorses or publicly recommends to the Occam stockholders any such acquisition proposal or (C) Occam enters into any letter of intent or agreement (other than a confidentiality agreement as contemplated under the merger agreement) for such acquisition proposal, (iii) a tender or exchange offer for Occam securities is commenced and Occam fails to notify its stockholders in writing within ten business days after commencement that Occam recommends rejecting such offer, or (iv) Occam intentionally and materially breaches its obligations with respect to non-solicitation of offers described in The Merger Agreement No Solicitation of Offers by Occam.

if any of Occam s representations and warranties are inaccurate or if Occam has breached any of its covenants or obligations (in each case, if such breach not cured within 30 days written notice thereof), such that the applicable conditions to Calix s obligations to close would not be satisfied (provided that Calix, Ocean Sub I or Ocean Sub II are not then in material breach of the merger agreement); Occam may terminate the merger agreement:

if, prior to Occam stockholder approval, the Occam board changes its recommendation in respect of a superior proposal and simultaneously enters into an acquisition agreement with respect to such proposal; or

if any of Calix s representations and warranties are inaccurate or if Calix has breached any of its covenants or obligations (in each case, if such breach is not cured within 30 days written notice thereof), such that the applicable conditions to Occam s obligations to close would not be satisfied (provided that Occam is not then in material breach of the merger agreement).

Termination Fees and Expenses

Occam has agreed to pay Calix a termination fee of \$5,200,000 if the merger agreement is terminated under any of the following circumstances:

(i) the merger transaction has not been consummated because Occam stockholders do not adopt the merger agreement at the Occam stockholder meeting; and (ii) at or prior to the Occam stockholder meeting to vote on the merger transaction, an acquisition proposal involving a third party is publicly announced or becomes publicly known and has not been withdrawn; and (iii) within twelve months following the termination of the merger agreement pursuant to (i) above, Occam enters into a definitive agreement to effect an acquisition of Occam and such transaction is subsequently consummated;

if the merger agreement (i) is terminated (A) by mutual agreement of Calix and Occam between December 15, 2010 and March 15, 2011 or (B) by either Calix or Occam after March 15, 2011, in each case,

as a result of the antitrust conditions not being likely to be satisfied or not being met by March 15, 2011 and (ii) at or prior to such termination an acquisition proposal involving a third party is publicly announced or becomes publicly known and such acquisition proposal has not been withdrawn and (iii) within six months following such termination Occam enters into a definitive agreement to effect an acquisition of Occam with such third party and such transaction is subsequently consummated;

by Calix because certain triggering events relating to other acquisition proposals occur prior to the adoption of the merger agreement by Occam stockholders; or

by Occam, prior to Occam stockholder adoption of the merger agreement, because the Occam board recommends to its stockholders a superior proposal and is entering into an agreement with respect to such superior proposal. Calix has agreed to pay Occam a termination fee of \$5,000,000 if the merger agreement is terminated:

by the mutual agreement of Occam and Calix because the merger transaction has not been consummated by December 15, 2010 based on a good faith determination that certain conditions relating to antitrust approval are not likely to be satisfied on or before March 15, 2011, and if on such date, all of the merger transaction closing conditions, other than those relating to antitrust approval, are reasonably capable of being satisfied.

Calix has agreed to pay Occam a termination fee of \$10,000,000 if the merger agreement is terminated:

by either Occam or Calix because the merger transaction has not been consummated on or before March 15, 2011, and if on such date all of the merger transaction closing conditions have been satisfied or waived other than conditions that, by their nature, can only to be satisfied at the effective time or those relating to antitrust approval.

Calix and Occam were granted early termination of the waiting period under the HSR Act effective November 16, 2010.

Amendment and Waiver

The parties may amend the merger agreement at any time before completion of the merger transaction. All amendments to the merger agreement must be in writing and signed by Calix, Ocean Sub I, Ocean Sub II and Occam, and in the case of a waiver, signed by each party against whom the waiver is to be effective. After adoption of the merger agreement by Occam s stockholders, no amendment or waiver may be made which requires further approval by Occam s stockholders, unless Occam obtains that further approval.

Exclusive Jurisdiction

Under the merger agreement, the parties have submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Delaware courts for disputes among the parties.

AGREEMENTS ENTERED INTO IN CONNECTION WITH THE MERGER AGREEMENT

Support Agreement

As a condition and inducement to Calix s willingness to enter into the merger agreement, Calix, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II have entered into an agreement, which we refer to as the support agreement, with each of the beneficial owners of Occam s common stock listed on the table below. The following is a summary of the terms of the support agreement only and may not contain all of the information that is important to you. A copy of the support agreement is attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as <u>Annex D</u> and is incorporated by reference herein.

According to the terms of the support agreement, each party other than Calix has agreed to vote (or to cause the holder of record of such shares to so vote), and has granted Calix an irrevocable proxy to vote such party s beneficially owned shares, (i) in favor of the adoption of the merger agreement, (ii) against any acquisition proposal, and (iii) against any amendment to Occam s certificate of incorporation or bylaws that is intended, or could reasonably be expected to, impede, interfere with, delay, postpone or adversely affect the merger transaction. Furthermore, each party other than Calix has agreed not to exercise any of such party s appraisal rights that may arise in connection with the merger transaction, and, if applicable to such party, has also agreed not to, and to cause any of its affiliates to not, exercise or seek to exercise any of their rights under the Fourth Amended and Restated Investors Rights Agreement, dated as of January 7, 2005, by and among Occam and certain investors listed therein.

Subject to certain exceptions described in the support agreement, each party other than Calix, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II has agreed not to sell, pledge, encumber, grant options with respect to, transfer or dispose of the shares of Occam common stock beneficially owned by such party or to enter into any agreement related to any of the foregoing transfers or dispositions, in each case to anyone other than Calix. Subject to certain exceptions described in the support agreement, each such party has also agreed not to reduce such party s beneficial ownership of the shares set forth in the table below.

Subject to certain exceptions described in the support agreement, each party other than Calix has made representations and warranties to Calix regarding, among other things, such party s power and authority to enter into the support agreement and deliver the proxy, such party s unencumbered beneficial ownership of the shares of Occam common stock subject to the support agreement, and such party s full voting power and full power of disposition with respect to such shares of common stock.

The support agreement will terminate at the earlier to occur of (i) the valid termination of the merger agreement pursuant to its terms or (ii) the effective time.

As of November 30, 2010, the stockholders listed below who are party to the support agreement together owned 5,722,034 shares of Occam common stock, or approximately 27% of the voting power of Occam common stock. In addition, such stockholders hold Occam equity-based awards to purchase an additional 1,346,813 shares of Occam common stock.

Parties to the Support Agreements	Number of Shares of Common Stock	Number of Shares of Common Stock Issuable Upon Exercise of Outstanding Options	Number of Shares of Common Stock Issuable Upon Settlement of Outstanding RSUs
Robert L. Howard-Anderson ⁽¹⁾	58,208	387,105	20,002
Jeanne Seeley	28,808	165,000	28,335
Mark Rumer ⁽²⁾	110,356	183,614	10,000
David C. Mason	17,167	188,313	10,000
Russell J. Sharer	27,150	199,781	10,000
Greg Dion	16,046	182,000	10,000
Steven M. Krausz ⁽³⁾	3,172,497	1,000	0
Robert B. Abbott ⁽⁴⁾	2,062,640	1,250	0
Robert E. Bylin	52,978	16,875	0
Thomas E. Pardun	64,228	5,625	0
A.J. Bert Moyer	52,978	0	0
Brian Strom	58,978	16,250	0
TOTAL	5,722,034	1,346,813	88,337

- (1) Includes 2,698 ESPP shares purchased on August 16, 2010.
- (2) Includes 1,038 ESPP shares purchased on August 16, 2010.
- (3) Includes 3,110,893 shares held directly by US Venture Partners VII, L.P. (USVP VII), USVP Entrepreneur Partners VII-A, L.P. (EP VII-A), USVP Entrepreneur Partners VII-B, L.P. (EP VII-B), and 2180 Associates Fund VII, L.P. (2180 VII). Presidio Management Group VII, LLC (PMG VII), the general partner of USVP VII, EP VII-A, EP VII-B and 2180 VII, and Irwin Federman, Steven M. Krausz, Jonathan D. Root, Philip M. Young, Winston Fu and David Liddle the managing members of PMG VII, may be deemed to share voting and dispositive power over the shares held by USVP VII, EP VII-A, EP VII-B and 2180 VII. Such persons and entities disclaim beneficial ownership of shares held by USVP V, V Int 1, 2180 V and EP V except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein. Information to the number of shares held by USVP V, V Int 1, 2180 V and EP V except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein. Information to the number of shares held by US. Venture Partners is based on the Form 13D/A filed with the SEC on November 1, 2010. Also includes 23,392, 17,241 and 12,345 of Occam s restricted stock granted to Mr. Krausz on November 29, 2007, December 10, 2008 and November 18, 2009, respectively, in his capacity as Occam s non-employee director. Also includes 8,626 shares held by Krausz Family Limited Partnership.
- (4) Includes (i) 5,518 shares of Common Stock held by NEC; (ii) 1,909,493 shares of Common Stock held by NVP VIII; (iii) 94,651 shares of Common Stock held by NVP-E VIII; and (iv) 52,978 of restricted stock granted to Mr. Abbott in his capacity as non-employee director. George J. Still and Promod Haque are managing partners of Itasca NEC LLC, the managing member of NEC, and may be deemed have indirect beneficial ownership of the shares held by NEC. Messrs. Still and Haque are also managing partners of Itasca VC Partners VIII, the general partner of NVP VIII and NVP-E VIII and may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of the shares held by NVP-E VIII and NVP-E VIII. Messrs. Haque and Still disclaim beneficial ownership of such shares except to the extent of their pecuniary interest therein. Mr. Abbott is a non-managing member of Itasca NEC LLC and non-managing partner of Itasca VC Partners VIII, has no voting or dispositive power with respect to the shares held by NEC, NVP VIII or NVP-E VIII, and disclaims all beneficial ownership with respect to such shares except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein.

PROPOSAL TWO ADJOURNMENT OR POSTPONEMENT OF SPECIAL MEETING

Approval of Adjournment or Postponement of the Special Meeting of Occam Stockholders

If Occam fails to receive a sufficient number of votes to approve the terms of the merger, Occam may propose to adjourn or postpone Occam s special meeting, whether or not a quorum is present, until a later time for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies to approve the terms of the merger. Occam currently does not intend to propose adjournment or postponement at Occam s special meeting if there are sufficient votes to adopt the merger agreement. If approval of the proposal to adjourn or postpone Occam s special meeting for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies is submitted to Occam s stockholders for approval, such approval requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast at Occam s special meeting by the holders of shares of Occam common stock present or represented by proxy and entitled to vote thereon.

Board Recommendation

The Occam board unanimously recommends that the Occam stockholders vote FOR the proposal to adjourn or postpone Occam s special meeting, if necessary, to solicit additional proxies if there are not sufficient votes in favor of the proposal regarding the adoption of the merger agreement.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANIES

Calix, Inc.

Calix is a leading provider in North America of broadband communications access systems and software for copper- and fiber- based network architectures that enable communications service providers, or CSPs, to connect to their residential and business subscribers. Calix develops and sells carrier-class hardware and software products, referred to as the Unified Access portfolio, designed to enhance and transform CSP access networks to meet the changing demands of subscribers rapidly and cost-effectively. The Unified Access portfolio consists of Calix s two core platforms, the C-Series multiservice, multiprotocol access platform, or C-Series platform, and the E-Series Ethernet service access platforms and nodes, or E-Series platforms and nodes, along with complementary P-Series optical network terminals, or ONTs, and the Calix Management System, or CMS, network management software. Calix also offers installation, training, post-sales software support and extended warranty services.

Calix s shares are listed on the NYSE and trade under the symbol CALX. Calix s principal executive offices are located at 1035 N. McDowell Blvd, Petaluma, California 94954 and its telephone number is (707) 766-3000. As of September 25, 2010, Calix employed approximately 463 people.

Ocean Sub I, Inc.

Ocean Sub I, Inc., or Ocean Sub I, is a wholly owned subsidiary of Calix. Ocean Sub I has not carried on any activities to date, other than activities incidental to its formation or undertaken in connection with the transactions contemplated by the merger transaction. Ocean Sub I s principal executive offices are located at 1035 N. McDowell Blvd, Petaluma, California 94954 and its telephone number is (707) 766-3000.

Ocean Sub II, LLC

Ocean Sub II, LLC, or Ocean Sub II, is a wholly owned subsidiary of Calix. Ocean Sub II has not carried on any activities to date, other than activities incidental to its formation or undertaken in connection with the transactions contemplated by the merger transaction. Ocean Sub II s principal executive offices are located at 1035 N. McDowell Blvd, Petaluma, California 94954 and its telephone number is (707) 766-3000.

Occam Networks, Inc.

Occam develops markets and supports innovative broadband access products designed to enable telecom service providers to offer bundled voice, video and high speed internet, or Triple Play, services over both copper and fiber optic networks. Occam s core product line is the Broadband Loop Carrier, or BLC, an integrated hardware and software platform that uses Internet Protocol, or IP, and Ethernet technologies to increase the capacity of local access networks, enabling the delivery of advanced Triple Play services. Occam also offers a family of ONTs for fiber optic networks, remote terminal cabinets and professional services.

Occam s common stock is listed on the NASDAQ and trades under the symbol OCNW. Occam s principal executive offices are located at 6868 Cortona Drive, Santa Barbara, California 93117, and its telephone number is (805) 692-2900.

CALIX BUSINESS

Overview

Calix is a leading provider in North America of broadband communications access systems and software for copper- and fiber- based network architectures that enable communications service providers, or CSPs, to connect to their residential and business subscribers. Calix enables CSPs to provide a wide range of revenue-generating services, from basic voice and data to advanced broadband services, over legacy and next-generation access networks. Calix focuses solely on CSP access networks, the portion of the network which governs available bandwidth and determines the range and quality of services that can be offered to subscribers. Calix develops and sells carrier-class hardware and software products, which is referred to as the Unified Access portfolio, that are designed to enhance and transform CSP access networks to meet the changing demands of subscribers rapidly and cost-effectively.

Calix s Unified Access portfolio consists of two core platforms, the C7 multiservice, multiprotocol access platform, or C-Series platform, and the E-Series Ethernet service access platforms and nodes, or E-Series platforms and nodes, along with complementary P-Series optical network terminals, or ONTs, and the Calix Management System, or CMS, network management software. Calix s broad and comprehensive portfolio serves the CSP network from the central office to the subscriber premises and enables CSPs to deliver both basic voice and data and advanced broadband services over legacy and next-generation access networks. These packet-based platforms enable CSPs to rapidly introduce new revenue-generating services, while minimizing the capital and operational costs of CSP networks. The Unified Access portfolio allows CSPs to evolve their networks and service delivery capabilities at a pace that balances their financial, competitive and technology needs.

Calix believes that the rapid growth of Internet and data traffic, introduction of bandwidth-intensive advanced broadband services, such as high-speed Internet, Internet protocol television, or IPTV, mobile broadband, high-definition video and online gaming, and the increasingly competitive market for residential and business subscribers are driving CSPs to invest in and upgrade their access networks. Calix also believes that CSPs will gradually transform their access networks to deliver these advanced broadband services over fiber-based networks, thereby preparing networks for continued bandwidth growth, the introduction of new services and more cost-effective operations. During this time, CSPs will increasingly deploy new fiber-based network infrastructure to enable this transition while continuing to support basic voice and data services over legacy networks. Calix s portfolio is designed to enable this evolution of the access network efficiently and flexibly.

Calix markets its access systems and software to CSPs in North America, the Caribbean and Latin America through its direct sales force. As of September 25, 2010, Calix has shipped over seven million ports of its Unified Access portfolio to more than 600 North American and international customers, whose networks serve over 40 million subscriber lines in total. Calix s customers include 14 of the 20 largest U.S. Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers, or ILECs. In addition, Calix has over 260 commercial video customers and have enabled over 450 customers to deploy gigabit passive optical network, or GPON, Active Ethernet and point-to-point Ethernet fiber access networks.

Industry Background

CSPs compete in a rapidly changing market to deliver a range of voice, data and video services to their residential and business subscribers. CSPs include wireline and wireless service providers, cable multiple system operators, or MSOs, and municipalities. The rise in Internet-enabled communications has created an environment in which CSPs are competing to deliver voice, data and video offerings to their subscribers across fixed and mobile networks. Residential and business subscribers now have the opportunity to purchase an array of services such as basic voice and data as well as advanced broadband services such as high-speed Internet, IPTV, mobile broadband, high-definition video and online gaming from a variety of CSPs. The rapid growth in new services is generating increased network traffic. For example, Cisco Systems, Inc. estimates that global IP traffic will grow

at a compound annual growth rate of 40% from approximately 10,000 petabytes per month in 2008 to approximately 56,000 petabytes per month in 2013. Calix believes that increased network traffic will be largely driven by video, which is expected to account for over 90% of global consumer traffic by 2013. CSPs are also broadening their offerings of bandwidth-intensive advanced broadband services, while maintaining support for their widely utilized basic voice and data services. CSPs are being driven to evolve their access networks to enable cost-effective delivery of a broad range of services demanded by their subscribers. According to estimates by Infonetics Research, CSPs will increase their aggregate spending on broadband aggregation equipment, fiber-based access equipment, cable aggregation equipment, mobile backhaul equipment and carrier Ethernet equipment in North America from \$7.6 billion in 2009 to \$11.2 billion in 2013 and worldwide from \$35.9 billion in 2009 to \$54.7 billion in 2013.

With strong subscriber demand for low latency and bandwidth-intensive applications, CSPs are seeking to offer new services, realize new revenue streams, build out new infrastructure and differentiate themselves from their competitors. CSPs typically compete on their cost to acquire and retain subscribers, the quality of their service offerings and the cost to deploy and operate their networks. In the past, CSPs offered different solutions delivered over distinct networks designed for specific services and were generally not in direct competition. For example, traditional wireline service providers provided voice services whereas cable MSOs delivered cable television services. Currently, CSPs are increasingly offering services that leverage Internet protocol, or IP, thereby enabling CSPs of all types to offer a comprehensive bundle of IP-based voice, data and video services to their subscribers. This has increased the level of competition among CSPs as wireline and wireless service providers, cable MSOs and other CSPs can all compete for the same residential and business subscribers using similar types of IP-based services.

Access Networks are Critical and Strategic to CSPs and Policymakers

Access networks, also known as the local loop or last mile, directly and physically connect the residential or business subscriber to the CSP s central office or similar facilities. The access network is critical for service delivery as it governs the bandwidth capacity, service quality available to subscribers and ultimately the services CSPs can provide to subscribers. Providing differentiated, high-speed, high quality connectivity has become increasingly critical for CSPs to retain and expand their subscriber base and to launch new services. Typically, subscribers consider service breadth, price, ease of use and technical support as key factors in the decision to purchase services from a CSP. As CSPs face increasing pressure to retain their basic voice and data customers in response to cable MSOs offering voice, data and video services, it is critical for CSPs to continue to invest in and upgrade their access networks in order to maintain a compelling service offering, drive new revenue opportunities and maintain and grow their subscriber base. Access networks can meaningfully affect the ongoing success of CSPs.

Governments around the world recognize the importance of expanding broadband networks and delivering advanced broadband services to more people and businesses. For example, in February 2009, the U.S. government passed the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act, or ARRA, which set aside approximately \$7.2 billion as Broadband Stimulus funds for widening the reach of broadband access across the United States. These funds, distributed in the form of grants, loans and loan guarantees, primarily target wireline and wireless service providers operating in rural, unserved and underserved areas in the United States. Many CSPs are actively pursuing stimulus funds and have submitted various proposals to receive assistance for their broadband access infrastructure projects. Awards for these projects were issued between December 2009 and September 2010.

Limitations of Traditional Access Networks

CSPs rely on the capabilities and quality of their access networks to sustain their business and relationships with their subscribers. In the past, subscribers had little influence over the types of services provided by CSPs. Today, subscribers can be more selective among CSPs and they are increasingly demanding advanced broadband

services in addition to basic voice and data services. In general, access networks are highly capital intensive and CSPs have historically upgraded capacity as technology and subscriber demands on their networks changed. CSPs will increasingly integrate fiber-and Ethernet-based access networks to enable the delivery of more advanced broadband services at a lower cost while at the same time enabling the continued delivery of basic voice and data services. Thus far CSPs have taken an incremental approach to capacity upgrades in their access networks. As a result CSPs face multiple challenges concerning their access networks, business models and service delivery capabilities, including:

A Complex Patchwork of Networks and Technologies In order to upgrade their access networks CSPs have typically added networks for new residential or business services that they deliver, such as digital subscriber line, or DSL, data over cable service interface specification, or DOCSIS, GPON or Gigabit Ethernet on top of existing networks. This led to an overbuild of access technologies and an unnecessarily complex patchwork of physical connections between the central office and the subscriber. In addition, CSPs have generally begun to expand the penetration of fiber into their access networks, thereby shortening the length of the subscriber connection through other lower bandwidth media types (such as copper-based or coaxial cable-based networks). CSPs have also attempted to evolve their access networks to enable more efficient packet-based services by adding Ethernet protocols on top of existing asynchronous transfer mode, or ATM, and DSL protocols. In addition, CSPs have often deployed separate equipment to facilitate the delivery of Synchronous Optical Networking, or SONET, Gigabit Ethernet and 10 Gigabit Ethernet transport which connects CSP central offices with their access networks, further increasing the complexity and the cost of their networks. This approach has left most CSPs with disparate architectures, features, functions and capabilities in different parts of their networks. This increasingly complex, patchwork approach to deploying access networks and delivering new services to their subscribers has created potential complications for CSPs within their access networks. These potential complications limit data transmission capability, increase the cost of operation and maintenance and can negatively impact the subscriber experience.

Limited Capacity from Legacy Access Architectures Legacy access network architectures were designed to address earlier generation communication demands of wireline telephone, cable television and cellular services. Such access networks have physical limitations in their ability to scale bandwidth, avoid latency issues and deliver advanced broadband services, which subscribers demand today and are expected to increasingly demand in the future. In addition, CSPs understand the need to add fiber to their networks to provide the bandwidth required to scale advanced broadband services. However, it is costly and complex to integrate fiber-based technologies into legacy access networks.

Inflexible Technologies Increase Network Switching Costs Legacy access networks were architected around a narrow set of technologies. For example, traditional voice calls use circuit switching technology to allocate a fixed amount of network capacity to each call, regardless of whether such capacity is fully utilized. The emergence of packet-based technologies, primarily IP and Ethernet, has significantly improved the ability to transmit data efficiently across networks as bandwidth is only consumed when signals are actually being transmitted. Most legacy access networks do not allow circuit- and packet-based technologies to co-exist or to evolve from one technology to another.

Inefficient Service Roll-out Constrains Subscriber Offerings Legacy access networks were designed to support a narrow range of services and as a result, they limit the ability of CSPs to provision the advanced broadband services increasingly demanded by their subscribers. Packet-based networks are more flexible and efficient than traditional circuit-switched networks. For example, to provision additional business services in a legacy access network, a CSP would typically deploy additional physical connections and equipment, whereas packet-based infrastructure allows a CSP to change or add services virtually, without the presence of a service technician or the installation of new equipment. In order to deploy these services quickly and efficiently, CSPs must be able to utilize their existing infrastructure while upgrading the legacy access network to packet-based technologies.

Highly Reliable Access Products are Difficult to Engineer and Manage Given the critical nature of access networks and their typical deployment in remote and distant locations, access infrastructure products must be highly reliable. Unlike most other communications equipment which is deployed in environmentally controlled central offices or similar facilities, most access equipment is deployed in outdoor environments and must be specifically engineered to operate in variable and often extremely harsh conditions, as well as fit into smaller spaces, such as on a street corner, near office buildings or on the side of a house or cellular tower. Since the access portion of the network is broadly distributed, it is expensive as well as difficult to manage and maintain. CSPs require access network equipment that can perform reliably in these uncontrolled environments and be deployed in a variety of form factors, thereby adding significant engineering and product development challenges as compared to most other forms of communications infrastructure equipment. In addition, some portion of the access market is supported by government initiatives and products sold into this segment require additional government certifications and approvals in order to qualify for deployment.

Expensive to Deploy and Operate As a result of deploying multiple networks with discrete functions, legacy access networks require a wide variety of equipment to be installed, maintained and ultimately replaced, thereby placing a significant and recurring capital and operating expense burden on the CSP. Once installed, this equipment occupies valuable space inside a central office, requires frequent labor-intensive maintenance and consumes meaningful amounts of power. Moreover, the lack of integration across protocols and copper- and fiber-based network architectures negatively impacts network performance. Inferior network performance diminishes the subscriber experience and increases network operating costs by increasing service calls, the number of required support staff and the frequency of equipment upgrades and replacements. As broadband network availability and quality are becoming more critical to subscribers, lack of network reliability can be materially disruptive, expensive and ultimately increase subscriber churn, thereby negatively impacting the CSP s business.

Given these limitations of legacy access networks, CSPs will increasingly emphasize fiber- and Ethernet-based technologies in their access networks thereby enabling the rapid, cost-effective deployment of advanced broadband services. Such technologies reduce overhead expenses, simplify network architectures and seamlessly integrate legacy and next-generation networks. Calix therefore believes that successful CSPs will be those that evolve from providing basic subscriber connectivity to providing the most relevant services and subscriber experience.

The Calix Solution

Calix is a leading provider in North America of broadband communications access systems and software for copper- and fiber-based network architectures that enable CSPs to connect to their residential and business subscribers. The Unified Access portfolio enables CSPs to quickly meet subscriber demands for both basic voice and data as well as advanced broadband services, while providing CSPs with the flexibility to optimize and transform their networks at a pace that balances their financial, competitive and technology needs. Calix s systems and software leverage packet-based technologies enable CSPs to offer a wide range of revenue-generating services, from basic voice and data to advanced broadband services regardless of protocol or network connection media. Calix s Unified Access portfolio consists of the C-Series platform, E-Series platforms and nodes, complementary P-Series ONTs and CMS.

Calix believes that its Unified Access portfolio of network and premises-based solutions provides the following benefits to CSPs:

Single Unified Access Infrastructure Network for Basic and Advanced Services Calix s Unified Access portfolio allows for a broad range of subscriber services to be provisioned and delivered over a single unified network. These systems can deliver basic voice and data, advanced broadband services, including high-speed Internet, IPTV, mobile broadband, high-definition video and online gaming, as well as integrated transport within the Unified Access portfolio, all of which can be monitored and

managed by CMS. In addition, the systems can be deployed in both small and large form factors across multiple deployment scenarios depending on subscriber proximity and service requirements. The multiservice approach allows CSPs to utilize their legacy access networks during the course of their equipment upgrade and network migration, saving them time and money in delivering both basic voice and data and advanced broadband services.

High Capacity and Operational Efficiency Calix s Unified Access portfolio is designed to facilitate the evolution of CSP access networks to fiber- and Ethernet-based network architectures. The portfolio includes platforms that exceed the capacity of the products of Calix s most direct competitors. Calix s platforms are designed and optimized for copper- and fiber-based network architectures. Calix also has a broad portfolio of feature-rich fiber ONTs that serve as the on-premises gateways for new services to subscribers. Calix s extended reach GPON offers customers greater capacity and operational efficiencies, including the ability to reach subscribers further away from a CSP s central office, thereby also allowing CSPs to consolidate multiple central offices and further reduce operating expense. Furthermore, Calix s ONTs auto-detect fiber access technologies supporting both GPON and Active Ethernet and provide CSPs additional cost and management efficiencies.

Highly Flexible Technology Solutions Calix s Unified Access portfolio enables CSPs to utilize legacy access network infrastructure during their migration towards fiber- and Ethernet-based access networks. The portfolio supports multiple protocols, different form factors and modular options optimized for a variety of installation locations and environments and multiple services delivered over copper- and fiber-based network architectures.

Seamless Transition to Advanced Services Calix s Unified Access portfolio enables CSPs to better manage the evolution of their access networks by transitioning the delivery of basic voice and data services to advanced broadband services. The C-Series platform supports ongoing demand for basic voice and data services and facilitates a seamless and controlled migration to IP-based services. For CSPs without legacy network constraints, the E-Series platforms and nodes allow CSPs to deploy advanced broadband services rapidly and cost effectively to their subscribers.

Highly Reliable and Purpose-Built Solutions for Demands of Access Calix s Unified Access portfolio is designed for high availability and purpose-built for the demands of access network deployments. Calix s carrier-class products are environmentally hardened and field-tested to be capable of withstanding harsh environmental conditions, including temperatures between 40 and 65 degrees Celsius, extremely dry or wet conditions and physical abuse. Calix s access systems are built and tested to meet or exceed network equipment-building system standards, which are a set of safety, spatial and environmental design guidelines for telecommunications equipment. Calix s products are highly compatible and designed to be easily integrated into the existing operational and management infrastructure of CSP access networks. Calix s portfolio can be deployed in multiple form factors and power configurations to address a wide range of deployment scenarios influenced by space and power constraints.

Compelling Customer Value Proposition Calix believes its Unified Access portfolio offers CSPs a compelling value proposition. The portfolio provides CSPs the flexibility to upgrade their networks over time, reduce operational costs and maximize their return on capital expenditures. Calix s packet-based platforms enable CSPs to offer new services more quickly and generate new revenue opportunities. Calix believes the interoperability and compatibility of its portfolio reduces the complexity and cost of managing CSP networks.

Calix s Strategy

Calix s Unified Access portfolio enables the delivery of basic voice and data and advanced broadband services, across multiple protocols and form factors over copper- and fiber-based network architectures. Calix s objective is to leverage its Unified Access portfolio to become the leading supplier of access systems and

software that enable CSPs to transform their networks and business models to meet the changing demands of their subscribers. The principal elements of Calix s strategy are:

Continue Calix s Sole Focus on Access Systems and Software Calix s dedicated focus on access has been an important driver of its success with customers. Calix believes this focus has allowed the company to develop innovative access systems and a highly efficient service and deployment model that have been widely implemented by CSPs. For example, according to Broadband Properties Magazine s March 2010 study of fiber access technology deployed by independent U.S. CSPs, Calix has deployed leading edge passive optical network fiber access solutions at 309 distinct CSPs representing 62% of all CSPs who have reported the vendor supplying their fiber access solutions. According to Infonetics Research, Calix was the leading provider of multiservice access platforms in North America during the calendar year 2009, representing a 49% market share based on revenue. Virtually all of Calix s large competitors in the access market devote some percentage of their resources to products outside of the access market, which it believes will enable Calix to continue to deliver compelling, timely and innovative access solutions to CSPs.

Continue to Enable Customers to Transform Their Networks and Business Models Calix believes that residential and business subscribers are pressuring CSPs to expand their offerings through the delivery of superior subscriber experiences. In response, CSPs need to transform their networks and business models by rapidly provisioning new services while minimizing the capital and operational costs of their networks. Calix believes its Unified Access portfolio enables CSPs to introduce new revenue-generating services as demanded by their subscribers. As of September 25, 2010, over 260 of Calix s customers have added commercial video services deployed over Calix s Unified Access Infrastructure.

Continue to Engage Directly with Customers Calix operates a differentiated business model focused on aligning with its customers through direct engagement, service and support. Calix s direct customer engagement model allows the company to target its sales resources as well as align Calix s product development efforts closely to customers needs. Calix s direct engagement model is a key differentiator for its business and is critical to its continued market leadership.

Leverage Calix s Growing Customer Footprint As of September 25, 2010, Calix has shipped over seven million ports from its portfolio to more than 600 North American and international customers, whose networks serve over 40 million subscriber lines in total. Calix s customers include 14 of the 20 largest U.S. ILECs. This footprint provides Calix with the opportunity to sell additional components of its Unified Access portfolio to existing customers. For example, the vast majority of Calix s existing customers have purchased additional line cards and other products from the company after their initial purchase. Calix has also demonstrated that its footprint, combined with the flexibility of its portfolio, gives it incumbency benefits to sell complementary or new offerings in the future. For instance, since the introduction of Calix s first E-Series platform in the fourth quarter of 2007, approximately 61% of Calix s customers that originally purchased the C-Series platform have also purchased E-Series platforms and nodes to deliver complementary services to their subscribers.

Expand Deliberately into New Market and Applications Calix believes that a disciplined approach to targeting markets and applications is critical to the company s long-term success. For example, Calix initially focused on rural ILECs and has achieved an industry leadership position as over 40% of U.S. Independent Operating Companies, or IOCs, have deployed the access systems and software. Calix then entered new geographic markets, including Mexico and the Caribbean, where it now has significant deployments in the Bahamas, Barbados, Dominican Republic, Jamaica and Trinidad and Tobago. Calix will continue its disciplined approach of targeting new applications in which the company believes its products will rapidly gain customer adoption. For example, Calix is targeting additional markets for its fiber access solutions, including the mobile backhaul and cable business services markets.

Pursue Strategic Relationships, Alliances and Acquisitions Calix intends to continue to pursue strategic technology and distribution relationships, alliances and acquisitions that align the company with CSPs strategic direction to increase revenue-generating services while reducing the cost to deploy and operate their access networks. Calix believes these relationships, alliances and acquisitions will allow the company to grow its footprint and enhance its ability to sell Calix access systems and software. Calix developed and invested in the Calix Compatible Program to assure interoperability across the ecosystem of the majority of vendors critical for implementing and delivering new advanced broadband services. This program has more than 67 technology members to date and enables customers to rapidly deploy proven solutions in their access networks. Calix works with Cisco to provide GPON solutions in North America and has partnered with Microsoft to ensure successful interoperation between its products and its Mediaroom IPTV application. In addition, Calix s acquisition of Optical Solutions, Inc. in 2006 has provided the company with leading fiber access technology that has been integrated into the Calix Unified Access portfolio.

Customers

Calix operates a differentiated customer engagement model that focuses on direct alignment with its customers through sales, service and support. In order to allocate product development and sales efforts efficiently, Calix believes that it is critical to target markets, customers and applications deliberately. Calix has traditionally targeted CSPs which own, build and upgrade their own access networks and which also value strong relationships with their access systems and software suppliers.

As of September 25, 2010, Calix had more than 600 customers, the majority of which are based in the United States. The U.S. ILEC market is composed of three distinct tiers of carriers, which are categorized based on their subscriber line counts and geographic coverage. Tier 1 CSPs are very large with wide geographic footprints. They have greater than ten million subscriber lines and they generally correspond with the former Regional Bell Operating Companies. Tier 2 CSPs also operate typically within a wide geographic footprint, but are smaller in scale, with subscriber lines that range from approximately one million subscriber lines to approximately eight million subscriber lines. Their service coverage areas are predominantly regional in scope and therefore are often known as Regional Local Exchange Carriers, or RLECs. Tier 3 CSPs consist of over 1,000 predominantly local operators typically focused on a single or a cluster of communities. Often called IOCs, they range in size from a few hundred to approximately half a million subscriber lines. Because of similarities in subscriber line size and focused market footprint, Calix typically includes Competitive Local Exchange Carriers and municipalities in this market segment.

To date, Calix has focused primarily on Tier 2 and Tier 3 CSPs. As a result, Calix s customers include 14 of the largest 20 ILECs in the United States, as measured by subscriber lines. Calix s existing customers networks serve over 40 million subscriber lines. Representative Tier 2 customers include CenturyLink, Inc. (formed by the merger of CenturyTel, Inc. and Embarq Corporation, completed as July 1, 2009), Windstream Corp. and TDS Telecommunications Corporation. Calix s Tier 3 CSP customers have historically accounted for a large percentage of its sales. Calix also serves new entrants to the access services market who are building their own access networks, including cable MSOs, such as Cox Communications, and municipalities. Moreover, Calix has entered new geographic markets, including Mexico and the Caribbean, where it now has significant deployments in locations such as the Bahamas, Barbados, Dominican Republic, Jamaica and Trinidad and Tobago. Calix anticipates that it will target CSPs outside North America as part of its expansion strategy.

Calix has a number of large customers who have represented a significant portion of its sales in a given period. For example, for 2009, CenturyLink, Inc. and its predecessors Embarq Corporation and CenturyTel, Inc., which are collectively referred to herein as CenturyLink, accounted for 38% of Calix s revenue. In 2008, CenturyLink and one other customer accounted for 25% and 11% of Calix s revenue, respectively. In 2007, CenturyLink and another different customer accounted for 22% and 15% of Calix s revenue, respectively.

Some of Calix s customers within the United States use or expect to use government-supported loan programs or grants to finance capital spending. Loans and grants through RUS, which is a part of the United States Department of Agriculture, are used to promote the development of telecommunications infrastructure in rural areas. In addition, the Broadband Stimulus initiatives under the ARRA may also make funds available to certain of Calix s customers.

Sales to customers outside of the United States represented approximately 13% of Calix s revenues for the nine months ended September 25, 2010, 9% of its revenues for 2009, 16% of its revenues for 2008 and 6% of its revenues for 2007. To date, Calix s sales outside of the United States have predominantly been to customers in the Caribbean.

Customer Engagement Model

Calix markets and sells access systems and software exclusively through its direct sales force, supported by marketing and product management personnel. Calix s sales effort is organized either by named accounts or regional responsibilities. Account teams comprise sales managers, supported by sales engineers and account managers, who work to target and sell to existing and prospective CSPs. The sales process includes analyzing Calix s existing networks and identifying how to utilize Calix products within their networks. Calix also offers advice regarding eligibility and also supports proposals to the appropriate agencies when the company is a material supplier. Calix believes that its direct customer engagement approach provides the company with significant differentiation in the customer sales process by aligning more closely with its customers changing needs.

As part of Calix s sales process, CSPs will usually perform a lab trial or a field trial of its access systems prior to full-scale commercial deployment. This is most common for CSPs purchasing a particular access system for the first time. Upon successful completion, the CSP generally accepts the lab and field trial equipment installed in its network and may continue with deployment of additional access systems. Calix s sales cycle, from initial contact with a CSP through the signing of a purchase agreement, may, in some cases, take several quarters.

Typically Calix customer agreements contain general terms and conditions applicable to purchases of the access systems and software. By entering into a customer agreement with Calix, a customer does not become obligated to order or purchase any fixed or minimum quantities of access systems and software. Customers generally order access systems and software from Calix by submitting purchase orders that describe, among other things, the type and quantities of Calix s access systems and software that they desire to order, the delivery and installation terms and other terms that are applicable to the access systems and software. Customers who have been awarded RUS loans or grants are required to contract under form contracts approved by RUS.

Calix s direct customer engagement model extends to service and support. Calix s service and support organization works closely with customers to ensure the successful installation and ongoing support of the company s Unified Access portfolio. Calix s service and support organization provides technical product support and consults with its customers to address their needs. The company offers its customers a range of support offerings, including program management, training, installation and post-sales technical support. As a part of its pre-sales effort, Calix engineers design the implementation of the products in its customers access networks to meet their performance and interoperability requirements.

Calix s U.S.-based technical support organization offers support 24 hours a day, seven days a week. With an active CMS license, customers receive access to telephone support and online technical information, software product upgrades and maintenance releases, advanced return materials authorization and on-site support, if necessary. CMS licenses are renewable on an annual basis. Most of Calix s customers renew their CMS licenses. For customers not under CMS license, support is provided for a fee on a per-incident basis.

Products and Technology

Calix develops, sells and supports carrier-class hardware and software products which are collectively referred to as the Unified Access portfolio. The Unified Access portfolio enables CSPs to deliver both basic voice and data and advanced broadband services over legacy and next-generation access networks. Calix s Unified Access Infrastructure consists of the following key features:

Broad Product Offering Calix offers a comprehensive portfolio of access systems and software that is deployed in the portion of the network that extends from the central office or similar facilities to a subscriber s premises. Calix sells its access systems in a variety of form factors, modular options and configurations that are important to CSPs. Calix s network-based products include the C-Series platform, which is a multiservice, multiprotocol access platform, and the Ethernet-focused E-Series platforms and nodes, which provide cost-effective, flexible service delivery of IP-based services. Calix s premises-based offering consists of the P-Series ONTs, which are deployed in combination with the C-Series and E-Series platforms and nodes. Calix offers an extensive line of ONTs to enable customers to connect to their subscribers across a diverse set of form factors, protocols and functionality requirements.

Multiservice and Multiprotocol Calix develops its products and an extensive offering of service interfaces to ensure CSPs can connect to their subscribers to enable the delivery of basic voice and data or advanced broadband services over copper- and fiber-based network architectures regardless of protocol. Calix s C-Series platform also enables CSPs to integrate IP and legacy protocols as well as the integration of copper- and fiber-based connectivity in a single chassis. In doing so, the C-Series platform allows CSPs to evolve their access infrastructures over time. The E-Series platforms and nodes are multiservice but focus solely on Ethernet. The E-Series platforms and nodes are often, but not required to be, deployed together so that the C-Series platforms can act as a protocol gateway for E-Series platforms and nodes.

Common Operating System Kernel All of Calix s access systems are interoperable and are designed to be easily deployed and managed together as a single, unified access network. The C7, E7 and the E5-400 utilize a common Ethernet kernel, which is referred to as the Ethernet Extensible Architecture, or EXA, that was developed based on industry standard protocols and focused on the needs of the access network. Because its core platforms leverage this common operating system kernel, Calix can develop, test and introduce new access systems and software rapidly, and enable its customers to deploy advanced broadband services at their desired pace.

Unified Network Management CMS is server-based network management software capable of overseeing and managing multiple C-Series and E-Series networks. In addition, CMS performs all provisioning, maintenance and troubleshooting operations across disparate access technologies and networks through a common user interface. This enables CSPs to manage and unify the various elements of the Unified Access portfolio as a single, scalable platform. CMS is often integrated by Calix customers with their back-office systems for billing and provisioning.

Calix s Unified Access portfolio allows CSPs to transform their legacy and mixed protocol access networks to fiber and Ethernet over time. CSPs often deploy Calix s C-Series and/or E-Series platforms and nodes together in central offices or similar facilities to interconnect central offices. The C-Series platform can act as a protocol gateway when deployed with the E-Series platforms and nodes. Calix s E-Series platforms and nodes can be deployed either in central offices, remote network locations, existing cabinets or in customer premises locations depending upon the CSP s requirements. Both the C-Series and E-Series platforms and nodes interoperate with and can terminate network traffic from the P-Series ONTs.

A graphic representation of how the various components of Calix s Unified Access portfolio work together is shown in the network diagram below:

The graphic above depicts how a CSP might deploy Calix s Unified Access portfolio in a CSP network. The network is divided into four segments: (1) the routed core network, (2) the central office and the remote terminal, (3) the node and (4) the subscriber, business or multi-dwelling unit, or MDU, premises. First, voice, video or data content is aggregated by a router in the network core and transferred to a C7 or E7. The content is then sent around a redundant Ethernet transport ring, which operates using the 10 Gigabit Ethernet or Gigabit Ethernet standard. The ring consists of a variety of Calix access platforms, including the C7, the E7 and the E5-400, each of which may be located in other central offices or in remote terminal locations closer to subscribers. Content can be pulled from any one of these locations and delivered either to a Calix platform located at a remote node or directly to a subscriber premises. In the case where content is delivered to another Calix platform, the content can be delivered over a variety of fiber-based technologies, such as 10 Gigabit Ethernet, Gigabit Ethernet or multiple Gigabit Ethernet, or NxGE. Delivery to the subscriber premises over fiber or copper transmission lines is the final part of the access network. Delivery over fiber lines uses GPON, Active Ethernet or point-to-point Ethernet services, and delivery over copper lines uses DSL services or plain old telephone service, or POTS. The CMS manages all aspects of the Unified Access portfolio and supports features that allow remote management of equipment across the network, including equipment at the subscriber premises.

Calix C-Series Multiservice, Multiprotocol Access Platform

Calix s C7 multiservice, multiprotocol access platform, or C-Series platform, is designed to support a wide array of basic voice and data services offered by CSPs, while also supporting advanced, high-speed, packet-based services such as Gigabit Ethernet, GPON and DSL (including very high-speed digital subscriber line 2, or VDSL2, and asymmetrical digital subscriber line 2+, or ADSL2+) and advanced applications like IPTV. In so doing, the C-Series platform facilitates network transformation by integrating the functions required to transport

and deliver voice, data and video services over both copper- and fiber-based network architectures. Calix s C-Series platform is a chassis-based product with 23 line card slots, three of which are used for common logic, switching fabric and uplinks, with the remaining 20 slots available for any service interface card Calix offers. The C-Series platform is managed using CMS. Calix s high-capacity C-Series platform is flexible and is designed to be deployed in a variety of locations, including central offices, remote terminals, video headends and co-location facilities. Calix s C-Series platform leverages a common operating system kernel, the EXA, that it shares with most of the Calix E-Series Ethernet service access platforms and nodes, or E-Series platforms and nodes, allowing for common provisioning and facilitated platform interoperability. The multiprotocol and integrated transport capabilities of Calix s C-Series platform allow it to be deployed as an aggregation or gateway device for the E-Series platforms and nodes and P-Series ONTs.

Key technology differentiators of the C-Series platform are:

Protocol Independent The C-Series platform enables the integration of multiple protocols through a system architecture where line cards perform specific protocol processing before converting traffic into fixed length packets that are then processed by a highly scalable packet core.

High Capacity The C-Series platform can enable up to 200 gigabits per second total throughput capacity. It can provide service delivery speeds of up to 10 gigabits per second in network transport rings or directly to subscribers, which is significantly greater than the bandwidth that CSPs are typically providing to their subscribers. This enables CSPs to scale their advanced broadband service offerings over time without the need to change their equipment.

Flexible Switching Architecture The C-Series platform supports a highly scalable 64-byte fixed length packet switch with characteristics similar to high performance routers. All services are converted to packets on line cards allowing this platform to natively switch circuits, cells and packets. As a result, both legacy and advanced packet-based services can be supported simultaneously or uniformly, allowing the C-Series to be deployed as a pure Ethernet delivery platform, a traditional service delivery platform or a hybrid services platform.

Density In typical applications, a single 14-inch high C-Series platform shelf can terminate 480 copper-based subscriber connections, or up to 5,120 fiber-to-the premises, or FTTP, subscribers using GPON. This functionality allows up to 2,400 subscribers of advanced broadband services over copper-based networks or over 25,000 subscribers over fiber-based networks to be served out of a single seven-foot rack in the central office.

Reduced Risk of Technological Obsolescence As new services and technologies are introduced to the network, the flexible C-Series architecture allows CSPs to add or swap line cards to introduce new functionality into the access system. New services such as IPTV and voice-over-Internet-protocol require new features like Internet Group Management Protocol channel change processing and protocol gateway support, which can easily be added without substantial changes to existing equipment. As a result, equipment purchased by CSPs can have longer useful lives which can reduce CSPs capital expenditures.

Extensive Line Card Offering Currently the C-Series platform offers 47 line cards that enable a diverse set of trunk and subscriber interfaces, ranging from basic voice service and specialized circuits to advanced broadband services such as packet-based Fast and Gigabit Ethernet, SONET (up to optical carrier-48, or OC-48), VDSL2 and ADSL2+ across multiple copper pairs and GPON. In addition, the C-Series platform supports multiple combinations of service interface cards in any slot at any time. Calix believes this flexibility provides CSPs the ability to evolve networks toward higher-capacity, packet-based service offerings in a minimally disruptive and cost-effective manner.

The following pictures depict the C-Series platform and sample line cards:

Calix E-Series Ethernet Service Access Platforms and Nodes

The E-Series Ethernet service access platforms and Ethernet series access nodes, or E-Series platforms and nodes, consist of chassis-based platforms as well as fixed form factor nodes that are designed to support an array of advanced IP-based services offered by CSPs. The E-Series platforms and nodes are designed to be carrier-class and enable CSPs to implement advanced Ethernet transport and aggregation, as well as voice, data and video services over both copper- and fiber-based network architectures. The E-Series platforms and nodes are environmentally hardened and can be deployed in a variety of network locations, including central offices, remote terminals, video headends and co-location facilities. In addition, due to the small size of many E-Series platforms, most can be installed in confined locations such as remote nodes and multi-dwelling units, or MDUs. As such, many of the E-Series platforms and nodes are managed using CMS and can be deployed in conjunction with the C-Series platform and P-Series ONTs. Calix believes the deployment flexibility and Ethernet focus of its E-Series platforms and nodes make them well suited for CSPs extending Ethernet services and fiber closer to the subscriber premises.

The Calix E7 has two form factors. The E7-2 is a one rack unit chassis with two line card slots, whereas the E7-20 is a 13 rack unit chassis with two common control card slots and 20 service line card slots. Calix s E7s deliver Ethernet services over fiber, including a wide range of GPON, point-to-point Gigabit Ethernet, Active Ethernet and 10 Gigabit Ethernet services. Calix s other E-Series nodes include the fixed form factor E5-100 and E5-400 node families, as well as the E3-12C and E3-48 sealed Ethernet service access nodes, which collectively deliver high-speed broadband with interfaces that range from 10 Gigabit Ethernet transport and aggregation to ADSL2+, VDSL2 and point-to-point Gigabit Ethernet.

Key technology differentiators of the E-Series platforms and nodes are:

Standards-Based Switching Architecture Calix s E7 and E5-400 utilize a common Ethernet kernel, the EXA, that was developed based on industry standard protocols and focused on the needs of the access network. EXA facilitates cross network awareness, installation, management and provisioning for the C-Series platform and the E-Series platforms.

Multiservice over Ethernet The E-Series platforms and nodes enable CSPs to offer high bandwidth, advanced broadband and low latency services across Ethernet over copper- and fiber-based network architectures.

Deployment Flexibility The E-Series platforms and nodes are composed of eight distinct small form factor configurations between 1 and 1.5 rack units in height and a 13 rack unit large chassis. The E-Series platforms and nodes are designed to deliver operational efficiencies without sacrificing deployment flexibility or service functionality. The E-Series platforms and nodes are optimally sized to deliver high bandwidth services from a central office, remote terminal, remote node or MDU. For CSPs seeking additional flexibility and performance, the E7-2 is modular and stackable and can be combined with other E7s or other C-Series and E-Series platforms and nodes, all of which are managed by CMS. Also managed by CMS, the E7-20 was built for the high capacity, low latency needs of the future.

High Capacity and Reliability The Calix E-Series platforms and nodes have high data throughput capacity and are designed to meet the demanding bandwidth and low latency requirements of advanced broadband services for residential and business subscribers. The E-Series platforms and nodes support a range of transport options from six 10 Gigabit Ethernet uplinks in each E7-2 chassis down to redundant Gigabit Ethernet in the E5-100 node family. Calix s chassis-based E7-2 supports a redundant 100 gigabits per second backplane in each deployable module with line cards that further support a minimum of 100 gigabits per second switching capacity. The E7-20 supports the same 100 gigabits per second line card switching capacity per card, but houses each card in a 20 service line card slot chassis with a two terabits per second backplane. The E7 and the E5-400 also support transparent local area network services and were designed to be Metro Ethernet Forum compliant and to meet NEBS requirements.

Broad Array of Advanced Services Support The E-Series platforms and nodes support a broad array of advanced services. Calix s E5-100 node family supports up to 24 VDSL2 and 48 ADSL2+ overlay or combination voice and DSL services ports as well as DSL port bonding, and offers multiple Gigabit Ethernet network uplinks. The E3-12C supports up to 12 VDSL2 combination voice and DSL services ports as well as DSL port bonding, and offers multiple Gigabit Ethernet network uplinks. The E3-12C supports up to 12 VDSL2 combination voice and DSL services ports as well as DSL port bonding, and offers multiple Gigabit Ethernet network uplinks. The E3-48 supports up to 48 VDSL2 service ports as well as DSL port bonding, and offers multiple 10 Gigabit Ethernet and 2.5 or single Gigabit Ethernet uplinks. The E7 and the E5-400 support a mix of GPON, Active Ethernet and multiple Gigabit Ethernet and 10 Gigabit Ethernet services, as well as traffic management and queuing, performance monitoring and virtual local area network stacking to support quality of service.

The following pictures depict the E-Series platforms and nodes:

Calix P-Series Optical Network Terminals

Calix s P-Series ONTs consist of a broad range of customer premises solutions, including standards-based ONTs, for residential and business use. The P-Series ONTs can auto-detect the bandwidth of the network and enable CSPs to change line rates and features without expensive truck rolls or hardware replacements. Calix s family of ONTs are designed to support advanced broadband services, such as IPTV, RF video, business services and mobile backhaul. The design and flexibility of the P-Series allows CSPs to lower initial capital expenditures as well as reduce operational costs. To meet the deployment and service requirement needs of CSPs, Calix currently offers 30 ONT models available in a variety of form factors tailored to multiple deployment scenarios, including single homes, MDUs, businesses and cellular towers as illustrated below:

Calix Management System

CMS is server-based network management software which enables CSPs to remotely manage their access networks and scale bandwidth capacity to support advanced broadband services and video. CMS is capable of overseeing and managing multiple standalone networks and performs all provisioning, maintenance and troubleshooting operations for these networks across Calix s entire product portfolio. Additionally, CMS is designed to scale from small networks to large, geographically dispersed networks consisting of hundreds or even thousands of Calix s access systems. CMS provides an enhanced graphic user interface and delivers a detailed view and interactive control of various management functions, such as access control lists, alarm reporting and security. For very large CSPs, CMS can be used in conjunction with operational support systems to manage large, global networks with tens of millions of subscribers. CMS is scalable to support large networks and enables integration into the other management systems of Calix s customers. For smaller CSPs, CMS

operates as a standalone element management system, managing service provisioning and network troubleshooting for hundreds of independent C-Series and E-Series networks consisting of thousands of shelves and P-Series ONTs.

Calix offers CSPs a graphical user interface-based management software for provisioning and troubleshooting a service, and the capacity for bulk provisioning and reporting for thousands of elements simultaneously. The CMS also has open application programming interfaces which allow third-party software developers to extend functionality to include home provisioning, remote troubleshooting and applications monitoring and management. The following pictures are sample screenshots illustrating CMS functionality and variety of third-party applications:

Research and Development

Continued investment in research and development is critical to Calix business. Its research and development team is composed of engineers with expertise in hardware, software and optics. Calix s team of engineers is primarily based in the company s Petaluma, California headquarters and Minneapolis, Minnesota facility, with additional engineers located in Acton, Massachusetts. The Calix research and development team is responsible for designing, developing and enhancing hardware and software platforms, performing product and quality assurance testing and ensuring the compatibility of products with third-party hardware and software products. Calix has made significant investments in the Unified Access portfolio. Calix intends to continue to dedicate significant resources to research and development and to develop new product capabilities to support the performance, scalability and management of the Unified Access portfolio. Calix also performs a portion of its quality assurance and cost reduction engineering through a dedicated team of engineers based in Nanjing, China and outsources a portion of its software development to a team of software engineers based in Shenyang, China. For the year ended 2007, 2008 and 2009 and the nine months ended September 25, 2010, Calix s research and development expenses totaled \$44.4 million, \$44.3 million, \$46.1 million and \$39.2 million, respectively.

Manufacturing

Calix works closely with third parties to manufacture and deliver its products. The Calix manufacturing organization consists primarily of supply chain managers, new product introduction personnel and test engineers. Calix outsources its manufacturing and order fulfillment and tightly integrate supply chain management and new product introduction activities. Calix primarily utilizes Flextronics International Ltd., or Flextronics, as its contract manufacturer. The relationship with Flextronics allows Calix to conserve working capital, reduce product costs and minimize delivery lead times while maintaining high product quality. Generally, new product introduction occurs in Flextronics Milpitas, California facility. Once product manufacturing quality and yields reach a satisfactory level, volume production and testing of circuit board assemblies, chassis and fan trays occur in Shanghai, China. Final system and cabinet assembly, testing and order fulfillment for the multiservice access and multiservice over Ethernet product lines are performed in Flextronics facilities in Guadalajara, Mexico. Order fulfillment for the ONT product line is performed by Pegasus Logistics Group in Coppell, Texas. Calix also evaluates and utilizes other vendors for various portions of its supply chain from time to time, including order fulfillment of its circuit boards. This model allows Calix to operate with low inventory levels while maintaining the ability to scale quickly to handle increased order volume.

Product reliability is essential for Calix s customers, who place a premium on continuity of service for their subscribers. Calix performs rigorous in-house quality control testing to help ensure the reliability of its systems. Calix s internal manufacturing organization designs, develops and implements complex test processes to help ensure the quality and reliability of its products.

Despite outsourcing manufacturing operations for cost-effective scale and flexibility, the manufacturing of Calix s products by contract manufacturers is a complex process and involves certain risks, including the potential absence of adequate capacity, the unavailability of or interruptions in access to certain process technologies, and reduced control over delivery schedules, manufacturing yields, quality and costs. As such, Calix may experience production problems or manufacturing delays in the future. Additionally, shortages in components that Calix uses in its systems are possible and the company s ability to predict the availability of such components may be limited. Some of these components are available only from single or limited sources of supply. Calix s systems include some components that are proprietary in nature and only available from a single source, as well as some components that are generally available from a number of suppliers. The lead times associated with certain components are lengthy and preclude rapid changes in product specifications or delivery schedules. In some cases, significant time would be required to establish relationships with alternate suppliers or providers of proprietary components. Calix generally does not have long-term contracts with component providers that guarantee supply of components or their manufacturing services. If Calix experiences any difficulties in managing relationships with its contract manufacturers, or any interruption in the operations of the

company or its contract manufacturers or if a supplier is unable to meet its needs, Calix may encounter manufacturing delays that could impede its ability to meet customers requirements and harm its business, operating results and financial condition. Calix s ability to deliver products in a timely manner to its customers would be materially adversely impacted if Calix needed to qualify replacements for any of a number of the components used in its systems.

To date, Calix has not experienced significant delays or material unanticipated costs resulting from the use of its contract manufacturers. Additionally, Calix believes that its current contract manufacturers and its facilities can accommodate an increase in capacity for production sufficient for the foreseeable future.

Intellectual Property

Calix s success depends upon its ability to protect the company s core technology and intellectual property. To accomplish this, Calix relies on a combination of intellectual property rights, including patents, trade secrets, copyrights and trademarks, as well as customary contractual protections. In addition, Calix generally controls access to and the use of its proprietary technology and other confidential information. This protection is accomplished through a combination of internal and external controls, including contractual protections with employees, contractors, customers and partners, and through a combination of U.S. and international copyright laws.

As of September 25, 2010, Calix held 25 U.S. patents expiring between 2015 and 2028, and had 31 pending U.S. patent applications. Two of the U.S. patents are also covered by granted international patents, one in five countries and the other in three countries. As of September 25, 2010, Calix has no pending international patent applications. Calix relies on intellectual property laws, as well as nondisclosure agreements, licensing arrangements and confidentiality provisions, to establish and protect its proprietary rights. U.S. patent, copyright and trade secret laws afford the company only limited protection, and the laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent. Calix s pending patent applications may not result in issued patents, and the issued patents may not be enforceable. Any infringement of proprietary rights could result in competitors offering similar products, resulting in the loss of its competitive advantage and decreased sales.

Calix believes that the frequency of assertions of patent infringement is increasing as patent holders, including entities that are not in Calix s industry and who purchase patents as an investment or to monetize such rights by obtaining royalties, use such actions as a competitive tactic as well as a source of additional revenue. Any claim of infringement from a third party, even those without merit, could cause Calix to incur substantial costs defending against such claims and could distract management from running Calix s business. Furthermore, a party making such a claim, if successful, could secure a judgment that requires Calix to pay substantial damages. A judgment could also include an injunction or other court order that could prevent Calix from selling its access systems. In addition, Calix might be required to seek a license for the use of such intellectual property, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Alternatively, Calix may be required to develop non-infringing technology, which would require significant effort and expense and may ultimately not be successful. See Calix Business Legal Proceedings for a description of Calix s litigation with Wi-LAN.

Competition

The communications access equipment market is highly competitive. Competition in this market is based on any one or a combination of the following factors:

price;

functionality;

existing business and customer relationships;

the ability of products and services to meet customers immediate and future network requirements;

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

product quality;

installation capability;

service and support;

scalability; and

manufacturing capability.

Calix competes with a number of companies within markets that it serves and Calix anticipates that competition will intensify. Alcatel-Lucent S.A., formed by the 2006 merger of Alcatel S.A. and Lucent Technologies, Inc., represents Calix s largest and most direct competitor. Alcatel-Lucent S.A. enjoys strong supplier relationships with the largest U.S. ILECs, commands the leading market share position in DSL access multiplexers, and has a broad international business. Other established suppliers with which Calix competes include ADTRAN, Inc., LM Ericsson Telephone Company, Motorola, Inc. and Tellabs, Inc. There are also a number of smaller companies with which Calix competes in various geographic or vertical markets, including Enablence Technologies Inc., Occam, the company which Calix is proposing to acquire, and Zhone Technologies, Inc. While most of these smaller competitors lack broad national scale and product portfolios, they can offer strong competition on a deal-by-deal basis. Calix has also begun to see competition from foreign suppliers, such as Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd., in the Caribbean and other select international geographies.

Competition in the communications access equipment market is dominated by a small number of large, multi-national corporations. Many of Calix s competitors have substantially greater name recognition and technical, financial and marketing resources, and greater manufacturing capacity, as well as better established relationships with CSPs, than Calix does. Many of Calix s competitors have greater resources to develop products or pursue acquisitions, and more experience in developing or acquiring new products and technologies and in creating market awareness for these products and technologies. In addition, a number of Calix s competitors have the financial resources to offer competitive products at below market pricing levels that could prevent Calix from competing effectively. Further, a number of Calix s competitors have built long-standing relationships with some of the company s prospective customers and provide financing to customers and could, therefore, have an advantage in selling products to those customers.

Government Funding Initiatives

Many of Calix s customers fund deployment of and improvements to telecommunications network infrastructure using government funds. In the United States, CSPs are required under the Federal Communications Commission s rules to contribute a percentage of their revenues to the federal Universal Service Fund. These funds are distributed as subsidies to CSPs serving rural subscribers that are expensive to reach as well as to low-income consumers, schools and libraries, and rural health care facilities. RUS administers programs to promote the development of telecommunications infrastructure in rural areas through loans, loan guarantees and grants. Some of Calix s customers have been awarded RUS loans, and Calix has provided the network equipment for such projects. As a contractor to an RUS loan recipient, in most cases Calix is required to obtain RUS approval for each of its products used in RUS-funded projects. Calix may experience delays in recognizing revenue under applicable revenue recognition rules from government-funded contracts.

In February 2009, the U.S. Congress passed the ARRA, which appropriated funds to assist in economic recovery in the United States. Approximately \$7.2 billion of these funds were set aside as Broadband Stimulus funds for supporting the proliferation, adoption and tracking of broadband services across the United States. The Broadband Stimulus programs are administered by RUS and the National Telecommunications and Information Administration, which is part of the U.S. Department of Commerce. Under the ARRA, funds must be awarded by September 30, 2010. Awards under the Broadband Stimulus programs were issued between December 2009 and September 2010. Funded projects must be two-thirds complete within two years of the award and complete within three years of the award. Therefore, all funds that are awarded are expected to be expended by September 2013. Many of Calix s customers have submitted Broadband Stimulus funding applications for broadband

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

network infrastructure projects; however, Calix cannot determine what impact the Broadband Stimulus funds will have on its business. In the event these customers are awarded funds and select Calix as their preferred communications access systems vendor, Calix s operating results and financial condition could be positively impacted. However, the revenue recognition guidelines related to sales to CSPs who have received Broadband Stimulus funds may create uncertainties around the timing of revenue, which could adversely affect Calix s operating results.

Employees

As of September 25, 2010, Calix employed a total of 463 people. Most of the company s employees are located in North America. None of Calix s employees is represented by a labor union with respect to his or her employment with the company. Calix has not experienced any work stoppages, and it considers its relations with employees to be good.

Properties

Calix s corporate headquarters are located in Petaluma, California. These offices are approximately 82,000 square feet. The lease for this property expires in February 2014.

In addition to its headquarters, Calix leases approximately 33,300 square feet of office space in Minneapolis, Minnesota under a lease that expires in March 2014 and approximately 6,200 square feet of office space in Acton, Massachusetts under a lease that expires in February 2011.

Calix believes that its facilities are in good condition and are generally suitable to meet its needs for the foreseeable future; however, Calix will continue to seek additional space as needed, and the company believes this space will be available on commercially reasonable terms.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, Calix is involved in various legal proceedings arising from the normal course of business activities. For example, on December 28, 2009, Calix filed a lawsuit against Wi-LAN Inc., or Wi-LAN, of Ontario, Canada, in the federal court in the Northern District of California, seeking declaratory relief that Calix does not infringe U.S. Patents Nos. 5,956,323 and 6,763,019, allegedly owned by Wi-LAN. Wi-LAN withdrew a motion to dismiss or to transfer the Calix lawsuit to the Eastern District of Texas, where Wi-LAN had filed a separate subsequent action accusing Calix of infringement of the two patents. On December 6, 2010, the court in the Eastern District of Texas granted Calix s motion to transfer that action to the Northern District of California. Both parties have filed extensive written discovery requests in the California action. Calix intends to continue to vigorously pursue its lawsuit and defend against all Wi-LAN claims and counterclaims. While Calix believes it has substantial and meritorious arguments and defenses, neither the outcome of the litigation nor the amount and range of potential damages or exposure associated with the litigation can be assessed with certainty, and Calix is not currently able to estimate the loss, if any, that may result from the claims against it. If Wi-LAN is successful in obtaining injunctive relief, it could force Calix to stop or alter certain of its business activities.

On September 17, 2010, September 20, 2010 and September 21, 2010, three purported class action complaints were filed by three purported stockholders of Occam in the California Superior Court for Santa Barbara County: Kardosh v. Occam Networks, Inc., et al. (Case No. 1371748), or the Kardosh complaint; Kennedy v. Occam Networks, Inc., et al. (Case No. 1371762), or the Kennedy complaint; and Moghaddam v. Occam Networks, Inc., et al. (Case No. 1371802), or the Moghaddam complaint, respectively. The Kardosh, Kennedy and Moghaddam complaints, which are referred to collectively as the California class action complaints, are substantially similar. Each of the California class action complaints names Occam, the members of the Occam board and Calix as defendants. The Kennedy complaint also names Calix s merger subsidiaries, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II, as defendants.

The California class action complaints generally allege that the members of the Occam board breached their fiduciary duties in connection with the proposed acquisition of Occam by Calix, by, among other things, engaging in an allegedly unfair process and agreeing to an allegedly unfair price for the proposed merger transaction. The California class action complaints further allege that Occam and the other entity defendants aided and abetted the alleged breaches of fiduciary duty. The plaintiffs in the California class action complaints seek injunctive relief directing the individual defendants to comply with their fiduciary duties and enjoining the proposed merger transaction, and rescinding the merger transaction and awarding damages in an unspecified amount in the event the merger transaction closes, as well as plaintiffs costs, attorney s fees, and other relief. On November 19, 2010, the California Superior Court issued an order staying the California class actions in favor of a substantively identical stockholder class action pending in the Delaware Court of Chancery (see below).

On October 6, 2010, a purported class action complaint was filed by purported stockholders of Occam in the Delaware Court of Chancery: Steinhardt v. Howard-Anderson, et al. (Case No. 5878-VCL). On November 24, 2010, these purported stockholders filed an amended complaint, or the amended Steinhardt complaint. The amended Steinhardt complaint names Occam and the members of the Occam board as defendants. The amended Steinhardt complaint does not name Calix as a defendant.

Like the California class action complaints, the amended Steinhardt complaint generally alleges that the members of the Occam board breached their fiduciary duties in connection with the proposed acquisition of Occam by Calix, by, among other things, engaging in an allegedly unfair process and agreeing to an allegedly unfair price for the proposed merger transaction. The amended Steinhardt complaint also alleges that Occam and the members of the Occam board breached their fiduciary duties by failing to disclose certain allegedly material facts about the proposed merger in the preliminary Form S-4 Registration Statement that Calix filed with the SEC on November 2, 2010. The amended Steinhardt complaint seeks injunctive relief enjoining the proposed merger, or rescinding the merger transaction and awarding damages in an unspecified amount in the event the merger transaction closes, as well as plaintiffs costs, attorney s fees, and other relief.

On November 12, 2010, a complaint was filed by two purported stockholders of Occam in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California: Kennedy and Moghaddam v. Occam Networks, Inc., et al. (Case No. CV10-8665), or the Federal complaint. The Federal complaint names Occam, the members of the Occam board, Calix, Ocean Sub I, and Ocean Sub II as defendants. The Federal complaint generally alleges that the defendants violated sections 14(a) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in connection with the proposed acquisition of Occam by Calix, by, among other things, making material misstatements and omissions about the proposed merger in the preliminary Form S-4 Registration Statement that Calix filed with the SEC on November 2, 2010, and/or aiding and abetting the issuance of the allegedly misleading registration statement. The plaintiffs in the Federal complaint seek injunctive relief enjoining the proposed merger transaction, as well as plaintiffs costs, attorney s fees, and other relief.

Occam s management believes that the allegations in the California actions, the Delaware action, and the Federal action are without merit and intends to vigorously contest the actions. However, there can be no assurance that the defendants will be successful in their defense. In addition, Occam has obligations, under certain circumstances, to hold harmless and indemnify each of the defendant directors against judgments, fines, settlements and expenses related to claims against such directors and otherwise to the fullest extent permitted under Delaware law and Occam s bylaws and certificate of incorporation. Such obligations may apply to these lawsuits. An unfavorable outcome in these lawsuits could prevent or delay the consummation of the merger, result in substantial costs to Occam or both.

Calix is reviewing the California class action complaints and the Steinhardt complaint and has not yet formally responded to them, but believes the plaintiffs allegations are without merit and intends to defend against them vigorously. However, litigation is inherently uncertain and there can be no assurance regarding the likelihood that Calix s defense of these actions will be successful. Additional complaints containing substantially-similar allegations may be filed in the future.

Calix is not presently a party to any other legal proceedings which, if determined adversely to the company, would individually or in the aggregate have a material adverse effect on Calix s business, operating results or financial condition.

Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the subsequent interim period through September 25, 2010, there were no changes in accountants nor any disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial disclosure.

Corporate Information

Calix, a Delaware corporation, was founded in August 1999. Calix s principal executive offices are located at 1035 N. McDowell Boulevard, Petaluma, California 94954, and its telephone number is (707) 766-3000. Calix s website address is www.calix.com. Calix does not incorporate the information on or accessible through its website into this prospectus, and you should not consider any information on, or that can be accessed through, its website as part of this prospectus. Calix[®], the Calix logo design, C7[®], E5[°], E7[°] and other trademarks or service marks of Calix appearing in this proxy statement/prospectus are the property of Calix. Trade names, trademarks and service marks of other companies appearing in this proxy statement/prospectus are the property of the respective holders.

OCCAM BUSINESS

Corporate Information

In May 2002, Occam Networks, Inc., a private California corporation, or Occam CA, merged with Accelerated Networks, Inc., a publicly-traded Delaware corporation. Occam CA was incorporated in California in July 1999. Accelerated Networks was incorporated in California in October 1996 under the name Accelerated Networks, Inc., and was reincorporated in Delaware in June 2000. The May 2002 merger of these two entities was structured as a reverse merger transaction in which Accelerated Networks succeeded to the business and assets of Occam CA. In connection with the merger, Accelerated Networks changed its name to Occam Networks, Inc., a Delaware corporation, which is the successor corporation of this merger.

Overview

Occam develops, markets and supports innovative broadband access products designed to enable telecom service providers to offer bundled voice, video and high speed Internet, or Triple Play, services over both copper and fiber optic networks. Occam s core product line is the Broadband Loop Carrier, or BLC, an integrated hardware and software platform that uses Internet Protocol, or IP, and Ethernet technologies to increase the capacity of local access networks, enabling the delivery of advanced Triple Play services. Occam also offers a family of optical network terminals, or ONTs, for fiber optic networks, remote terminal cabinets, and professional services.

Occam markets its products through a combination of direct and indirect channels. Occam s direct sales efforts are focused on the North American independent operating company, or IOC, segment of the telecom service provider market. These are companies that never were a part of the original Bell System. Recently, Occam has expanded its sales activities to include the Europe, Middle East, and Africa, Caribbean, Latin America, the Pacific Islands and certain other international locations, but sales outside North America continue to represent an insignificant portion of Occam s business. As of September 30, 2010, Occam shipped its BLC platform to over 380 telecommunications customers.

Industry Background

Increasing Demand for Broadband Services and Content

In recent years, the number of broadband subscribers has increased significantly on a worldwide basis. This growth has been driven, in large part, by increasing demand for bandwidth intensive applications, such as music and video downloads, electronic commerce, telecommuting and online gaming. In addition, services are increasingly being delivered over broadband networks using IP, the underlying communications technology of the Internet. For example, Voice over Internet Protocol, or VoIP, services are now widely available to consumers, and many telecom service providers have announced or initiated plans to offer Internet Protocol television, or IPTV, services to their subscribers. The rapid growth in broadband subscribers, coupled with the growing amount and diversity of IP-based services, has strained the capacity of many traditional telecommunications networks. Capacity constraints are being exacerbated as high-definition television, or HDTV, and other bandwidth-intensive services become more prevalent. Occam believes the rapid growth in IP-based communications traffic is prompting many telecom service providers to modify their network architectures and substantially upgrade the capacity of their networks.

Challenges Faced by Telecom Service Providers

While telecom service providers historically faced little competition in the market for basic voice services, competition has increased significantly in recent years. Deregulation efforts have generally allowed incumbent, competitive and long-distance telecom service providers to compete with one another. Most cable operators now

offer high-speed Internet access and VoIP as part of a Triple Play offering. Specialized service providers such as Vonage Holdings Corp. and Skype S.A. have introduced low-cost VoIP services, and many incumbent service providers have responded by offering their own VoIP services. With the widespread use of mobile telephones, some wireless subscribers have elected to discontinue their traditional wired telephone service. For many telecom service providers, these trends have resulted in pricing pressure for basic voice services, subscriber losses and a reduction in profit margins related to voice services. As consumers now have a greater variety of service providers to choose from, telecom service providers face challenges in differentiating their offerings and retaining customers.

Emergence of Triple Play and IPTV Services

In response to increased competition and pricing pressure for standalone voice services, many telecom service providers are seeking to offer Triple Play services, which provides them with the opportunity to increase revenue per subscriber, create flexible pricing plans and promotions, improve customer loyalty and offer the convenience of a single bill, among other benefits. While traditional voice and data services leave little room for differentiation, and the prices of these services are decreasing steadily, video represents an important source of spending by consumers and has therefore emerged as a critical Triple Play offering. Once largely the domain of broadcasters, cable operators and satellite providers, video is increasingly viewed by telecom service providers as an essential element of their business plans. However, because traditional telecom networks were not designed to carry video traffic, telecom service providers must substantially upgrade the capacity, quality and design of their networks in order to deliver IPTV and other broadband services.

Access Network is the Bottleneck

Throughout the past decade, telecom service providers have invested considerable resources to upgrade the capacity of their core and metro networks. Core networks connect cities over long distances, while metro networks connect telecom facilities within cities. However, the access network, which serves as the final connection to a residence or business, represents a significant network capacity bottleneck. The access network was originally designed for low-speed voice traffic and is comprised largely of copper telephone lines. In order to overcome the inherent limitations of the access network, service providers deployed first-generation digital subscriber line, or DSL technology. The most prevalent form of this technology generally enables maximum downstream speeds of 1.5 megabits per second, which is far lower than the data transmission rates offered by competing cable companies. These DSL downstream speeds are adequate for basic data applications such as web browsing and emailing, but are less viable for the concurrent or standalone operation of more bandwidth intensive Triple Play services and applications such as HDTV and two-way video conferencing. More recently, enhanced variations of DSL technology supporting greater throughput, including asymmetric digital subscriber line, or ADSL2Plus, and very high bitrate digital subscriber line, or VDSL2, have been standardized, and in the case of ADSL2Plus, have been widely deployed. Enhanced DSL services support bandwidth intensive applications and create a more competitive alternative to cable services. Some service providers have begun replacing portions of their copper access network with a fiber optic technology known as fiber-to-the-premise, or FTTP. Given the cost and effort of replacing copper telephone lines with fiber optic cables, FTTP is typically deployed by most phone companies in phases over multiple years, depending on the number of lines being replaced or deployed.

Transition to Packet-Based Technologies

Traditional telecom networks were designed to support low-capacity voice calls using complex voice switches and circuit-switched transmission technology, in which a fixed amount of network capacity is reserved throughout the duration of a voice call, regardless of whether signals are being transmitted. While traditional networks adequately support voice calls, they are inherently inefficient in handling large volumes of high-bandwidth communications. With the emergence of the Internet and the growing demand for broadband services, telecom service providers have begun deploying new packet-based technologies, including IP, Ethernet and

softswitching, to overcome the limitations of the traditional, circuit-switched telephone network. IP-based networks handle the combination of voice, data and video traffic more efficiently by using bandwidth only when signals are being transmitted. Ethernet is the most widely adopted networking technology for business and home networks, and is being increasingly utilized in telecom networks because of its low cost, simplicity and pervasiveness. Softswitching refers to a network architecture in which the key functions of traditional voice switches are separated and performed by various VoIP gateways and call servers built upon open standards.

Networks employing packet-based technologies are generally simpler, more flexible and cheaper to construct and maintain than traditional circuit-switched voice networks. However, the process of transitioning traditional networks to packet-based technologies is lengthy and costly. Most telecom service providers are therefore implementing packet-based technologies gradually and are seeking products that can coexist in circuit-switched and packet-switched networks. Packet-based technologies were first used in core networks to more cost-effectively process long-distance voice and Internet traffic, and were more recently adopted in many metro networks. The next step in this evolution, which has already begun, is the deployment of packet-based technologies such as Ethernet and IP, in the access portion of the network.

Limitations of Current Access Solutions

Telecom service providers are seeking to upgrade their access networks to increase capacity, support IP-based services, such as VoIP and IPTV and capitalize on the advantages of packet-based technologies. However, most existing solutions for upgrading access networks are generally insufficient, and include:

Voice-centric products. Next-generation digital loop carriers, or NGDLCs, were introduced in the early 1990s to deliver basic voice services, and later DSL services, in the access network. NGDLCs are generally voice-centric, relatively expensive to deploy and manage, and lack native support for IP-based services.

Data-centric products. DSL access multiplexers, or DSLAMs, are used to deliver broadband services over copper telephone lines. While some DSLAMs have been upgraded to natively support IP, these products generally do not support traditional voice services and lack important features for quality of service, reliability and full Triple Play services.

Passive optical networks. Passive optical networks, or PON, attempt to address the access bottleneck by upgrading the access network by replacing copper wire telephone lines with fiber optic cables and passive components. PON are most suitable for densely populated regions or newly-built networks and have less capacity than other fiber optic technologies such as active Gigabit Ethernet.
 Occam believes telecom service providers are seeking a new class of innovative broadband access products that can address the access network bottleneck, deliver the advantages of packet-based technologies and provide simultaneous support for traditional and newer IP-based services.
 This new class of product must provide a compelling total cost of ownership, be simple to install and manage and meet the stringent quality and performance standards of telecom service providers.

The Occam Networks Solution

Occam develops, markets and supports innovative broadband access products designed to allow telecom service providers to increase the capacity of local access networks and deliver Triple Play services. Occam s primary product, the Broadband Loop Carrier, or BLC, is an advanced broadband access platform that supports a range of IP-based and traditional services in a single platform. Occam s BLC platform can be deployed in either a local telecom central office, or closer to the end-user in a remote terminal. Occam also provides a range of ancillary products as part of its total solution, including ONTs and remote terminal cabinets. Occam believes its products enable service providers to deliver new revenue-generating services while minimizing capital expenditures and operating costs.

Occam s solution offers the following key benefits:

Supports multiple services. Occam s products support a range of IP-based services, including broadband Internet access, VoIP and IPTV, in addition to traditional circuit-switched voice services. The ability to offer bundled Triple Play services allows telecom service providers to increase average revenue per subscriber, increase customer retention and differentiate themselves versus their competitors. In particular, Occam s support for IPTV enables its customers to address competitive threats posed by cable operators and other competitors.

Addresses the access network bottleneck. Occam has designed its products to address capacity constraints in the local access network. Occam s platform employs advanced DSL technologies, such as ADSL2Plus, to enable access speeds to the subscriber in excess of 20 megabits per second. In addition, Occam provides a Point-to-Point Gigabit Ethernet fiber-to-the-premise, or FTTP, blade for its BLC product, enabling dedicated access speeds to the subscriber of up to 1,000 megabits per second. In July of 2008, Occam released its Gigabit Passive Optical Network (GPON) product family. Occam s customers are now able to offer copper, point-to-point (GigE) and point-to-multipoint (PON) services from the same BLC. By significantly increasing the capacity of local access networks, Occam s customers are able to offer bandwidth-intensive services such as HDTV, on-line gaming and two-way video conferencing.

Employs packet-based technologies. Occam s BLC platform features an innovative design that is built upon packet-based technologies, including IP, Ethernet and softswitching. Occam s IP-based product efficiently utilizes network capacity and natively supports VoIP, IPTV and other IP-based services. Because Occam utilizes Ethernet in the design of its products, its customers benefit from the simplicity and economies of scale related to this pervasive networking technology. Occam s BLC platform also features an integrated media gateway, which allows the company s customers to more easily and cost-effectively adopt softswitches within their access networks.

Integrated and flexible platform. Occam s BLC platform performs many of the functions that have traditionally been derived from standalone products dedicated to circuit-switched voice, VoIP, DSL access, fiber optic access, DSL testing and Ethernet switching. Occam believes the integration of its platform delivers substantial performance advantages while helping its customers to conserve costs, space and power, and simplify their networks by minimizing the number of discrete components. Occam s platform also features a modular design, allowing its customers to purchase its product with minimal initial investment, and add capacity and features incrementally as their requirements grow. The BLC platform is economical for low-capacity sites, but can scale to support tens of thousands of telephone subscribers from a single site in the network. With the recent introduction of Occam s GPON family of products, and its shipping of point-to-point Gigabit Ethernet FTTP products, Occam s customers have the flexibility to adopt either copper or fiber optic access technologies from the same system.

Reliable and simple to install and operate. Occam s products are designed to meet the most stringent performance and reliability standards of telecom service providers. Occam s field-proven BLC platform contains redundancy features to maximize network uptime and has been designed to withstand harsh environmental conditions. Occam s products are simple to install and allow for the rapid introduction of new services. Occam offers sophisticated network management tools that allow its customers to monitor and optimize the quality of their networks, which is critical when deploying services that are particularly sensitive to network quality, such as VoIP and IPTV.

Strategy

Occam s objective is to become the leading provider of innovative broadband access products to telecom service providers. Key elements of its strategy include the following:

Extend technology leadership position. Occam s management team and technical personnel possess a unique combination of expertise in both telecom and data networking technologies. Occam believes its technical

leadership differentiates the company from its competitors and has been key to Occam s success in attracting customers to date. Occam will continue to leverage its technical expertise and invest in research and development to design, engineer and sell innovative products that address its customers needs.

Continue to enhance and extend Occam s product line. Occam will continue to enhance its BLC platform to support new technologies and features to address the evolving requirements of its customers. For example, Occam has enhanced its BLC platform with support for 10 Gigabit Ethernet transport. Occam broadened its product line with the introduction of its GPON blade and a line of GPON ONTs, providing Occam s customers with a more complete FTTP solution. During the past year Occam developed and announced the availability of VDSL2 and a doubling of density of its Gigabit Ethernet FTTP blade, as well as several new ONT models. Occam also intends to continue to reduce the cost of its new and existing products to bring increased value to its customers.

Focus initially on independent operating companies. Occam currently focuses its direct sales and marketing efforts primarily on North American independent operating companies, or IOCs, because, in Occam s experience, they quickly adopt new technologies and are more willing to purchase products from focused suppliers like Occam. In addition, a number of favorable regulatory, demographic, financial and competitive factors make IOCs attractive target customers for Occam. IOCs benefit from government funding for telecom projects aimed at increasing broadband access to rural regions. Some of the areas IOCs serve are experiencing population growth as residents leave cities and suburbs for less populated surrounding areas. IOCs are upgrading their local access networks to support population growth and demand for advanced services by deploying advanced copper and fiber-optic broadband access products such as Occam s. In addition, IOCs tend to be financially stable with excellent credit and payment characteristics.

Expand customer focus by partnering with market leaders. While Occam expects to continue concentrating its direct sales efforts on IOCs, the company plans to prudently expand its target customer base to include larger telecom service providers in the U.S. and internationally. To assist in these efforts, Occam will continue to develop distribution relationships with third parties that the company believes will have strong market positions and customer relationships. Occam believes this strategy allows the company to expand its addressable market while focusing resources on product development and Occam s other core strengths.

Continue to prioritize customer satisfaction. Occam seeks to consistently provide its customers with high levels of support and service throughout the sales cycle and after installation of Occam s products. Occam believes that its commitment to service and support has been an important contributing factor to its success to date. Occam continues to expand its customer support and service capabilities to keep pace with the growth in its customer base, and will continue to make customer satisfaction a top priority for the company.

Products

BLC 6000 System. The BLC 6000, Occam s primary product line, was announced in May 2003 and became commercially available in June 2003. The BLC 6000 is an advanced broadband access platform that increases the capacity of local access networks and allows telecom service providers to deliver Triple Play services to their subscribers. The BLC 6000 is a highly-integrated platform that performs functions that have traditionally been delivered by separate voice, video, DSL access, fiber optic access and data networking products. The BLC platform has a modular design composed of a central housing unit, or chassis, and a variety of electronic assemblies or blades to support various services or features. Key elements of the system include:

Blades. Occam offers a variety of blades that transmit traffic upstream and downstream, interconnect various networks and convert circuit-switched voice traffic to VoIP, among other functions. Occam s blades

currently support Gigabit Ethernet, 10 Gigabit Ethernet, GPON, ADSL2Plus, and standard telephone service, or POTS. Occam s current line of blades is summarized in the table below.

Model	Function	Description
6150	Lifeline POTS	Provides 48 POTS ports, multiple Gigabit Ethernet ports, and four T1 ports and converts analog voice traffic to VoIP
6151	Lifeline POTS	Provides 48 POTS ports and converts analog voice traffic to VoIP
6152	Lifeline POTS	Provides 48 ports of POTS, multiple Gigabit Ethernet ports, and converts analog voice traffic to VoIP
6214	ADSL2plus	Provides 48 ADSL2plus ports with integrated POTS splitters for data and video
6244	ADSL2Plus and POTS Blade	Provides for 24 combination POTS and ADSL2Plus ports for voice, data, and video service delivery and multiple Gigabit Ethernet ports for optical fiber transport and blade interconnection
6246	ADSL2plus and POTS	Provides 24 combination POTS and ADSL2plus ports for voice, data and video service delivery and multiple Gigabit Ethernet ports and four T1 ports
6252	ADSL2plus and POTS	Provides 48 combination POTS, multiple Gigabit Ethernet ports and ADSL2plus ports for voice, data and video service delivery
6312	Optical Line Termination	Provides 20 Gigabit Ethernet ports for customer data and video services, optical fiber transport and blade interconnection
6314	Optical Line Termination	Provides 16 Gigabit Ethernet ports for customer data and video services and two optical 10 Gigabit Ethernet transport ports and two copper 10 Gigabit interconnection ports
6322	GPON Optical Line Termination	Provides 4 GPON OLT ports for customer voice, data and video services, one optical 10 Gigabit Ethernet transport port and two copper 10 Gigabit interconnection ports
6440	Optical Packet Transport	Provides 8 T1 ports and Gigabit Ethernet ports for optical fiber transport and blade interconnection
6450	10Gigabit Optical Aggregation	Provides 16 Gigabit Ethernet ports for customer subnetworks and two optical 10 Gigabit Ethernet transport ports and two copper 10 Gigabit interconnection ports
6640	Subscriber Trunk Gateway	Interconnects VoIP to traditional voice switches using the TR-08 or GR-303 voice interface protocols
6660	Emergency Standalone	Provides local dialing to emergency service facilities and calls between local POTS subscribers during network outages

Chassis. Occam s chassis house its blade products, perform cooling, power and cable distribution and are offered in two model types. The BLC 6001 chassis houses a single blade and can be deployed as a standalone unit for low-capacity applications or stacked for medium-capacity applications. The BLC 6012 chassis houses up to twelve blades for deployment in high-capacity applications.

OccamView. OccamView is a distributed element management system that allows its customers to remotely manage Triple Play services from any secure web browser. OccamView features an open architecture that can be integrated into a wide variety of telecom network management systems.

Optical network terminals. Occam s ON 2300 and ON 2400 series of optical network terminals, or ONTs, reside at either residential or business locations and terminate active Gigabit Ethernet or Gigabit PON FTTP services delivered by the BLC platform. Voice, video and data traffic from the customer premises is fed to the ONT which converts the traffic into optical signals for transmission to the BLC platform. Occam has introduced two families of ONTs for residential and business applications.

ModelFunctionDescriptionONOptical Network2300Terminal SeriesONOptical Network2400Terminal SeriesEnables the connection of single family and multi-dwelling units to GPON FTTH networks

Remote terminal cabinets. Occam offers a series of remote terminal cabinets that house its BLC platform and protect the system from harsh environmental conditions. Occam sources these cabinets from third parties who integrate Occam s BLCs with a variety of accessory devices into the cabinets. Occam offers its customers versions for low-, medium- and high-density deployments in a variety of geographical areas. Occam s cabinets are environmentally controlled, and the company believes they deliver reliable protection with a high degree of deployment flexibility.

Products in development

Occam currently has under development products, features and functions that the company believes will further enhance its product family. These development activities are generally focused on the following areas:

reducing the overall cost of solutions;

software for improving operation, administration, and maintenance, or OAM, of Occam products, while improving the ease of deployment for customers;

improving the scalability of networks that are built with Occam s products; and

additional elements of Occam s FTTx family, such as a broader range of ONTs for business and Multi-Dwelling Units, or MDUs, and expanded support for 10Gigabit Ethernet aggregation.

Technology

Occam has a set of differentiated hardware and software technology elements and skills that Occam applies to the development of its products. Occam has recruited a technical staff that possesses a unique combination of telecom and data networking expertise, which Occam believes provides a critical advantage in the design of its products. Occam s technical staff is responsible for the introduction of several key developments, including Point-to-Point Gigabit Ethernet FTTP, 10 Gigabit transport, Ethernet Protection Switching, Emergency Standalone service, and IP Security Management.

In October 2007, Occam purchased certain assets of Terawave Communications, Inc., including its gigabit passive optical networking, or GPON, technology. Occam believes this acquisition, along with the subsequent hiring of certain former Terawave technical personnel, augmented its skills with knowledge of GPON and other standards associated with its development and eventual deployment.

Key components of Occam s technology and expertise include:

IP/Ethernet architecture. Occam s system architecture is based upon IP and Ethernet technologies. Occam selected this design because it believes that IP and Ethernet will account for a growing portion of communications traffic, and that telecom service providers will increasingly adopt IP and Ethernet technologies in local access networks. Because Occam s platform processes IP and Ethernet traffic natively, Occam believes

its platform is more efficient, scalable and cost-effective than competing products based on legacy technologies. Occam believes that its IP/Ethernet-based design will allow for continued cost-reductions due the significant economies of scale associated with these pervasive technologies.

Telecom expertise. Transitioning telecom networks to IP will be a lengthy process, and telecom service providers will continue to deliver circuit-switched voice services for the foreseeable future. For this reason, Occam has designed its products to support a range of legacy switching, signaling and transport protocols and have recruited engineering personnel with expertise in these areas. In order to help telecom service providers maintain the reliability of their networks as they transition to IP, Occam has designed its products with key resiliency features, including Emergency Standalone, clustering and Ethernet Protection Switching.

Data networking expertise. Occam s products are designed for the secure and reliable delivery of critical services over IP networks. Occam s engineering staff has expertise in the areas of switching, routing, native IP security management and VoIP signaling protocols such as SIP and MGCP. To assist in the deployment of broadband Internet services, Occam has designed its products with integrated subscriber management, automated provisioning and policy enforcement tools.

Video delivery expertise. Delivering video services over telecom access networks is challenging because these networks were not designed to carry bandwidth-intensive traffic, and video is more sensitive to disruption than other services, such as Internet access. Occam has designed its platform to address these challenges and assist its customers in the rapid delivery of IPTV services. For example, Occam s BLC platform provides sufficient capacity to support multiple channels of HDTV and provides integrated video diagnostic tools for proactive video service quality management. Occam also believes its customers benefit from the experience it has gained in a multitude of IPTV deployments.

Transport and access interfaces. Occam s products interface with a wide variety of communications networks. Occam has applied its diverse expertise in access and transport interfaces to design a family of blades, providing its customers with significant flexibility in the deployment of its products. Specific interface technologies supported by Occam s platform include: Gigabit Ethernet, 10 Gigabit Ethernet, GPON, ADSL2plus, DS1 and standard POTS telephone service.

Network management. Occam s network provisioning and management system, OccamView, enables its customers to monitor the status of their network, services and equipment through a web-based graphical user interface. OccamView interfaces with commonly used telecom network management systems and features a variety of tools to facilitate service provisioning, activation, monitoring and access to service profiles.

Customers

For the year ended December 31, 2009, Goldfield Telecom, a value-added reseller and network operator, accounted for 13% of Occam s revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2008, Goldfield Telecom, and Rural Telephone Services, accounted for 11% and 10% of Occam s revenue, respectively.

To date, Occam has primarily focused its sales and marketing efforts on IOCs. Occam believes there are more than 1,100 IOCs in North America. These companies vary in size ranging from small, rural companies serving limited geographic areas with a limited number of lines to large independent providers serving multiple states. Occam has chosen to focus on IOCs because of the following favorable characteristics:

Receptive to innovative technologies. Because most IOCs operate relatively small networks, they tend to adopt new technologies more quickly than large service providers. In addition, the typical sales cycle for IOCs is generally shorter than that of large service providers. Occam believes these factors have allowed the company to increase its sales in a relatively short time frame with limited sales and marketing expenditures.

Accessible for focused suppliers. Occam believes IOCs make equipment purchase decisions based primarily on product technical merits and the level of sales and support attention received, areas in which Occam believes it competes favorably. Furthermore, Occam believes competition among equipment suppliers in the IOC market is more moderate than in the market for large service providers.

Favorable demographic trends. Occam believes that certain IOCs are experiencing subscriber growth in their markets as individuals move from urban and suburban areas to less populated regions. Many IOCs are also experiencing an increase in demand by their customers for Triple Play services, including IPTV. As a result, many IOCs that Occam targets have a strong incentive to upgrade the capacity and capabilities of their local access networks by purchasing Occam s products.

Financially stable and well funded. Most IOCs have lengthy operating histories in the industry, and based on Occam s experience to date, have strong credit profiles and payment practices. In addition, many IOCs receive government funding for broadband access expansion projects under the United States Department of Agriculture s Rural Utilities Service, or RUS and other US Government programs, including the ARRA. Occam believes the financial health of IOCs, along with government funding, has contributed to the rapid adoption of Occam s products to date.

Occam also believes there are significant opportunities to sell its products to large telecom service providers, including the national local exchange carriers, competitive local exchange carriers and international network and service providers.

Sales and Marketing

Occam has implemented a two-pronged sales strategy composed of the following elements:

Direct sales. Occam s direct sales organization focuses on IOCs in North America by establishing and maintaining direct relationships with prospective customers. Occam s direct sales force is responsible for identifying sales opportunities and advising prospective customers on the benefits of its products and tailoring its products to their specific needs. Occam also employs a team of sales engineering personnel in its sales process in order to address prospective customers technical issues. A substantial majority of Occam s sales to date have been through its direct sales efforts.

Value-added resellers. Occam utilizes value-added resellers to service small customers in North America and internationally that would not be cost-effective for the company to address directly. In addition, these value-added resellers provide a range of services, including network design and product installation and configuration, that facilitate the deployment of Occam s products by customers with limited internal capabilities.

Occam s marketing efforts are designed to create brand awareness with these customers and to demonstrate the company s technological leadership and cost advantages in the broadband access equipment market. Occam educates potential customers about its products and the benefits of its solutions through industry publications and trade shows. Occam also conducts education programs to describe its products and the benefits of its solutions for senior management of engineering design firms who design networks for IOCs.

An important element in Occam s marketing strategy is the development of relationships with companies who have an established presence in Occam s target market segments. Occam has developed the Occam Packet Access Network Alliance, whereby independent companies work with the company to define broader solutions, perform interoperability tests, develop joint-business cases and provide cooperative customer support.

Technical Service and Customer Support

Occam s technical service and customer support organization is responsible for customer training, post-sales technical support and maintenance. Occam has established a technical assistance center and a test and interoperability lab, which allows the company to provide effective and timely customer support 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Occam works with various third-party engineering, furnishing and installation companies to assist its customers with the design engineering, staging, installation and initial activation of Occam s products. Occam also employs a staff of interoperability and test engineers to ensure that its products are interoperable with various standards-based network elements including voice gateways, softswitches, DSLAMs, Ethernet switches, DSL modems, ONTs, integrated access devices and residential gateways.

Occam s equipment is typically implemented as a part of the service provider s local access network, and is sometimes combined with additional work by the service provider to update the copper wire or to install new fiber optic cable. As a result, a large percentage of the work is done in the late spring, summer and early fall in portions of the country that experience colder weather, including snow and ice. As a result, there can be seasonality to Occam shipments biased towards these seasons.

Research and Development

Occam has a team of engineers dedicated to conducting research and development in specific technology areas that are strategic to its business. Occam s research and development team has expertise covering a range of telecom and data networking technologies, including digital loop carrier, voice signaling, call control, IP and Ethernet networking, DSL, optical networking and network management.

Occam expects to continue to make substantial investments in research and development. Research and development expenses, including amortization of stock-based compensation, were approximately \$16.1 million, \$19.0 million and \$13.3 million during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Research and development expenses were approximately \$3.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2010 and approximately \$11.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2010. Occam s primary research and development centers in Fremont and Simi Valley, California.

Patents and Intellectual Property

Occam relies on a combination of patent, copyright and trademark and trade secret laws, confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect its proprietary rights with respect to the company s technology and proprietary information. Occam has been issued 30 patents, it has several additional patent applications pending and the company intends to file more patent applications. Occam s issued patents expire over the next 10 to 15 years. Occam s patent strategy is designed to protect corporate technology assets, provide access to additional technology through cross licensing opportunities and create opportunities for additional revenue through technology licensing. Occam cannot provide any assurance that any patents will be issued from pending applications or that any issued patents will adequately protect its intellectual property.

While Occam relies on patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws to protect its technology, Occam also believes that factors such as the technological and creative skills of its personnel, new product developments, frequent product enhancements and product reliability are essential to establishing and maintaining a technology leadership position. Occam selectively licenses technologies from third parties when necessary or useful.

Occam maintains a program to identify and obtain patent protection for its inventions. It is possible that Occam will not receive patents for every application that the company files. Furthermore, Occam s issued patents may not adequately protect its technology from infringement or prevent others from claiming that its products

infringe the patents of those third parties. Occam s failure to protect its intellectual property could materially harm the company s business. In addition, Occam s competitors may independently develop similar or superior technology, duplicate its products, or design around Occam s patents. It is possible that litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce Occam s intellectual property rights, to protect its trade secrets, or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. Litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could materially harm Occam s business.

Occam may receive in the future, notice of claims of infringement of other parties proprietary rights. Infringement or other claims could be asserted or prosecuted against Occam in the future, and it is possible that past or future assertions or prosecutions could harm Occam s business. Any such claims, with or without merit, could be time-consuming, result in costly litigation and diversion of technical and management personnel, cause delays in the development and release of Occam s products, or require the company to develop non-infringing technology or enter into royalty or licensing arrangements. Such royalty or licensing arrangements, if required, may require Occam to license back its technology or may not be available on terms acceptable to Occam, or at all. For these reasons, infringement claims could materially harm Occam s business.

Manufacturing

Occam outsources significant portions of its manufacturing operation to third parties and has entered into a manufacturing outsourcing contract with AsteelFlash Group (formerly Flash Electronics), located in Fremont, California, for the manufacture of Occam s BLC 6000 blade products, as well as Occam s ONT products. This agreement provides for material procurement, board level assembly, testing, purchase commitments and quality control by the manufacturer, and delivery to Occam s end customers. Occam s products are manufactured in the United States, China and Mexico. Occam designs, specifies and monitors all applicable testing in order to meet its internal and customer quality standards. Occam is ISO certified. ISO is a series of standards agreed to by the International Organization for Standardization covering various aspects of design, development, production of equipment and distribution. Occam has several single or limited source suppliers. Although Occam s products could be redesigned to avoid using any sole source supplier, it would be expensive and time consuming to make such a change.

Competition

Competition in Occam s market is intense and the company expects competition to increase. The market for broadband access equipment is dominated primarily by large suppliers such as Alcatel-Lucent SA, Motorola, Tellabs and ADTRAN Inc. While these suppliers focus primarily on large service providers, they have competed, and may increasingly compete, in the IOC market segment. In addition, a number of companies, including Calix, Inc., have developed, or are developing, products that compete with Occam s products, including within Occam s core IOC segment.

Occam s ability to compete successfully depends on a number of factors, including:

the performance of Occam s products relative to its competitors products;

Occam s ability to properly define and develop new products, differentiate those products from its competitors and deliver them at competitive prices;

Occam s ability to market and sell its products through effective sales channels;

the protection of Occam s intellectual property, including its processes, trade secrets and know-how; and

Occam s ability to attract and retain qualified technical, executive and sales personnel.

Although Occam believes it competes favorably on the basis of product quality and performance, many of Occam s existing and potential competitors are larger than Occam is with longer operating histories, and have substantially greater financial, technical, marketing or other resources and a larger installed base of customers than Occam does. In addition, many of Occam s competitors have broader product lines than Occam does, so they can offer bundled products, which may appeal to certain customers.

As the market for Occam s products evolves, winning customers early in the growth of this market is critical to its ability to expand Occam s business and increase sales. Service providers are typically reluctant to switch equipment suppliers once a particular supplier s product has been installed due to the time and cost associated with such replacements. As a result, competition among equipment suppliers to secure initial contracts with key potential customers is particularly intense and will continue to place pressure on product pricing. If Occam is forced to reduce prices in order to secure customers, Occam may be unable to sustain gross margins at desired levels or maintain profitability.

Governmental Regulation

The markets for Occam s products are characterized by a significant number of laws, regulations and standards, both domestic and international, some of which are evolving as new technologies are deployed. Occam s products, or the deployment of its products, are required to comply with these laws, regulations and standards, including those promulgated by the Federal Communications Commission, or FCC, and counterpart foreign agencies. Subject to certain statutory parameters, Occam is required to make available to its customers, on a reasonably timely basis and at a reasonable charge, such features or modifications as are necessary to permit its customers to meet those capability requirements. In some cases, Occam is required to obtain certifications or authorizations before its products can be introduced, marketed or sold. While Occam believes that its products comply with all current applicable governmental laws, regulations and standards, Occam cannot assure that it will be able to continue to design its products to comply with all necessary requirements in the U.S. in the future. Accordingly, any of these laws, regulations and standards may directly affect Occam s ability to market or sell its products.

In addition, the Federal Communications Commission and state public utility commissions regulate Occam s customers, including the rates that its customers may charge for telecommunications services. In particular, Occam s IOC customers, but also others including regional Bell operating companies and competitive local exchange carriers, receive substantial revenue from intercarrier compensation (including interstate and intrastate access charges) and federal and state universal service subsidies. In 2001, the FCC initiated a rulemaking proceeding to seek comment as to whether and how the FCC should change its rules governing intercarrier compensation. Beginning in late 2000 and continuing into 2004, the telecom industry experienced a severe downturn, and many telecom service providers filed for bankruptcy. Those companies that survived the downturn substantially reduced their investments in new equipment. In addition, uncertain and volatile capital markets depressed the market values of telecom service providers and restricted their access to capital, resulting in delays or cancellations of certain projects. More recently, Occam believes capital expenditures among IOCs have been adversely affected as its customers consider their investment and capital expenditure decisions in light of the industry transition from copper wire to fiber. Because many of Occam s customers are IOCs, their revenues are particularly dependent upon intercarrier payments (primarily interstate and intrastate access charges) and federal and state universal service subsidies. The FCC and some states are considering changes to both intercarrier payments and universal service subsidies, and such changes could reduce IOC revenues. Furthermore, many IOCs use government supported loan programs or grants to finance capital spending. Changes to those programs, such as the United States Department of Agriculture s RUS loan program, could reduce the ability of IOCs to access capital. The recent turmoil in the U.S. lending markets and current uncertainty in global economic conditions has had an impact on the overall U.S. economy and the spending patterns of Occam s customers and prospects. Any decision by telecom service providers to reduce capital expenditures, whether caused by the economic downturn, changes in government regulations and subsidies, or other reasons, would have a material adverse effect on Occam s business, consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

Furthermore FCC regulatory policies that affect the availability of broadband access services may impede the penetration of Occam s customers in their respective markets, affecting the prices that Occam s customers are able to charge, or otherwise affecting the ability of its customers to market their services and grow their business. For example, FCC regulations addressing interconnection of competing networks, collocation, unbundling of network elements and line sharing impact Occam s potential regional Bell operating company, IOC and competitive local exchange provider customers.

Legislation is also currently before the United States Congress that could affect the demand for Occam s products. Various proposals before the United States Congress would alter the regulatory regime for franchising multichannel video providers, the regulatory status and obligations of VoIP, broadband video and broadband data providers, and the extent to which broadband Internet access providers are subject to non-discrimination or other duties with respect to applications or service provided over broadband networks. Some of these issues are also being considered by state legislatures in various forms.

State regulation of telecommunications networks and service providers may also affect the regulatory environment of Occam s market. As discussed above, states generally regulate the rates for intrastate telecommunications services, particularly those offered by incumbent local exchange carriers such as the Regional Bell Operating Companies, or RBOCs, and IOCs, and some states provide state universal service subsidies to Occam s customers. State regulators also, for example, typically settle disputes for competitive access to some incumbent local exchange carrier network elements or collocation in incumbent local exchange carrier offices, which competitive carriers use to offer various services. State regulators may also regulate and arbitrate disputes concerning interconnection of networks of incumbent local exchange carriers and competitive carriers. To the extent that Occam s customers are adversely affected by these changes in the regulatory environment, its business, operating results, and financial condition may be harmed.

In addition to federal and state telecommunications regulations, an increasing number of other domestic laws and regulations are being adopted to specifically address broadband and telecommunications issues such as liability for information retrieved from or transmitted over the Internet, online content regulation, user privacy, taxation, consumer protection, security of data and access by law enforcement, as well as intellectual property ownership, obscenity and libel. For instance, the Federal Trade Commission has recommended that Congress enact legislation to ensure adequate protection of online privacy and federal online privacy legislation is currently pending in Congress. The adoption of this or other restrictive legislation could increase the costs of communicating over the Internet or decrease the acceptance of the Internet as a commercial and advertising medium, thus dampening the growth of the Internet. Because Occam s customers use its products to facilitate both commercial and personal uses of the Internet, Occam s business could be harmed if the growth of the Internet were adversely affected by such regulations or standards.

Countries in the European Union, or EU, have also adopted laws relating to the provision of Internet services, the use of the Internet, and Internet-related applications. For example, in the United Kingdom, an Internet service provider, or ISP, may be liable for defamatory material posted on its sites. In Germany, an ISP may be liable for failing to block access to content that is illegal in the country. In addition, the EU has adopted a data protection directive to address privacy issues, impacting the use and transfer of personal data within and outside the EU. The application of this directive within the EU and with respect to U.S. companies that may handle personal data from the EU is unsettled. Similarly, countries in Europe restrict the use of encryption technology to varying degrees, making the provision of such technology unclear. Other laws relating to Internet usage are also being considered in the EU.

The applicability of laws, regulations and standards affecting the voice telephony, broadband telecommunications and data industry in which Occam and its customers operate is continuing to develop, both domestically and internationally. Occam cannot predict the exact impact that current and future laws, regulations and standards may have on Occam or its customers. These laws, regulations and standards may directly impact

Occam s products and result in a material and adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, should Occam s customers be adversely impacted by such regulation, Occam s business, financial condition and results of operations would likely be adversely affected as well.

Employees

As of September 30, 2010, Occam employed 196 full-time employees in the United States and 3 full-time employees in Canada. Of Occam s total number of employees, 63 were in engineering, 49 were in sales, marketing and customer service, 39 were in finance, IT and administration and 45 were in operations and customer support. None of Occam s employees is represented by collective bargaining agreements. Occam considers its relations with employees to be good.

Facilities

Occam has lease agreements related to the following properties:

approximately 51,000 square feet of space in Santa Barbara, California, used primarily for executive offices and for research and product development, administrative, and sales and marketing purposes, which expires in February 2014, and which Occam initially occupied in June 2007;

approximately 36,000 square feet of space in Fremont, California, used primarily for executive offices and for research and product development, administrative, and sales and marketing purposes, which expires in June 2015, and which Occam initially occupied in June 2008; and

approximately 2,080 square feet of space in Simi Valley, California, used primarily for research and product lab equipment which expires in October 2010.

Occam believes that its facilities adequately meet its current requirements for the foreseeable future and that Occam will be able to secure additional facilities as needed on commercially acceptable terms.

Backlog

Occam s backlog primarily consists of purchase orders from customers for products to be delivered within the next several quarters. Occam s backlog as of September 30, 2009 and September 30, 2010 was approximately \$26.0 million and \$30.8 million, respectively. Due in part to factors such as the timing of product release dates, customer purchase orders, product availability, allowing customers to delay scheduled delivery dates without penalty, allowing customers to cancel orders within negotiated time frames without significant penalty, and other factors that may adversely affect or delay Occam s ability to recognize revenue under applicable revenue recognition rules, the company s backlog may not be indicative of future revenue during any subsequent quarter.

Geographic Information

During Occam s last three years, substantially all of its revenue was generated within North America, and all of its long-lived assets are located within the United States.

Legal Proceedings

2007 Class Action Litigation

On April 26, 2007 and May 16, 2007, two putative class action complaints were filed in the United States District Court for the Central District of California against Occam and certain of its officers. The complaints allege that the defendants violated sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and SEC Rule 10b-5 by making false and misleading statements and omissions relating to its financial statements and internal controls with respect to revenue recognition. The complaints seek, on behalf of persons who purchased Occam s common stock during the period

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

from May 2, 2006 to April 17, 2007, damages of an unspecified amount.

On July 30, 2007, Judge Christina A. Snyder consolidated these actions into a single action, appointed NECA-IBEW Pension Fund (The Decatur Plan) as lead plaintiff, and approved its selection of lead counsel. On November 16, 2007, lead plaintiff filed a consolidated complaint. This consolidated complaint adds as defendants certain of Occam s current and former directors and officers, Occam s current and former outside auditors, the lead underwriter of Occam s secondary public offering in November 2006, and two venture capital firms who were early investors in Occam. The consolidated complaint alleges that defendants violated sections 10(b), 20(a) and 20A of the Exchange Act and SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, as well as sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act by making false and misleading statements and omissions relating to Occam s financial statements and internal controls with respect to revenue recognition that required restatement. The consolidated complaint seeks, on behalf of persons who purchased Occam s common stock during the period from April 29, 2004 to October 15, 2007, damages of an unspecified amount.

On January 25, 2008, defendants filed motions to dismiss the consolidated complaint. On July 1, 2008, Judge Snyder issued an order granting in part and denying in part defendants motions. This order dismissed all claims against certain of Occam s current and former directors, the 20A claim in its entirety, the section 10(b) claim against the auditors and venture capital firms, and the section 11 claims against the venture capital firms. On July 16, 2008, lead plaintiff filed an amended complaint to conform to the Court s July 1, 2008 order. On August 29, 2008, defendants answered the amended complaint.

On September 10, 2009, Occam entered into a memorandum of understanding to settle and resolve this stockholder class action lawsuit. On November 2, 2009, the parties signed and submitted a formal, binding stipulation of settlement to the court. The court issued its preliminary approval of the settlement on November 13, 2009. On February 22, 2010, the court held a hearing dismissing the litigation with prejudice and entered a final judgment. This matter is now resolved as to all defendants. The settlement provides for a payment to the class of \$13.945 million, of which Occam has agreed to contribute \$1.7 million and the balance of which will come from Occam s insurers and other settling defendants. Occam recorded a charge of \$1.7 million as a loss on settlement for the quarter ended September 30, 2009, associated with the settlement.

Initial Public Offering Allocation Litigation

In June 2001, three putative stockholder class action lawsuits were filed against Accelerated Networks, certain of its then officers and directors and several investment banks that were underwriters of Accelerated Networks initial public offering. The cases, which were later consolidated, were filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, and the operative Complaint was filed on April 19, 2002. The Complaint was filed on behalf of investors who purchased Accelerated Networks stock between June 22, 2000 and December 6, 2000 and alleged violations of Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act and Sections 10(b) and 20(a) and Rule 10b-5 of the 1934 Act against one or both of Accelerated Networks initial public offering to certain investors in exchange for excessive and undisclosed commissions and agreements by those investors to make additional purchases in the aftermarket at pre-determined prices. Plaintiffs alleged that the prospectus for Accelerated Networks initial public offering was false and misleading in violation of the securities laws because it did not disclose these arrangements.

Occam believes that over three hundred other companies have been named in over three hundred similar lawsuits that have been coordinated with Occam s case. In October 2002, the plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed the individual defendants without prejudice. On February 1, 2003 a motion to dismiss filed by the issuer defendants was heard and the court dismissed the 10(b), 20(a) and rule 10b-5 claims against Occam. On October 13, 2004, the Court certified a class in six of the approximately 300 other nearly identical actions (the focus cases) and noted that the decision was intended to provide guidance to all parties regarding class certification in the remaining cases. The Second Circuit Court of Appeals vacated the District Court s decision granting class certification in those six cases on December 5, 2006. Plaintiffs filed a motion for rehearing. On April 6, 2007, the Second Circuit denied the petition, but noted that plaintiffs could ask the District Court to certify a more narrow class than the one that was rejected.

The parties in the approximately 300 coordinated cases, including Occam s, reached a settlement. On October 5, 2009, the Court approved the settlement and certified a settlement class. Six notices of appeal of the Second Circuit of the Court s approval of the settlement have been filed. As of October 6, 2010, the deadline for filing appellate briefs opposing the settlement, only one brief was filed. On October 8, 2010 the remaining objectors along with plaintiff filed a stipulation withdrawing their appeals with prejudice. The remainder of the briefing schedule has not been set. Appellees, including Occam, are required to request a date not later than one hundred twenty days from the date of appellate brief filing to file their brief. The case remains open pending the briefing schedule and the outcome of the court ruling on the appeal.

Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation, Occam cannot accurately predict the ultimate outcome of the matter. Occam has not recorded any accrual related to the settlement because Occam expects any settlement amounts to be covered by its insurance policies.

Initial Public Offering Short Swing Profits Litigation

In late 2007, Occam received a letter from Vanessa Simmonds, a putative shareholder, demanding that Occam investigate and prosecute a claim for alleged short-swing trading in violation of Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78p(b), by the underwriter of Occam s initial public offering, or Occam s IPO, and certain unidentified directors, officers and shareholders of Occam (then known as Accelerated Networks). Occam evaluated the demand and declined to prosecute the claim. On October 12, 2007, the putative shareholder commenced a civil lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Washington against Credit Suisse Group, the lead underwriter of Occam s IPO, alleging violations of Section 16(b). The complaint alleges that the combined number of shares of Occam common stock beneficially owned by the lead underwriter and certain unnamed officers, directors, and principal shareholders exceeded ten percent of its outstanding common stock from the date of Occam s IPO on June 23, 2000, through at least June 22, 2001. It further alleges that those entities and individuals were thus subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) and the short-swing trading prohibition of Section 16(b), and failed to comply with those provisions. The complaint seeks to recover from the lead underwriter any short-swing profits obtained by it in violation of Section 16(b). Occam was named as a nominal defendant in the action, but has no liability for the asserted claims. None of the directors or officers of Occam are named as defendants in this action.

On October 29, 2007, the case was reassigned to Judge James L. Robart along with fifty-four other Section 16(b) cases seeking recovery of short-swing profits from underwriters in connection with various initial public offerings. The Underwriters and Issuers have filed a motion to dismiss the case and reply briefs have been filed. The Court heard oral argument on January 19, 2009 from all parties. On March 12, 2009, the Court dismissed the 16(b) complaint against the issuer defendants including Occam on both jurisdictional and statute of limitation grounds. On March 31, 2009, the plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal and their opening brief on August 26, 2009. The Issuers including Occam and the underwriters filed their responses on October 2, 2009. Each party s reply briefs have been filed as of November 17, 2009. The Appellate Court for the Ninth Circuit heard oral argument on October 5, 2010.

On December 2, 2010 the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the District Court s conclusion that plaintiff s demand letter to Occam as well as twenty-nine other defendants was inadequate under Delaware law and ordered the District Court to dismiss all claims against the thirty defendants including Occam with prejudice for failure to satisfy Delaware law demand requirements. The case remains open while the file is being remanded to the District Court to carry out the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals order.

Due to the inherent uncertainties of threatened litigation, Occam cannot accurately predict the ultimate outcome of the matter. Occam has not recorded any accruals related to the demand letters or Section 16(b) litigation because Occam expects any resulting resolution to be covered by its insurance policies.

Atwater Partners of Texas LLC v. AT&T, Inc. et al.

On May 27, 2010, Atwater Partners of Texas LLC filed a complaint in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Texas alleging infringement of certain U.S. Patent Nos. 6,490,296; 7,158,523; 7,161,953; 7,310,310; and 7,349,401 by 25 companies, including Occam. The complaint seeks an injunction, unspecified damages, and other relief. The disclosure of each of the patents in suit relates to the field of digital networks. Occam has answered the complaint and has asserted thirteen affirmative defenses, including invalidity, non-infringement, and patent exhaustion. This case is currently pending.

Merger Transaction Class Action Lawsuits

On September 17, 2010, September 20, 2010 and September 21, 2010, three purported class action complaints were filed by three purported stockholders of Occam in the California Superior Court for Santa Barbara County: Kardosh v. Occam Networks, Inc., et al. (Case No. 1371748), or the Kardosh complaint; Kennedy v. Occam Networks, Inc., et al. (Case No. 1371762), or the Kennedy complaint; and Moghaddam v. Occam Networks, Inc., et al. (Case No. 1371802), or the Moghaddam complaint, respectively. The Kardosh, Kennedy and Moghaddam complaints, which are referred to collectively as the California class action complaints, are substantially similar. Each of the California class action complaints names Occam, the members of the Occam board and Calix as defendants. The Kennedy complaint also names Calix s merger subsidiaries, Ocean Sub I and Ocean Sub II, as defendants.

The California class action complaints generally allege that the members of the Occam board breached their fiduciary duties in connection with the proposed acquisition of Occam by Calix, by, among other things, engaging in an allegedly unfair process and agreeing to an allegedly unfair price for the proposed merger transaction. The California class action complaints further allege that Occam and the other entity defendants aided and abetted the alleged breaches of fiduciary duty. The plaintiffs in the California class action complaints seek injunctive relief directing the individual defendants to comply with their fiduciary duties and enjoining the proposed merger transaction, and rescinding the merger transaction and awarding damages in an unspecified amount in the event the merger transaction closes, as well as plaintiffs costs, attorney s fees, and other relief. On November 19, 2010, the California Superior Court issued an order staying the California class actions in favor of a substantively identical stockholder class action pending in the Delaware Court of Chancery (see below).

On October 6, 2010, a purported class action complaint was filed by purported stockholders of Occam in the Delaware Court of Chancery: Steinhardt v. Howard-Anderson, et al. (Case No. 5878-VCL). On November 24, 2010, these purported stockholders filed an amended complaint, or the amended Steinhardt complaint. The amended Steinhardt complaint names Occam and the members of the Occam board as defendants. The amended Steinhardt complaint does not name Calix as a defendant.

Like the California class action complaints, the amended Steinhardt complaint generally alleges that the members of the Occam board breached their fiduciary duties in connection with the proposed acquisition of Occam by Calix, by, among other things, engaging in an allegedly unfair process and agreeing to an allegedly unfair price for the proposed merger transaction. The amended Steinhardt complaint also alleges that Occam and the members of the Occam board breached their fiduciary duties by failing to disclose certain allegedly material facts about the proposed merger in the preliminary Form S-4 Registration Statement that Calix filed with the SEC on November 2, 2010. The amended Steinhardt complaint seeks injunctive relief enjoining the proposed merger, or rescinding the merger transaction and awarding damages in an unspecified amount in the event the merger transaction closes, as well as plaintiffs costs, attorney s fees, and other relief.

On November 12, 2010, a complaint was filed by two purported stockholders of Occam in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California: Kennedy and Moghaddam v. Occam Networks, Inc., et al. (Case No. CV10-8665), or the Federal complaint. The Federal complaint names Occam, the members of the Occam board, Calix, Ocean Sub I, and Ocean Sub II as defendants. The Federal complaint generally alleges that the defendants

violated sections 14(a) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in connection with the proposed acquisition of Occam by Calix, by, among other things, making material misstatements and omissions about the proposed merger in the preliminary Form S-4 Registration Statement that Calix filed with the SEC on November 2, 2010, and/or aiding and abetting the issuance of the allegedly misleading registration statement. The plaintiffs in the Federal complaint seek injunctive relief enjoining the proposed merger transaction, as well as plaintiffs costs, attorney s fees, and other relief.

Occam s management believes that the allegations in the California actions, the Delaware action, and the Federal action are without merit and intends to vigorously contest the actions. However, there can be no assurance that the defendants will be successful in their defense.

Other Matters

From time to time, Occam is subject to threats of litigation or actual litigation in the ordinary course of business, some of which may be material. Occam believes that, except as described above, there are no currently pending matters that, if determined adversely to the company, would have a material effect on Occam s business or that would not be covered by its existing liability insurance maintained by Occam.

Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the subsequent interim period through September 30, 2010, there were no changes in accountants nor any disagreements with accountants on accounting and financial disclosure for Occam.

MARKET PRICE AND DIVIDEND INFORMATION

Comparative Stock Prices and Dividends

Calix common stock is traded on NYSE under the trading symbol CALX. Occam common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Stock Market under the trading symbol OCNW. The following table sets forth, for the fiscal periods indicated, the high and low sale prices per share of Calix common stock as reported on NYSE and the high and low sale prices per share of Occam stock as reported on the NASDAQ Stock Market. The table also provides information as to dividends declared and paid per share of Calix common stock and Occam common stock. Calix does not currently intend to pay any cash dividends on its common stock for the foreseeable future.

Calix operates on a 4-4-5 fiscal calendar which divides the year into four quarters with each quarter having 13 weeks which are grouped into two 4-week months and one 5-week month. In 2010, Calix s first quarter ended on March 27, the second quarter ended June 26 and the third quarter ended September 25. Calix s fiscal year ends on December 31. Occam operates on the calendar quarter system which divides the year into four quarters and each quarter is comprised of three full calendar months. For every year, Occam s first quarter ends on March 31, the second quarter ends on June 30, the third quarter ends on September 30 and the fourth quarter ends on December 31. Occam s fiscal year ends on December 31.

	Calix				Occam		
	High	Low	Dividend per Share	High	Low	Dividend per Share	
Calendar Year 2008	-		-	-		-	
First Quarter	\$	\$	\$	\$ 5.82	\$ 2.75		
Second Quarter				5.66	3.70		
Third Quarter				5.38	3.00		
Fourth Quarter				4.03	1.80		
Calendar Year 2009							
First Quarter				3.48	1.82		
Second Quarter				3.59	2.00		
Third Quarter				4.45	3.13		
Fourth Quarter				5.69	2.91		
Calendar Year 2010							
First Quarter	18.00	13.55		7.41	4.93		
Second Quarter	14.81	9.66		7.15	5.37		
Third Quarter	13.55	9.57		7.86	4.21		
Fourth Quarter (through December 13, 2010)	16.39	12.17		8.47	7.17		

The following table sets forth the high, low and closing sale prices per share of Calix common stock as reported on the NYSE and Occam common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Stock Market on September 15, 2010, the last trading day before the public announcement of the merger agreement, and on December 13, 2010, the latest practicable date prior to the date of this proxy statement/prospectus. The equivalent per share value reflects the value of the Calix common stock that Occam stockholders would receive for each share of their Occam common stock if the merger was completed on those dates, September 15, 2010 and December 13, 2010, and equals the exchange ratio of 0.2925 multiplied by the closing price of one share of Calix common stock on such date plus \$3.8337.

		Calix			Occam			ivalent Per e Value of
	High	Low	Closing	High	Low	Closing	Calix C	ommon Stock
September 15, 2010	\$ 13.50	\$ 13.00	\$ 13.30	\$ 5.35	\$4.88	\$ 5.29	\$	7.72395
December 13, 2010	\$ 16.39	\$ 15.77	\$ 15.90	\$ 8.47	\$ 8.29	\$ 8.34	\$	8.48445

The market price of Calix common stock is likely to fluctuate prior to the effective time. You should obtain current market quotations. Calix cannot predict the future prices for Calix common stock.

Number of Holders of Common Stock and Number of Shares Outstanding

As of December 7, 2010, there were 483 stockholders of record of Calix common stock who held an aggregate of 38,537,854 shares of Calix common stock.

As of November 30, 2010, there were 183 stockholders of record of Occam common stock who held an aggregate of 21,414,116 shares of Occam common stock.

A substantially greater number of holders of Calix common stock and Occam common stock are street name or beneficial holders, whose shares are held of record by banks, brokers, and other financial institutions.

SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA OF CALIX

Summary Historical Financial Data of Calix

The following tables summarize Calix s financial data. The statements of operations data for the nine months ended September 26, 2009 and September 25, 2010 and the balance sheet data as of September 25, 2010 are derived from Calix s unaudited financial statements and related notes. The statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2008 and 2009 are derived from Calix s audited financial statements and related notes, which are included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus. The statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006 and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 are derived from Calix s audited financial statements and related notes, which are not included in this proxy statement/prospectus. Historical results are not indicative of the results that should be expected in the future.

	Years Ended December 31,					Nine Months Ended September 26, September 25.		
	2005	2006 (in thousand	2007 ds, except per	2008 share data)	2009	2009 (unaudited	September 25, 2010 , in thousands, r share data)	
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:								
Revenue	\$ 133,516	\$ 203,590	\$ 193,819	\$ 250,463	\$ 232,947	\$ 144,588	\$ 195,348	
Cost of revenue:								
Products and services ⁽¹⁾	92,527	138,651	128,025	165,925	150,863	93,584	117,194	
Amortization of existing technologies		4,987	5,440	5,440	5,440	4,080	4,080	
Total cost of revenue	92,527	143,638	133,465	171,365	156,303	97,664	121,274	
Gross profit	40,989	59,952	60,354	79,098	76,644	46,924	74,074	
Operating expenses:								
Research and development ⁽¹⁾	30,312	43,469	44,439	44,348	46,132	33,187	39,232	
Sales and marketing ⁽¹⁾	20,632	29,852	28,439	31,627	33,486	23,691	29,014	
General and administrative ⁽¹⁾	6,541	8,938	12,103	15,253	15,613	11,629	19,515	
Acquisition-related costs							2,137	
Amortization of acquired intangible assets		2,378	740	740	740	555	555	
In-process research and development		9,000						
Total operating expenses	57,485	93,637	85,721	91,968	95,971	69,062	90,453	
Loss from operations	(16,496)	(33,685)	(25,367)	(12,870)	(19,327)	(22,138)	(16,379)	
Other income (expense), net	1,468	14,331	530	(130)	(3,466)		(1,001)	
Net loss before provision (benefit) from income taxes	(15,028)	(19,354)	(24,837)	(13,000)	(22,793)	(25,235)	(17,380)	
Provision (benefit) from income taxes	27	105	102	(81)	(352)	51	435	
Net loss before cumulative effect of change in								
accounting principle	(15,055)	(19,459)	(24,939)	(12,919)	(22,441)	(25,286)	(17,815)	
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle	(8,278)	(1),(0))	(21,909)	(12,717)	(22,111)	(10,200)	(17,010)	
Net loss	(23,333)	(19,459)	(24,939)	(12,919)	(22,441)	(25,286)	(17,815)	
Preferred stock dividends			1,016	4,065	3,747	3,041	900	
Net loss attributable to common stockholders	\$ (23,333)	\$ (19,459)	\$ (25,955)	\$ (16,984)	\$ (26,188)	\$ (28,327)	\$ (18,715)	
Net loss per common share:								
Basic and diluted	\$ (10.86)	\$ (6.25)	\$ (6.96)	\$ (4.27)	\$ (6.48)	\$ (7.03)	\$ (0.70)	
Pro forma basic and diluted (unaudited) ⁽²⁾					\$ (0.77)		\$ (0.50)	

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

Weighted average number of shares used to compute net loss per share: Basic and diluted

Basic and diluted	2,149	3,111	3,727	3,975	4,040	4,029	26,751
Pro forma basic and diluted (unaudited) ⁽²⁾					28,991		35,540

(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:

Cost of revenue	\$ 164	\$ 277	\$ 379	\$ 619	\$ 581	\$ 516	\$ 1,152
Research and development	259	824	1,852	3,189	2,657	1,969	4,014
Sales and marketing	427	659	1,285	1,998	1,840	1,287	3,034
General and administrative	1,248	1,053	2,738	4,134	4,118	2,918	9,282
	\$ 2,098	\$ 2,813	\$ 6,254	\$ 9,940	\$ 9,196	\$ 6,690	\$ 17,482

(2) Pro forma weighted average shares outstanding reflects the conversion of Calix s convertible preferred stock (using the if-converted method) into common stock as though the conversion had occurred on the original dates of issuance.

			As of			
	2005	2006	2007 (In thousands)	2008	2009	September 25, 2010 (In thousands, unaudited)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:						
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities	\$ 11,926	\$ 11,750	\$ 29,645	\$ 23,214	\$ 68,049	\$ 109,243
Working capital (deficit)	(6,268)	(11,637)	15,465	41,403	77,999	127,102
Total assets	54,437	203,530	202,677	189,455	241,116	262,066
Current and long-term loans payable	4,262	23,262	16,512	21,000	20,000	
Preferred stock warrant liabilities	16,023	3,195	1,561	232	195	
Convertible preferred stock	281,262	379,316	422,337	426,403	479,628	
Common stock and additional paid-in capital	22,357	26,062	33,307	43,597	52,841	608,602
Total stockholders equity (deficit)	(282,990)	(296,993)	(315,676)	(322,397)	(339,358)	197,785

CALIX MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of Calix s financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with the financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus. The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect Calix s plans, estimates and beliefs. The actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include those discussed below and elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus, particularly in the section titled Risk Factors.

Overview

Calix is a leading provider in North America of broadband communications access systems and software for copper- and fiber-based network architectures that enable communications service providers, or CSPs, to connect to their residential and business subscribers. Calix develops and sells carrier-class hardware and software products, which the company refers to as its Unified Access portfolio, designed to enhance and transform CSP access networks to meet the changing demands of subscribers rapidly and cost-effectively. The Calix Unified Access portfolio consists of the company s two core platforms, the C-Series multiservice, multiprotocol access platform, or C-Series platform, and the E-Series Ethernet service access platforms and nodes, or E-Series platforms and nodes, along with the complementary P-Series optical network terminals, or ONTs and the Calix Management System, or CMS, network management software. Calix also offers installation, training, post-sales software support and extended warranty services. To date, service revenue has comprised an insignificant portion of Calix s revenue.

Calix s revenue has increased from \$133.5 million for 2005 to \$232.9 million for 2009 and was \$195.3 million for the nine months ended September 25, 2010. Continued revenue growth will depend on Calix s ability to continue to sell its access systems and software to existing customers and to attract new customers, including in particular, those customers in the large CSP and international markets. Since its inception Calix has incurred significant losses, and as of September 25, 2010, the company had an accumulated deficit of \$410.9 million. Calix s net loss was \$24.9 million, \$12.9 million and \$22.4 million for 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively. For the nine months ended September 25, 2010, the company s net loss was \$17.8 million.

Basis of Presentation

Revenue

Calix derives its revenue primarily from sales of its hardware products and related software. Calix generally recognizes revenue after products have been delivered and accepted, and title has been transferred to the customer. In certain cases, its products are sold along with services, which include installation, training, post-sales software support and/or extended warranty services. To date, service revenue has comprised an insignificant portion of Calix s revenue, and the company has not reported service revenue separately from product revenue in its financial statements. As of September 25, 2010, Calix s revenue deferrals, related to partially delivered arrangements that were entered into prior to January 1, 2010, and RUS contracts that include installation services, special customer arrangements and ratably recognized services totaled \$28.5 million. Where substantive acceptance provisions are specified in an arrangement or extended return rights exist, revenue is deferred until all acceptance criteria have been met or the extended return rights expire. The timing of deferred revenue recognition may cause significant fluctuations in Calix s revenue and operating results from period to period.

Cost of Revenue

Calix s cost of revenue is comprised of the following:

Products and services revenue Cost of products revenue includes the inventory costs of Calix s products that have shipped, accrued warranty costs for its standard warranty program, outbound freight costs to deliver products to its customers, overhead from its manufacturing operations cost centers, including stock-based compensation, and other manufacturing related costs associated with manufacturing its products and managing inventory. Calix outsources its manufacturing to third-party manufacturers. Inventory costs are estimated using standard costs which reflect the cost of historical direct labor, direct overhead and materials used to build Calix s inventory. Cost of services revenue includes direct installation material costs, direct costs from third-party installers, professional service costs, repair fees charged by Calix s outsourced repair contractors to refurbish product returns under an extended warranty or per incident repair agreement, and other miscellaneous costs to support Calix s services.

Amortization of existing technologies These expenses are the result of Calix s acquisition of Optical Solutions, Inc., or OSI. *Gross Profit*

Calix s gross profit and gross margin have been, and will likely be, impacted by several factors, including new product introduction or upgrades to existing products, changes in customer mix, changes in the mix of products demanded and sold, shipment volumes, changes in product costs, changes in pricing and the extent of customer rebates and incentive programs. Calix believes its gross margin could increase due to favorable changes in these factors, for example, increases in sales of newly introduced products such as the Calix E7 Ethernet service access platform, which was introduced in the fourth quarter of 2009, upgrades to the existing C7, new introductions of Calix s P-Series ONTs and reductions in the impact of rebate or similar programs. Calix believes its gross margin could decrease due to unfavorable changes in factors such as increased product costs, pricing decreases due to competitive pressure and an unfavorable customer or product mix. Changes in these factors could have a material impact on Calix s future average selling prices and unit costs. Also, the timing of deferred revenue recognition and related deferred costs can have a material impact on Calix s gross profit and gross margin results. The timing of recognition and the relative size of these arrangements could cause large fluctuations in gross profit from period to period.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses consist primarily of research and development, sales and marketing and general and administrative expenses and are recognized as incurred. Personnel-related costs, which include stock- based compensation expense, are the most significant component of each of these expense categories. Calix expects to continue to hire new employees in order to support its anticipated growth and status as a public company. In any particular period, the timing of additional hires could materially affect Calix s operating expenses, both in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue. The company anticipates that its operating expenses will increase in absolute dollar amounts but will decline as a percentage of revenue over time.

Research and Development Research and development expenses represent the largest component of Calix s operating expenses and include personnel costs, consulting services, depreciation on lab equipment, costs of prototypes and overhead allocations. Calix expenses research and development costs as incurred. Since the costs of software development that the company incurs after a product has reached technological feasibility are not material, Calix has not capitalized any such costs to date. Calix intends to continue making significant investments in developing new products and enhancing the functionality of its existing products.

Sales and Marketing Sales and marketing expenses consist of personnel costs, employee sales commissions and marketing programs. Calix expects sales and marketing expenses to increase as it hires additional personnel both in North America and internationally to support anticipated revenue growth.

General and Administrative General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs and costs for facilities related to Calix s executive, finance, human resource, information technology and legal organizations and fees for professional services. Professional services consist of outside legal, tax and audit costs. Calix expects to incur significant additional expenses as a result of operating as a public company, including costs to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the rules and regulations applicable to companies listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

Acquisition-Related Costs Acquisition-related costs consist primarily of costs incurred for professional services associated with Calix s acquisition related activities that are in progress.

Amortization of Acquired Intangible Assets Amortized acquired intangible assets comprise customer contracts and lists and purchase order backlog obtained in the OSI acquisition. *Other Income (Expense), Net*

Other income (expense), net primarily includes interest expense on Calix s outstanding loans and interest income on the company s cash and investment balances. In addition, other income (expense), net includes adjustments to record Calix s convertible preferred stock warrants at fair value. These convertible preferred stock warrants were converted into common stock warrants upon the closing of Calix s initial public offering, or Calix s IPO, on March 26, 2010. Although an adjustment was recorded in the three months ended March 27, 2010, no such adjustment was made in the three months ended September 25, 2010 and no further adjustments will be made in future periods. Further, on May 4, 2010, Calix paid in its entirety its outstanding term loan of \$20.0 million including outstanding accrued interest and prepayment penalties of \$0.4 million.

Critical Accounting Policies and the Use of Estimates

Calix s financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. These accounting principles require Calix to make certain estimates and judgments that can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented. Management bases its estimates, assumptions and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. To the extent there are material differences between these estimates and actual results, Calix s financial statements will be affected. Calix s management evaluates its estimates, assumptions and judgments on an ongoing basis.

On January 1, 2010, Calix early adopted the new accounting standard for multiple deliverable revenue arrangements (ASC Topic 605-25), on a prospective basis, related to allocating revenue in a multiple deliverable arrangement as described more fully below. Other than the adoption of ASC Topic 605-25, there have been no significant changes in Calix s significant accounting policies during the nine months ended September 25, 2010 as compared to the significant accounting policies described in Calix s Prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act with the SEC on March 24, 2010.

The items in Calix s condensed consolidated financial statements requiring significant estimates and judgments are as follows:

Revenue Recognition

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, amended the accounting standards for revenue recognition to remove tangible products containing software components and non-software components that function together to deliver the product s essential functionality from the scope of industry-specific software revenue recognition guidance. In October 2009, the FASB also amended the accounting standards for multiple deliverable revenue arrangements to:

provide updated guidance on whether multiple deliverables exist, how the deliverables in an arrangement should be separated, and how the consideration should be allocated;

require an entity to allocate revenue in an arrangement using best estimate of selling prices, or BSP, of deliverables if a vendor does not have vendor-specific objective evidence of selling price, or VSOE, or third-party evidence of selling price, or TPE; and

eliminate the use of the residual method and require an entity to allocate revenue using the relative selling price method. Calix elected to early adopt this accounting guidance at the beginning of its first quarter of fiscal 2010 on a prospective basis for applicable transactions originating or materially modified after December 31, 2009. This guidance does not change the units of accounting for Calix s revenue transactions. Calix s products and services qualify as separate units of accounting. Products are typically considered delivered upon shipment and are deemed to be non-contingent deliverables. Calix provides certain services at stated prices over a specified period of time and must meet specified performance conditions. As such, Calix has determined that its individual services are contingent deliverables. In addition, Calix provides specified packages of items considered a package arrangement which Calix also considers a contingent deliverable, and therefore Calix does not bill its customers until it has fully delivered the package. For multiple-element arrangements that include products and packages or services, Calix will first exclude the contingent revenue items and then allocate the remaining consideration to the non-contingent product deliverables on the basis of their relative selling price, which is currently BSP. To the extent that the stated contractual prices fall within Calix s calculated range for BSP, Calix will allocate the consideration using the stated contractual prices. However, if the stated contractual price for any product deliverable is outside the range, the contractual prices will be adjusted using the midpoint price within its range in order to allocate arrangement consideration using the relative selling price method. Since the individual products and services meet the criteria for separate units of accounting, Calix will recognize revenue upon delivery of each product and/or services. Post-sales software support revenue and extended warranty services revenue is deferred and recognized ratably over the period during which the services are to be performed. Installation and training service arrangements are recognized upon delivery or completion of performance. These service arrangements are typically short term in nature and are largely completed shortly after delivery of the product. Revenue from package arrangements is recognized upon full delivery of the package. In instances where substantive acceptance provisions are specified in the customer agreement, revenue is deferred until all acceptance criteria have been met. Calix s arrangements generally do not include any provisions for cancellation, termination, or refunds that would significantly impact recognized revenue.

Calix derives revenue primarily from the sale of hardware products and related software. Shipping charges billed to customers are included in revenue and the related shipping costs are included in cost of revenue. In certain cases, Calix products are sold along with services, which include installation, training, post-sales software support and/or extended warranty services. Post-sales software support consists of the Calix management software, including rights, on a when-and-if available basis, to receive unspecified software product upgrades to either embedded software or the management software, maintenance releases and patches released during the term of the support period and product support, which includes telephone and Internet access to technical support personnel. Extended warranty services include the right to warranty coverage beyond the standard warranty period. From time to time, Calix offers customers sales incentives, which include volume rebates and discounts. These amounts are accrued on a quarterly basis and recorded net of revenue.

Payment terms to customers generally range from net 30 to net 90 days. Calix assesses the ability to collect from customers based primarily on the creditworthiness and past payment history of the customer. Revenue arrangements that provide payment terms that extend beyond the customary payment terms are considered extended payment terms. Occasionally, Calix offers extended payment terms in a revenue arrangement. Through the date of this filing, Calix has not experienced any significant accounts receivable write-offs related to revenue arrangements with extended payment terms. Customer arrangements with extended payment terms may also include substantive acceptance criteria within the arrangement which, in accordance with the Calix revenue recognition policy, would cause the revenue in the arrangement to be deferred until all the acceptance criteria have been met. Extended payment terms may also indicate that the customer is relying on a future event as a

prerequisite for the payment, such as installation, a new software release or financing, which would indicate that the fees associated with the arrangement are not fixed or determinable. Due to the unusual nature and uncertainty associated with granting extended payment terms in customer arrangements, Calix defers revenue under these arrangements and recognizes the revenue upon payment from the customer, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Calix enters into arrangements with certain of its customers who receive government supported loans and grants from the U.S. Department of Agriculture s Rural Utility Service, or RUS, to finance capital spending. Under the terms of an RUS equipment contract that includes installation services, the customer does not take possession and control and title does not pass until formal acceptance is obtained from the customer. Under this type of arrangement, Calix does not recognize revenue until it has received formal acceptance from the customer. For RUS arrangements that do not involve installation services, Calix recognizes revenue in accordance with the revenue recognition policy described above.

For transactions entered into prior to the first quarter of fiscal 2010, Calix primarily recognized revenue based on software revenue recognition guidance prescribed in ASC Topic 985. As Calix is unable to establish VSOE for its products or installation services the entire fee from arrangements involving multiple product deliverables were deferred and recognized upon delivery of all products. Revenue from products that were sold in combination with installation services was deferred and recognized upon delivery of all products and completion of the installation. In most circumstances when Calix is not able to determine VSOE for all of the deliverables of the arrangement, but was able to obtain VSOE for any undelivered elements, revenue was allocated using the residual method. Under the residual method, the fair value of the undelivered elements was deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee was allocated to the delivered items and recognized as revenue, and no revenue was recognized until all elements without VSOE had been delivered. If VSOE of any undelivered items did not exist, revenue from the entire arrangement was initially deferred and recognized at the earlier of: (i) delivery of those elements for which VSOE did not exist or (ii) when VSOE was established. Deferred revenue consisted of arrangements that had been partially delivered, contracts with the RUS that include installation services, special customer arrangements and ratably recognized services.

Contrary to the product and installation service sales, Calix has been able to establish VSOE for its training, post-sales software support and extended warranty services. Training courses are based on a daily rate per person and will vary according to the type of training class offered. Post-sales software support is offered for a one year term and the price is based on the number of customer subscriber lines. Extended warranty pricing is based on the type of product and is sold in 1 or 5 year durations. In substantially all of the arrangements with multiple deliverables pertaining to arrangements with these services, Calix has used and intend to continue using VSOE to allocate the selling price to each deliverable. Consistent with its methodology under previous accounting guidance, Calix determines VSOE based on its normal pricing practices for these specific services when sold separately.

In most instances, Calix is not able to establish VSOE for all deliverables in an arrangement with multiple elements. This may be due to infrequently selling each element separately, not pricing products within a narrow range, or only having a limited sales history. When VSOE cannot be established, Calix attempts to establish selling price of each element based on TPE. TPE is determined based on competitor prices for similar deliverables when sold separately. Generally, Calix s marketing strategy differs from that of its peers and its offerings contain a significant level of customization and differentiation such that the comparable pricing of products with similar functionality cannot be obtained. Furthermore, Calix is unable to reliably determine what similar competitor products selling prices are on a stand-alone basis. Therefore, Calix is typically not able to determine TPE.

When Calix is unable to establish selling price using VSOE or TPE, it uses BSP. The objective of BSP is to determine the price at which Calix would transact a sale if the product or service were sold on a stand-alone basis. BSP is primarily used for all products and installation services where Calix historically has not been able to establish VSOE of selling price.

Calix determines BSP for a product or service by considering multiple factors including, but not limited to, geographies, market conditions, competitive landscape, internal costs, gross margin objectives, characteristics of targeted customers and pricing practices. The determination of BSP is made through consultation with and formal approval by management, taking into consideration the go-to-market strategy.

Calix regularly reviews VSOE, TPE and BSP and maintains internal controls over the establishment and updates of these estimates. There were no material impacts during the nine months ended September 25, 2010 nor does Calix expect a material impact in the near term from changes in VSOE, TPE or BSP.

Revenue as reported and Calix s estimate of the pro forma revenue that would have been reported during the nine months ended September 25, 2010, if the transaction entered into or materially modified after December 31, 2009 were subject to previous accounting guidance, are shown in the following table (in thousands):

	Nine Months Ended	September 25, 2010
		Pro Forma Basis
		as if the
		Previous
		Accounting
		Guidance Were
	As Reported	in Effect
Revenue	\$ 195,348	\$ 170,719
. 1 1 0	 	1 21 2000

The new accounting standards for revenue recognition if applied in the same manner to the year ended December 31, 2009 would have resulted in additional revenues of \$10.3 million for that fiscal year. Agreements entered into prior to January 1, 2010 which previously had been accounted for under ASC Topic 985-605 but were materially modified subsequent to January 1, 2010 and are now accounted for under ASC Topic 605-25 resulted in recognized revenue of \$13.0 million for the nine months ended September 25, 2010. In terms of the timing and pattern of revenue recognition, the new accounting guidance for revenue recognition may have a significant effect on revenue in periods after the initial adoption as Calix continues to market its products in multiple element arrangements.

Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, Calix accounted for employee stock options using the intrinsic value method in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, *Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees*. In addition, Calix applied the disclosure provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, *Accounting For Stock-Based Compensation*, as amended by SFAS No. 148, *Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure*.

Effective January 1, 2006, Calix adopted the applicable accounting guidance under ASC Topic 718 for share-based payment transactions. Under the fair value recognition provisions of this guidance, stock-based awards, including stock options, are recorded at fair value as of the grant date and recognized to expense over the employee s requisite service period (generally the vesting period), which Calix has elected to amortize on a straight-line basis. Calix adopted this guidance using the modified prospective transition method. Under that transition method, compensation expense recognized beginning in 2006 includes compensation expense for all share-based payments granted prior to, but not yet vested as of December 31, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of this guidance, and compensation expense for all share-based payments granted after December 31, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated after December 31, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated after December 31, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated after December 31, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated after December 31, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of this guidance. Such amounts have been reduced by Calix s estimated forfeitures on all unvested awards. Under the provisions of this guidance, Calix estimates the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. This model requires various highly judgmental assumptions, including volatility, expected forfeiture rates and expected option life, which have a significant impact on the fair value estimates. Because Calix is a newly public company, it derives its expected volatility

based on its peer group of publicly-traded companies in the industry in which Calix does business. The expected life of an option award is calculated using the simplified method provided in the SEC s Staff Accounting Bulletin 110, and takes into consideration the grant s contractual life and vesting periods. Calix applies an estimated forfeiture rate based on an analysis of its actual forfeitures and will continue to evaluate the adequacy of the forfeiture rate based on actual forfeiture experience, analysis of employee turnover behavior and other factors. If any of the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model change significantly, stock-based compensation expense may differ materially in the future from that recorded in the current period.

The fair values of the common stock underlying stock options granted during 2008 and 2009 were estimated by the Calix board, which intended all options granted to be exercisable at a price per share not less than the per share fair market value of Calix common stock underlying those options on the date of grant. Given the absence of a public trading market in the periods prior to its initial public offering, the Calix board considered numerous objective and subjective factors to determine the best estimate of the fair market value of its common stock at each meeting at which stock option grants were approved. These factors included, but were not limited to, the following: contemporaneous valuations of Calix common stock, the rights and preferences of Calix convertible preferred stock relative to its common stock, the lack of marketability of the common stock, developments in Calix s business, recent issuances of the convertible preferred stock and the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offering, or IPO, or sale of the company, given prevailing market conditions. If Calix had made different assumptions and estimates, the amount of its recognized and to be recognized stock-based compensation expense could have been materially different. Calix believes that it has used reasonable methodologies, approaches and assumptions in determining the fair value of its common stock.

During the nine months ended September 25, 2010, Calix recorded stock-based compensation of \$17.5 million. At September 25, 2010, Calix had \$1.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options, net of estimated forfeitures. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average service period of approximately 3.0 years. At September 25, 2010, Calix had \$29.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock units, or RSUs, net of estimated forfeitures. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average service period of approximately 2.3 years. To the extent that the actual forfeiture rate is different than what Calix had anticipated, stock-based compensation related to these awards will be adjusted in future periods. The increased stock-based non-cash compensation expense for the nine months ended September 25, 2010 was the result of employee stock options exchanged for RSUs in the third quarter of 2009 which began amortizing upon the IPO in March of 2010 and will amortize through April of 2011.

Significant Factors, Assumptions and Methodologies Used in Determining Fair Value

In valuing its common stock prior to the IPO Calix determined a business enterprise value of the company by taking a weighted combination of the enterprise values calculated under two valuation approaches, an income approach and a market approach. The income approach estimated the present value of future estimated debt-free cash flows, based upon forecasted revenue and costs. These discounted cash flows were added to the present value of Calix s estimated enterprise terminal value, the multiple of which was derived from comparable company market data. These future cash flows were discounted to their present values using a rate corresponding to Calix s estimated average cost of capital. The discount rate was derived from an analysis of the weighted average cost of capital of Calix s publicly-traded peer group as of the valuation date and was adjusted to reflect the risk inherent in its cash flows. The market approach estimated the fair value of a company by applying to that company the market multiples of comparable publicly-traded companies. Calix calculated a multiple of key metrics implied by the enterprise values or acquisition values of its publicly-traded peers. Based on the range of these observed multiples, Calix applied judgment in determining an appropriate multiple to apply to its metrics in order to derive an indication of value.

Once Calix had determined the fair value of the company, it then allocated that value to each of its classes of stock then existing using a probability weighted scenario analysis. The common stock value was based upon

the probability weighted average of two possible future liquidity scenarios: (1) a merger and acquisition scenario, or non-IPO scenario, and (2) a scenario in which an IPO was completed, or an IPO scenario. Under both scenarios, Calix uses an options-based methodology for allocating the estimated aggregate value to each of its securities using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. In the non-IPO scenario, a large portion of Calix s equity value was allocated to its convertible preferred stock as the aggregate liquidation preference was approximately \$512.2 million at December 31, 2009, and certain series of convertible preferred stock participates on a pro-rata basis with the common stock subsequent to the distribution of the liquidation preference to the preferred holders. In the IPO scenario, the equity value was allocated pro rata among the shares of common stock and each series of convertible preferred stock, which causes Calix s common stock to have a higher relative value per share than under the non-IPO scenario.

Common Stock Valuations

Information regarding Calix s stock option grants to its employees and non-employee members of the Calix board from January 1, 2008 and until the IPO is summarized as follows:

Date of Issuance	Number of Options Granted	Price	Value	ASC Topic 718 Black Scholes Option Fair Value
January 8, 2008	65,621	\$ 17.55	\$ 17.55	\$ 9.59
April 22, 2008	734,847	15.42	15.42	$8.57^{(1)}$
July 22, 2008	85,217	15.56	15.56	8.75
October 22, 2008	46,263	15.36	15.36	8.87
January 27, 2009	172,462	6.95	6.95	4.44
July 14, 2009	262,994	5.24	5.24	3.06
October 13, 2009	152,173	6.80	6.80	3.96
January 26, 2010	62,999	9.54	9.54	4.89
February 16, 2010	1,666	9.54	9.54	4.89

(1) Excludes options exercisable for 2,001,930 shares of Calix common stock that were repriced in April 2008 to have an exercise price of \$15.42 per share, the estimated fair market value of Calix s common stock as of that date. These options had a Black- Scholes option fair values ranging from \$1.02 to \$22.16. In accordance with ASC Topic 718, Calix incurred a one-time stock compensation charge of \$0.9 million on the incremental value of the vested repriced options. In addition, Calix recorded an additional incremental value of \$2.8 million related to the unvested repriced options, which will be amortized over their remaining vesting period.

Restricted Stock Units

In July 2009, the Calix board approved a proposal to offer current employees and directors the opportunity to exchange eligible stock options for restricted stock units, or RSUs, on a one-for-one basis. Each RSU granted in the option exchange entitled the holder to receive one share of Calix common stock if and when the RSU vests. The vesting schedule for the RSUs is as follows: 50% of the RSUs vested on October 26, 2010, and the remaining 50% of the RSUs will vest on the first day the trading window opens for employees following April 24, 2011, subject to the employee or director s continuous service to Calix through the vesting date. However, any unvested RSUs become immediately vested prior to the closing of a change in control, subject to the employee or director s continuous service to Calix through the vesting date. However, any unvested RSUs become immediately vested prior to eligible option holders on August 14, 2009 and expired on September 14, 2009. Only current employees and directors who were providing services to the company as of August 14, 2009 and continued to provide services through September 14, 2009 were eligible to participate. Pursuant to the exchange, Calix subsequently canceled options for 3.4 million shares of its common stock and issued an equivalent number of RSUs to eligible holders on September 23, 2009. In connection with the RSU grants, the unrecognized compensation expense of \$16.8 million related to the exchanged options will be expensed over the remaining period of the original vesting

period. The incremental cost of \$14.8 million due to the exchange will be deferred until a liquidation event and be recognized in accordance with the vesting period described above. On December 23, 2009, Calix granted 1.1 million RSUs to its chief executive officer. These RSUs vest in equal installments on each of the first four anniversaries of the date of the grant, and vesting was contingent upon the completion of Calix s IPO. The unrecognized compensation cost related to this grant of \$10.6 million will amortize through the end of fiscal 2013.

Inventory Valuation

Inventory consisting of finished goods purchased from a contract manufacturer is stated at the lower of cost, determined by the first-in, first-out method, or market value. Calix regularly monitors inventory quantities on-hand and record write-downs for excess and obsolete inventories based on the estimate of demand for Calix products, potential obsolescence of technology, product life cycles and whether pricing trends or forecasts indicate that the carrying value of inventory exceeds the estimated selling price. These factors are impacted by market and economic conditions, technology changes and new product introductions and require estimates that may include elements that are uncertain. Actual demand may differ from forecasted demand and may have a material effect on gross margins. If inventory is written down, a new cost basis will be established that cannot be increased in future periods. The sale of previously reserved inventory has not had a material impact on Calix s gross margins.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Calix maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability or unwillingness of its customers to make required payments. Calix records a specific allowance based on an analysis of individual past-due balances. Additionally, based on historical write-offs and collections experience, Calix records an additional allowance based on a percentage of outstanding receivables. Calix performs credit evaluations of its customers financial condition. These evaluations require significant judgment and are based on a variety of factors including, but not limited to, current economic trends, payment history and a financial review of the customer.

Changes in Valuation of Preferred Stock Warrants

On July 1, 2005, Calix adopted the applicable guidance as it relates to freestanding warrants and other similar instruments on shares that are redeemable. This guidance requires Calix to classify its outstanding preferred stock warrants as liabilities on its balance sheets and record adjustments to the value of these warrants in its statements of operations to reflect their fair value at the end of each reporting period. Upon adoption, Calix reclassified the fair value of these warrants from equity to liabilities and recorded a cumulative effect charge of \$8.3 million for the change in accounting principle. Calix recorded income of \$1.2 million for the remainder of 2005 and expense of \$0.5 million for 2006, to reflect further changes in the estimated fair value of these warrants. Calix also recorded income of \$1.6 million for 2006, when its Series F convertible preferred stock warrants expired unexercised. In addition, Calix recorded income of \$1.6 million, \$1.3 million and \$0.04 million in 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively, to reflect changes in the estimated fair value of the remaining outstanding warrants.

These convertible preferred stock warrants were converted into common stock warrants upon the closing of the Calix IPO on March 26, 2010. Although an adjustment was recorded in the three months ended March 27, 2010, no such adjustment was made in the three months ended September 25, 2010 and no further adjustments will be made in future periods.

Warranty

Calix offers limited warranties for its hardware products for a period of one or five years, depending on the product type. Calix recognizes estimated costs related to warranty activities as a component of cost of revenue

upon product shipment. The estimates are based on historical product failure rates and historical costs incurred in correcting product failures. The recorded amount is adjusted from time to time for specifically identified warranty exposure. Actual warranty expenses are charged against the estimated warranty liability when incurred. Factors that affect warranty liability include the number of installed units and historical and anticipated rates of warranty claims and cost per claim.

Impairment of Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Other Long-Lived Assets

Goodwill is not amortized but instead is subject to an annual impairment test, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it may be impaired. Calix evaluates goodwill on an annual basis as of the end of the second quarter of each year. The test for goodwill impairment is a two-step process. The first step compares the fair value of each reporting unit with its respective carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered impaired and, therefore, the second step of the impairment test is unnecessary. The second step, used to measure the amount of impairment loss, compares the implied fair value of each reporting unit s goodwill, an impairment loss shall be recognized in an amount equal to that excess. Management has determined that Calix operates as a single reporting unit and, therefore, evaluates goodwill impairment at the enterprise level. Calix completed its annual goodwill impairment test during the third quarter of 2010 and the estimated fair value of Calix significantly exceeded its carrying value at that date. There were no impairment charges during 2007, 2008, 2009 or the nine months ended September 25, 2010. In addition, there have been no events or changes in circumstances through December 13, 2010, which would indicate any impairment to Calix s goodwill.

Intangible assets with definite useful lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives, generally four to five years, and reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate an asset s carrying value may not be recoverable. Calix believes that no events or changes in circumstances have occurred that would require an impairment test for these assets.

Calix periodically evaluates long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that a potential impairment may have occurred. If such events or changes in circumstances arise, Calix compares the carrying amount of the long-lived assets to the estimated future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the long-lived assets. If the estimated aggregate undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the long-lived assets, an impairment charge, calculated as the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets, is recorded. The fair value of the long-lived assets is determined based on the estimated discounted cash flows expected to be generated from the long-lived assets. There were no impairment losses during 2007, 2008 and 2009 and the nine months ended September 25, 2010.

Income Taxes

Calix evaluates its tax positions and estimates its current tax exposure together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items not currently deductible for tax purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities on the company s balance sheets, which are estimated based upon the difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using the enacted tax rates that will be in effect when these differences reverse. In general, deferred tax assets represent future tax benefits to be received when certain expenses previously recognized in Calix s statements of operations become deductible expenses under applicable income tax laws or loss or credit carryforwards are utilized. Accordingly, realization of Calix s deferred tax assets is dependent on future taxable income against which these deductions, losses and credits can be utilized, which the company unable to predict. For example, as of September 25, 2010, Calix had U.S. federal and state net operating loss, or NOL, carryforwards of approximately \$386.5 million and \$262.9 million, respectively. The U.S. federal NOLs have expired and will expire at various dates during 2010 and through 2029, if not utilized. The state NOLs will expire at various dates during 2010 and through 2029, if

not utilized. These NOL carryforwards represent an asset to Calix to the extent they can be utilized to reduce cash income tax payments expected in the future. Utilization of Calix s NOL carryforwards depends on the timing and amount of taxable income earned by the company in the future, which Calix is unable to predict. Utilization of NOL carryforwards also depends on the extent to which such carryforwards are subject to limitations attributable to equity transactions that result or resulted in ownership changes under section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code (and similar state provisions), or section 382, which limitations may be substantial. Calix has in the past experienced ownership changes within the meaning of section 382 that the company believes could result in significant limitations under section 382 (and similar state provisions) on the use of these NOLs and other tax attributes. Future changes in ownership could result in additional ownership changes within the meaning of section 382 that could further limit Calix s ability to utilize its NOLs and certain other tax attributes. Finally, the utilization of state NOL carryforwards may be limited by existing or potential state suspensions of the use of such NOLs.

Calix must assess the likelihood that its deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income, and to the extent the company believes that recovery is not likely, it must establish a valuation allowance. Management judgment is required in determining Calix s provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against the company s net deferred tax assets. The realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings. Calix has been in a cumulative loss position since inception which represents a significant piece of negative evidence. Using the more likely than not criteria specified in the applicable accounting guidance, this negative evidence cannot be overcome by positive evidence currently available to Calix and as a result the company has established a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets. Calix intends to maintain the full valuation allowances until sufficient evidence exists to support the reversal of the valuation allowances.

On January 1, 2009, Calix adopted the guidance related to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes (ASC Topic 740-10). This topic prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute to the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The guidance also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, accounting in interim periods and disclosure requirements for uncertain tax positions. The standard requires a company to recognize the financial statement effects of an uncertain tax position when it is more likely than not that such position will be sustained upon audit. Calix s adoption of ASC Topic 740-10 did not result in a cumulative effect adjustment to accumulated deficit. Upon adoption the company recorded a cumulative unrecognized tax benefit of \$9.3 million, which was netted against deferred tax assets with a full valuation allowance. In the event that any unrecognized tax benefits are recognized, the effective tax rate will not be affected. Calix will recognize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as interest expense and income tax expense, respectively, in its statements of operations.

Results of Operations

Comparison of Nine Months Ended September 25, 2010 and September 26, 2009

Revenue

The following table sets forth Calix s revenue (in thousands, except percentages):

		Nine Months Ended					
	September 25,	September 26,	Variance in	Variance in			
	2010	2009	Dollars	Percent			
Revenue	\$ 195,348	\$ 144,588	\$ 50,760	35.1%			

Calix s revenue is principally derived in the United States. During the nine months ended September 25, 2010 and September 26, 2009, revenue generated in the United States represented approximately 87% and 90% of revenue, respectively.

Revenues increased during the first nine months of fiscal 2010 compared with the corresponding period of fiscal 2009, primarily due to the recognition of approximately \$13.0 million of deferred revenue related to the amendment of a significant agreement which had previously been accounted for under Topic 985-605. Furthermore, the first nine months of 2009 were impacted negatively by the uncertainty surrounding the Broadband Stimulus initiative and the overall macroeconomic environment. In addition, a change in Calix s methodology for recognizing revenue on multiple-element arrangements allowed the company to recognize revenue on partially delivered orders in 2010. On January 1, 2010, Calix adopted the guidance of ASC Topic 605-25 which permits the company to recognize revenue on multiple-element arrangements for those elements that have been delivered. In periods prior to January 1, 2010, Calix had deferred such arrangements until all elements had been delivered because the company had not established vendor specific objective evidence of fair value for most of its products.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit

The following table sets forth Calix s costs of revenue (in thousands, except percentages):

		1	Nine Months	Ended	
	September 25, 2010	-	nber 26,)09	Variance in Dollars	Variance in Percent
Cost of revenue:					
Products and services	\$117,194	\$	93,584	\$ 23,610	25.2%
Amortization of existing technologies	4,080		4,080		
Total cost of revenue	121,274		97,664	23,610	24.2%
Gross profit	\$ 74,074	\$	46,924	\$ 27,150	57.9%
Gross margin	37.9%		32.5%		

Cost of revenues increased during the first nine months of fiscal 2010 compared with the corresponding period of fiscal 2009, primarily due to an increase in revenues recognized during this period. Gross margins increased during the first nine months of fiscal 2010 compared with the corresponding period of fiscal 2009, primarily the result of cost reductions in raw materials, product and customer mix and leveraging Calix s fixed costs its higher revenue base.

Operating Expenses

Research and Development Expenses

The following table sets forth Calix s research and development expenses (in thousands, except percentages):

		Nine Months Ended						
	September 25, 2010	Sept	tember 26, 2009	Variance in Dollars	Variance in Percent			
Research and development	\$ 39,232	\$	33,187	\$ 6,045	18.2%			
Percent of total revenue	20.1%		23.0%					

Research and development expenses increased during the first nine months of fiscal 2010 compared with the corresponding period in fiscal 2009, primarily due to an increase in payroll and related costs of \$4.7 million, mostly attributable to increased stock-based non-cash compensation, and an increase in headcount mostly related to the opening of Calix s development center in Nanjing, China. The impact of cost cutting efforts in the first quarter of 2009 such as mandatory vacations that did not reoccur in the first nine months of fiscal 2010 also

contributed to the increase in payroll and related costs. Further, during the first nine months of fiscal 2010 compared with the corresponding period in fiscal 2009, Calix had an increase in spending on consulting expenses of \$0.4 million, an increase in prototype expenses of \$0.3 million and an increase in facility related expenses of \$0.5 million. Calix plans to continue investing in new products and to innovate with its development organization in 2010. The increased stock-based non-cash compensation expense was the result of employee stock options exchanged for RSUs in the third quarter of 2009 which began amortizing upon Calix s IPO in March of 2010 and will amortize through April of 2011.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

The following table sets forth Calix s sales and marketing expenses (in thousands, except percentages):

			Nine Months	Ended	
	September 25, 2010	Sep	tember 26, 2009	Variance in Dollars	Variance in Percent
Sales and marketing	\$ 29,014	\$	23,691	\$ 5,323	22.5%
Percent of total revenue	14.9%		16.4%		

Sales and marketing expenses increased during the first nine months of fiscal 2010 compared with the corresponding period in fiscal 2009, primarily due to an increase in payroll and related costs of \$4.5 million in the first nine months of 2010. This was largely attributable to increased stock-based non-cash compensation, increased headcount, higher commissions on increased bookings, and an increase in travel related expenses. Another factor contributing to the increase in sales and marketing expenses include mandatory vacations taken in the first quarter of fiscal 2009 which were not mandatory in 2010. Further, during the first nine months of fiscal 2010 compared with the corresponding period in fiscal 2009, facility related expenses increased \$0.5 million, consulting services increased \$0.2 million, and spending on advertising costs increased \$0.2 million. The increase in stock-based non-cash compensation expense was due to employee stock options exchanged for RSUs in the third quarter of 2009 which began amortizing upon Calix s IPO in March of 2010 and will amortize through April of 2011.

General and Administrative Expenses

The following table sets forth Calix s general and administrative expenses (in thousands, except percentages):

			Nine Months	Ended	
	September 25, 2010	Sep	tember 26, 2009	Variance in Dollars	Variance in Percent
General and administrative	\$ 19,515	\$	11,629	\$ 7,886	67.8%
Percent of total revenue	10.0%		8.0%		

General and administrative expenses increased during the first nine months of fiscal 2010 compared with the corresponding period in fiscal 2009, primarily due to an increase in payroll and related costs of \$7.6 million, mostly attributable to increased stock-based non-cash compensation and, to a lesser degree increased headcount. Additionally, Calix had an increase in consulting and professional services expenses of \$1.1 million in the first nine months of 2010 and an increase in insurance costs for its directors and officers of \$0.5 million in the first nine months of 2010, partially offset by a decrease in bad debt expense of \$1.0 million. The increased stock-based non-cash compensation expense was due to employee stock options exchanged for RSUs in the third quarter of 2009 which began amortizing upon Calix s IPO in March of 2010 and will amortize through April of 2011. Non-cash compensation related to restricted stock units granted to one of Calix s executives in the fourth quarter of 2009 will amortize through the end of fiscal 2013.

Acquisition-Related Costs

The following table sets forth Calix s acquisition-related costs (in thousands):

				Nine Mo	nths Ended	
			September 25, 2010	September 26, 2009	Variance in Dollars	Variance in Percent
	Acquisition-related costs		\$ 2,137	\$	\$ 2,137	NA
-		<i></i>		1 1 0 0 0 1		

In connection with Calix s effort to acquire Occam, Calix has incurred acquisition related costs of \$2.1 million in the first nine months of fiscal 2010. There were no acquisition-related costs in the corresponding periods in fiscal 2009. Calix anticipates it will incur additional significant acquisition-related costs in future periods through at least the first quarter of 2011.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

The following table sets forth Calix s amortization of intangible asset expenses (in thousands, except percentages):

		Nine Mo	nths Ended	
	September 25, 2010	September 26, 2009	Variance in Dollars	Variance in Percent
Amortization of intangible assets	\$ 555	\$ 555		

In connection with the acquisition of OSI, \$32.6 million of the total purchase price was allocated to amortizable intangible assets, which included customer contracts and lists and purchase order backlog. In addition, \$4.2 million for each of the nine months ended September 25, 2010 and September 26, 2009, related to the amortization of existing technology in connection with the acquisition of OSI was classified as cost of revenue in Calix s financial statements.

Other Income (Expense)

The following table sets forth Calix s other income (expense) (in thousands, except percentages):

	Nine Months Ended				
	September 25, 2010	September 26, 2009	Variance in Dollars	Variance in Percent	
Interest income	\$ 297	\$ 144	\$ 153	106.3%	
Interest expense	(1,138)	(3,426)	(2,288)	66.8%	
Change in fair value of preferred stock warrants	(173)	72	(245)	340.3%	
Other income	13	113	(100)	88.5%	
Total other income (expense)	\$ (1,001)	\$ (3,097)			

The decrease in other expense in the first nine months of fiscal 2010 compared with the corresponding period of fiscal 2009 was primarily due to a reduction in interest expense from the repayment of Calix s outstanding loan of \$20.0 million on May 4, 2010 including outstanding accrued interest and prepayment penalties of \$0.4 million.

The expense resulting from the change in the fair value of preferred stock warrants in the first nine months of fiscal 2010 was recorded in the first quarter of 2010. Such preferred stock warrants were converted to common stock warrants at the end of the first quarter of 2010 due to Calix s IPO and will no longer require revaluation in future periods.

Calix s operating results may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of the company s control. As a result, comparing Calix s operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful and you should not rely on past results as an indication of future performance. In addition, a significant portion of Calix s quarterly sales typically occurs during the last month of the quarter, which the company believes reflects customer buying patterns of products similar to Calix and other products in the technology industry generally. As a result, Calix s quarterly operating results are difficult to predict even in the near term.

Revenue fluctuations result from many factors, including but not limited to: increases or decreases in customer orders for Calix products and services, large customer purchase agreements with special revenue considerations, varying budget cycles for customers and seasonal buying patterns of customers. More specifically, Calix s customers tend to spend less in the first fiscal quarter as they are finalizing their annual budgets. Customers then typically decide to purchase Calix products during Calix s second fiscal quarter. In the third fiscal quarter, customers are in the process of deploying such products and as a result there is less spending. In addition, difficulties related to deploying products during the winter also tend to limit spending in the third quarter. Finally, in the fourth fiscal quarter, customer purchases increase as customers are attempting to spend the rest of their budget for the year.

Calix s operating expenses have fluctuated based on the following factors: timing of variable sales compensation expenses due to fluctuations in order volumes, timing of salary increases which have historically occurred in the second quarter, timing of research and development expenses including prototype builds and intermittent outsourced development projects and increases in stock-based compensation expenses resulting from modifications to outstanding stock options.

As a result of the fluctuations described above and a number of other factors, many of which are outside Calix s control, its quarterly and annual operating results fluctuate from period to period. Comparing the company s operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful, and you should not rely on Calix s past results as an indication of future performance.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009

Revenue

The following table sets forth Calix s revenue:

	Yea	rs Ended Decembe	er 31,
	2007	2008	2009
		(In thousands)	
Revenue	\$ 193,819	\$ 250,463	\$ 232,947

Calix s revenue is principally derived in the United States. During 2007, 2008 and 2009 revenue generated in the United States represented approximately 94%, 84% and 91% of revenue, respectively.

2008 compared to 2009: Although revenue decreased \$17.5 million from \$250.5 million for 2008 to \$232.9 million for 2009, sales orders were consistent in 2008 and 2009. The decrease in revenue recognized was the result of recognition of revenue under a significant customer contract in the first quarter of 2008 that did not occur in 2009.

2007 compared to 2008: Revenue increased \$56.6 million from \$193.8 million for 2007 to \$250.5 million for 2008, primarily due to an increase in order volume from new and existing customers, the recognition of revenue under a large customer contract in 2008 and sales resulting from the introduction of Calix s new E-Series platforms and nodes and P-Series ONTs.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit

The following table sets forth Calix s costs of revenue:

	2007	Years Ended December 2008	2009
		(In thousands, except percentages)	
Cost of revenue			
Products and services	\$ 128,025	\$ 165,925	\$ 150,863
Amortization of existing technologies	5,440	5,440	5,440
Total cost of revenue	\$ 133,465	\$ 171,365	\$ 156,303
Gross profit	60,354	79,098	76,644
Gross margin	31%	32%	33%
	¢1714 '11' C 000	0, 01560 111 6	2000 : 1

2008 compared to 2009: Cost of revenue decreased \$15.1 million from \$171.4 million for 2008 to \$156.3 million for 2009, primarily due to a decrease in revenues recognized during this period. Gross margin increased from 32% for 2008 to 33% for 2009, as a result of reduced product costs.

2007 compared to 2008: Cost of revenue increased \$37.9 million from \$133.5 million for 2007 to \$171.4 million for 2008, primarily due to higher product shipments to customers and increases in related provisions for warranty and freight costs. Gross margin increased slightly from 31% for 2007 to 32% for 2008. The increase in gross margin was primarily due to lower product costs.

Operating Expenses

Research and Development Expenses

	Year	Years Ended December 31,				
	2007	2008	2009			
	()	(In thousands, except percentages)				
Research and development	\$ 44,439	\$ 44,348	\$46,132			
Percent of revenue	23%	18%	20%			

2008 compared to 2009: Research and development expenses increased \$1.8 million from \$44.3 million for 2008 to \$46.1 million for 2009, primarily due to increased spending on several new product prototypes of \$1.1 million, an increase in costs for employee compensation and benefits of \$0.8 million due to an increase in headcount, partially offset by a decrease of \$0.5 million in stock-based compensation, an increase in consulting costs of \$0.7 million and an increase in costs for employee recruiting of \$0.2 million, partially offset by a decrease in equipment depreciation and overhead costs of \$0.4 million.

2007 compared to 2008: Research and development expenses remained relatively flat at \$44.4 million and \$44.3 million for 2007 and 2008, respectively. Although expenses were relatively flat, expenses in 2008 included an increase in compensation and benefits of \$2.5 million, including stock-based compensation, primarily due to increased headcount which was offset by reduced prototype expenses of \$0.7 million, depreciation expenses of \$0.2 million and consulting expenses of \$1.5 million.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Years Ended December 31, 2007 2008 2009 (In thousands, except percentages)

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

Sales and marketing	\$ 28,439	\$ 31,627	\$ 33,486
Percent of revenue	15%	13%	14%

2008 compared to 2009: Sales and marketing expenses increased \$1.9 million, from \$31.6 million for 2008 to \$33.5 million for 2009, primarily due to an increase in costs for employee compensation and benefits of \$2.0 million. The increase in employee compensation was primarily due to an increase in employee headcount.

2007 compared to 2008: Sales and marketing expenses increased \$3.2 million, from \$28.4 million for 2007 to \$31.6 million for 2008, primarily due to an increase in the number of sales and marketing employees. The increase in employees resulted in an increase in compensation and benefits of \$2.9 million, including stock-based compensation and fees for recruitment of new employees of \$0.2 million.

General and Administrative Expenses

	Year	Years Ended December 31,			
	2007	2008	2009		
	()	In thousands, excep	t		
		percentages)			
General and administrative	\$ 12,103	\$ 15,253	\$ 15,613		
Percent of revenue	6%	6%	7%		

2008 compared to 2009: General and administrative expenses remained relatively flat at \$15.3 million and \$15.6 million for 2008 and 2009, respectively.

2007 compared to 2008: General and administrative expenses increased \$3.2 million, from \$12.1 million for 2007 to \$15.3 million for 2008, primarily due to increases in compensation and benefits, including stock-based compensation, of \$2.6 million due to increased headcount and an increase in bad debt expense of \$0.6 million. The increased headcount primarily resulted from Calix s ongoing efforts to build its legal, finance, human resources and information technology functions.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

	Years	Years Ended December 31,		
	2007	2008	2009	
	(In	(In thousands, except percentages)		
Amortization of intangible assets	\$ 740	\$ 740	\$ 740	
Percent of revenue	0%	0%	0%	

In connection with the acquisition of OSI, \$32.6 million of the total purchase price was allocated to amortizable intangible assets, which included customer contracts and lists and purchase order backlog. Amortization of intangible assets expense totaled \$0.7 million in each of 2007, 2008 and 2009. In addition, \$5.4 million for each of 2007, 2008 and 2009, related to the amortization of existing technology was classified as cost of revenue in Calix s financial statements.

Other Income (Expenses)

	Years Ended December 31,		
	2007	2008	2009
		(In thousands)	
Interest income	\$ 1,094	\$ 620	\$ 245
Interest expense	(2,330)	(2,089)	(3,867)
Change in fair value of preferred stock warrants	1,634	1,329	37
Other income (expense)	132	10	119
Total other income (expense)	\$ 530	\$ (130)	\$ (3,466)

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

2008 compared to 2009: Other expense, net was \$0.1 million for 2008 compared to other expense, net of \$3.5 million for 2009. The increase in other expense, net of \$3.3 million was primarily due to an increase in interest expense of \$1.8 million, resulting from the higher average interest rate of debt in place during a portion of 2009. Such debt was retired in the third quarter of 2009 and replaced with new debt. In connection with this transaction, Calix incurred a prepayment penalty and wrote off debt issuance costs, which contributed to the increase in interest expense. Calix expects interest expense to decline in future quarters as its debt carries a much lower interest rate than its previous debt. In addition, income from the change in the fair value of preferred stock warrants decreased by \$1.3 million, which contributed to the increase in other expense, net during 2009.

2007 compared to 2008: Other income, net was \$0.5 million for 2007 compared to other expense, net of \$0.1 million for 2008. The decrease in other income, net was primarily due to a decrease in interest income resulting from lower invested balances. Calix had higher invested balances during 2007 as a result of funds raised in its Series I convertible preferred stock financing.

Quarterly Results of Operations

The following tables set forth selected unaudited quarterly statements of operations data for the last ten fiscal quarters, as well as the percentage that each line item represents of total net revenue. The information for each of these quarters has been prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus and, in the opinion of Calix s management, includes all adjustments, consisting solely of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair presentation of the results of operations for these periods. This data should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus. These quarterly operating results are not necessarily indicative of Calix s operating results for any future period. Calix operates on a 4-4-5 fiscal calendar which divides the year into four quarters with each quarter having 13 weeks which are grouped into two 4-week months and one 5-week month. Calix s year ends on December 31.

					Ou	arters End	ed				
	Mar 29, 2008	Jun 28, 2008	Sep 27, 2008	Dec 31, 2008	Mar 28, 2009 (in thou	Jun 27, 2009 Isands, una	Sep 26, 2009 udited)	Dec 31, 2009	Mar 27, 2010	Jun 26, 2010	Sep 25, 2010
Statements of Operations					(,					
Data:											
Revenue	\$ 59,661	\$ 60,820	\$ 59,317	\$ 70,665	\$ 37,146	\$ 47,842	\$ 59,600	\$ 88,359	\$ 48,203	\$ 71,653	\$ 75,492
Cost of revenue:											
Products and services	41,358	39,331	39,158	46,078	25,391	31,076	37,117	57,279	30,171	41,855	45,168
Amortization of existing technologies	1,360	1,360	1,360	1,360	1,360	1,360	1,360	1,360	1,360	1,360	1,360
Total cost of revenue	42,718	40,691	40,518	47,438	26,751	32,436	38,477	58,639	31,531	43,215	46,528
Gross profit	16,943	20,129	18,799	23,227	10,395	15,406	21,123	29,720	16,672	28,438	28,964
Operating expenses	21,730	24,547	23,002	22,689	21,525	23,153	24,384	26,909	25,202	30,878	34,373
Income (loss) from operations	(4,787)	(4,418)	(4,203)	538	(11,130)	(7,747)	(3,261)	2,811	(8,530)	(2,440)	(5,409)
Other income (expense), net	562	(86)	(85)	(521)	(800)	(917)	(1,380)	(369)	(561)	(519)	79
Net income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income taxes	(4,225)	(4,504)	(4,288)	17	(11,930)	(8,664)	(4.641)	2,442	(9,091)	(2,959)	(5,330)
Provision (benefit) for income	(4,223)	(+,50+)	(4,200)	17	(11,)50)	(0,004)	(4,041)	2,772	(),0)1)	(2,)))	(5,550)
taxes	45	101	73	(300)	130	138	(217)	(403)	171	243	20
Net income (loss)	(4,270)	(4,605)	(4,361)	317	(12,060)	(8,802)	(4,424)	2,845	(9,262)	(3,202)	(5,350)
Preferred stock dividends	479	540	2,441	605	652		2,389	706	900		
Net income (loss) attributable		ф (5.145)	¢ ((000	¢ (200)	¢ (10 712)	¢ (0.00 2)	¢ ((012)	¢ 0.100	¢ (10.172)	¢ (2.202)	¢ (5.050)
to common stockholders	\$ (4,749)	\$ (5,145)	\$ (6,802)	\$ (288)	\$ (12,712)	\$ (8,802)	\$ (6,813)	\$ 2,139	\$ (10,162)	\$ (3,202)	\$ (5,350)

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

	Quarters Ended										
	Mar 29, 2008	Jun 28, 2008	Sep 27, 2008	Dec 31, 2008	Mar 28, 2009 (unaud	Jun 27, 2009 lited, in perc	Sep 26, 2009 cent)	Dec 31, 2009	Mar 27, 2010	Jun 26, 2010	Sep 25, 2010
Statements of Operations Data:					(unaut	iiieu, iii pert	(ent)				
Revenue	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
Cost of revenue:					<i>i</i> 0 1			<i></i>			
Products and services	69.3	64.7	66.0	65.2	68.4	65.0	62.3	64.8	62.6	58.4	59.8
Amortization of existing technologies	2.3	2.2	2.3	1.9	3.7	2.8	2.3	1.6	2.8	1.9	1.8
Total cost of revenue	71.6	66.9	68.3	67.1	72.1	67.8	64.6	66.4	65.4	60.3	61.6
Gross profit	28.4	33.1	31.7	32.9	27.9	32.2	35.4	33.6	34.6	39.7	38.4
Operating expenses	36.4	40.4	38.8	32.1	57.9	48.4	40.9	30.4	52.3	43.1	4.6
Income (loss) from operations	(8.0)	(7.3)	(7.1)	0.8	(30.0)	(16.2)	(5.5)	3.2	(17.7)	(3.4)	33.8
Other income (expense), net	0.9	(0.1)	(0.1)	(0.7)	(2.2)	(1.9)	(2.3)	(0.4)	(1.2)	(0.7)	0.1
Net income (loss) before provision	;										
(benefit) for income taxes	(7.1)	(7.4)	(7.2)	0.1	(32.2)	(18.1)	(7.8)	2.8	(18.9)	(4.1)	33.9
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	0.1	0.2	0.1	(0.4)	0.3	0.3	(0.4)	(0.4)	0.4	0.3	0.0
Net income (loss)	(7.2)	(7.6)	(7.3)	0.5	(32.5)	(18.4)	(7.4)	3.2	(19.3)	(4.4)	33.9
Preferred stock dividends	0.8	0.9	4.1	0.9	1.8	0.0	4.0	0.8	1.9	0.0	0.0
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders	(8.0)%	(8.5)%	(11.4)%	(0.4)%	(34.3)%	(18.4)%	(11.4)%	2.4%	(21.2)%	(4.4)%	33.9%

Calix s operating results may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of the control of the company. As a result, comparing Calix s operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful and you should not rely on the company s past results as an indication of its future performance. In addition, a significant portion of Calix s quarterly sales typically occurs during the last month of the quarter, which the company believes reflects customer buying patterns of products similar to those of Calix and other products in the technology industry generally. As a result, Calix s quarterly operating results are difficult to predict even in the near term.

Revenue fluctuations result from many factors, including but not limited to: increases or decreases in customer orders for Calix products and services, large customer purchase agreements with special revenue considerations, varying budget cycles for Calix customers and seasonal buying patterns of customers. More specifically, Calix customers tend to spend less in the first fiscal quarter as they are finalizing their annual budgets. Customers then typically decide to purchase products during Calix s second fiscal quarter. In the third fiscal quarter, customers are in the process of deploying such products and as a result there is less spending. In addition, difficulties related to deploying products during the winter also tend to limit spending in the third quarter. Finally, in the fourth fiscal quarter, customer purchases increase as customers are attempting to spend the rest of their budget for the year.

During the quarters ended March 29, 2008 and December 31, 2008, Calix recognized revenue on two large orders that were previously deferred. For the quarters ended March 28, 2009 and June 27, 2009, orders for Calix goods and services declined significantly from the same periods in 2008, primarily due to challenging macroeconomic and capital market conditions that negatively impacted Calix s customers financial condition and decreased demand for Calix s products. For the quarters ended September 26, 2009 and December 31, 2009, orders increased from the quarters ended March 28, 2009 and June 27, 2009 due to an increase in orders from one of Calix s largest customers, which contributed to the increase in revenue during the quarters ended September 26, 2009 and December 31, 2009. At the beginning of the third quarter of 2009, two of

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

Calix s largest customers merged. Following the merger, this customer increased its orders.

During the quarters ended March 27, 2010, June 26, 2010 and September 25, 2010, Calix experienced an increase in shipment volume compared to the corresponding periods in 2009 as a result of improved macroeconomic conditions. In addition, a change in Calix s methodology for recognizing revenue on multiple-

element arrangements, effective January 1, 2010, resulted in increased revenues during the quarters ended March 27, 2010 and June 26, 2010, compared to the corresponding periods in 2009. The change in revenue recognition rules on multiple-element arrangements allowed Calix to recognize revenue on partially delivered orders in 2010. Prior to 2010, Calix had deferred such arrangements until all elements had been delivered because Calix had not established vendor specific objective evidence of fair value for most of its products. Furthermore, revenue for the quarter ended September 25, 2010 increased over the same period in 2009 due to the recognition of approximately \$13.0 million of revenue related to the amendment of a significant agreement which had previously been accounted for under Topic 985-605.

From time to time, Calix offers its customers sales incentives, which include volume rebates and discounts, and during this period Calix provided this customer volume rebates on orders made during this period. After such an increase in spending by a customer, there could be a corresponding decrease in spending in a subsequent quarter or quarters, which could adversely affect Calix s operating results and financial condition. Calix is unable to anticipate the quantity of orders from any given customer in future quarters.

Cost of revenue is strongly correlated to revenue and will tend to fluctuate from all of the aforementioned factors that could impact revenue. Other additional factors that impact cost of revenue include changes in the mix of products delivered to Calix s customers and changes in the standard cost of Calix s inventory. Cost of revenue includes fixed expenses related to the internal operations department which could impact Calix s cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue, if there are large sequential fluctuations to revenue.

Calix s operating expenses have fluctuated based on the following factors: timing of variable sales compensation expenses due to fluctuations in order volumes, timing of salary increases which have historically occurred in the second quarter, timing of research and development expenses including prototype builds and intermittent outsourced development projects and increases in stock-based compensation expenses resulting from modifications to outstanding stock options. For example, in the quarter ended June 28, 2008, operating expense increases resulted primarily from merit-based salary increases, increased variable sales compensation due to increased customer orders, and stock-based compensation expenses resulting from the repricing of outstanding stock options. In the quarter ended March 28, 2009, reduced operating expenses resulted from a decrease in variable sales compensation expenses coincident with a reduction in customer orders, and reduced spending on customer marketing initiatives and industry tradeshow events relative to other quarters.

As a result of the fluctuations described above and a number of other factors, many of which are outside Calix s control, its quarterly and annual operating results fluctuate from period to period. Comparing operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful, and you should not rely on past results as an indication of Calix s future performance.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

	Years	Ended Decembe	er 31,	Nine Mo	nths En	ided
	2007	2000	2000	September 26,		ember 25,
	2007	2008	2009	2009		2010
Net cash provided by (used in) Operating activities	\$ (11,873)	\$ (5,551)	\$ 1,390	\$ (6,346)	\$	8,377
Net cash provided by (used in) Investing activities	(13,926)	2,849	(41,309)	(9,781)		(42,440)
Net cash provided by financing activities	35,391	4,574	48,526	48,535		37,383

At September 25, 2010, Calix had cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of \$109.2 million, which primarily consisted of money market mutual funds and highly liquid debt instruments held at major financial institutions. Since inception, Calix financed its operations primarily through private sales of equity and from borrowings under credit facilities. In its initial public offering Calix raised net proceeds of approximately \$57.3 million. On May 4, 2010, Calix paid down its outstanding term loan of \$20.0 million with Silicon Valley Bank in its entirety including outstanding accrued interest and prepayment penalties of \$0.4 million.

Calix entered into an amended and restated loan and security agreement, or loan agreement, with Silicon Valley Bank, or SVB, in August 2009 and subsequently amended this loan agreement in March 2010. This loan agreement, which replaced a previous loan agreement with SVB, provides for \$50.0 million of total lending capacity as follows: a term loan of \$20.0 million and a revolving credit facility of \$30.0 million based upon a percentage of eligible accounts receivable. Included in the revolving line are amounts available under letters of credit and cash management services. The term loan and the revolving credit facility, unless terminated earlier, each expire on June 30, 2013. The proceeds of the term loan were used, along with other funds, to repay a term loan with an institutional investor totaling slightly over \$23.0 million of principal, accrued interest and other fees. As of December 31, 2009, \$20.0 million in principal was outstanding under the term loan and there were no outstanding borrowings under the revolving line. The term loan as of December 31, 2009 bears interest at 7.75%, which is set at 6-month LIBOR (with a floor of 1.25%) plus a 6.50% margin. At Calix s election, the term loan will accrue interest at (a) SVB s prime rate (with a floor of 4.00%) plus a 0.50% to 4.00% margin or (b) LIBOR (with a floor of 1.25%) plus a 3.00% to 6.50% margin, subject to certain terms and conditions. The loan agreement also allows SVB to call the note in the event there is a material adverse change in Calix s business or financial condition. At Calix s election, advances under the revolving line will accrue interest at (a) SVB s prime rate (with a floor of 4.00%) plus a 0.50% to 2.00% margin or (b) LIBOR (with a floor of 1.25%) plus a 3.00% to 4.50% margin, subject to certain terms. The loan agreement is secured by all Calix s assets, including intellectual property. In addition, the loan agreement stipulates that Calix must comply with certain covenants, information reporting requirements and other restrictive provisions. As of September 25, 2010 and as of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus, Calix was in compliance with all covenants and information reporting requirements in the loan agreement. On May 4, 2010, Calix paid down its outstanding term loan payable with Silicon Valley Bank of \$20.0 million, which bore interest at LIBOR (not less than 1.25%) plus 6.50%, in its entirety, including outstanding accrued interest and prepayment penalties of \$0.4 million. As of September 25, 2010, there were no outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility. Calix issues letters of credit under its credit facility to support performance bonds that it may be required to issue to satisfy contract requirements under RUS contracts. Calix had outstanding letters of credit totaling \$2.9 million as of September 25, 2010.

Operating Activities

In the nine months ended September 25, 2010, Calix s operating activities provided cash of \$8.4 million. This resulted primarily from non-cash charges of \$26.7 million (the majority of which consist of stock-based compensation charges), partially offset by a net loss of \$17.8 million. Cash inflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities included a decrease in accounts receivable of \$14.1 million due to lower shipments in the third quarter of 2010 compared to the fourth quarter of 2009, a decrease in deferred cost of goods sold of \$6.0 million related to the decrease in deferred revenue, and a decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets of \$1.4 million primarily due to lower procurement of raw materials on behalf of Calix s manufacturing vendor and the write-off of loan origination fees from the repayment of Calix s loan with SVB. Cash outflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities included a decrease in deferred revenue of \$7.9 million primarily the result of a change in revenue recognition rules on multiple-element arrangements, which allowed Calix to recognize revenue on partially delivered orders in 2010 and an amendment to a customer agreement that had previously been accounted for under the ASC Topic 985-605, an increase in inventory of \$6.4 million as Calix built inventories in anticipation of higher shipment volumes in future periods, a decrease in accounts payables of \$5.9 million resulting from lower inventory receipts in the last month of the third quarter of 2010 compared to the fourth quarter of 2009, and a decrease in accrued liabilities of \$2.7 million primarily due to an increase in employee compensation, legal fees related to Calix s efforts to acquire Occam partially offset by a decrease in accrued customer rebates.

In the nine months ended September 26, 2009, Calix used \$6.3 million in cash from operating activities, which consisted of a net loss of \$25.3 million, partially offset by non-cash charges of \$15.1 million. In addition, cash outflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities included an increase in accounts receivable of \$9.7 million from increased shipment volume near the end of the third quarter, a decrease in accounts payable of \$7.8 million due to accelerated payment terms with Calix s contract manufacturer to obtain early payment discounts

and an increase in deferred cost of goods sold of \$5.2 million, related to the increase in deferred revenue. Cash inflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities included an increase in deferred revenue of \$10.7 million, a decrease in inventory of \$9.5 million resulting from better inventory management and a decrease in restricted cash of \$4.2 million as Calix released performance bonds for the close out of RUS revenue contracts.

In 2009, Calix s operating activities provided \$1.4 million in cash, which consisted of a net loss of \$22.4 million, offset by non-cash charges of \$20.3 million. In addition, cash outflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities included an increase in accounts receivable of \$14.2 million from increased shipment volume near the end of the year, a decrease in accounts payable of \$3.9 million due to accelerated payment terms with Calix s contract manufacturer to obtain early payment discounts, an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets of \$4.3 million primarily related to costs capitalized for Calix s IPO, and an increase in deferred cost of goods sold of \$2.3 million, related to the increase in deferred revenue. Cash inflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities included an increase in accrued liabilities of \$12.1 million primarily related to an increase in customer rebates, professional fees associated with Calix s IPO, employee compensation and warranty reserves, an increase in deferred revenue of \$7.7 million, a decrease in inventory of \$4.8 million resulting from better inventory management and a decrease in restricted cash of \$4.2 million as Calix released performance bonds for the close out of RUS revenue contracts, as further described below.

In 2008, Calix used \$5.6 million in cash from operating activities, which consisted of its net loss of \$12.9 million, offset by non-cash charges of \$21.5 million. In addition, cash outflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities included a decrease in deferred revenue of \$17.7 million resulting from the close-out of a large contract, an increase in accounts receivable of \$5.2 million due to increased shipment volume, an increase in restricted cash of \$4.9 million. Cash inflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities included a decrease in deferred cost of goods sold of \$13.1 million resulting from the close-out of the large contract noted above and an increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities totaling \$3.7 million due to the timing of payment.

In 2007, Calix used \$11.9 million in cash from operating activities, which consisted of its net loss of \$24.9 million, offset by non-cash charges of \$18.9 million. In addition, cash outflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities included an increase in inventory of \$4.6 million due to increased inventory receipts on low shipment volume, a decrease in accounts payable of \$9.6 million due to significant payments to Calix s main supplier and a decrease in accrued liabilities and deferred revenue of \$3.1 million and \$3.0 million, respectively, due to the timing of transactions. Cash inflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities included a decrease in accounts receivable, which resulted from a combination of lower shipment volume and strong collections.

Investing Activities

Calix s cash used in investing activities in the nine months ended September 25, 2010 consisted of capital expenditures of \$3.9 million, the purchase of marketable securities of \$74.6 million, which primarily included highly liquid debt instruments and certificates of deposit, offset by sales and maturities of marketable securities of \$36.1 million.

Calix s cash used in investing activities in the nine months ended September 26, 2009 consisted of the purchase of marketable securities of \$6.3 million, which primarily included money market funds and highly liquid debt instruments, and capital expenditures of \$3.5 million, which primarily consisted of computer and test equipment.

Calix s cash used in investing activities in 2009 consisted of the purchase of marketable securities of \$36.2 million, which primarily included highly liquid debt instruments and certificates of deposit, and capital expenditures of \$5.1 million, which primarily consisted of computer and test equipment.

Calix s cash provided by investing activities in 2008 consisted of the sale of marketable securities of \$8.3 million, partially offset by the purchase of property and equipment of \$5.4 million. These capital expenditures primarily consisted of computer and test equipment.

Calix s cash used in investing activities in 2007 consisted of the net purchase of marketable securities of \$8.3 million and the purchase of property and equipment of \$5.7 million, which primarily consisted of computer and test equipment.

Financing Activities

Calix s financing activities provided cash of \$37.4 million in the nine months ended September 25, 2010, which primarily consisted of net proceeds of \$57.3 million from Calix s IPO offset by the repayment of a term loan of \$20.0 million. On May 4, 2010, Calix paid the outstanding loan payable to Silicon Valley Bank of \$20.0 million in its entirety including outstanding accrued interest and prepayment penalties of \$0.4 million.

Calix s financing activities provided cash of \$48.5 million in the nine months ended September 26, 2009 and in the year ended December 31, 2009, which primarily consisted of net proceeds of \$49.5 million from the issuance of 6.3 million shares of Series J convertible preferred stock. On May 29, 2009, Calix entered into a Series J Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, or the Series J Agreement, with certain investors and completed its first closing, at which Calix issued 4.4 million shares of Series J convertible preferred stock for gross proceeds of \$34.7 million. Calix subsequently completed three additional closings, with the final closing occurring on August 5, 2009. Upon completion, Calix issued a total of 6.3 million shares of Series J convertible preferred stock for gross proceeds of \$50.0 million.

In addition, Calix entered into an amended and restated loan agreement with SVB in August 2009 and subsequently amended this loan agreement in March 2010. This loan agreement, which replaced a previous loan agreement Calix had with SVB, provides for \$50.0 million of total lending capacity.

Calix s financing activities provided cash of \$4.6 million in 2008, which primarily consisted of net proceeds of \$4.5 million from borrowings.

Calix s financing activities provided cash of \$35.4 million in 2007, which primarily consisted of net proceeds of \$42.0 million from the issuance of 1.7 million shares of Series I convertible preferred stock, partially offset by loan repayments of \$6.8 million.

Working Capital and Capital Expenditure Needs

Except as disclosed in Contractual Obligations and Commitments below and in connection with Calix s efforts to acquire Occam pursuant to which Calix has committed approximately \$88.9 million in cash as part of the acquisition cost which will be funded by cash from the combined company, Calix currently has no material cash commitments, except for normal recurring trade payables, expense accruals and operating leases. In addition, Calix does not currently anticipate significant investment in property, plant and equipment, and Calix believes that its outsourced approach to manufacturing provides the company significant flexibility in both managing inventory levels and financing its inventory. Calix may be required to issue performance bonds to satisfy requirements under its RUS contracts. Calix issues letters of credit under its existing credit facility to support these performance bonds. In the event Calix does not have sufficient capacity under its credit facility to support these bonds, Calix will have to issue certificates of deposit, which could materially impact its working capital or limit its ability to satisfy such contract requirements. In the event that the revenue plan does not meet Calix s expectations, Calix may eliminate or curtail expenditures to mitigate the impact on the company s working capital.

Calix believes, based on its current operating plan, its existing cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities and existing amounts available under the revolving line will be sufficient to meet its anticipated cash needs for at least the next twelve months. Calix s future capital requirements will depend on many factors including its rate of revenue growth, the timing and extent of spending to support development efforts, the expansion of sales and marketing activities, the timing of introductions of new products and enhancements to existing products, the acquisition of new capabilities or technologies and the continued market acceptance of Calix s products. In the event that additional financing is required from outside sources, Calix may not be able to raise it on terms acceptable to the company or at all. If Calix is unable to raise additional capital when desired, its business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following summarizes Calix s contractual obligations at September 25, 2010 (in thousands):

		Paym	ents Due by Pe	riod	
		Less Than	1-3	4-5	More Than
	Total	1 Year	Years	Years	5 years
Operating lease obligations	\$ 5,934	\$ 1,706	\$ 3,505	\$ 723	\$
Total	\$ 5,934	\$ 1,706	\$ 3,505	\$ 723	\$

Future minimum lease payments under Calix s lease for its facilities in Minneapolis, Minnesota and Acton, Massachusetts are disclosed in the table above. Calix leases its primary office space in Petaluma, California. The prior lease agreement expired in December 2008, after which Calix leased the office space under its prior lease agreement on a month-to-month basis. In February 2009, Calix entered into a new lease agreement that expires in February 2014. Calix received a lease incentive consisting of \$1.2 million in leasehold improvements provided by its lessor. Calix has capitalized the full amount of the lease incentive and will amortize the cost of the improvements over the lease term.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 and September 25, 2010, Calix did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-12, *Income Taxes (ASC Topic 740): Accounting for Certain Tax Effects of the 2010 Health Care Reform Acts.* This ASU updates the *FASB Accounting Standards Codification*TM for the SEC Staff Announcement, *Accounting for the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 and the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act.* This announcement provides guidance on the accounting effect, if any, that arises from the different signing dates between the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, a reconciliation bill that amends the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (collectively the Acts). Recently, questions have arisen about whether and how the different signing dates will affect the accounting for these two Acts for that limited number of registrants with a period end that falls between the two signing dates. The company does not believe this will impact its financial statements at this time.

In January 2010, the FASB issued an update to ASC Topic 820, *Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures*, related to the disclosures for transfers in and out of Levels 1 and 2 fair value measurements and the activity in Level 3 fair value measurements. The amendment recommends a reporting entity should disclose separately the amounts of significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements and describe the reasons for the transfers. Further, in the reconciliation for fair value measurements using significant unobservable

inputs (Level 3), a reporting entity should present separately information about purchases, sales, issuances and settlements (that is, on a gross basis rather than as one net number). Also, the amendment requires clarification in existing disclosures for disaggregation of fair value measurement disclosures for each class of assets and liabilities and disclosures about inputs and valuation techniques. The effective date is for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements in the roll forward activity in Level 3 fair value measurements. Those disclosures are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010, and for interim periods within those fiscal years. Calix adopted all the amended provisions of ASC Topic 820 in the first quarter of 2010. There was no impact from adoption of this amendment to ASC Topic 820 to Calix s financial statements and related footnote disclosures.

2	n	Λ
4	v	-

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT THE MARKET RISK OF CALIX

Interest Rate Risk

The primary objectives of Calix s investment activity are to preserve principal, provide liquidity and maximize income without significantly increasing risk. By policy, Calix does not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. Some of the securities in which Calix invests, however, may be subject to interest rate risk. This means that a change in prevailing interest rates may cause the principal amount of the investment to fluctuate. To minimize this risk, Calix invests in a variety of securities, which primarily consists of money market funds, U.S. government bonds, commercial paper and other debt securities of domestic corporations. Due to the nature of these investments, Calix believes that it does not have any material exposure to changes in the fair value of its investment portfolio as a result of changes in interest rates

Calix s exposure to interest rates also relates to the increase or decrease in the amount of interest the company must pay on its outstanding debt instruments. Any outstanding borrowings under its term loan and line of credit bear a variable rate of interest based upon the applicable Libor or prime rate and is adjusted monthly based upon changes in the Federal Reserve s prime rate. On May 4, 2010, Calix paid in its entirety the outstanding loan payable with Silicon Valley Bank of \$20.0 million, which bore interest at LIBOR (not less than 1.25%) plus 6.50%, in its entirety, including outstanding accrued interest and prepayment penalties of \$0.4 million. As of September 25, 2010, Calix had no term loans outstanding and there were no outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility. The company had outstanding letters of credit totaling \$2.9 million as of September 25, 2010.

Foreign Currency Risk

Calix s sales contracts and vendor payables are primarily denominated in U.S. dollars and, therefore, the majority of its revenues and operating expenses are not subject to foreign currency risk.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA OF OCCAM

Summary Historical Financial Data of Occam

The following tables summarize Occam s financial data. The statements of operations data for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and September 30, 2010 and the balance sheet data as of September 30, 2010 are derived from Occam s unaudited financial statements and related notes. The consolidated financial data set forth below as of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2009 and for the years ended December 31, 2007, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2009 are derived from, and qualified by reference to, Occam s audited consolidated financial statements, which are included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus. The statements of operations data for the years ended December 25, 2005 and December 31, 2006 and the balance sheet data as of December 25, 2005 and December 31, 2006 and 2007 are derived from Occam s audited financial statements and related notes, which are not included in this proxy statement/prospectus. Historical results are not indicative of the results that should be expected in the future. The consolidated financial data set forth below for and as of the year ended December 25, 2005 has been restated as a result of Occam s audit committee review as described below.

On October 16, 2007, Occam announced that the audit committee of the Occam board had completed its previously announced internal review of its revenue recognition practices. Among other matters, Occam s audit committee, assisted by independent forensic accountants and legal advisors, reviewed its practices relating to the following:

commitments to provide customers with software, hardware and software maintenance, hardware and software upgrades, training, and other services in connection with customers purchases of Occam s network equipment;

sales to value added resellers; and

use of intermediate shipping vendors in connection with shipments of product at the end of quarters falling on weekends. As a result of Occam s audit committee s review, Occam identified errors in its previous recognition of revenue and determined that Occam recognized approximately \$33.0 million of revenue prematurely during fiscal years 2004 through 2006. As a result, Occam restated its consolidated financial statements for the following fiscal periods: (i) the fiscal years ended December 25, 2005 and December 26, 2004; (ii) each of the interim quarterly periods in the fiscal years ended December 25, 2005 and December 26, 2004; and (iii) each of the interim quarterly periods ended March 26, June 25, and September 24, 2006.

All references to earnings and the number of shares of Occam s common stock have been retroactively restated to reflect the 1-for-40 reverse stock split effected on March 10, 2006.

	December 25, 2005		2006	Dec	l Year End ember 31, 2007 except per	Dece	ember 31, 2008 data)	Dec	ember 31, 2009	Nine Mo September 30, 2009 (unaudited except pe	Sept , in th	ember 30, 2010 ousands
Statement of Operations Data:												
Revenue	\$ 39,597	\$	68,203	\$	75,149	\$	99,268	\$	84,046	\$ 62,120	\$	75,930
Cost of revenue ⁽¹⁾	27,736		42,473		46,137		56,877		50,019	36,970		44,396
Gross margin	11,861		25,730		29,012		42,391		34,027	25,150		31,534
Operating expenses												
Research and product development ⁽¹⁾	7,440		9,584		13,321		18,964		16,091	12,186		11,549
Sales and marketing ⁽¹⁾	8,349		11,222		14,650		19,855		17,588	13,404		14,200
General and administrative ⁽¹⁾	3,420		4,095		11,823		10,812		7,940	6,179		5,702
Restructuring charges	- , -		,		,		- / -		213	213		- ,
Loss on legal settlement									1,700	1,700		
In-process research and development					2,180				-,	-,		
Merger related expenses					2,100							2,840
Total operating expenses	19,209		24,901		41,974		49,631		43,532	33,682		34,291
Income (loss) from operations	(7,348)		829		(12,962)		(7,240)		(9,505)	(8,532)		(2,757)
Other income (expense), net							(342)		147	147		
Interest income (expense), net	(259)		470		2,632		1,120		227	274		8
Income (loss) before provision for												
(benefit from) income taxes	(7,607)		1,299		(10,330)		(6,462)		(9,131)	(8,111)		(2,749)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes			64		56		256		(206)	(35)		32
Net income (loss)	(7,607)		1,235		(10,386)		(6,718)		(8,925)	(8,076)		(2,781)
Beneficial conversion feature	(1,822)		(3,437)		(20,200)		(0,120)		(0,, _0)	(0,0.0)		(_,, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Net loss attributable to common	¢ (0.420)	¢	(2,202)	¢	(10.296)	¢	(6 719)	¢	(8.025)	¢ (2076)	¢	(2.791)
stockholders	\$ (9,429)	\$	(2,202)	\$	(10,386)	\$	(6,718)	\$	(8,925)	\$ (8,076)	\$	(2,781)
Basic and diluted net loss per share	\$ (1.40)	\$	(0.24)	\$	(0.53)	\$	(0.34)	\$	(0.44)	\$ (0.40)	\$	(0.13)
Shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per share	6,759		9,020		19,760		19,874		20,259	20,214		20,820

(1) Stock-based compensation included in:

Cost of revenue	\$	\$ 288	\$ 233	\$ 377	\$ 504	\$ 326	\$ 234
Research and product development	519	748	754	1,128	1,152	778	594
Sales and marketing	70	476	558	731	1,002	692	560
General and administrative	6	390	546	811	1,370	889	644
Total stock-based compensation	\$ 595	\$ 1,902	\$ 2,091	\$ 3,047	\$ 4,028	\$ 2,685	\$ 2,032

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

	December 25, 2005	December 31, 2006	December 31, 2007 (in thousands)	December 31, 2008	December 31, 2009	September 30 2010 (unaudited, in thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:						
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 6,571	\$ 59,219	\$ 37,637	\$ 30,368	\$ 39,268	\$ 44,174
Restricted cash	3,749	4,378	13,103	13,771	5,721	1,804
Working capital	12,225	66,096	51,765	47,953	45,521	46,356
Total assets	30,638	87,758	90,885	92,734	83,162	90,305
Total debt and capital lease obligation	2,557		64	67	46	
Total liabilities	17,645	19,615	30,619	35,563	30,312	36,875
Convertible preferred stock and						
warrants	34,942					
Total stockholders equity (deficit)	(21,949)	68,143	60,266	57,171	52,850	53,430

OCCAM MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of Occam s financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with the financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus. The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect Occam s plans, estimates and beliefs. The actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include those discussed below and elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus, particularly in the section titled Risk Factors.

Overview

Occam develops, markets and supports innovative broadband access products designed to enable telecom service providers to offer bundled voice, video and high speed Internet, or Triple Play, services over both copper and fiber optic networks. Occam s Broadband Loop Carrier, or BLC, is an integrated hardware and software platform that uses Internet Protocol, or IP, and Ethernet technologies to increase the capacity of local access networks, enabling Occam s customers to deliver advanced services, including voice-over-IP, or VoIP, IP-based television, or IPTV, video-on-demand, or VoD, and high-definition television, or HDTV. Occam s platform simultaneously supports traditional voice and data services, enabling Occam s customers to leverage their existing networks and migrate to IP without disruption. In addition to providing customers with increased bandwidth, Occam s products provide incremental value by offering software-based features to improve the quality, resiliency and security of network service offerings. Occam markets its products through a combination of direct and indirect channels. Occam s direct sales efforts are focused on the North American independent operating company, or IOC, segment of the telecom service provider market. As of September 30, 2010, Occam had shipped its BLC platform to over 380 telecommunications customers.

From its inception through September 30, 2010, Occam has incurred cumulative net losses of approximately \$138.2 million. Occam realized income from operations and was profitable on a net income basis during the quarters ended December 31, 2008, December 31, 2006 and September 24, 2006, and for the year ended December 31, 2006. Previously, Occam had not been profitable on a quarterly or annual basis, excluding the quarter ended December 25, 2005, in which Occam realized modest operating income of \$3,000. Occam experienced operating and net losses in all four quarters of fiscal 2009. During the current quarter, Occam experienced an increase in customer bookings activity due to certain orders related to the broadband funding initiatives. In the short term, Occam expects that booking activity may vary depending on Occam s customers ability to make capital investments, using their own funds, and their access to credit facilities or other loan program funds.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discusses Occam s consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires Occam to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, Occam evaluates its estimates and judgments, including those related to revenue recognition, inventories, accounts receivable reserves, sales return reserves, litigation, warranty reserve, stock-based compensation and valuation of deferred income tax assets. Occam bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Occam believes the following critical accounting policies, among others, affect the company s more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Occam generally recognizes revenue under Staff Accounting Bulletin Codification Topic 13, Revenue Recognition, in the period when all of the requirements of Staff Accounting Bulletin Codification Topic 13: Revenue Recognition have been met:

persuasive evidence of sales arrangements,

delivery has occurred or services have been rendered,

the buyer s price is fixed or determinable and

collection is reasonably assured.

Occam enters into transactions with value-added resellers where the resellers may not have the ability to pay for these sales independent of payment to them by the end-user. In these cases, Occam does not recognize revenue until payment has been received, provided the remaining revenue recognition criteria are met.

Occam sells hardware products that contain embedded operating system software, which the company has determined are incidental to the hardware products. These tangible products contain software components and non-software components that function together to deliver the product s essential functionality. Revenue is recognized for these products under Staff Accounting Bulletin Codification Topic 13: Revenue Recognition. Occam has one minor software network management product which is a stand alone product not essential to the functionality of other products that Occam sells. Revenue is recognized for this product in accordance with FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 985, Software. The amount of sales of this product and the related revenue recognized to date by Occam have been immaterial. In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, amended the accounting standards for revenue recognition to remove tangible products containing software components and non-software components that function together to deliver the product s essential functionality from the scope of industry specific software revenue recognition guidance. Occam elected to early adopt this accounting guidance in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 on a prospective basis for applicable transactions.

In addition to the aforementioned general policy, Occam enters into transactions that represent multiple-element arrangements, which may include training and post-sales technical support and maintenance to its customers as needed to assist them in installation or use of Occam s products, and makes provisions for these costs in the periods of sale. Multiple-element arrangements are assessed to determine whether they can be separated into more than one unit of accounting. A multiple-element arrangement is separated into more than one unit of accounting if all of the following criteria are met:

the delivered item(s) has value to the customer on a stand-alone basis;

there is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered item(s); and

the arrangement includes a general right of return relative to the delivered item(s) and delivery or performance of the undelivered item(s) is considered probable and substantially in Occam s control.

If these criteria are not met, then revenue is deferred until such criteria are met or until the period(s) over which the last undelivered element is delivered. If there is objective and reliable evidence of fair value for all units of accounting in an arrangement, the arrangement consideration is

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

allocated to the separate units of accounting based on each unit s relative fair value. In October 2009, FASB amended the accounting standards to allow the use of best estimate of selling price in addition to VSOE and TPE for determining the selling price of a

deliverable. A vendor is now required to use its best estimate of the selling price when VSOE or third party evidence, or TPE, of the selling price cannot be determined. Occam elected to early adopt this accounting guidance in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 on a prospective basis for applicable transactions. The adoption of this accounting guidance did not have an impact on any quarterly period in 2009. When Occam is unable to establish selling price using VSOE or TPE, the Company uses estimated selling price, or ESP, in its allocation of arrangement consideration. The objective of ESP is to determine the price at which Occam would transact a sale if the product or service were sold on a stand-alone basis. ESP is generally used for new products, and it applies to a small proportion of Occam s arrangements with multiple deliverables. Occam determines ESP for a product or service by considering multiple factors including, but not limited to, geographies, market conditions, competitive landscape, internal costs, gross margin objectives, and pricing practices.

In certain circumstances, Occam enters into arrangements with customers who receive financing support in the form of long-term low interest rate loans from the United States Department of Agriculture s RUS program. The terms of the RUS contracts provide that in certain instances transfer of title of Occam s products does not occur until customer acceptance, however Occam previously waited for final cash payment on these contracts before recognizing revenue. Effective January 1, 2009 based on historical experience, Occam determined that revenue recognition on RUS contracts is appropriate upon customer acceptance, given the remaining revenue recognition criteria, such as collectability, under Staff Accounting Bulletin Codification Topic 13: Revenue Recognition have been met. As a result the Company recognized approximately \$6.1 million in revenue for year ended December 31, 2009 based on customer acceptance, not final cash payment.

Occam warrants its products for periods up to five years and records an estimated warranty accrual when shipped.

Valuation of Inventories

Occam s inventories are stated at the lower of acquisition cost or market value, with cost being determined using the first-in, first-out method. In assessing the ultimate realization of inventories, Occam is required to make judgments as to future demand and market conditions and compare them with current inventory levels. If actual future demand or market conditions are less favorable than those projected by Occam, additional inventory write-downs may be required.

Deferred Tax Valuation Allowance

Occam records a valuation allowance to reduce its deferred income tax asset to the amount the company believes is more likely than not to be realized. While Occam has considered future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax-planning strategies in assessing the need for the valuation allowance, should the company determine that it would be able to realize its deferred tax assets in the future in excess of the net recorded amount, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets would increase income in the period such determination was made. For 2009, 2008 and 2007, Occam s net deferred tax assets have been offset with a full valuation allowance.

Loss Contingencies

Occam evaluates its estimated potential financial exposure for loss contingencies, particularly the pending litigation matters discussed in Note 13 and the FairPoint bankruptcy filing discussed in Note 15 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus. Occam accrues an estimated loss related to a contingency if (a) it is probable that a liability had been incurred and future events will occur confirming the fact of the loss at the date of the consolidated financial statements and (b) the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. When a reasonable estimate of the loss is a range and no amount within the range is a better estimate than any other amount, Occam accrues the minimum amount in the range. As additional information becomes available, Occam assesses the potential liability related to pending litigation and revises its estimates. Such revisions in the estimated potential

liability could materially impact Occam s consolidated results of operations and financial position. Occam has not recorded an accrual for an estimated loss for the IPO allocation case because the company believes the anticipated settlement amounts are covered by its insurance policies.

Product Warranties

Occam provides a standard warranty with the sale of its products for up to five years from the date of shipment. The estimated cost of providing the product warranty is recorded at the time of shipment. Occam maintains product quality programs and processes, including actively monitoring and evaluating the quality of its suppliers. Occam quantifies and records an estimate for warranty-related costs based on a variety of factors including but not limited to Occam s actual history, projected return and failure rates and current repair costs.

Occam s estimates are primarily based on an estimate of products that may be returned for warranty repair and estimated costs of repair, including parts and labor, depending on the type of service required. These estimates require the company to examine past and current warranty issues and consider their continuing impact in the future. Occam s accrual is based on consideration of all these factors which are known as of the preparation of its consolidated financial statements. Occam s estimates of future warranty liability are based on prediction of future events, conditions and other complicated factors that are difficult to predict. The actual costs Occam incurs may differ materially from Occam s estimates. To the extent that actual warranty repairs are higher than Occam s estimates, Occam s costs will increase. The costs for warranty returns totaled \$2.3 million, \$1.5 million and \$1.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective beginning the first fiscal quarter of 2006, Occam adopted FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 718 using the modified prospective transition method. Under this method, compensation costs for all awards granted after the date of adoption and the unvested portion of previously granted awards outstanding at the date of adoption are measured at estimated fair value and included in cost of sales and operating expenses over the vesting period during which an employee provides service in exchange for the award. Prior period amounts presented herein have not been restated to reflect the adoption of FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 718.

Upon adoption of FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 718, Occam selected the Black-Scholes option pricing model as the most appropriate model for determining the estimated fair value for stock-based awards. The use of the Black-Scholes model requires the use of extensive actual employee exercise behavior data and the use of a number of complex assumptions including expected volatility, forfeitures, and expected dividends. The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. Occam does not anticipate declaring dividends in the foreseeable future. Expected volatility is based on the annualized weekly historical volatility of its stock price and Occam believes it is indicative of future volatility. Occam estimates the expected life of options granted based on historical exercise and post-vesting cancellation patterns with consideration to its industry peers of similar size with similar option vesting periods. Occam s analysis of stock price volatility and option lives involves management s best estimates at the time of determination. FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 718 also requires that Occam recognize compensation expense for only the portion of options or stock units that are expected to vest. Therefore, Occam applies an estimated forfeiture rate that is derived from historical employee termination behavior. If the actual number of forfeitures differs from those estimated by management, additional adjustments to compensation expense may be required in future periods.

Occam recognizes stock-based compensation expense for the fair value of restricted stock, including restricted stock units. Fair value is determined by using the closing price of Occam s common stock on the grant date. The fair value of these awards is recognized to expense over the requisite service period of the awards.

During 2009, certain performance related awards were granted to Occam s officers and certain employees that became exercisable upon the achievement of certain performance criteria and the confirmation of such achievement by Occam s audit committee upon its approval of the Company s audited financial statements for fiscal year 2009. During 2009, 2008, and 2007 stock-based compensation expense associated with restricted stock totaled \$729,000, \$534,000 and \$42,000 respectively. The stock-based compensation expense included \$229,000 related to the performance based units, granted in the third quarter of 2009.

Results of Operations

Comparison of Nine Months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009

Revenue

The following table sets forth Occam s revenue (in thousands, except percentages):

				Ν	Nine Months l	Ended		
			September 30,	Septem	ıber 30,	Variance in	Variance in	
			2010	20	09	Dollars	Percent	
	Revenue		\$ 75,930	\$ (62,120	\$ 13,810	22%	>
-		 						

Occam s revenue is principally comprised of its BLC 6000 series system product line, Optical Network Terminals, cabinets and related accessories. Revenue increased by \$13.8 million or 22% to \$75.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 as compared to revenue of \$62.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2009. The increase in revenue is primarily due to the recognition of revenue associated with customer orders related to government broadband funding initiatives, which included increased volumes of Occam s ONT and BLC 6000 products and the recognition of \$1.7 million of FairPoint revenue that was deferred in the third quarter of 2009.

In the first nine months of 2010, Occam experienced an increase in customer bookings activity due to certain orders related to government broadband funding initiatives. Although Occam expects that IOCs will continue to carefully evaluate their capital investment decisions in light of continued economic uncertainty, government broadband funding initiatives should have a favorable impact on capital spending trends among telecommunications carriers for the balance of 2010 and into 2011. In the short term, Occam expects that booking activity may vary depending on Occam s customers ability to make capital investments, using their own funds, and their access to credit facilities or other loan program funds. However, Occam s announcement of an agreement to be acquired by Calix could have an adverse effect on Occam s revenues and revenue growth, if any, in the fourth quarter of 2010 and the first quarter of 2011. In particular, while the transaction remains pending, customers could defer purchase decisions pending the outcome of the transaction (including obtaining required stockholder and regulatory approval), or customers could elect to purchase from other suppliers.

Occam has experienced and believes it may continue to experience supply constraints as demand increases or as Occam introduces its newest products.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

The following table sets forth Occam s cost of revenue and gross margin (in thousands, except percentages):

		Nine Months	Ended	
	September 30, 2010	September 30, 2009	Variance in Dollars	Variance in Percent
Cost of revenue:	\$ 44,396	\$ 36,970	\$ 7,426	20%
Gross margin	\$ 31,534	\$ 25,150	\$ 6,384	25%
Gross margin percent	42%	40%		

Cost of revenue includes the cost of products shipped for which revenue was recognized, warranty costs, costs of any manufacturing yield problems, re-work costs, manufacturing overhead, provisions for obsolete inventory and the cost of post-sales support. Cost of revenue increased by \$7.4 million or 20% to \$44.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 as compared to \$37.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 was primarily attributable to increased revenue shipments.

Gross margin increased to 42% of revenue in the nine months ended September 30, 2010 compared to gross margin of 40% of revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2009. The increase in gross margin percent was primarily attributable to product mix and decreased unit cost of Occam s blades and ONT products.

Occam expects that its gross margin will vary from quarter-to-quarter due in part to product mix, average selling price changes and manufacturing cost changes. To the extent that lower margin products represent an increased percentage of Occam s total revenue in any period, it will tend to reduce Occam s gross margin. Additionally, as Occam introduces new products into the market, Occam anticipates its gross margin may fluctuate.

Operating Expenses

Research and Product-Development Expenses

The following table sets forth Occam s research and product-development expenses (in thousands, except percentages):

		Nine Months	Ended	
	September 30, 2010	September 30, 2009	Variance in Dollars	Variance in Percent
Research and development	\$ 11,549	\$ 12,186	\$ (637)	(5)%
Percent of total revenue	15%	20%		

Research and product-development expenses consist primarily of salaries and other personnel-related costs, prototype component and assembly costs, third-party design services and consulting costs, and other costs related to the design, development, and testing of Occam s products. Research and product-development costs are expensed as incurred, except for capital expenditures, which are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful lives, generally two to three years.

Research and product-development expenses decreased by \$0.6 million or 5% to \$11.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 as compared to \$12.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2009. The decrease in research and product-development expenses was primarily attributable to the decrease in personnel related costs, decreased product-development expenses and lower stock-based compensation expense.

Occam currently expects research and product-development expenses in future periods to be largely consistent with current expense levels but may vary with the introduction of new products.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

The following table sets forth Occam s sales and marketing expenses (in thousands, except percentages):

		Nine Mont	hs Ended	
	September 30, 2010	September 30, 2009	Variance in Dollars	Variance in Percent
Sales and marketing	\$ 14,200	\$ 13,404	\$ 796	6%
Percent of total revenue	19%	22%		

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, sales commissions, and other personnel-related costs, development and distribution of promotional materials, and other costs related to generating sales and conducting corporate marketing activities. Sales and marketing expenses increased by \$0.8 million or 6% to \$14.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 as compared to \$13.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2009. This increase was primarily due to higher sales commissions due to the increase in bookings activity, partially offset by lower personnel related costs.

Occam currently expects sales and marketing expenses in future periods to be consistent with current expense levels but may vary with the level of customer bookings and the level of spending on new or expanded marketing programs.

General and Administrative Expenses

The following table sets forth Occam s general and administrative expenses (in thousands, except percentages)

		Nine Months Ended			
	September 30, 2010		ember 30, 2009	Variance in Dollars	Variance in Percent
General and administrative	\$ 5,702	\$	6,179	\$ (477)	(8)%
Percent of total revenue	8%		10%		

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and other personnel-related costs for executive, finance, human resources, and administrative personnel. Additionally, general and administrative expenses include professional fees, liability insurance and other general corporate costs such as rent, legal, utilities and accounting expenses. General and administrative expenses decreased by \$0.5 million or 8% to \$5.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 as compared to \$6.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2009. General and administrative expenses decreased primarily due to lower professional fees and lower stock-based compensation expense, partially offset by an increase in personnel related costs.

Occam currently expects general and administrative expenses in future periods to be largely consistent with current expense levels.

Restructuring charges

On May 7, 2009, Occam implemented a reduction-in-force that resulted in the termination of approximately 10% of its work force. Occam substantially completed the reduction-in-force by the end of the second quarter of 2009. The purpose of the workforce reduction was to reduce costs, streamline operations, and improve the cost structure in light of the economic and operating environment. During the quarter ended June 30, 2009, Occam recorded approximately \$213,000 of restructuring charges related to termination benefits in connection with the reduction-in-force. There were no such restructuring charges incurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2010.

Loss on litigation settlement

On September 10, 2009 Occam entered into a memorandum of understanding regarding the settlement of the April 26th, 2007 stockholder class action lawsuit. On November 2, 2009 the parties signed and submitted a formal binding stipulation of settlement to the court. The court issued its preliminary approval of the settlement on November 13, 2009. On February 22, 2010, the court held a hearing dismissing the litigation with prejudice and entered a final judgment. The total settlement amount of \$13.9 million had been agreed by all parties, of which Occam contributed \$1.7 million. Occam recorded a charge of \$1.7 million as a loss on settlement for the quarter ended September 30, 2009, associated with this settlement. There was no such loss recorded for the quarter ended September 30, 2010.

Merger Related Expenses

On September 16, 2010, Occam announced that it had entered into the Merger Agreement with Calix and two wholly owned subsidiaries of Calix. The Merger Agreement provides that, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein, Calix will acquire Occam by means of a series of mergers involving two wholly owned subsidiaries of Calix. As a result of the merger, Occam will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Calix. Occam has incurred \$2.8 million, in merger related expenses for the quarter ended September 30, 2010. Occam currently expects to incur continuing merger related expenses during the fourth quarter of 2010.

The completion of the transaction is subject to various closing conditions, including obtaining the approval of Occam s stockholders, registering the shares of Calix Common Stock to be issued in connection with the merger and receipt of regulatory clearance under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended. Occam expects the transaction to close in the fourth quarter of 2010 or the first quarter of 2011.

Stock-based Compensation

The following table sets forth Occam s stock-based compensation (in thousands):

	Nine Mor	Nine Months Ended			
	September 30, 2010	-	mber 30, 2009		
Cost of revenue	\$ 234	\$	326		
Research and development	594		778		
Sales and marketing	560		692		
General and administrative	644		889		
Total stock-based compensation	\$ 2,032	\$	2,685		

Stock-based compensation expenses decreased by approximately \$0.7 million or 24% to \$2.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 as compared to approximately \$2.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2009. This net decrease was primarily attributable to the completion of four years of vesting of certain higher value grants during the initial months of the prior quarter and the current quarter and no performance related stock based compensation expense when compared to the stock based compensation expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2009.

Occam anticipates that the stock-based compensation expense calculated under FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 will continue to have a material effect on Occam s consolidated statement of operations.

Interest Income

The following table sets forth Occam s interest income (expense), net (in thousands):

		Nine Months Ended				
	September 30, 2010		nber 30, 009		ariance in Oollars	Variance in Percent
Interest income	\$ 11	\$	278	\$	(267)	(96)%
Interest expense	(3)		(4)		1	25%
Total other income (expense), net	\$ 8	\$	274	\$	(266)	(97)%

Interest income and expense, net decreased by \$266,000 or 97% to \$8,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2010, as compared to \$274,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2009. The decrease was primarily attributable to lower average restricted cash balances

earning interest and lower interest rates.

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

For income tax purposes, Occam considers its projected annual income and the utilization of its net operating loss carryforwards among other factors. For the nine months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009, Occam recorded an income tax expense of \$32,000 and an income tax benefit of \$35,000, respectively, for federal and state income taxes.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009

Revenue

The following table sets forth Occam s revenue:

						Years Ended December 31,			
						2007	2008	2009	
							(In thousands)		
Rev	venue					\$ 75,149	\$ 99,268	\$ 84,046	
		 	DI C COOO		1 . 11			·	

Occam s revenue is principally comprised of its BLC 6000 series system product line, ONTs, cabinets and related accessories. Revenue decreased by \$15.2 million, or 15.3%, to \$84.0 million in 2009 as compared to revenue of \$99.3 million in 2008. Occam believes the decrease in revenue was primarily due to the global economic recession and credit contraction and a continued delay in customer purchase decisions as they evaluate the timing and availability of potential government broadband stimulus funds. Occam cannot predict the timing or financial impact, if any, of government stimulus programs.

In 2009, Occam continued to experience a slow down in customer bookings activity. In the short term Occam expects that booking activity may vary depending on its customer s ability to make capital investments using their own funds, access to credit facilities or other loan program funds.

Revenue increased by \$24.2 million or 32% to \$99.3 million in 2008 as compared to revenue of \$75.1 million in 2007. The increase in Occam s revenue was due to higher sales of copper product as well as revenue from newly released GPON products in mid-2008. Occam believes its revenues in the second half of 2007 were also adversely affected by its then-pending audit committee investigation and financial restatement.

Occam expects that current global economic conditions will likely have an adverse impact on its business in 2010, in particular as carriers evaluate capital spending budgets due to the uncertainty as to the approval, timing and amount of stimulus awards as well as a potentially difficult economic environment.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

The following table sets forth Occam s costs of revenue:

	Year	Years Ended December 31,				
	2007	2007 2008 20				
	(In thou	(In thousands, except percentages)				
Cost of revenue	\$ 46,137	\$ 56,877	\$ 50,019			
Gross Margin	\$ 29,012	\$ 42,391	\$ 34,027			
Gross Margin Percentage	39%	43%	40%			

Cost of revenue includes the cost of products shipped for which revenue was recognized, warranty provision, re-work costs, manufacturing overhead, provisions for obsolete inventory and the cost of post-sales support.

Cost of revenue decreased by \$6.9 million, or 12.1%, to \$50.0 million in 2009 as compared to \$56.9 million in 2008. This decrease in cost of revenue in 2009 was primarily attributable to decreased revenue. Occam s gross margin in 2009 was 40% as compared to 43% in 2008. The decrease in gross margin percentage is primarily attributable to higher volumes of certain lower margin products and increased warranty related costs.

Cost of revenue increased by \$10.8 million, or 23%, to \$56.9 million in 2008 as compared to \$46.1 million in 2007. This increase in cost of revenue in 2008 was primarily attributable to increased sales of Occam s products and an inventory provision for certain product components. Occam s gross margin in 2008 was 43% as compared to 39% in 2007. The increase was attributable to lower product and warranty costs.

Occam expects that its gross margin will vary from quarter-to-quarter due in part to product mix, average selling price changes and manufacturing cost changes, including warranty related costs. To the extent that Occam introduces new products into the market, the company anticipates its gross margin will fluctuate primarily as a function of its product mix. For example, Occam s gross margin percentages were 42%, 38%, 41% and 40% in the first, second, third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2009, respectively. To the extent that cabinets and other lower- margin products represent an increased percentage of Occam s total revenue in any period, it will tend to reduce its gross margin percentage.

Operating Expenses

Research and product-development Expenses

	Year	Years Ended December 31,			
	2007	2007 2008 2			
	(In thou	sands, except perce	entages)		
Research and development	\$ 13,321	\$ 18,964	\$ 16,091		
Percent of revenue	18%	19%	19%		

Research and product-development consist primarily of salaries and other personnel-related costs, prototype component and assembly costs, third-party design services and consulting costs, and other costs related to design, development, and testing of Occam s products. Research and product-development costs are expensed as incurred, except for capital expenditures, which are capitalized and depreciated over their estimated useful lives, generally two to five years.

Research and product-development expenses decreased by \$2.9 million, or 15.1%, to \$16.1 million in 2009 as compared to \$19.0 million in 2008. The decrease in research and product-development expenses was primarily attributable to decreased development expenses and lower compensation expenses attributed to a reduction in work force, offset partially by an increase in stock-based compensation expense, primarily related to the grant of performance based equity incentive awards.

Research and product-development expenses increased by \$5.7 million, or 42%, to \$19.0 million in 2008 as compared to \$13.3 million in 2007. The increase in research and product-development expenses was attributable to increased personnel and related costs, certain costs related to the Terawave Communications, Inc. asset purchase and expenses associated with the development of its GPON equipment.

Occam currently expects research and product-development expenses to be largely consistent with current expense levels in future periods.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

	Year	Years Ended December 31,			
	2007	2007 2008 2009 (In thousands, except percentages)			
	(In thou				
Sales and marketing	\$ 14,650	\$ 19,855	\$ 17,588		
Percent of revenue	19%	20%	21%		

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, sales commissions, and other personnel-related costs, development and distribution of promotional materials, and other costs related to generating sales and conducting corporate marketing activities. Sales and marketing expenses decreased by \$2.3 million, or 11.4%, to \$17.6 million in 2009 as compared to \$19.9 million in 2008. The decrease was primarily attributed to lower commission expense, lower personnel and related expense attributed to a reduction in force, and lower contractor expense, offset partially by an increase in stock-based compensation expense, primarily related to the grant of performance based equity incentive awards.

Sales and marketing expenses increased by \$5.2 million, or 36%, to \$19.9 million in 2008 as compared to \$14.7 million in 2007. This increase was primarily due to increased headcount, commissions and marketing events.

Occam currently expects sales and marketing expenses to be largely consistent with current expense levels in future periods, but may vary with levels of customer bookings.

General and Administrative Expenses

	Years	Years Ended December 31,			
	2007	2007 2008 20			
	(In thous	(In thousands, except percentages)			
General and Administrative	\$ 11,823	\$ 10,812	\$ 7,940		
Percent of revenue	16%	11%	9%		

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and other personnel-related costs for executive, finance, human resources, and administrative personnel. Additionally, general and administrative expenses include professional fees, liability insurance and other general corporate costs such as rent, legal, utilities and accounting expenses. General and administrative expenses decreased by \$2.9 million, or 27%, to \$7.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to \$10.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. General and administrative expenses, lower legal fees due to insurance reimbursements, offset partially by an increase in stock-based compensation expense, primarily related to the grant of performance based equity incentive awards.

General and administrative expenses decreased by \$1.0 million, or 9%, to \$10.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to \$11.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. General and administrative expenses decreased primarily due to lower legal and accounting fees related to the audit committee review.

Occam currently expect general and administrative expenses to be consistent with current expense levels in future periods.

Purchase of in-process research and development(in thousands, except percentages)

In 2009 and 2008, Occam did not incur charges for in-process research and development. During 2007, Occam recorded charges for purchased in-process research and development of \$2.2 million in October 2007 associated with its purchase of certain assets of Terawave Communications, Inc.

Restructuring charges

On May 7, 2009, Occam implemented a reduction-in-force that resulted in the termination of approximately 10% of its work-force. Affected employees were notified on May 7, 2009, and Occam substantially completed the reduction-in-force during the second quarter of 2009. The purpose of the workforce reduction was to reduce costs, streamline operations, and improve the cost structure in light of the current economic and operating environment. During the quarter ended June 30, 2009, Occam recorded approximately \$213,000 of restructuring charges related to termination benefits in connection with the reduction in force.

Stock-based compensation

	Year	Years Ended December 31,		
	2007	2008	2009	
		(In thousands)		
Cost of revenue	\$ 233	\$ 377	\$ 504	
Research and product development	\$ 754	\$ 1,128	\$ 1,152	
Sales and Marketing	\$ 558	\$ 731	\$ 1,002	
General and administrative	\$ 546	\$ 811	\$ 1,370	
Total stock-based compensation	\$ 2,091	\$ 3,047	\$ 4,028	

Effective as of the first quarter of fiscal 2006, Occam began recording the fair value of its stock-based compensation in consolidated financial statements in accordance with FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 718, stock-based compensation. Occam anticipates that the stock-based compensation expense calculated under FASB Accounting Standard Codification Topic 718 will continue to have a material effect on Occam s consolidated statement of operations.

Stock-based compensation expenses increased by approximately \$1.0 million, or 32%, to \$4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 as compared to approximately \$3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. This net increase was primarily attributable to the stock-based compensation expense of \$0.8 million related to the performance based equity incentive awards granted during the third quarter of 2009 and additional grants of options and awards during the year.

Stock-based compensation expenses increased by approximately \$0.9 million, or 46%, to \$3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 as compared to approximately \$2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. This net increase is attributable to the grants of additional options and awards offset by an increase in the forfeiture rate used in Occam s stock-based compensation expense calculations.

Occam anticipates that the stock-based compensation expense will continue to have a material effect on its consolidated statement of operations.

Interest income (expense), net

	Year	Years Ended December 31,		
	2007	2008	2009	
		(In thousands)		
Interest income	\$ 2,637	\$ 1,182	\$ 267	
Interest expense	\$ (5)	\$ (62)	\$ (40)	
Total interest income (expense), net	2,632	1,120	227	

Interest income, net decreased by 80% from 2008 to 2009. This decrease in interest income was principally attributable to lower average restricted cash balances earning interest and generally lower interest rates.

Interest income, net decreased 57% from 2007 to 2008. This decrease in interest income was principally attributable to lower average cash balances and lower interest rates.

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

Years Ended December 31, 2007 2008 2009 (In thousands) Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

\$ 56 \$ 256

For income tax purposes, Occam considers its annual income and the utilization of its net operating losses and tax credits carryforwards among other factors. For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, Occam recorded income tax benefit of \$206,000, and income tax expense of \$256,000 and 56,000, respectively, for federal and state income taxes. The decrease in the income tax expense is primarily attributable to federal refundable tax credits and net operating loss carrybacks available under a change in the tax law during the fourth quarter of 2009.

Net operating loss carry-forwards

As of December 31, 2009, Occam had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately \$113.7 million and \$88.8 million to offset federal and state future taxable income, respectively. The federal and state net operating loss carryforwards will expire beginning in 2019 and 2010, respectively. In addition, Occam has federal research tax credits of \$1.6 million and state research tax credits of \$2.0 million. The federal research tax credits may be carried forward indefinitely.

Occam believes an ownership change may have occurred, as defined by Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC), which could result in the forfeiture of a significant portion of its net operating loss and credit carryforwards. Occam is currently analyzing whether a change occurred and the related impact on its gross deferred tax assets, if any. As its analysis is not complete, the impact to gross deferred tax assets is uncertain. The utilization of state NOL carryforwards may be limited by existing or potential suspensions of the use of such NOLs.

Quarterly Results of Operations

The following tables set forth selected unaudited quarterly statements of operations data for the last ten fiscal quarters, as well as the percentage that each line item represents of total net revenue. The information for each of these quarters has been prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus and, in the opinion of Occam s management, includes all adjustments, consisting solely of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair presentation of the results of operations for these periods. This data should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus. These quarterly operating results are not necessarily indicative of Occam s operating results for any future period.

					Quarter	· Ended				
	Jun 30, 2008	Sep. 30, 2008	Dec. 31, 2008	March 31, 2009	Jun 30, 2009	Sep. 30, 2009	Dec. 31, 2009	March 31 2010	June 30, 2010	Sep. 30 2010
				(unaudited,	in thousand	s, except per	share data)			
Consolidated Statement of										
Operations Data:										
Revenue	\$ 22,826	\$25,131	\$ 31,658	\$ 19,419	\$21,028	\$21,673	\$21,926	\$ 22,344	\$23,776	\$ 29,810
Cost of revenue	12,731	14,380	18,546	11,245	13,000	12,725	13,049	12,511	14,007	17,878
Gross margin	10,095	10,751	13,112	8,174	8,028	8,948	8,877	9,833	9,769	11,932
Loss from operations	(2,864)	(980)	831	(3,162)	(2,637)	(2,733)	(973)	(602)	(318)	(1,837)
Net loss	(2,659)	(659)	1,140	(3,030)	(2,415)	(2,631)	(849)	(610)	(320)	(1,851)
Basic net loss per share	\$ (0.13)	\$ (0.03)	\$ 0.06	\$ (0.15)	\$ (0.12)	\$ (0.13)	\$ (0.04)	\$ (0.03)	\$ (0.02)	\$ (0.09)
Diluted net loss per share	\$ (0.13)	\$ (0.03)	\$ 0.06	\$ (0.15)	\$ (0.12)	\$ (0.13)	\$ (0.04)	\$ (0.03)	\$ (0.02)	\$ (0.09)
Shares used to compute basic										
net loss per share	19,801	19,894	20,017	20,149	20,219	20,273	20,392	20,650	20,853	20,973
Shares used to compute										
diluted net loss per share	19,801	19,894	20,046	20,149	20,219	20,273	20,392	20,650	20,853	20,973
Occam s operating results m	ay fluctuate	due to a var	riety of fac	tors, many o	f which are	outside of t	he control o	of the comp	any. Factors	s that may
cause or contribute to fluctuat	tions in Occ	am s opera	ting results	include: flu	ctuations in	demand fo	r its produc	ts, including	g the timing	of decision

by its target customers to upgrade its networks and deploy its products; delays in customer orders as IOCs evaluate and consider their capital

expenditures and investments in light of the industry transition from copper wire to fiber, increases in warranty accruals and other costs associated with remedying any performance problems relating to its products; seasonal reductions in field work during the winter months and the impact of annual budgeting cycles; the size and timing of orders it receives and products it ships during a given period; delays in recognizing revenue under applicable revenue recognition rules, particularly from government funded contracts, as a result of additional commitments it may be required to make to secure purchase orders, or with respect to sales to value added resellers where it cannot establish based on its credit analysis that collectability is reasonably assured; introductions or enhancements of products, services and technologies by Occam or its competitors, and market acceptance of these new or enhanced products, services and technologies; its ability to achieve targeted cost reductions; the amount and timing of its operating costs, including sales, engineering and manufacturing costs and capital expenditures; and quarter-to-quarter variations in its operating margins resulting from changes in its product mix. As a result, comparing its operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. Due to this as well, operating results for a particular future period are difficult to predict and prior results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in the future. Any of the foregoing factors may have a material adverse effect on Occam s consolidated results of operations.

From Occam s inception through September 30, 2010, it has incurred cumulative net losses of approximately \$138.2 million. Occam realized income from operations and was profitable on a net income basis during the quarters ended December 31, 2008, December 31, 2006 and September 24, 2006, and for the year ended December 31, 2006. Previously, Occam had not been profitable on a quarterly or annual basis, excluding the quarter ended December 25, 2005, in which it realized modest operating income of \$3,000. Occam experienced operating and net losses in all four quarters of fiscal 2009. In the first nine months of 2010, Occam experienced an increase in customer bookings activity, due to certain orders related to government broadband funding initiatives. Although Occam expects that IOCs will continue to carefully evaluate their capital investment decisions in light of continued economic uncertainty, government broadband funding initiatives should have a favorable impact on capital spending trends among telecommunications carriers for the balance of 2010 and into 2011. In the short term, Occam expects that booking activity may vary depending on its customers ability to make capital investments using their own funds, and their access to credit facilities or other loan program funds. Demand for Occam s products depends on the magnitude and timing of capital spending by telecom service providers as they construct, expand and upgrade their networks. In the fourth quarter of 2008, Occam identified a weakening in new order activity that continued throughout 2009 and into 2010. Occam believes this weakening relates to reductions in capital expenditures and capital equipment investment budgets resulting from the worldwide financial crisis and economic downturn.

Revenue fluctuations result from many factors, including but not limited to: increases or decreases in customer orders for Occam s products and services, capital spending patterns of telecom operators, and seasonal buying patterns of customers. Occam s customers tend to spend less in the first quarter as they finalize their annual budgets. Customers then typically decide to purchase products during the second fiscal quarter, while in the third fiscal quarter, they are in the process of deploying and as a result there is less spending and in the fourth fiscal quarter, customer purchases increase as customers are attempting to spend the rest of their budget for the year. Occam currently focuses its sales efforts on the independent telephone operating companies, or IOCs, in North America. These customers generally operate relatively small networks with limited capital expenditure budgets. Accordingly, Occam believes the total potential sales volume for its products at any individual IOC is limited, and it must identify and sell products to new IOC customers each quarter to continue to increase its sales.

Cost of revenue is directly related to revenue and will tend to fluctuate from all of the aforementioned factors that could impact revenue. Other additional factors that impact cost of revenue include product mix, average selling price changes and manufacturing cost changes. Occam s gross margin may vary from quarter-to-quarter due in part to product mix, average selling price changes and manufacturing cost changes. To the extent that lower margin products represent an increased percentage of Occam s total revenue in any period, it will tend to reduce its gross margin. Additionally, as Occam introduces new products into the market, it anticipates its gross margin may fluctuate.

Occam s operating expenses have fluctuated based on the following factors: timing of commission expenses due to fluctuations in bookings activity, personnel related costs reductions, timing of research and development expenses, fluctuations in stock-based compensation expenses resulting from stock based awards, fluctuations in legal and professional fees. Occam s operating expenses may fluctuate due to factors such as introduction of new products, spending on new marketing programs, changes in personnel related expenses, changes in the level of customer bookings and any changes in any legal and professional fees.

As a result of the fluctuations described above and a number of other factors, many of which are outside Occam s control, its quarterly and annual operating results fluctuate from period to period. Comparing operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful, and you should not rely on past results as an indication of Occam s future performance.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

	Years Ended December 31,			Nine Mo	nths E	nded
				September 30,	Sept	ember 30,
	2007	2008	2009	2009		2010
Net cash provided by (used in) Operating activities	\$ (1,179)	\$ (1,850)	\$ 1,356	\$ 1,055	\$	1,402
Net cash provided by (used in) Investing activities	\$ (20,868)	\$ (5,993)	\$6,976	\$ 6,805	\$	2,221
Net cash provided by financing activities	\$ 465	\$ 574	\$ 568	\$ 615	\$	1,283

As of September 30, 2010, Occam had cash and cash equivalents of \$44.2 million, restricted cash of \$1.8 million, stockholders equity of \$53.4 million, and working capital of \$46.4 million, compared with cash and cash equivalents of \$39.3 million, restricted cash of \$5.7 million, stockholders equity of \$52.9 million, and working capital of \$45.5 million as of December 31, 2009. A significant portion of Occam s cash balances are restricted to secure performance bonds which Occam is sometimes required to post in connection with customer purchases under the RUS program of the United States Department of Agriculture.

Occam expects to devote capital resources to continue its research and development efforts, to support its sales and marketing, and to fund general corporate activities. Occam may also consider making strategic investments in complementary products or technologies, which could require further cash expenditures.

Occam s future capital requirements depend on many factors, some of which are outside of its control. Occam expects its cash used in operations to decrease in 2010 at a lesser rate as compared to 2009 in part due to cost control initiatives implemented in 2009. Occam believes that existing cash and investment securities and anticipated cash flows from operations will be sufficient to support its current operating plan for the next 12 months. However, these cash flow and operating results expectations are subject to numerous assumptions, many of which may not actually occur. If some or all of such assumptions do not occur, Occam s results may be substantially lower or different than expected, and its cash resources could be reduced faster than currently anticipated. Such assumptions include, without limitation, assumptions that new product introductions will occur on a timely basis and achieve market acceptance, that customer testing and service provider deployments occur as anticipated, that Occam s customer base will continue to grow, that Occam does not experience an adverse result in existing litigation or new legal proceedings, and that its industry s competitive landscape will not change adversely. For more information about the risks relating to Occam s business, please read carefully the section of this report entitled Risk Factors.

²²²

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2010, was \$1.4 million compared to \$1.1 million during the same period ended September 30, 2009. The sum of Occam s net loss and certain non-cash expenses, such as stock-based compensation, depreciation and amortization, accounts receivable reserves and inventory reserves resulted in an inflow of \$1.5 million in the 2010 period, compared to an outflow of \$2.5 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2009. The overall impact of change in certain operating assets and liabilities on total operating cash flows resulted in a cash outflow of \$0.1 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2009.

Net cash provided by operating activities for 2009 was \$1.4 million compared to net cash used in operating activities of \$1.9 million in 2008. The sum of Occam s net loss and certain non-cash expenses, such as stock-based compensation expense, depreciation and, accounts receivable reserves and inventory reserves resulted in an outflow of \$1.4 million compared to an inflow of \$0.1 million in the 2008 period. The overall impact of change in certain operating assets and liabilities on total operating cash flows resulted in a cash inflow of \$2.8 million in the 2009 period compared to a cash outflow of \$2.0 million in the 2008 period.

Net cash used in operating activities for 2008 was \$1.9 million compared to \$1.2 million in 2007. The sum of Occam s net loss and certain non-cash expenses, such as stock-based compensation expense, depreciation and amortization and impairment of intangibles related to the developed technologies and customer relationships, accounts receivable reserves and inventory reserves resulted in an inflow of \$0.1 million compared to an outflow of \$4.1 million in the 2007 period. The overall impact of change in certain operating assets and liabilities on total operating cash flows resulted in a cash outflow of \$2.0 million in the 2008 period compared to a cash inflow of \$2.9 million in the 2007 period.

Investing Activities

Net cash provided by investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2010, was \$2.2 million compared to \$6.8 million, during the same period ended September 30, 2009. Cash provided by investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2010, was primarily due to a decrease of \$3.9 million in restricted cash required for performance bonds in connection with Occam s Rural Utility Service, or RUS, contracts offset by \$1.7 million for purchases of property and equipment, as compared to a decrease of \$7.5 million in restricted cash, offset by \$0.7 million for purchases of property and equipment in the nine months ended September 30, 2009.

Net cash provided by investing activities was \$7.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2009, compared to net cash used in investing activities of \$6.0 million 2008. Cash provided by investing activities for the year ended 2009, was primarily due to a net decrease of \$8.1 million in restricted cash the result of net cash released in connection with Occam s RUS contract performance bonds. Net cash used in investing activities was \$6.0 million, in the year ended December 31, 2008, due to \$5.0 million for purchases of property and equipment of which \$3.1 million was for Occam s facility in Fremont, California.

Net cash used in investing activities was \$6.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2008, compared to \$20.9 million in 2007. Cash used in investing activities for the year ended 2008, was primarily due to \$5.0 million for purchases of property and equipment of which \$3.1 million was for Occam s facility in Fremont, California, compared to \$8.0 million for purchases of property and equipment which was primarily leasehold improvements for Occam s corporate headquarters in Santa Barbara, California during 2007, an increase of \$0.7 million in restricted cash related to performance bonds and increase of \$0.3 million in intangible assets.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2010, was \$1.3 million compared to \$615,000 for the same period ended September 30, 2009. Cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2010, was mainly due to proceeds from the exercise of stock options of \$1.1 million and sale of common stock under the ESPP of \$0.5 million partially offset by payment of payroll taxes for vested restricted stock units of \$0.3 million and payment of capital lease obligations of approximately \$46,000, as compared to proceeds of approximately \$61,000 related to the exercise of stock options and sale of common stock under the ESPP of \$0.6 million which was offset by the payment of approximately \$17,000 for capital lease obligations for the nine months ended September 30, 2009.

Cash provided by financing activities was \$0.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2009, compared to \$0.6 million in 2008, mainly due to proceeds from the issuance of common stock under the employee stock purchase plan, or ESPP, of \$0.6 million and exercise of stock options of \$0.2 million offset by payments of payroll taxes for vested restricted stock units of \$0.2 million, as compared to proceeds of \$0.6 million, mainly due to the issuance of common stock under the ESPP, proceeds of \$69,000 for the exercise of stock options, offset by payments of payroll taxes for vested restricted stock units of \$85,000 for the same period in 2008.

Cash provided by financing activities was \$0.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2008, compared to \$0.5 million in 2007, mainly due to proceeds from the issuance of common stock under the ESPP of \$0.6 million and exercise of stock options of \$69,000 offset by payments of payroll taxes for vested restricted stock units of \$85,000 as compared to proceeds of \$0.5 million for exercise of options and the issuance of common stock under the ESPP for the same period in 2007.

Working Capital

Working capital increased to \$46.4 million as of September 30, 2010, as compared to \$45.5 million as of December 31, 2009. The increase in the working capital is primarily attributable to an increase in accounts receivable and inventory balance and a decrease in deferred revenue partially offset by an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses balance.

Working capital decreased from \$51.8 million at December 31, 2007 to \$48.0 million at December 31, 2008 and further decreased to \$45.5 million at December 31, 2009. The decrease from 2008 to 2009 was primarily attributable to Occam s net loss and decreases in receivables and inventories partially offset by a decrease in deferred revenue. The decrease from 2007 to 2008 was primarily attributable to Occam s net loss, leasehold improvements and purchase of equipment for its facility in Fremont, and purchases of performance bonds for its RUS contracts.

Occam s future liquidity and capital requirements will depend on numerous factors, including the:

amount and timing of revenue;

collectability of accounts receivable;

extent to which Occam s existing and new products gain market acceptance;

cost and timing of product development efforts and the success of these development efforts;

cost and timing of marketing and selling activities;

extent to which funds are restricted due to performance bonds required in connection with Occam s RUS contracts; and

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

availability of borrowing arrangements and the availability of other means of financing.

Occam believes that its cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to finance its operations over the next 12 months. Although Occam believes these funds will be sufficient to maintain and expand its operations in accordance with its business strategy, Occam may need additional funds in the future. If Occam is unable to raise additional financing when and if needed, Occam may be required to reduce certain discretionary spending, which could have a material adverse effect on Occam s ability to achieve its intended business objectives.

Contractual Obligations

Occam leases its facilities and certain assets under non-cancelable operating leases expiring through 2016, excluding various renewal options. Occam leases certain office equipment under capital leases.

The following table summarizes Occam s minimum purchase commitments to Occam s contract manufacturers, Occam s minimum commitments under non-cancelable operating leases, Occam s commitment under capital leases, Occam s commitment under fixed assets and licensing agreements as of September 30, 2010 (in thousands):

		Payn	nents Due by Pe	riod	
		Less Than			More than
	Total	1 Year	1-3 Years	3-5 Years	5 years
Contractual Obligations					
Purchase commitments ⁽¹⁾	\$ 28,991	\$ 28,991	\$	\$	\$
Operating leases	\$ 6,012	\$ 389	\$ 4,621	\$ 1,002	\$
Licensing agreements	\$ 41	\$ 31	\$ 10	\$	\$

(1) Under the terms of agreements with Occam s contract manufacturers and original design manufacturers, Occam issues purchase orders for the production of its products. Occam is required to place orders in advance with its contract manufacturers and original design manufacturers to meet estimated sales demands. The agreements include certain lead-time and cancellation provisions. Future amounts payable to Occam s contract manufacturer will vary based on the level of purchase requirements.

Of the unrecognized tax benefit liability of approximately \$9.3 million, unrecognized tax benefits of only \$0.1 million would require a cash settlement and is not included in the table above due to Occam s significant tax net loss and research tax credit carryforward position. If some or all of the unrecognized tax benefit liability became a recognized tax liability, it would generally result in reduction of these net operating losses and tax credits and would not result in the use of cash to satisfy the tax liability.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of September 30, 2010, Occam did not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements, other than operating leases and certain purchase commitments described in the contractual obligations table above.

Indemnification Obligations

Occam enters into indemnification provisions under its agreements with other companies in Occam s ordinary course of business, typically with its contractors, customers, and landlords. In connection with its 2006 public offering, Occam also agreed to indemnify the underwriters in the offering and certain stockholders who sold shares as part of the offering with respect to certain liabilities arising from the offering. Under these provisions, Occam generally indemnifies and holds harmless the indemnified party for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party as a result of Occam s activities or, in some cases, as a result of the indemnified party s activities under the agreement. These indemnification provisions generally survive termination of the underlying agreement. The maximum potential amount of future payments Occam could be required to make under these indemnification provisions is generally unlimited. As of December 31, 2009, Occam did not have any material

accrued liability relating to the defense of lawsuits or settlement of claims related to these indemnification agreements. As of December 31, 2009, Occam had reimbursed Norwest Venture Partners for indemnification expenses in the aggregate amount of \$176,460. As of December 31, 2009, Occam had reimbursed U.S. Venture Partners for indemnification expenses in the aggregate amount of \$240,050. As of September 30, 2010, Occam did not have any material accrued liability related to these indemnification agreements.

Occam is also a party to indemnification agreements with its officers and directors, consequently, Occam has obligations to hold harmless and indemnify each of its directors as defendants in the California Complaints and the Steinhardt Complaint (as described above) against judgments, fines, settlements and expenses and otherwise to the fullest extent permitted under Delaware law and Occam s bylaws and certificate of incorporation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2009, the Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, released a final consensus on Issue No. 08-1, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables. Issue No. 08-1 enables entities to separately account for individual deliverables for many more revenue arrangements. Issue No. 08-1 is effective for the company beginning on January 1, 2011, with early adoption permitted. EITF 08-1 was codified into the Revenue Recognition topic of the FASB ASC. Occam elected to early adopt this EITF Issue and the adoption of this issue did not have an impact on its financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.

In September 2009, the EITF released a final consensus on a new revenue recognition standard, Issue No. 09-3, Applicability of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2 to Certain Arrangements That Contain Software Elements (EITF 09-3). EITF 09-3 amends the scope of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition to exclude tangible products that include software and non-software components that function together to deliver the product sessential functionality. This Issue shall be applied on a prospective basis for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010. Earlier application is permitted as of the beginning of the company s fiscal year provided the company has not previously issued financial statements for any period within that year. An entity shall not elect early application of this Issue unless it also elects early application of Issue 08-1. Occam elected to early adopt this EITF Issue and the adoption of this issue did not have an impact on its financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 168 The FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (SFAS 168). SFAS 168 establishes the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (Codification) as the single source of authoritative GAAP to be applied by nongovernmental entities, except for the rules and interpretive releases of the SEC under authority of federal securities laws, which are sources of authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants. All guidance contained in the Codification carries an equal level of authority. The Codification does not change GAAP. SFAS 168 is effective for interim and annual periods ending on or after September 15, 2009. The adoption of this standard only impacts the references to the accounting standards. References to accounting standards in this Form 10-K now refer to the relevant ASC topic.

In April 2009, the FASB issued three related Staff Positions: (i) FSP 157-4, Determining Fair Value When the Volume and Level of Activity for the Asset or Liability have Significantly Decreased and Identifying Transactions That Are Not Orderly, or FSP 157-4, (ii) SFAS 115-2 and SFAS 124-2, Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments, or FSP 115-2 and FSP 124-2, and (iii) SFAS 107-1 and APB 28-1, Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments, or FSP 107 and APB 28-1, which are effective for interim and annual periods ending after June 15, 2009. FSP 157-4 provides guidance on how to determine the fair value of assets and liabilities under SFAS 157 in the current economic environment and reemphasizes that the objective of a fair value measurement remains an exit price. If Occam were to conclude that there has been a significant decrease in the volume and level of activity of the asset or liability in relation to normal market activities, quoted market values may not be representative of fair value and Occam may conclude

that a change in valuation technique or the use of multiple valuation techniques may be appropriate. FSP 115-2 and FSP 124-2 modify the requirements for recognizing other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities and revise the existing impairment model for such securities, by modifying the current intent and ability indicator in determining whether a debt security is other-than-temporarily impaired. FSP 107 and APB 28-1 enhance the disclosure of instruments under the scope of SFAS 157 for both interim and annual periods. The above staff positions did not have a material impact on Occam s financial position, results of operations, and cash flows. The above staff positions and ABP 28-1 were codified in the ASC topic on Financial Instruments.

In April 2009, the FASB issued FSP No. 141R-1 Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in a Business Combination That Arise from Contingencies, or FSP 141R-1. FSP 141R-1 amends the provisions in Statement 141R for the initial recognition and measurement, subsequent measurement and accounting, and disclosures for assets and liabilities arising from contingencies in business combinations. The FSP eliminates the distinction between contractual and non-contractual contingencies, including the initial recognition and measurement criteria in Statement 141R and instead carries forward most of the provisions in SFAS 141 for acquired contingencies. FSP 141R-1 is effective for contingent assets and contingent liabilities acquired in business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. Occam believes the adoption of SFAS 141R will have an impact on accounting for business combinations once adopted, but the effect on Occam will depend upon its level of acquisition activity. FAS 141R was codified in the ASC topic on Business Combinations.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about the Market Risk Of Occam

Interest Rate Risk

Occam s portfolio of cash equivalents is of a short-term nature. Therefore, Occam is not subject to significant market price risk related to investments. However, Occam s interest income is sensitive to changes in the general level of taxable and short-term U.S. interest rates. Occam s exposure to market risk due to changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates relates primarily to its cash equivalents. Occam generally invests its surplus cash balances in money-market funds with original or remaining contractual maturities of less than 90 days. The primary objective of its investment activities is the preservation of principal while minimizing risk. Occam does not hold financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. Occam does not use any derivatives or similar instruments to manage its interest rate risk.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information combines the historical consolidated financial statements of Calix and Occam as if the merger had previously occurred on the dates specified below.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements assume that, at the effective time of the first-step merger, each outstanding share of Occam common stock (other than those shares with respect to which appraisal rights are available, properly exercised and not withdrawn) will convert into the right to receive (a) \$3.8337 per share in cash plus (b) 0.2925 of validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable share of Calix common stock. Subject to stockholder and regulatory approvals, this acquisition is expected to close in the first quarter of 2011.

After the consummation of the merger transaction, Occam stockholders, in the aggregate, will own between approximately 14.1% and 15.9% of Calix s outstanding shares of common stock immediately after completion of the merger transaction (such ownership percentages are based on the number of Calix shares of common stock outstanding as of September 14, 2010 and will vary based upon the actual number of Calix and Occam shares outstanding as of the effective time). After consideration of all applicable factors pursuant to the business combination accounting rules, the parties consider Calix to be the accounting acquirer for purposes of the preparation of the pro forma combined financial information included below because Calix is issuing its common stock to acquire Occam (at a premium), the board of directors of the combined company will be composed principally of existing Calix directors and one former Occam director, and the executive management team of the combined company will be led by current Calix executives.

Pro Forma Combined Information

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of September 25, 2010 is based on (i) the historical consolidated balance sheet of Calix as of September 25, 2010 and (ii) the historical consolidated balance sheet of Occam as of September 30, 2010. The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the nine months ended September 25, 2010 and the year ended December 31, 2009 are based on (i) the historical consolidated results of operations of Calix for the nine months ended September 25, 2010 and the year ended December 31, 2009, respectively, and (ii) the historical consolidated results of operations of Occam for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 and the year ended December 31, 2009, respectively.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information also reflects the effects of acquiring Occam for an aggregate estimated consideration of approximately \$171.1 million, as calculated below (in thousands):

Cash to be paid by Calix	\$ 88,866
Estimated valuation of equity to be issued by Calix	82,274
	\$ 171,140

Pro forma combined adjustments and the assumptions related to the Occam acquisition were prepared using the purchase method of accounting and is based on the assumption that the acquisition of Occam took place as of September 25, 2010 for purposes of the pro forma combined balance sheet and January 1, 2009 for purposes of the pro forma combined statements of income.

In accordance with the purchase method of accounting, the actual consolidated financial statements of Calix will reflect the Occam acquisition only from and after the date of acquisition. Calix has not yet undertaken any detailed analysis of the fair value of Occam s assets and liabilities and will not finalize the purchase price allocation related to the Occam acquisition until after the merger is consummated.

For purposes of the pro forma combined information, adjustments for estimated transaction and integration costs for the Occam acquisition have been excluded. These aggregate estimated transaction costs are expected to be approximately \$7.0 million and include estimated costs associated with investment banker advisory fees and legal fees of both companies. In addition, the combined company will incur integration costs related to system and customer conversions (including hardware and software costs) and certain employee-related severance costs. The specific details of these integration plans will continue to be refined over the next couple of years.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information included herein does not give effect to any potential cost reductions or other operating efficiencies that could result from the Occam acquisition, including but not limited to those associated with potential (i) reductions of corporate overhead, (ii) eliminations of duplicate functions and (iii) increased operational efficiencies through the adoption of best practices and capabilities from each company.

The pro forma combined information has been prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC. The pro forma combined information is presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the combined operating results or financial position that would have occurred if such transactions had been consummated on the dates and in accordance with the assumptions described herein, nor is it necessarily indicative of future operating results or financial position.

You are urged to read the pro forma combined information below together with Calix s and Occam s publicly-available historical consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet

CALIX, INC.

PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED BALANCE SHEET

As of September 25, 2010

	Calix	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Pro Forma Combined Adjustments iousands) audited)	Pro Forma Combined
Assets				
Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 35,141	\$ 44,174	\$ (79,315)(A)	\$
Marketable securities	74,102		(9,551)(A)	64,551
Accounts receivable, net	32,881	21,189		54,070
Inventory	24,920	8,781		33,701
Deferred cost of goods sold	10,427	4,700	(4,700)(B)	10,427
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	3,044	3,051		6,095
Total current assets	180,515	81,895	(93,566)	168,844
Property and equipment, net	11,524	8,254		19,778
Goodwill	65,576		38,307(C)	103,883
Intangible assets, net	2,060	85	67,515(D)	69,660
In-process research and development			6,760(C)	6,760
Other assets	2,391	71		2,462
Total assets	\$ 262,066	\$ 90,305	\$ 19,016	\$ 371,387
Liabilities and stockholders equity				
Current liabilities:				
Accounts payable	\$ 8,785	\$ 17,231	\$	\$ 26,016
Accrued liabilities	25,966	9,816		35,782
Deferred revenue	18,662	8,131	(8,131)(B)	18,662
Other liabilities		361	(361)(E)	
Total current liabilities	53,413	35,539	(8,492)	80,460
Long-term portion of deferred revenue	9,876			9,876
Other long-term liabilities	992	1,336	(1,336)(E)	992
Total liabilities	64,281	36,875	(9,828)	91,328
Stockholders equity				
Common stock	933	289	(135)(F)	1,087
Additional paid-in capital	607,669	191,374	(109,254)(F)	689,789
Other comprehensive loss	80			80
Accumulated deficit	(410,897)	(138,233)	138,233(F)	(410,897)
Total stockholders equity	197,785	53,430	28,844	280,059
Total liabilities, stockholders equity	\$ 262,066	\$ 90,305	\$ 19,016	\$ 371,387

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

 Occam s historical financial position contained in this table is as of September 30, 2010. See accompanying notes to unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations

CALIX, INC.

PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF INCOME

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 25, 2010

	Calix	. ,	Pro Forma Combined Adjustments cept per share data) audited)	Pro Forma Combined
Revenues	\$ 195,348	\$ 75,930	\$ (13,035)(G)	\$ 258,243
Cost of revenue	121,274	44,396	(6,200)(G)	159,470
Gross profit	74,074	31,534	(6,835)	98,773
Operating expenses:				
Research and development ⁽²⁾	39,232	11,478		50,710
Sales and marketing	29,014	14,200		43,214
General and administrative	19,515	5,702	261(H)	25,478
Acquisition-related costs	2,137	2,840		4,977
Amortization of acquired intangible assets	555	71	6,464(I)	7,090
Total operating expenses	90,453	34,291	6,725	131,469
Loss from operations	(16,379)	(2,757)	(13,560)	(32,696)
Other income (expense), net	(1,001)	8		(993)
Net loss before provision (benefit) from income taxes	(17,380)	(2,749)	(13,560)	(33,689)
Provision (benefit) from income taxes	435	32	(339)(J)	128
Net loss	(17,815)	(2,781)	(13,221)	(33,817)
Preferred stock dividends	900			900
Net loss attributable to common stockholders	\$ (18,715)	\$ (2,781)	\$ (13,221)	\$ (34,717)
Net loss per common share:				
Basic and diluted	\$ (0.70)	\$ (0.13)		\$ (1.06)
Pro forma combined basic and diluted ⁽³⁾	\$ (0.50)			\$ (0.81)
Weighted average number of shares used to compute net loss per share:				
Basic and diluted	26,751	20,820	(14,671)(K)	32,900
Pro forma combined basic and diluted ⁽³⁾	35,540	20,820	(14,671)(K)	41,689

(1) Occam s historical results of operations contained in this table are for the nine months ended September 30, 2010.

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

- (2) Research and development expenses and amortization of intangible assets for Occam for 2010 have been reclassified to conform with Calix s 2010 presentation.
- (3) Pro forma combined weighted average shares outstanding reflects the conversion of Calix convertible preferred stock (using the if-converted method) into common stock as though the conversion had occurred on the original dates of issuance. See accompanying notes to unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations

CALIX, INC.

PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009

	Calix	· · · ·	Pro Forma Combined Adjustments except per share data) naudited)	Pro Forma Combined
Revenues	\$ 232,947	\$ 84,046	\$ (17,612)(G)	\$ 299,381
Cost of revenue	156,303	50,019	(8,100)(G)	198,222
Gross profit	76,644	34,027	(9,512)	101,159
Operating expenses:				
Research and development ⁽¹⁾	46,132	15,996		62,128
Sales and marketing	33,486	17,588		51,074
General and administrative	15,613	7,940	328(H)	23,881
Amortization of acquired intangible assets ⁽¹⁾	740	95	15,228(I)	16,063
Restructuring charges and loss on legal settlement		1,913		1,913
Total operating expenses	95,971	43,532	15,556	155,059
Loss from operations	(19,327)	(9,505)	(25,068)	(53,900)
Other income (expense), net	(3,466)	374		(3,092)
Net loss before provision (benefit) from income taxes	(22,793)	(9,131)	(25,068)	(56,992)
Provision (benefit) from income taxes	(352)	(206)	(376)(J)	(934)
Net loss	(22,441)	(8,925)	(24,692)	(56,058)
Preferred stock dividends	3,747			3,747
Net loss attributable to common stockholders	\$ (26,188)	\$ (8,925)	\$ (24,692)	\$ (59,805)
Net loss per common share:				
Basic and diluted	\$ (6.48)	\$ (0.44)		\$ (5.87)
Pro forma combined basic and diluted ⁽²⁾	\$ (0.77)			\$ (1.60)
Weighted average number of shares used to compute net loss per share:				
Basic and diluted	4,040	20,259	(14,110)(K)	10,189
Pro forma combined basic and diluted ⁽²⁾	28,991	20,259	(14,110)(K)	35,140

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

Research and development expenses and amortization of intangible assets for Occam for 2009 have been reclassified to conform with Calix s 2009 presentation.

- (2) Pro forma combined weighted average shares outstanding reflects the conversion of Calix convertible preferred stock (using the if-converted method) into common stock as though the conversion had occurred on the original dates of issuance.
 - See accompanying notes to unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.

Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information

(1) Basis of Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation

The following preliminary allocation of the Occam purchase price is based on Calix s preliminary estimates of the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities of Occam as of September 30, 2010. The final determination of the allocation of the purchase price will be based on the fair value of such assets and liabilities as of the actual consummation date of the acquisition and will be completed after the acquisition is consummated. Such final determination of the purchase price allocation may be different than the preliminary estimates used in these pro forma combined financial statements.

The estimated purchase price of Occam (as calculated in the manner described above) is allocated to the assets to be acquired and liabilities to be assumed based on the following preliminary basis as of September 30, 2010 (amounts in thousands):

Cash, accounts receivable and other current assets	\$ 77,195
Net property, plant and equipment	8,254
Intangible identifiable assets	
Customer contracts and lists, purchase order backlog	22,533
Developed and core technology patents	45,067
Other non-current assets	71
Current liabilities	(27,047)
In process research and development	6,760
Goodwill	38,307
Total estimated purchase price	\$ 171,140

(2) Pro Forma Combined Adjustments

The following pro forma combined adjustments have been reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information. These adjustments give effect to pro forma events that are (i) directly attributable to the Occam merger, (ii) factually supportable and (iii) with respect to the statements of operations, expected to have continuing impact on the combined company. As of September 30, 2010, Occam had certain deferred revenues and deferred costs on its balance sheet primarily associated with product that has been shipped but which is pending customer acceptance and post-sales support whereby Occam received payments up front but is recognizing the related revenues and expense over the life of the contract; and certain deferred credits on its balance sheet associated with cash lease incentives which are being amortized over the life of the lease agreement. Based on the accounting guidance for business combinations, these existing deferred revenues, deferred costs and deferred credits are expected to be assigned little or no value in the purchase price allocation process since the remaining obligation is considered insignificant and have thus been eliminated in preparation of these pro forma combined financial statements.

All adjustments are based on current assumptions and are subject to change upon completion of the final purchase price allocation based on the intangible assets and liabilities of Occam at the merger closing date.

Balance Sheet Adjustments

(A) To reflect the cash paid to Occam shareholders by Calix as consideration delivered to acquire Occam.

(B) To eliminate existing deferred revenues and deferred costs of Occam associated with product shipped but is pending customer acceptance and post-sales support that will likely be assigned little or no value in the purchase price allocation process.

(C) To reflect the establishment of goodwill of \$38.3 million estimated as a result of the preliminary purchase price allocation described in Note (1); and the establishment of in-process research and development of \$6.5 million which was estimated by Calix s management based on the fair value assigned to similar assets in recent comparable acquisitions of related industries. No formal appraisal process has commenced and therefore these allocations may materially change once such a process is conducted.

(D) To reflect the preliminary fair values of the identifiable intangible assets of Occam which were estimated by Calix s management based on the fair values assigned to similar assets in recent comparable acquisitions of related industries. No formal appraisal process has commenced and therefore these allocations may materially change once such a process is conducted. The estimated useful life of the developed and core technology patents asset, and the customer contract and lists asset was assumed to be 5 years. The estimated useful life of the purchase order backlog asset was assumed to be 0.5 years. This adjustment also includes the elimination of an existing intangible asset from Occam s acquisition of Terawave Communications Inc. that will likely be assigned no value in the purchase price allocation process. The pro forma combined adjustment is composed of the following (in thousands):

	Increase (Decrease)
	to
	Assets
Establish developed and core technology patents asset	\$ 45,067
Establish customer contract and lists assets	20,280
Establish purchase order backlog assets	2,253
Elimination of intangible asset from prior Occam acquisition	(85)
Net pro forma combined adjustment	\$ 67,515

(E) To eliminate existing deferred credits of Occam associated with cash lease incentives that will likely be assigned no value in the purchase price allocation process.

(F) To reflect the elimination of Occam s stockholders equity balances as of September 30, 2010 and to reflect the issuance of 6.153 million shares of Calix common stock (valued at \$82.3 million for purposes of this pro forma combined information) as consideration delivered to acquire Occam.

Income Statement Adjustments

(G) To reflect the elimination of operating revenues and operating costs recognized by Occam associated with deferred revenues and deferred costs on product shipped but is pending customer acceptance and post-sales support that will likely be assigned little or no value in the purchase price allocation process.

(H) To reflect the elimination of amortized cash lease incentive credits recognized by Occam associated with cash lease incentives provided by Occam s landlord that will likely be assigned no value in the purchase price allocation process.

(I) To reflect amortization expense associated with the developed and core technology patents asset and the customer contract and lists asset estimated in Note (D) above assuming an estimated useful life of 5 years and the Occam purchase order backlog asset assuming an estimated useful life of 0.5 years. This is offset by elimination of amortization expense associated with Occam s acquisition of Terawave Communications Inc.

Increase (Decrease) to Amortization Expense		
Year	Nine Months	
Ended	Ended	
December 31,	September 25,	
2009	2010	

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

	(In thousands)		
Amortizable intangible assets acquired	\$ 15,323	\$	6,535
Terawave Communications acquisition	(95)		(71)
Total pro forma combined adjustment	\$ 15,228	\$	6,464

(J) To reflect the tax effects of Items (G), (H) and (I) using an estimated effective income tax rate of 1.5% for the year ended December 31, 2009 and an estimated effective income tax benefit rate of 2.5% for the nine months ended September 30, 2010.

(K) To reflect (i) the elimination of Occam s basic and diluted common shares outstanding, net of (ii) the assumed issuance of basic and diluted common shares as a result of the transaction calculated by multiplying 6,149,000 shares of Calix common stock, assuming this transaction occurred at the beginning of the period.

For purposes of preparing these pro forma combined financial statements, the fair value of Occam s property, plant and equipment was estimated to approximate their carrying value on the date of acquisition. To the extent that the final purchase price allocation causes Calix s depreciation and amortization expense to differ from the presented in the accompanying pro forma combined statement of income information, annual earnings per common share will be affected by \$0.01 per share for every \$200.0 thousand difference in annual depreciation and amortization expense. Thus, for example, if Calix ultimately allocates an additional \$825.4 thousand of the aggregate purchase price to property, plant and equipment (representing a 10% increase in the amount that has been preliminarily allocated to such assets as described above), the annual depreciation and amortization would increase by \$244.6 thousand (assuming a composite annual depreciation rate of 30%) and the annual earnings per share would decrease by \$.007 per share for 2009 from the amounts presented in the accompanying pro forma combined information. In contrast, a 10% reduction in the amount that has been preliminarily allocated to property, plant and equipment would decrease depreciation and amortization by \$244.6 thousand (assuming a composite annual depreciation rate of 30%) and increase annual earnings per share by \$.007 per share for 2009 from the amount depreciation rate of 30%) and increase annual earnings per share by \$.007 per share for 2009 from the amount depreciation rate of 30%) and increase annual earnings per share by \$.007 per share for 2009 from the annual depreciation rate of 30%) and increase annual earnings per share by \$.007 per share for 2009 from the amount depreciation rate of 30%) and increase annual earnings per share by \$.007 per share for 2009 from the amount depreciation rate of 30%) and increase annual earnings per share by \$.007 per share for 2009 from the amounts presented herein.

MANAGEMENT FOLLOWING THE MERGER

Upon the effective time and subject to the review and approval of Calix s board, one member of the Occam board who is not an employee of Occam, which individual shall be mutually and reasonably agreed to by Calix and Occam, will be appointed to the Calix board and will be nominated by the Calix board for election at Calix s next annual meeting of stockholders. As of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus, no determination has been made as to the identity of the designee who will be appointed to the Calix board. There are currently no changes to Calix s executive officers contemplated in connection with the merger transaction. Information about the Calix directors and executive officers who will continue to be Calix directors and executive officers after the effective time is set forth below in the section Management of Calix, and information about members of the Occam board who are not employees of Occam, one of whom will be appointed to the Calix board after the effective time, is set forth below in the section Non-Employee Directors of Occam.

Management of Calix

Executive Officers and Directors

The following table sets forth the names, ages and positions of Calix s executive officers and directors as of December 7, 2010.

Name ⁽¹⁾	Age	Position(s)
Carl Russo	54	President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Kelyn Brannon	52	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Tony Banta	63	Senior Vice President, Manufacturing Operations
John Colvin	47	Vice President, Field Operations for the Americas
Kevin Pope	53	Senior Vice President, Product Development
Roger Weingarth	56	Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
Don Listwin ⁽³⁾⁽⁴⁾	51	Director and Chairman of the Board
Michael Ashby	61	Director
Michael Everett ⁽²⁾⁽⁴⁾	61	Director
Robert Finzi	56	Director
Michael Flynn ⁽²⁾⁽³⁾	62	Director
Adam Grosser ⁽²⁾⁽⁴⁾	49	Director
Michael Matthews	54	Director

- (1) Michael Marks resigned as a member of Calix s board of directors effective as of December 7, 2010.
- (2) Member of audit committee
- (3) Member of compensation committee
- (4) Member of nominating and corporate governance committee

Executive Officers

Carl Russo has served as Calix s president and chief executive officer since December 2002 and as a member of the company s board of directors since December 1999. From November 1999 to May 2002, Mr. Russo served as vice president of optical strategy and group vice president of optical networking of Cisco. From April 1998 to October 1999, Mr. Russo served as president and chief executive officer of Cerent Corporation, which was acquired by Cisco. From April 1995 to April 1998, Mr. Russo served in various capacities, most recently as chief operating officer, at Xircom, Inc., which was acquired by Intel Corporation. Previously, Mr. Russo served as senior vice president and general manager for the hyperchannel networking group of Network Systems Corporation and as vice president and general manager of the data networking products division of AT&T Paradyne Corporation. Mr. Russo also serves on the board of directors of the Alliance for Telecommunications Industry Solutions, a telecommunications standards organization. Mr. Russo attended Swarthmore College and serves on its board of managers. As Calix s president and chief executive officer, Mr. Russo brings expertise and knowledge regarding the company s business and operations to Calix s board of directors. He also brings to Calix s board of directors an extensive background in the telecommunications and networking technology industries.

Kelyn Brannon has served as Calix s executive vice president and chief financial officer since April 2008. From July 2004 to April 2008, Ms. Brannon served as executive vice president and chief financial officer of Calypso Technology, Inc., an application software provider for the capital markets industry. From August 2003 to July 2004, Ms. Brannon served as chief financial officer of Arzoon, Inc., a provider of logistics and transportation management software. From November 2000 to July 2003, Ms. Brannon served in various capacities at Creative Planet, Inc. (also known as Movie Magic Technologies, Inc. and Studio Systems, Inc.), including chief financial officer, president and chief executive officer. Previously, Ms. Brannon served in senior finance positions at Fort Point Partners, Inc., Amazon.com, Inc., Sun Microsystems, Inc., Lexmark International, Inc. and Ernst & Young LLP. Ms. Brannon is a Certified Public Accountant and a member of The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Brannon holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Political Science from Murray State University.

Tony Banta has served as Calix s senior vice president of manufacturing operations since April 2009. From July 2007 to April 2009, Mr. Banta served as Calix s vice president of manufacturing. From September 2005 to July 2007, Mr. Banta served as Calix s director of global supply chain management. From September 1995 to June 2005, Mr. Banta served in various capacities at Cisco, including vice president of worldwide operations. From March 1993 to September 1995, Mr. Banta served as vice president of manufacturing at Grand Junction Networks, Inc. Previously, Mr. Banta served in senior management positions, including vice president of manufacturing at Vitalink Communications Corporation and Teledyne MEC. Mr. Banta holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Golden Gate University, a Master of Science Degree in Aeronautical Engineering from Wichita State University and a Bachelor of Science degree in Aeronautics from San Jose State College. Mr. Banta also served ten years in the United States Air Force.

John Colvin has served as Calix s vice president of field operations for the Americas since March 2004. From November 1999 to March 2004, Mr. Colvin served in numerous leadership positions at Cisco, including senior director of business development and operations director in service provider sales. From January 1999 to October 1999, Mr. Colvin served as director of national carrier sales of Cerent Corporation. Previously, Mr. Colvin served in various capacities at Alcatel S.A. for eight years, most recently as account vice president for AT&T. Before that, Mr. Colvin worked as an engineer at Rockwell International Corporation and NEC America, Inc. Mr. Colvin holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical Engineering from Texas A&M University.

Kevin Pope has served as Calix s senior vice president of product development since January 2009. From September 2005 to January 2009, Mr. Pope served as vice president of engineering of Hammerhead Systems, Inc., a metro Ethernet aggregation switching equipment company. In September 1999, Mr. Pope founded Mahi Networks, Inc., a core network integrated time division multiplexing/data switching equipment company, and served as its vice president of engineering until September 2005. From June 1988 to September 1999, Mr. Pope served as vice president of development engineering of Applied Digital Access, Inc. Mr. Pope holds a Master of Business Administration degree from San Diego State University, a Master of Science degree in Electrical Engineering and Computer Science from the University of California, Berkeley and a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical Engineering from the University of Minnesota.

Roger Weingarth has served as Calix s executive vice president and chief operating officer since July 2007. From February 2006 to July 2007, Mr. Weingarth served as Calix s senior vice president of product and manufacturing operations and from March 2003 to February 2006, as Calix s vice president of operations. From March 2002 to March 2003, Mr. Weingarth served as president and chief executive officer of Arista Networks, Inc. From June 1998 to February 2002, Mr. Weingarth served as president and chief operating officer of Optical Solutions, Inc. Previously, Mr. Weingarth served in senior management roles at Centron DPL Company, Inc., Switched Network Technologies, Inc., Network Systems Corporation and AT&T/NCR Corporation. Mr. Weingarth holds a Master of Business Administration degree from the University of Minnesota and a Bachelor of Arts degree in Business Administration from Bethel College.

Board of Directors

Don Listwin has served on Calix s board of directors since January 2007 and has served as chairman of the board of directors since July 2007. In October 2004, Mr. Listwin founded Canary Foundation, a non-profit organization devoted to the early detection of cancer, and has since then served as its chairman. From January 2008 to January 2009, Mr. Listwin served as chief executive officer of Sana Security, Inc., a security software company, which was acquired by AVG Technologies. From September 2000 to October 2004, Mr. Listwin served as chief executive officer of Openwave Systems Inc., a leader in mobile internet infrastructure software. From August 1990 to September 2000, he served in various capacities at Cisco, most recently as executive vice president. Mr. Listwin currently serves on the board of directors of Sana Security, Inc., Genologics Life Sciences Software Inc. and Stratos Product Development LLC, each a privately-held company, and Isilon Systems, Inc., a public company. During the past five years, Mr. Listwin formerly served on the board of directors of Openwave Systems Inc., TIBCO Software Inc., Redback Networks, Inc., Software.com Pty Ltd., Phone.com LLC and E-Tek Dynamics Inc., each a publicly-held company. Mr. Listwin is a member of the board of trustees of the Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, a non-profit organization, the board of scientific advisors of the National Cancer Institute, a research and development center, and the board of directors of Science, a non-profit organization. Mr. Listwin holds an honorary Doctorate of Law degree from the University of Saskatchewan and a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical Engineering from the University of Saskatchewan. Mr. Listwin brings over 30 years of experience in the networking industry to Calix s board of directors.

Michael Ashby has served on Calix s board of directors since January 2006. From December 2002 to April 2008, Mr. Ashby served as Calix s chief financial officer. From November 1999 to July 2001, Mr. Ashby served as vice president of finance of Cisco. From February 1999 to October 1999, Mr. Ashby served as chief financial officer of Cerent Corporation. From September 1997 to January 1999, Mr. Ashby served as executive vice president and chief financial officer of Ascend Communications Inc., which was acquired by Lucent Technologies, Inc. Prior to that, Mr. Ashby served as chief financial officer of Pacific Telesis Enterprise Group, a division of Pacific Telesis Group, Inc. which was later acquired by SBC Communications. Mr. Ashby has also served as chief executive officer of Network Systems Corporation and served in a senior management position at Teradata Corporation. During the past five years, Mr. Ashby formerly served on the board of directors of Sierra Monolithics, Inc., a privately-held fabless mixed signal design company for communications systems. He currently serves on the board of directors expertise in finance as well as over 20 years of experience in financial management and investor relations for both public and privately-held technology companies.

Michael Everett has served on Calix s board of directors since August 2007. From May 2007 until his retirement in December 2008, Mr. Everett served as vice president of finance at Cisco. From April 2003 to May 2007, Mr. Everett was chief financial officer of WebEx Communications, Inc., a web collaboration service provider that was acquired by Cisco. From 2001 to 2003, Mr. Everett served as chief financial officer of Bivio Networks, Inc., a network appliance company. In 2001, Mr. Everett served as chief financial officer of VMware, Inc., an infrastructure software company. From February 1997 to November 2000, Mr. Everett served as executive vice president and chief financial officer of Netro Corporation. Mr. Everett served in several senior management positions at Raychem Corporation from 1987 through 1996, including senior vice president and chief financial officer from August 1988 to August 1993. Before joining Raychem Corporation, Mr. Everett served as a partner of Heller, Ehrman, White & McAuliffe LLC. During the past five years, Mr. Everett formerly served on the board of directors of Broncus Technologies, Inc., a privately-held medical technology company, including as chairman of the audit committee and member of the compensation committee. He also served on the board of directors of the Northern California and Northern Nevada chapter of the Alzheimer s Association, a non-profit organization, and Self-Help for the Elderly, a non-profit organization. Mr. Everett is licensed to practice law in California and in New York and was named chief financial officer of the year by San Francisco Business Times in 2007. Mr. Everett brings to Calix s board of directors his background as a lawyer as well as over 30 years of experience in senior management and financial operations at communications technology companies.

Robert Finzi has served on Calix s board of directors since August 2009. In May 1991, Mr. Finzi joined Sprout Group, a venture capital firm and since November 2003, has served as co-managing partner. From October 1984 to May 1991, Mr. Finzi was a partner of Merrill Lynch Venture Capital, a venture capital firm, and was promoted to general partner in 1985. From May 1983 to October 1984, Mr. Finzi was an associate at Menlo Ventures, a venture capital firm. From August 1976 to August 1981, Mr. Finzi was a consultant at Arthur Andersen s Administrative Services Division, a consultancy now known as Accenture LTD. Mr. Finzi currently serves on the board of directors of Aurora Networks, Inc., Cleantech Group LLC, CyOptics, Inc., Teachscape, Inc. and TradeBeam, Inc., each a privately-held company. During the past five years, Mr. Finzi previously served on the board of directors of Concur Technologies, Inc. (including as a member of its compensation committee), a publicly-held company, Viteos Mauritius Limited, a privately-held company, and LeftHand Networks Inc. (which was acquired by Hewlett-Packard Company) and Watchfire Corporation (which was acquired by IBM), each a privately-held company when Mr. Finzi served on its board of directors. Mr. Finzi holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Harvard Business School, where he received the Baker Scholar Designation, a Master of Science degree in Industrial Engineering from Lehigh University and a Bachelor of Science degree in Industrial Engineering from Lehigh University and a Bachelor of Science degree in Industrial Engineering from Lehigh University. Mr. Finzi brings to Calix s board of directors extensive experience in financial management, operations and reporting and management information systems.

Michael Flynn has served on Calix s board of directors since July 2004. From June 1994 until his retirement in April 2004, Mr. Flynn served in various capacities at Alltel Corporation, a telecommunications provider. His most recent position at Alltel Corporation was group president. Mr. Flynn currently serves on the board of directors of Airspan Networks Inc., a publicly-held vendor of wireless products and solutions, and iLinc Communications, Inc., a publicly-held provider of web conferencing software and services including as a member of the audit committee and the compensation committee of each. He is a member of the board of directors, and audit and compensation committees, of Atlantic Tel-Networks, a publicly-held, diversified telecommunications services provider, and he is owner and president of Deli Planet Inc., a privately-held company. During the past five years, Mr. Flynn formerly served on the board of directors of Webex Communications, Inc. and Equity Media Holdings Corporation, each a publicly-held company, and GENBAND Inc., a privately-held company. Mr. Flynn served on the audit committee of Equity Media Holdings Corporation, and was chairman of the compensation committee of GENBAND Inc. Mr. Flynn holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Industrial Engineering from Texas A&M University. Mr. Flynn brings to Calix s board of directors extensive experience in advising and managing companies in the technology and telecommunications industries. He also has expertise in public company corporate governance.

Adam Grosser has served on Calix s board of directors since May 2009. Since September 2000, Mr. Grosser has served as a general partner of Foundation Capital, a venture capital firm. From May 1996 to May 1999, Mr. Grosser was president of the subscriber networks division at Excite@Home. From December 1993 to January 1996, Mr. Grosser served as co-founder, president and chief executive officer of Catapult Entertainment, Inc. From August 1984 to November 1993, Mr. Grosser served in engineering and management capacities at Apple Computer, Lucasfilm Ltd. and Sony Corporation of America. Mr. Grosser currently serves on the boards of directors of Control4 Corporation, Conviva, Inc., GridIron Systems Inc., Numerate, Inc., Sentient Energy, Inc., SiBEAM, Inc. and Silver Spring Networks, Inc., each a privately-held company. During the past five years, he formerly served on the board of directors of EnerNOC, Inc., Rohati Systems, Inc., which was acquired by GE Aviation. Mr. Grosser holds a Master of Science degree in Engineering, a Master of Business Administration degree and a Bachelor of Science degree in Design Engineering from Stanford University. Mr. Grosser brings to the Calix board of directors extensive experience in advising technology startup companies as well as counseling boards of directors and senior management regarding corporate governance, compliance and business operations.

Michael Matthews has served on Calix s board of directors since December 2010. Mr. Matthews has served as Head of Strategy and Business Development at Nokia Siemens Networks since September 2008 and has directed the company s strategic planning and investments, mergers and acquisitions program and strategic

alliances and partnerships since September 2008. From February 2003 to January 2008, Mr. Matthews served as Chief Marketing Officer at Amdocs Inc. From September 1999 to March 2002 he served as the Executive Vice President, Sales & Marketing, at Groove Networks, a privately held software company which was acquired by Microsoft Corporation. Prior to this, he served in leadership positions across technology companies such as Platinum Technology, Inc. a database management software company which was acquired by Computer Associates, Inc., Sterling Software, a software company which was acquired by Computer Associates, Inc., and Digital Equipment Corporation, which was acquired by Computer Corporation in the United States and Australia. Mr. Matthews has a degree in Civil Engineering from the University of Queensland, Australia. Mr. Matthews brings to Calix s board of directors 30 years of experience in the technology industry, and a strong background in telecommunications, software, technology and innovation.

Leadership Structure of the Board

In accordance with Calix s bylaws, the board of directors appoints the company s officers, including the chief executive officer. Calix s board of directors does not have a policy on whether the role of the chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and, if it is to be separate, whether the chairman should be selected from the non-employee directors or be an employee and if it is to be combined, whether a lead independent director should be selected. However, Calix s board of directors is committed to corporate governance practices and values independent board oversight as an essential component of strong corporate performance. For example, six of Calix s eight directors qualify as independent according to the rules and regulations of the New York Stock Exchange. In September 2009, Calix s board of directors undertook a review of the independence of each director and considered whether any director has a material relationship with Calix that could compromise his ability to exercise independent judgment in carrying out his responsibilities. As a result of this review, Calix s board of directors determined that Messrs. Everett, Finzi, Flynn, Grosser and Listwin, representing five of Calix s eight directors, are independent directors as defined under the listing requirements of the New York Stock Exchange, constituting a majority of independent directors of Calix s board of directors as required by the New York Stock Exchange rules. Michael Marks, a director of Calix at that time, was also determined to be independent. In connection with Mr. Matthews appointment to Calix s board of directors, the board of directors determined that Mr. Matthews is also an independent director as defined under the listing requirements of the New York Stock Exchange. In addition, Calix s corporate governance guidelines require that the directors meet in executive session without management directors or management present on a regularly scheduled basis, but not less than two times a year. Also, Calix s nominating and corporate governance committee periodically reviews and recommends to the board of directors the leadership structure of the board of directors. Currently, Calix separates the roles of chief executive officer and chairman in recognition of the differences between the two roles. The chief executive officer is responsible for setting the strategic direction for, and the day-to-day leadership and performance of, Calix, while the chairman provides guidance to the chief executive officer and management and sets the agenda for board meetings and presides over meetings of the full board of directors. Mr. Russo, Calix s chief executive officer, is an employee of the company and is therefore not independent under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange. Mr. Listwin, Calix s chairman, is an independent director, as defined under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange. Calix s board of directors believes that the current board leadership structure is best for the company and its stockholders at this time.

Board Composition

Calix s board of directors currently consists of eight members.

In accordance with Calix s amended and restated certificate of incorporation, the board of directors is divided into three classes with staggered three-year terms. At each annual general meeting of stockholders, the successors to directors whose terms then expire will be elected to serve from the time of election and qualification until the third annual meeting following election. Calix s directors are divided among the three classes as follows:

The Class I directors are Messrs. Finzi and Matthews and their terms will expire at the annual general meeting of stockholders to be held in 2011;

The Class II directors are Messrs. Ashby, Flynn and Russo and their terms will expire at the annual general meeting of stockholders to be held in 2012; and

The Class III directors are Messrs. Everett, Grosser and Listwin and their terms will expire at the annual general meeting of stockholders to be held in 2013.

Any additional directorships resulting from an increase in the number of directors will be distributed among the three classes so that, as nearly as possible, each class will consist of one-third of the directors.

The division of Calix s board of directors into three classes with staggered three-year terms may delay or prevent a change of the company s management or a change in control.

Oversight of Risk Management

Calix s board of directors has an active role, as a whole and also at the committee level, in overseeing management of the company s risks. The board of directors is responsible for general oversight of risks and regularly reviews information regarding Calix s risks, including credit risks, liquidity risks and operational risks, as well as the risks associated with each. The compensation committee is responsible for overseeing the management of risks relating to Calix s executive compensation plans and arrangements. The audit committee is responsible for overseeing management of Calix s risks relating to accounting matters, financial reporting and legal and regulatory compliance. The nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for overseeing management of Calix s risks and potential conflicts of interest. While each committee is responsible for evaluating certain risks and overseeing the management of such risks, the entire board of directors is regularly informed through committee reports about such risks.

Committees of the Board of Directors

Calix s board of directors has established an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nominating and governance committee, each of which have the composition and responsibilities described below.

Audit Committee

Calix s audit committee is comprised of Messrs. Everett, Flynn and Grosser, each of whom is a non-employee member of the board of directors. Mr. Everett is the audit committee chairman and is the audit committee financial expert, as currently defined under the SEC rules. Calix s board of directors has determined that each of Messrs. Everett, Flynn and Grosser is independent within the meaning of the applicable SEC rules and the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange.

Calix s audit committee oversees its corporate accounting and financial reporting process. Among other matters, the audit committee evaluates the independent registered public accounting firm s qualifications, independence and performance; determines the engagement of the independent registered public accounting firm; reviews and approves the scope of the annual audit and the audit fee; discusses with management and the independent registered public accounting firm the results of the annual audit and the review of Calix s quarterly consolidated financial statements; approves the retention of the independent registered public accounting firm to perform any proposed permissible non-audit services; monitors the rotation of partners of the independent registered public accounting firm on Calix s engagement team as required by law; reviews Calix s critical accounting policies and estimates; oversees the internal audit function and annually reviews the audit committee charter and the committee s performance. The audit committee operates under a written charter that satisfies the applicable standards of the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange.

Compensation Committee

The current members of Calix s compensation committee are Messrs. Flynn and Listwin, each of whom is a non-employee member of the board of directors. Mr. Flynn is the compensation committee chairman. Calix s board of directors has determined that each of the directors serving on the compensation committee is independent within the meaning of the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange.

Calix s compensation committee reviews and recommends policies relating to compensation and benefits of Calix officers and employees. The compensation committee reviews and approves corporate goals and objectives relevant to compensation of the chief executive officer and other executive officers, evaluates the performance of these officers in light of those goals and objectives, and sets the compensation of these officers based on such evaluations. The compensation committee also administers the issuance of stock options and other awards under Calix stock plans. The compensation committee reviews and evaluates, at least annually, the performance of the compensation committee and its members, including compliance of the compensation committee with its charter. The compensation committee operates under a written charter that satisfies the applicable standards of the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Calix s nominating and corporate governance committee consists of Messrs. Grosser, Listwin and Everett, each of whom is a non-employee member of the board of directors. Mr. Grosser is the chairman of the nominating and corporate governance committee. Calix s board of directors has determined that each of the directors serving on the nominating and corporate governance committee is independent within the meaning of the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange.

The nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for making recommendations regarding candidates for directorships and the size and composition of Calix s board. In addition, the nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for overseeing Calix s corporate governance guidelines and reporting and making recommendations concerning governance matters. The nominating and corporate governance committee operates under a written charter that satisfies the applicable standards of the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange.

Calix s nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for reviewing with the board of directors, on an annual basis, the appropriate characteristics, skills and experience required for Calix s board of directors as a whole and its individual members. In evaluating the suitability of individual candidates (both new candidates and current board members), the nominating and corporate governance committee, in recommending candidates for election, and the board of directors, in approving (and, in the case of vacancies, appointing) such candidates, takes into account many factors, including: diversity of personal background, perspective and experience; personal and professional integrity, ethics and values; experience in corporate management, operations or finance, such as serving as an officer or former officer of a publicly-held company; experience in Calix s industry and with relevant social policy concerns; experience as a board member of another publicly-held company; academic expertise in an area of Calix s operations; diversity of business or career experience relevant to the success of Calix; and practical and mature business judgment. Calix s board of directors evaluates each individual in the context of the board of directors as a whole, with the objective of assembling a group that can best perpetuate the success of the business and represent stockholder interests through the exercise of sound judgment using its diversity of experience in these various areas.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

None of the members of Calix s compensation committee is or has at any time during the past year been an officer or employee of Calix. None of Calix s executive officers currently serves or in the past year has served as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee of any other entity that has one or more executive officers serving on Calix s board of directors or compensation committee.

Risk Assessment and Compensation Practices

Calix s management assessed and discussed with the compensation committee the company s compensation policies and practices for its employees as they relate to risk management and, based upon this assessment, Calix believes that any risks arising from such policies and practices are not reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the company in the future.

Calix s employees base salaries are fixed in amount and thus the company does not believe that they encourage excessive risk-taking. While performance-based cash bonuses and sales commissions focus on achievement of short-term or annual goals, which may encourage the taking of short-term risks at the expense of long-term results, Calix believes that its internal controls help mitigate this risk and the company s performance-based cash bonuses and sales commissions are limited, representing a small portion of the total compensation opportunities available to most employees. Calix also believes that its performance-based cash bonuses and sales commissions are limited, representing a small portion of the total compensation opportunities available to most employees. Calix also believes that its performance-based cash bonuses and sales commissions appropriately balance risk and the desire to focus employees on specific short-term goals important to the company s success, and do not encourage unnecessary or excessive risk-taking.

A significant proportion of the compensation provided to Calix employees, and nearly all of the compensation provided to Mr. Russo, is in the form of long-term equity-based incentives that are important to help further align Calix s employees interests with those of its stockholders. Calix does not believe that these equity-based incentives encourage unnecessary or excessive risk taking because their ultimate value is tied to Calix s stock price.

The statements regarding the risks arising from Calix s compensation policies and practices contain forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Calix has based these forward-looking statements largely on its current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that the company believes may affect its financial condition, results of operations, business strategy and financial needs.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

Calix has a code of business conduct and ethics that applies to all of its employees, officers and directors, including those officers responsible for financial reporting. The code of business conduct and ethics is currently available on Calix s website at www.calix.com. Any amendments to the code, or any waivers of its requirements, will be disclosed on the Calix website.

Director Compensation

2009

In January 2009, Calix s board of directors adopted a compensation policy pursuant to which non-employee directors who were not affiliated with the company s significant stockholders received the following retainers for service on the Calix board of directors during 2009:

Don Listwin \$27,750;

Michael Everett \$36,000;

Michael Flynn \$30,000;

Michael Ashby \$30,000; and

Michael Marks \$6,750.

In accordance with Calix s director compensation policy, on January 27, 2009 the company granted each of Mr. Flynn and Mr. Listwin an annual option to purchase 4,666 shares of Calix common stock with a per share

Table of Contents

exercise price equal to \$6.95, which the board determined equaled the fair market value of Calix common stock on the date of grant. On July 14, 2009 Calix granted Mr. Everett an annual option to purchase 4,666 shares of Calix common stock with a per share exercise price equal to \$5.24, which the board determined equaled the fair market value of Calix common stock on the date of grant. Also in accordance with Calix s director compensation policy, in October 2009, Mr. Ashby was granted an annual option to purchase 4,666 shares of Calix common stock, each with a per share exercise price equal to \$6.80, which the board determined equaled the fair market value of Calix common stock, each with a per share exercise price equal to \$6.80, which the board determined equaled the fair market value of Calix common stock on the date of grant.

In July 2009, Calix s board of directors approved a program to allow members of the board of directors, along with all Calix employees, to voluntarily exchange outstanding stock options having a per share exercise price of \$17.55 or lower for restricted stock units, or RSUs, on a one-to-one basis. The vesting schedule for the RSUs is as follows: 50% of the RSUs vested on October 6, 2010, and the remaining 50% of the RSUs will vest on the first day the trading window opens for employees following April 24, 2011, subject to the employee or director s continuous service to Calix through the vesting date. However, any unvested RSUs will become immediately vested prior to the closing of a change in control, subject to the employee or director s continuous service to Calix through such date. All of Calix s executive officers and directors who held eligible stock options participated in the stock option exchange.

2010

Upon the recommendation of the Calix compensation committee, the board of directors adopted a new compensation policy in December 2009, which was amended in March 2010. Pursuant to the amended policy, non-employee directors who are not affiliated with Calix significant stockholders will receive the following retainers for service on the board of directors during 2010:

Chairman of the Board \$55,000;

Chairman, Audit Committee \$52,000;

Chairman, Compensation Committee \$50,000;

Chairman, Nominating and Governance Committee \$45,000;

Committee Member who is not a Committee Chair \$40,000; and

member of Calix board of directors who does not serve on a committee \$35,000.

Pursuant to the amended policy, such non-affiliated directors are also entitled to receive an option to purchase 10,000 shares of Calix common stock and 4,533 RSUs upon initial election or appointment to the board of directors and an option to purchase 5,000 shares of Calix common stock and 2,266 RSUs annually thereafter. The initial option grant will vest with respect to one-third of the shares subject to the option on the first anniversary of the date of grant and then in equal monthly installments over the following two years. The initial RSUs vests in three equal annual installments. The subsequent options will vest in equal monthly installments over one year. Subsequent RSUs will vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant. Additionally, the board of directors provided that all options and RSUs held by members of the board of directors, regardless of when granted, shall automatically accelerate in the event of a change in control of the company, as defined in the Calix Amended and Restated 2002 Stock Plan.

The 2010 compensation policy for the board of directors will cover all of Calix s non-employee directors. The equity awards described above will be made at the first board meeting following Calix s annual stockholders meeting, with the first such equity awards to be adjusted to reflect any initial or annual grants received within the twelve months immediately preceding the annual stockholders meeting.

On December 7, 2010, in connection with his appointment as a member of Calix s board of directors, Mr. Matthews received an option to purchase 10,000 shares of Calix s common stock at an exercise price of \$15.20 per share and 4,533 restricted stock units. Following the grant of

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

such option and restricted stock units, as of December 7, 2010, Mr. Matthews was the beneficial owner of no shares of Calix s common stock.

In accordance with the 2010 compensation policy for the board of directors, on January 26, 2010, Messrs. Listwin and Flynn each received annual grants that included 2,266 RSUs and options to purchase 5,000 shares of Calix common stock. The stock options have a per share exercise price equal to \$9.54, which the compensation committee determined was equal to the per share fair market value of Calix common stock on the date of grant. The stock options vest in equal monthly installments over one year. The RSUs will vest on January 26, 2011.

Calix also reimburses non-employee directors for travel, lodging and other expenses incurred in connection with their attendance at board or committee meetings.

Director Compensation Table

The following table sets forth information regarding compensation earned by Calix s non-employee directors during the year ended December 31, 2009.

	Fees Earned or	Stock Awards	Option Awards	
Name	Paid in Cash (\$)	(\$)(1)	(\$) ⁽²⁾	Total (\$)
Don Listwin	\$ 27,750	\$ 110,631	\$ 20,721	\$ 159,102
Michael Everett	36,000	101,626	14,272	151,898
Paul Ferris				
Michael Flynn	30,000	146,834	20,721	197,555
Michael Marks ⁽³⁾	6,750		55,421	62,171
Adam Grosser				
Robert Finzi				
Michael Ashby	30,000	493,778	18,474	542,252

- (1) Amounts reflect the incremental fair value of RSUs received in exchange for cancelled options in 2009 calculated in accordance with ASC Topic 718 for share-based payment transactions and exclude the impact of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions. The valuation assumptions used in determining such amounts are described in Note 13 to Calix s financial statements included in this prospectus.
- (2) Amounts reflect the grant date fair value of stock options granted in 2009 calculated in accordance with ASC Topic 718 for share-based payment transactions and exclude the impact of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions. The valuation assumptions used in determining such amounts are described in Note 13 to Calix s financial statements included in this prospectus.
- (3) Michael Marks was a member of Calix s board of directors from August 2009 to December 2010.
- As of December 31, 2009 Calix had outstanding options and restricted stock unit awards to its nonemployee directors as follows:

Name	Stock Options	Restricted Stock Units
Don Listwin		23,332
Michael Everett		23,332
Michael Flynn		29,998
Michael Marks	14,000	
Michael Ashby	4,666	107,333

Executive Compensation

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

The following discussion and analysis of compensation arrangements of Calix s named executive officers should be read together with the compensation tables and related disclosures set forth below. This discussion contains forward looking statements that are based on Calix s current plans, considerations, expectations and

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

determinations regarding future compensation programs. Actual compensation programs that the company adopts may differ materially from currently planned programs as summarized in this discussion.

Calix s named executive officers, or NEOs, for 2009 were as follows:

Carl Russo, President and Chief Executive Officer;

Kelyn Brannon, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer;

Roger Weingarth, Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer;

Kevin Pope, Senior Vice President, Product Development; and

John Colvin, Vice President, North American Field Operations. *Overview Compensation Objectives*

Calix s compensation and benefits programs seek to attract and retain the company s NEOs and encourage them to pursue Calix s corporate objectives. Calix evaluates and rewards its NEOs based on their willingness to take a leadership position in improving the company s internal structures and processes and their ability to identify and target opportunities to grow Calix s business.

Calix has created a compensation program that has a mix of short- and long-term components, cash and equity elements and fixed and contingent payments in the proportions the company believes will provide the proper incentives, reward its NEOs and help Calix achieve the following goals:

foster a goal oriented, highly-talented management team who have a clear understanding of business objectives and shared corporate values;

allocate company resources effectively in the development of market-leading technology and products;

control costs in each facet of Calix s business to maximize efficiency;

balance Calix s compensation program to ensure that its elements, individually and in combination, do not encourage excessive risk-taking;

modify Calix s programs to reflect the competitive environment and the company s changing business needs;

enable Calix to attract, retain and drive a world-class leadership team; and

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

maintain internal equity across the organization. Calix does this with programs designed to:

be based on competitive market data and reflect the current competitive environment;

stress pay for performance;

share risks and rewards;

align the interests of Calix s employees with those of its stockholders;

reflect Calix s values; and

be equitably administered. Role of Calix s Compensation Committee

Calix s compensation committee approves and interprets the company s executive compensation and benefit plans and policies. Calix s compensation committee is appointed by the board of directors. The compensation

committee consists entirely of directors who are outside directors for purposes of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code and non-employee directors for purposes of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act. In 2009, the compensation committee determined the compensation for all of Calix s NEOs with the exception of Mr. Colvin. Calix s executive management team, consisting of Mr. Russo, Ms. Brannon and Mr. Weingarth, approved compensation, including a sales commission plan, for Mr. Colvin in 2009.

Competitive Market Review

The market for experienced management is highly competitive in Calix s industry. Calix s goal is to attract and retain the most highly qualified executives to manage each of the company s business functions. In doing so, Calix draws upon a pool of talent that is highly sought after by both large and established telecommunications and data communications equipment companies in Calix s geographic area and by other competitive companies in development or early stage phases. Established organizations in Calix s industry seek to recruit top talent from emerging companies in the sector just as smaller organizations look to attract and retain the best talent from the industry as a whole. Calix also competes for key talent on the basis of its vision of future success; its culture and values; the cohesiveness and productivity of the company s teams; and the excellence of its technical and management staff. The competition for technical and non-technical skills is aggressive across the sector and Calix expects it to remain high for the foreseeable future.

Calix s compensation committee determines compensation for its NEOs, in large part based upon the company s financial resources, as well as competitive market data. In setting both cash and equity compensation for 2009, Calix s compensation committee conducted a review of NEO compensation, as well as the mix of elements used to compensate Calix s NEOs and compared them with data contained in third-party surveys conducted by Radford. The surveys compiled executive compensation data from technology companies based in Northern California having annual revenues of less than \$1 billion and reported such data on an aggregate basis. The surveys reported statistics on the total compensation, position and responsibilities of executives. While Calix s compensation committee reviewed compensation levels and elements derived from this supplemental industry data, the compensation committee was not aware of the identity of any of the surveyed companies and as such, did not rely on data for any single company.

Historically, Calix s NEOs have been primarily compensated through equity grants and have had total cash compensation set below the competitive market. However, total cash compensation for 2009 for each of Calix s NEOs was frozen in light of the challenging economic climate and to help preserve the company s cash resources. Mr. Russo is compensated differently than Calix s other NEOs in light of his role as president and chief executive officer. Since 2006, Mr. Russo has been paid a base salary of \$52,000 to offset the expense of the benefit programs Mr. Russo participates in, but otherwise has been compensated solely through grants of equity awards, primarily consisting of stock option grants. Mr. Russo s cash compensation is far below the average cash compensation provided to chief executive officers by companies who participated in third-party surveys reviewed by Calix s compensation committee. However, the compensation committee has determined that the heavy weighting of equity over cash compensation for Mr. Russo better aligns him with the interests of Calix stockholders and is appropriate in light of his ability to directly affect the stockholder returns through effective leadership of the company. In December 2009, Calix s compensation committee recommended, and the board of directors approved, a grant of 1,120,000 RSUs to Mr. Russo in order to provide an additional long term incentive for Mr. Russo to remain employed with Calix, particularly in light of his base salary and total compensation being far below the average of chief executive officers in the aggregated data reviewed by the compensation committee and to directly tie Mr. Russo s future compensation to the returns provided to Calix stockholders. The RSUs vest in four equal annual installments on each anniversary of the date of grant.

In November 2009, based on recommendations made by Calix s senior director, human resources, the compensation committee adopted a peer group of companies to be used for comparison of compensation paid to Calix s NEOs, referred to herein as the 2010 Peer Group, consisting of the following:

ADC Telecommunications, Inc.;	MRV Communications, Inc.;
ADTRAN, Inc.;	Occam Networks, Inc.;
Aruba Networks, Inc.;	Riverbed Technology, Inc.;
Bigband Networks, Inc.;	Sonus Networks, Inc.;
Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.;	Tekelec;
Ciena Corporation;	Tellabs, Inc.;
Extreme Networks;	SeaChange International, Inc.;
F5 Networks, Inc.;	Sycamore Networks, Inc.; and
Harmonic Inc.;	UTStarcom, Inc.
Infinera Corporation;	

In late 2009, Total Reward Strategies, a management consulting and advisory service firm, prepared an executive total compensation review that compares Calix s executives compensation levels to those of other executives at the 2010 Peer Group. Total Reward Strategies was hired by management to assist with general compensation-related projects and prepared the review at management s request. The review was later reviewed by Semler Brossy Consulting Group, LLC, a compensation consulting firm. Semler Brossy was hired by management but worked directly with Calix s compensation committee and management to interpret the results, make recommendations and assist in setting compensation levels for the company s executive officers. In late 2009, based on the information verified by Semler Brossy, Calix s compensation committee approved pay increases for each of its NEOs, other than Mr. Russo. These increases were in an effort to return to the process of targeting Calix s NEOs total cash compensation, other than Mr. Russo s, was at or very near the 5th percentile of the 2010 Peer Group. Going forward, the company expects to compare its practices and levels by each compensation component, by target annual cash compensation, which includes base salary and target annual incentive opportunity, and by total direct compensation, including base salary, target annual incentive opportunity and annual equity compensation components. The competitive comparisons made in this process are expected to be used to determine Calix s approximate position relative to the appropriate market benchmark by compensation component and in aggregate.

Executive Compensation Program

Calix s performance-driven compensation program for its NEOs consists of five components:

base salary;

cash bonuses;

sales commissions (for sales executives only);

equity-based incentives; and

benefits.

Calix is continuing to build its executive compensation program around each of the above elements, if applicable, because each individual component is useful in achieving one or more of the objectives of the program and Calix believes that, collectively, they are effective in achieving the company s overall objectives. Going forward, Calix expects to use short-term compensation, including base salary, sales commissions and cash bonuses, to drive and reward its NEOs in accordance with Calix s pay for performance philosophy. Calix is in the process of implementing and systematizing its review process, with the objective of measuring and providing feedback on individual performance as it relates to the goals Calix wishes to achieve for the company as a whole and the NEO individually.

Table of Contents

Basis for Calix s Compensation Program

Calix s NEOs establish their functional objectives taking into account overall corporate goals and incorporating the feedback of their senior management colleagues and the board of directors. In line with established financial objectives, each NEO who reports directly to the chief executive officer sets goals in support of the overall corporate goals. Ultimately, the chief executive officer has final authority with respect to the goals that are established, except for his own goals, which are established by the compensation committee.

Going forward, Calix s compensation philosophy is intended to successfully promote a team-oriented approach to performance. Beginning in 2010, each non-sales NEO s annual incentive compensation is based on achievement against the same performance objectives. For 2010, the company established one set of performance-oriented goals against which all non-sales NEOs are measured for purposes of determining annual incentive compensation. Mr. Colvin s 2010 sales compensation is based on a mix of the goals for all other NEOs but will also have a component related specifically to sales goals as determined in Calix s sales incentive compensation plan. Annual incentive compensation is paid based upon achievement against each of the corporate goals and individual goals. Calix sees this approach to its annual incentive compensation as an integral part of Calix s culture of collaborative, team-oriented management. Individual performance and achievement against individual goals and objectives is taken into account in setting base salaries, annual equity awards and annual incentive compensation. The value of equity awards made to the NEOs will vary in value based on Calix s stock price performance. Calix s NEOs total compensation may vary significantly from year-to-year based on the company s performance as well as individual performance.

Weighting of Elements in Calix s Compensation Program. The use and weight of each compensation element is based on a subjective determination by the compensation committee of the importance of each element in meeting Calix s overall objectives. In general, Calix seeks to put a significant amount of each NEO s total potential compensation at risk based historically on stockholder returns, though Calix intends to focus more broadly on corporate and individual performance going forward. For 2009, compensation paid in the form of base salary and benefits represent less than half of each NEO s potential total compensation at target performance levels.

Base Salary. Base salary is typically used to recognize the experience, skills, knowledge and responsibilities required of each NEO, as well as competitive market conditions. In light of the challenging economic climate and in order to preserve cash resources, Calix s compensation committee decided not to increase any NEO base salaries for 2009.

In late 2009, Calix s compensation committee resumed the process of bringing the base salaries and cash incentive payments made to its NEOs, other than Mr. Russo, to a competitive level, which the compensation committee determined means the 50th percentile of the 2010 Peer Group. As a result, the compensation committee increased the base salary of each of Calix s NEOs, other than Mr. Russo, for 2010 to a level at or very near the 50th percentile of the 2010 Peer Group.

	2010
Name of Executive Officer	Base Salary
Roger Weingarth	\$ 305,000
Kelyn Brannon	285,000
Kevin Pope	250,000
John Colvin	200,000

The base salaries of Calix s NEOs are expected to be reviewed on an annual basis and adjustments are intended to be made to reflect performance-based factors as well as competitive conditions. Calix does not expect to continue to apply specific formulas to determine increases, though the company generally does expect to increase to and maintain at the 50th percentile of its peer group of companies as Calix matures as a company.

Cash Bonuses. Calix s compensation committee approved a bonus program for 2009 in concept, but decided not to fund the program based on the economic climate in early 2009 and in order to preserve the company s cash resources.

In November 2008, Calix s compensation committee approved a retention bonus for Ms. Brannon of twelve monthly payments of \$8,500, net of any taxes, effective January 1, 2009 in order to provide an additional incentive to Ms. Brannon to continue to provide services to us. The retention bonus would have been credited against any bonuses that become payable to Ms. Brannon in 2009 and would have been recoverable by Calix if Ms. Brannon voluntarily resigned or was terminated for cause prior to January 1, 2010. The first installment of this retention bonus was paid to Ms. Brannon in December 2008. In addition, in January 2009, Calix s compensation committee approved a \$25,000 discretionary bonus for Ms. Brannon based on her partial year of service during 2008 and the company s strong financial results which would have been paid to her in 2009, but instead was used to offset the retention bonus described above. Calix s compensation committee did not award Mr. Russo a discretionary cash bonus for 2009 consistent with its historical focus on the equity component of Mr. Russo s compensation. Mr. Colvin did not receive a discretionary cash bonus because the compensation committee determined that his sales commission plan provided adequate reward for the company s 2009 performance.

Calix s compensation committee may award additional discretionary bonuses from time to time in the future. In January 2009, the compensation committee approved a sign-on bonus for Kevin Pope of \$50,000, as negotiated in connection with his commencement of employment.

Sales Commission. In 2009, Mr. Colvin was eligible for quarterly commissions based solely on the value of bookings, which represent new orders for Calix products. Mr. Colvin earned and was paid \$191,090 in commissions for 2009, which represented 86.9% of his target sales commissions. Mr. Colvin s goal for bookings in 2009 was set at a level Calix s executive management team felt would be difficult for Mr. Colvin to obtain and would not be met by Mr. Colvin unless he were able to obtain bookings at a rate above the company s budget for bookings. Calix s sales commission plan for Mr. Colvin seeks to provide a total cash compensation opportunity for Mr. Colvin that is targeted near the 50th percentile for total cash compensation as reported for sales executives at similar levels at companies that participated in third-party surveys reviewed by Calix s compensation committee. Mr. Colvin s sales commission plan will be reviewed and approved annually by the compensation committee.

In November 2009, Calix s compensation committee revised Mr. Colvin s cash incentive compensation, such that, starting in 2010, his cash incentive compensation will be based on a mix of any corporate cash bonus plan the company adopts and the sales commission plan, with payment amounts of \$75,000 and \$150,000, respectively, for achievement of his target goals. The goal for Mr. Colvin s sales commission plan for 2010 will continue to be based solely on the value of bookings. Calix s compensation committee set the 2010 goals at a level the compensation committee felt would be difficult for Mr. Colvin to achieve and would not be attained unless Mr. Colvin s performance exceeds Calix s internal budget projections.

Equity-based incentives. Calix believes that strong long-term corporate performance is achieved with a corporate culture that encourages long-term performance by the company s NEOs through the use of stock-based awards. Calix s equity incentive plans have been established to provide its NEOs with incentives to help align their interests with the interests of Calix stockholders. Calix has not adopted stock ownership guidelines for its NEOs. Calix s equity incentive plan has provided the principal method for its NEOs to acquire equity or equity-linked interests in Calix. Calix s board of directors grants equity awards to key executives in order to enable them to participate in the long-term appreciation of Calix stockholder value, while reducing or eliminating the economic benefit of such awards in the event the company does not perform well. Additionally, Calix s equity awards provide an important retention tool for Calix s NEOs, as they are in almost all cases subject to vesting over an extended period of time.

Generally, Calix provides annual grants of stock options to Calix s NEOs, including Calix s chief executive officer. Most NEOs receive a new hire option grant that vests over a four year period with 25% vesting after the first twelve months of service and the remainder vesting ratably each month thereafter over the next three years. Subsequent grants are generally made on an annual basis, or in recognition of a promotion or extraordinary performance, and vest ratably each month over a four year period subject to continued service through each vesting date. All options are granted with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of Calix common stock on the date of grant. Calix s compensation committee also considers alternative forms of equity, such as performance shares, RSUs or restricted stock awards and alternative vesting strategies based on the achievement of milestones.

The size and terms of the initial option grant made to each NEO upon joining Calix is primarily based on competitive conditions applicable to the NEO s specific position. In addition, Calix considers the number of shares of the company common stock underlying options granted to other executives in comparable positions within the company using a model that considers options awarded as a percentage of shares outstanding. For other option grants to Calix s NEOs, the compensation committee gets input from the chief executive officer, except with respect to himself, and makes recommendations to Calix s board of directors. Calix uses a number of methodologies to make external comparisons to aggregate data from companies that participated in the third-party surveys reviewed by the compensation committee when Calix sets the number of shares of common stock underlying options to be granted to each NEO, primarily using data from Radford and information provided by Semler Brossy.

During 2009, Calix s board of directors did not grant annual stock options to Calix s NEOs. In lieu of an annual stock option grant and in light of the continued decline of the fair market value of the company s common stock and continued economic uncertainty, the board of directors approved a program to allow all employees, including NEOs, and members of the board of directors to voluntarily exchange outstanding stock options having a per share exercise price of \$17.55 or lower for RSUs on a one-to-one basis. Calix s board of directors granted RSUs to provide an incentive to the company s employees, including Calix s NEOs, and members of the board of directors to maximize the value of the company to Calix stockholders and to provide a significant incentive to participants in the option exchange to continue to provide services to the company. Given continued economic uncertainty in late 2009, the board of directors granted RSUs, which have value regardless of whether the value of Calix s common stock declines. The vesting schedule for the RSUs is as follows: 50% of the RSUs vested on October 26, 2010 and the remaining 50% of the RSUs will vest on the first day the trading window opens for employees following April 24, 2011, subject to the employee or director s continuous service to Calix through the vesting date. However, any unvested RSUs will become immediately vested prior to the closing of a change in control, subject to the employee or director s continuous service to Calix through such date. All of Calix s executive officers and directors who held eligible stock options participated in the stock option exchange.

In December 2009, Calix s compensation committee revised the company s equity-based incentives strategy to bring equity participation levels more in line with current market practices based on 2010 Peer Group Data and also to reduce the overall burn rate under the company s equity incentive plans. In order to reduce Calix s equity participation levels, the compensation committee plans to target annual award amounts to Calix s NEOs at 50% of current market practices. In order to reduce the burn rate under the equity incentive plans, Calix s compensation committee intends to utilize a mixture of stock options and RSUs in making annual grants, where previously Calix solely used stock options.

In December 2009, the compensation committee also recommended, and Calix s board of directors approved, a grant of 1,120,000 RSUs to Mr. Russo in order to provide an additional long term incentive for Mr. Russo to remain employed with Calix, particularly in light of his base salary and total compensation being far below the average of chief executive officers in the aggregated data from companies that participated in the third-party surveys reviewed by the compensation committee, and to directly tie Mr. Russo s future compensation to the returns provided to Calix stockholders. The RSUs vest in four equal annual installments on each anniversary of the date of grant.

Calix expects that the annual performance equity awards the company makes to its NEOs will be driven by the company s sustained performance over time, Calix s executive officers ability to impact the results that drive stockholder value, their organization level, their potential to take on roles of increasing responsibility and competitive equity award levels for similar positions and organization levels in comparable companies. Equity forms a key part of the overall compensation for each executive officer and will be considered each year as part of the annual performance review process and incentive payout calculation.

Termination-Based Compensation. Historically, Calix s compensation committee has awarded termination-based compensation on a case-by-case basis as the result of arms length negotiations generally in connection with the commencement of the NEO s employment. Historically, Calix has not provided its NEOs with a right to cash compensation upon a termination of employment with the company for any reason. However, each of Mr. Russo, Ms. Brannon and Mr. Weingarth were entitled to receive 12 months, 12 months and 6 months, respectively, accelerated vesting of the executive s then unvested stock options pursuant to each executive s offer letter with Calix. These benefits provided under the offer letters were replaced by the Change in Control and Severance Plan adopted by the Compensation Committee in July 2010, as described more fully below. As of December 31, 2009, all stock options held by Calix s NEOs were fully vested. Pursuant to the restricted stock unit agreement entered into by Mr. Russo with Calix in connection with his grant of 1,120,000 RSUs in December 2009, such grant will fully vest and all restrictions shall lapse in the event of his termination without cause, as defined in his offer letter agreement. Under Mr. Colvin s offer letter agreement, he is entitled to 12 months accelerated vesting of his equity awards if he is terminated by Calix without cause or constructively terminated within the 12 month period commencing on a change in control of the company.

Change in Control-Based Compensation. Calix s compensation committee awards change in control-based compensation when it determines that such compensation is necessary in order to provide security to Calix s NEOs in the event of a proposed change in control of the company. Historically, change in control-based compensation has also been frequently provided as the result of arms length negotiations in connection with the commencement of employment of an NEO. Mr. Russo, Ms. Brannon, Mr. Pope, Mr. Colvin and Mr. Weingarth were entitled to 100%, 100%, 12 months and 12 months accelerated vesting of outstanding stock options upon a change in control of Calix pursuant to each executive s offer letter agreement. These benefits provided under each of the NEO s offer letters, other than Mr. Colvin s offer letter, were replaced by the Change in Control and Severance Plan adopted by the Compensation Committee in July 2010, as described more fully below. RSUs granted pursuant to Calix s stock option exchange in September 2009 and Mr. Russo s grant of 1,120,000 RSUs in December 2009 are subject to full accelerated vesting in the event of a change in control of the company.

2010 Change in Control and Severance Plan

On July 20, 2010, the Compensation Committee adopted the Calix, Inc. Change in Control and Severance Plan for the benefit of employees of the Company who hold the title of Chief Executive Officer, Executive Vice President or Senior Vice President, including each of the NEOs other than Mr. Colvin. Each executive holding such title will participate in the plan, and the plan will replace all existing employment agreements between the Company and such participating executives that have to do with severance or change in control. The Company will provide tiered cash payments and constructive termination provisions as consideration to replace such existing agreements. The goal is to create an equitable and consistent program for the Company s participating executives that is commensurate with their level of employment, and to protect the Company s stockholders and other stakeholders by mitigating agency conflicts that may arise in any future transaction potentially involving a change in control (as defined in the plan).

Pursuant to the plan, if the Company terminates a participating executive s employment other than for cause (as defined in the plan) or the executive terminates his or her employment for good reason (as defined in the plan) outside of the Change in Control Period (as defined below), the executive may be entitled to receive certain compensation and benefits from the Company, including the following:

a severance payment equal to 12 months base salary (in the case of the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice Presidents) or 6 months base salary (in the case of Senior Vice Presidents);

a bonus payment equal to 12 months of the Senior Executive s target bonus opportunity (in the case of the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice Presidents) or 6 months of the Senior Executive s target bonus opportunity (in the case of Senior Vice Presidents);

12 months accelerated vesting of unvested equity awards (in the case of the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice Presidents) or 6 months accelerated vesting of unvested equity awards (in the case of Senior Vice Presidents); and

continuation of health coverage (medical, dental and vision) for 12 months (in the case of the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice Presidents) or 6 months (in the case of Senior Vice Presidents).

In lieu of the benefits described above, if the Company terminates a participating executive s employment other than for cause or the executive terminates his or her employment for good reason, and such termination occurs within 60 days prior to or 12 months following a change in control (the Change in Control Period), the executive may be entitled to receive the following:

a severance payment equal to 12 months base salary (in the case of the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice Presidents) or 6 months base salary (in the case of Senior Vice Presidents);

a bonus payment equal to the pro rata value of the actual bonus the participating executive would receive as of the date of his or her termination, to be paid when all other bonus awards for such executives are determined (the Pro Rata Bonus);

an additional bonus payment equal to 12 months of the executive s target bonus opportunity (in the case of the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice Presidents) or 6 months of the executive s target bonus opportunity (in the case of Senior Vice Presidents);

one hundred percent accelerated vesting of unvested equity awards; and

continuation of health coverage (medical, dental and vision) for 12 months (in the case of the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Vice Presidents) or 6 months (in the case of Senior Vice Presidents).

All payments under the plan are designed to be paid in lump sum within a reasonable time following the executive s termination (with the exception of the Pro Rata Bonus, as described above). Among other conditions, the executive must sign and not revoke a general release of all claims against the Company as a condition to receiving any of the benefits prescribed by the plan. The plan will not serve to amend or modify any more favorable change in control provisions of previously granted equity awards.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, pursuant to the plan, all payments made in connection with a change in control will be structured such that the executive will receive, on an after-tax basis, the greater of (i) the full payments prescribed by the plan or (ii) payments at an amount just below the amount that would trigger an excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code.

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

Benefits. Calix provides the following benefits to its NEOs. These are the same benefits provided to all Calix employees:

medical, dental and vision insurance;

life insurance, accidental death and dismemberment and business travel and accident insurance;

employee assistance program;

health and dependent care flexible spending accounts;

short and long-term disability;

401(k) plan; and

health club membership.

Perquisites. In November 2008, Calix s compensation committee approved a retention bonus for Ms. Brannon of twelve monthly payments of \$8,500 effective January 1, 2009. Ms. Brannon is to be fully grossed up for any taxes incurred in connection with the retention bonus. Both the retention bonus and the gross up are intended to provide an additional incentive to Ms. Brannon to continue to provide services to Calix. Other than the gross up provided to Ms. Brannon and participation in benefit programs made available to all other employees, Calix s NEOs are not eligible for perquisites.

Tax and Accounting Considerations. While Calix s board of directors and compensation committee generally consider the financial accounting and tax implications of executive compensation decisions, neither element has been a material consideration in the compensation awarded to Calix s NEOs historically. Section 162(m) disallows a tax deduction for any publicly-held corporation for individual compensation exceeding \$1 million in any taxable year for the chief executive officer and each of the other NEOs (other than the chief financial officer), unless compensation is performance-based. Calix s compensation committee adopted a policy that, where reasonably practicable, Calix will seek to qualify the variable compensation paid to Calix s NEOs for an exemption from the deductibility limitations of Section 162(m).

Summary Compensation Table for 2008 and 2009

The following table sets forth all of the compensation awarded to, earned by or paid to Calix s NEOs during 2008 and 2009.

Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary (\$)	Bonus (\$)	Stock Awards (\$) ⁽¹⁾	Option Awards (\$) ⁽²⁾	Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation (\$) ⁽³⁾	All Other nCompensation (\$) ⁽⁴⁾	Total (\$)
Carl Russo President and Chief Executive Officer	2009 2008	\$ 52,000 52,000	\$	\$ 13,807,389	\$ 1,194,512	\$	\$	\$ 13,859,389 1,246,512
Kelyn Brannon Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	2009 2008	215,000 144,712	93,500 58,488	869,886	1,712,160		57,907 4,741	1,236,293 1,920,101
Roger Weingarth Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer	2009 2008	255,000 246,923	100,000	566,718	382,531		4,410 4,140	826,128 733,594
Kevin Pope Senior Vice President, Product Development	2009	235,577	50,000 ⁽⁵⁾	339,839				625,416
John Colvin Vice President, North American Field Operations	2009 2008	195,000 195,000		187,862	230,640	191,090 226,012		573,952 651,652

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

- (1) Amounts reflect the incremental fair value of RSUs received in exchange for cancelled options and the grant date fair value of RSUs granted, calculated in accordance with ASC Topic 718 for share-based payment transactions and exclude the impact of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions. See Note 13 to Calix s financial statements included in this proxy statement/prospectus for a discussion of assumptions made in determining the incremental fair value and the grant date fair value of Calix s RSUs.
- (2) Amounts represent the grant date fair value for stock options granted in or the incremental fair value for stock options repriced in 2008, calculated in accordance with ASC Topic 718 and exclude the impact of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions. See Note 13 to Calix s financial statements included in this proxy statement/prospectus for a discussion of assumptions made in determining the grant date fair value and incremental fair value of Calix s stock options.

- (3) Mr. Colvin earned the amounts reported during 2008 and 2009 solely through sales commissions under his sales commission plan.
- (4) Includes a contribution Calix made pursuant to Calix s 401(k) Plan for Mr. Weingarth and a tax gross up provided to Ms. Brannon in connection with her retention bonus.

(5) Represents a sign-on bonus paid in connection with Mr. Pope s commencement of employment with Calix in January 2009.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2009

The following table lists grants of plan-based awards to or awards exchanged with Calix s NEOs in 2009 and their related fair value.

Name	Grant Date	Estimated Future Payouts Under Non- Equity Incentive Plan Awards (\$) ⁽¹⁾	All Other Stock Awards: Number of Shares of Stock or Units (#) ⁽²⁾	Grant Date Fair Value of Stock and Option Awards (\$) ⁽³⁾
Carl Russo	9/23/09	\$	658,133	\$ 3,122,589
	12/23/09 ⁽⁴⁾		1,120,000	10,684,800
Kelyn Brannon	9/23/09		200,000	869,886
Roger Weingarth	9/23/09		160,665	566,718
Kevin Pope	9/23/09		120,000	339,839
John Colvin	9/23/09		41,884	187,862
		220,000		

- (1) Represents the target commission for Mr. Colvin under his sales commission plan. Actual amounts paid to Mr. Colvin are set forth in the section titled Executive Compensation Summary Compensation Table.
- (2) Except as otherwise noted, these RSUs were received in exchange for an equal number of options in September 2009 as part of the option exchange program described above under the heading Compensation Discussion and Analysis Equity-based Incentives.
- (3) Amounts reflect the incremental fair value of RSUs received in exchange for cancelled options and the grant date fair value of RSUs granted, calculated in accordance with ASC Topic 718 for share-based payment transactions and exclude the impact of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions. See Note 13 to Calix s financial statements included in this proxy statement/prospectus for a discussion of assumptions made in determining the incremental fair value and the grant date fair value of Calix s RSUs.
- (4) Represents a grant to Mr. Russo as described above under Compensation Discussion and Analysis Equity-Based Incentives. These RSUs vest in equal installments on December 23, 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013.

Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2009

The following table lists all outstanding equity awards held by Calix s NEOs as of December 31, 2009.

		Option Awards		Stock A	Awards
Name	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options Exercisable (#) ⁽¹⁾	Option Exercise Price (\$)	Option Expiration Date	Number of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (#) ⁽²⁾⁽³⁾	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock that Have Not Vested as of December 31, 2009 (\$) ⁽⁴⁾
Carl Russo		\$	-	658,133 1,120,000 ⁽⁵⁾	\$ 6,278,592 10,684,800
Kelyn Brannon				200,000	1,908,000
Roger Weingarth	80,000 160	0.48 0.66	3/28/13 10/15/13	160.665	1,532,760
Kevin Pope				120,000	1,144,800
John Colvin				41,884	399,599

(1) All outstanding options held by NEOs were fully vested as of December 31, 2009.

(2) Except as otherwise noted, these RSUs were received in exchange for an equal number of options in September 2009 as part of the option exchange program described above under the heading Compensation Discussion and Analysis Equity-Based Incentives.

- (3) Unless specified otherwise, each restricted stock unit vest as follows: 50% of each NEO s RSUs vested on October 26, 2010 and the remaining 50% of the RSUs will vest on the first day the trading window opens for employees following April 24, 2011.
- (4) Amounts calculated using a per share fair market value as of December 31, 2009 of \$9.54.
- (5) Represents a grant to Mr. Russo as described above under Compensation Discussion and Analysis Equity-Based Incentives. These RSUs vest in equal installments on December 23, 2010, 2011, 2012 and 2013.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested in 2009

None of Calix s NEOs exercised stock options or had any restricted stock vest during 2009.

Pension Benefits

None of Calix s NEOs participates in or has account balances in qualified or non-qualified defined benefit plans sponsored by Calix.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

None of Calix s NEOs participate in or have account balances in non-qualified defined contribution plans or other deferred compensation plans maintained by Calix.

Quantification of Termination-Based and Change in Control-Based Payments

Severance Arrangements. Pursuant to Mr. Russo s restricted stock unit agreement, entered into in connection with his grant of 1,120,000 RSUs in December 2009, such grant will fully vest and all restrictions on such shares shall lapse in the event of his termination without cause, as defined in his offer letter agreement. None of Calix s other NEOs had severance arrangements that would have provided a benefit upon a termination of employment as of December 31, 2009, other than as described below under Change in Control Arrangements. In July 2010, the Compensation Committee adopted the Change in Control and Severance Plan

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

which provides for certain severance and other benefits to certain senior executives, including the NEOs other than Mr. Colvin, in the event of certain qualifying terminations of employment as disclosed more fully above under 2010 Change in Control and Severance Plan.

The following table sets forth quantitative estimates of the value of accelerated equity awards that would have accrued to Mr. Russo upon a termination without cause as of December 31, 2009.

	Value of Ace	celerated Equity	
Name of Executive Officer	Aw	Awards ⁽¹⁾	
Carl Russo	\$	16,963,392	

(1) Amount calculated based on the aggregate fair market value of the common stock subject to RSUs outstanding as of December 31, 2009 that would have been accelerated upon a termination of employment without cause, which value was based on a fair market value of \$9.54 per share.

Change in Control Arrangements. Pursuant to the terms of the restricted stock unit agreements entered into with each of Calix s NEOs in connection with the option-for-restricted stock unit exchange in September 2009, the RSUs held by Calix s NEOs will vest immediately prior to the closing of such change in control, subject to continuous service to Calix through such date. The following table sets forth quantitative estimates of value of the shares of company common stock subject to RSUs held by Calix s NEOs that would have vested upon a change in control as of December 31, 2009.

Name of Executive Officer	Value of Accelerated Equity Awards ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾	
Carl Russo	\$ 16,963,392	
Kelyn Brannon	1,908,000	
Roger Weingarth	1,532,760	
Kevin Pope	1,144,800	
John Colvin	399,599	

- (1) Amounts calculated based on the aggregate fair market value of the common stock subject to RSUs outstanding as of December 31, 2009, which value was based on a fair market value of \$9.54 per share.
- (2) All outstanding stock options were vested as of December 31, 2009.

Offer Letters

Carl Russo. On November 1, 2006, Calix entered into an offer letter with Carl Russo, Calix s president and chief executive officer. The offer letter provides that Mr. Russo will receive an annual base salary of \$52,000. Mr. Russo was granted an option to purchase 293,333 shares of Calix s common stock by its board of directors in connection with the offer letter. Mr. Russo s options vest with respect to 1/48th of the shares subject to his options on each monthly anniversary of the date of grant as long as he continues as Calix s chief executive officer and with respect to 1/96th of the shares subject to his options in the event Mr. Russo continues with Calix as a consultant and director following his termination of employment, in each case, over four years from the date of grant. Mr. Russo was also granted an option to purchase 364,800 shares of Calix s common stock in connection with the offer letter, which vest in three equal tranches beginning on each of the first three anniversaries of the date of grant subject to Mr. Russo s continued employment as Calix s chief executive officer of through each vesting date. While serving as Calix s chief executive officer, the options vest with respect to 1/48th of the total shares subject to each tranche begins to vest, and while serving as a consultant and director (and not chief executive officer), the options vest with respect to 1/96th of the total shares subject to each tranche begins to vest.

Kelyn Brannon. On April 2, 2008, Calix entered into an offer letter with Kelyn Brannon, Calix s executive vice president and chief financial officer. The offer letter provides that Ms. Brannon will receive an annual base salary of \$215,000 and is eligible for a prorated 2008 annual incentive bonus targeted at \$215,000. Ms. Brannon was provided a partial guarantee of her 2008 bonus in the amount of \$50,000 and was granted an option to purchase 200,000 shares of common stock by Calix s board of directors in connection with the offer letter. Ms. Brannon s options vested with respect to 25% of the shares subject to her options on the one year anniversary of the date the terms of Ms. Brannon s offer letter commenced, with the remainder of the shares vesting monthly thereafter in equal installments over the next thirty-six months. Vesting was dependent on Ms. Brannon s continued employment with Calix.

Roger Weingarth. On February 17, 2003, Calix entered into an offer letter with Roger Weingarth as vice president of operations, which was amended as of April 13, 2004. On July 10, 2007, Mr. Weingarth was offered the position of executive vice president and chief operating officer. The offer letter, as amended, provides that Mr. Weingarth will receive an annual base salary of \$150,000. Mr. Weingarth was granted options to purchase an aggregate of 240,000 shares of Calix s common stock, as adjusted for stock splits, in connection with the offer letter and options to purchase an aggregate of 80,000 shares of Calix s common stock in connection with the amendment of the offer letter. Mr. Weingarth s options have fully vested.

Kevin Pope. On December 22, 2008, Calix entered into an offer letter agreement with Kevin Pope, Calix s senior vice president of product development. The offer letter provides that Mr. Pope will receive an annual base salary of \$250,000 and was eligible for an annual incentive bonus for 2009 targeted at 40% of his annual base salary based on the achievement of objectives to be agreed upon by Calix s chief executive officer and compensation committee. Mr. Pope was also eligible to receive a one-time sign-on bonus of \$50,000 in the first pay period of his employment with Calix, contingent upon his signing and returning a sign-on bonus repayment agreement. Mr. Pope was granted an option to purchase 120,000 shares of common stock by Calix s board of directors in connection with the offer letter. Mr. Pope s options vested with respect to 25% of the shares subject to his options on the first anniversary of the date Mr. Pope commenced employment, with the remainder of the shares vesting monthly thereafter in equal installments over the next thirty-six months, subject to Mr. Pope s continued employment with Calix.

John Colvin. On March 12, 2004, Calix entered into an offer letter with John Colvin, Calix s vice president of North American field operations. The offer letter provides that Mr. Colvin will receive an annual base salary of \$150,000 and sales incentive compensation which has a targeted \$200,000 bonus at quota. Mr. Colvin was granted an option to purchase 200,000 shares of common stock in connection with the offer letter. Mr. Colvin s options have fully vested. In the event that Mr. Colvin s options are assumed or substituted by a successor company in connection with a change in control transaction and either the surviving entity terminates his employment other than for cause, or Mr. Colvin resigns his employment as the result of a constructive termination within twelve months of the effective date of the change in control transaction, then Mr. Colvin will become vested in (and any repurchase right held by Calix shall lapse as to) the number of the then-unvested shares that would have vested if his employment continued for twelve months following the termination date.

Limitation of Liability and Indemnification

Calix s amended and restated certificate of incorporation contains provisions that limit the liability of Calix s directors for monetary damages to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Consequently, Calix s directors will not be personally liable to Calix or Calix s stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duties as directors, except liability for:

any breach of the director s duty of loyalty to Calix or Calix s stockholders;

any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;

unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions as provided in Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law; or

any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit. Calix s amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that Calix is required to indemnify Calix s directors and officers, in each case to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Calix s amended and restated bylaws also provide that Calix is obligated to advance expenses incurred by a director or officer in advance of the final disposition of any action or proceeding, and permit Calix to secure insurance on behalf of any officer, director, employee or other agent for any liability arising out of his or her actions in that capacity regardless of whether Calix would otherwise be permitted to indemnify him or her under the provisions of Delaware law. Calix has entered and expect to continue to enter into agreements to indemnify Calix s directors, executive officers and other employees as determined by Calix s board of directors. With specified exceptions, these agreements provide for indemnification for related expenses including, among other things, attorneys fees, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by any of these individuals in any action or proceeding. Calix believes that these bylaw provisions and indemnification agreements are necessary to attract and retain qualified persons as directors and officers. Calix also maintains directors and officers liability insurance.

The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions in Calix s amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against Calix s directors and officers for breach of their fiduciary duty. They may also reduce the likelihood of derivative litigation against Calix s directors and officers, even though an action, if successful, might benefit Calix and other stockholders. Further, a stockholder s investment may be adversely affected to the extent that Calix pays the costs of settlement and damage awards against directors and officers as required by these indemnification provisions. Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to Calix s directors, officers and controlling persons pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, Calix has been advised that, in the opinion of the SEC, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act, and is, therefore, unenforceable. At present, there is no pending litigation or proceeding involving any of Calix s directors, officers or employees for which indemnification is sought, and Calix is not aware of any threatened litigation that may result in claims for indemnification.

Non-Employee Directors of Occam

The following table sets forth the names, ages and positions of Occam s directors as of November 30, 2010.

Name	Age	Position(s) with Occam Networks, Inc.
Steven M. Krausz ⁽²⁾	56	Director and Chairman of the Board
Robert B. Abbott ⁽²⁾	45	Director
Robert E. Bylin ⁽¹⁾	68	Director
Thomas E. Pardun ⁽²⁾⁽³⁾	67	Director
Albert J. Moyer ⁽¹⁾⁽³⁾	66	Director
Brian H. Strom ⁽¹⁾⁽³⁾	68	Director

- (1) Member of audit committee
- (2) Member of compensation committee
- (3) Member of nominating and corporate governance committee

Robert L. Howard-Anderson has served as Occam s President and Chief Executive Officer since May 2002 and as one of the company s directors since July 2002. Mr. Howard-Anderson was Senior Vice President of Product Operations at Occam CA from February 2002 to May 2002. Mr. Howard-Anderson was Vice President of Product Operations at Procket Networks, Inc., a network infrastructure company, from August 2000 to February 2002 and Vice President of Engineering at Sun Microsystems, Inc., a computer company, from June 1995 to August 2000. Mr. Anderson has a B.S. in electrical engineering from Tufts University.

Occam believes that Mr. Howard-Anderson s over 20 years experience in the data and telecommunication equipment industries and management of large research and development and product development organizations at an executive level bring demonstrated management ability to its board and qualify him to serve as one of Occam s directors.

Steven M. Krausz has served as one of Occam s directors since May 1997 and has served as chairman since May 2002. As Occam s non-executive chairman, Mr. Krausz functions as the independent lead director. Mr. Krausz also served as a director of Occam CA from February 2000 to May 2002 and served as its chairman from March 2002 until the closing of the merger with Accelerated Networks, Inc., when he became Occam s chairman. Mr. Krausz has been a managing member of several venture capital funds affiliated with U.S. Venture Partners, a venture capital firm, since August 1985. Mr. Krausz holds a B.S. in electrical engineering and an M.B.A. from Stanford University.

Occam believes that Mr. Krausz s focus on communications, Internet, infrastructure, networking and systems technology during his time at U.S. Venture Partners, as well as his several years of operating experience with a number of companies bring valuable industry and operations knowledge to the board and qualify him to serve as one of Occam s directors.

Robert B. Abbott has served as one of Occam s directors since May 2002. He served as a director of Occam CA, from February 2001 to May 2002. Mr. Abbott is currently a general partner with Norwest Venture Partners, a venture capital firm he has been with since August 1998. He also serves as a director for several private companies. Mr. Abbott received a B.S. in electrical engineering, an M.S. in electrical engineering and an M.B.A. from Stanford University.

Occam believes that Mr. Abbott s extensive experience with enterprise software and communications technologies, together with his several years of operating experience in roles such as engineering, marketing and product management bring valuable industry and operations knowledge to the board and qualify him to serve as one of Occam s directors.

Robert E. Bylin has served as one of Occam s directors since September 2004. Mr. Bylin has served as the chief financial officer of SpectraLinear Inc., a timing solutions company, since October 2006. From November 2005 to October 2006, Mr. Bylin served as a consultant to SpectraLinear, Pyxis Technology, Inc., an electronic design automation company, and TAK Imaging, a provider of imaging processors. From April 2004 to November 2005, Mr. Bylin served as the chief financial officer of TAK Imaging. From March 2001 to October 2003, Mr. Bylin served as chief financial officer and chief operations officer for D.T. Consulting, a consulting company specializing in technical integration of hardware and software systems. Prior to that, he served as chief financial officer and vice president of finance for Veridicom, Inc., a semiconductor and software company. Mr. Bylin currently serves as a director for Technology Credit Union. Mr. Bylin received a B.S. in mathematics from Trinity College and an M.B.A. from Harvard University.

Occam believes that Mr. Bylin s financial expertise, including his several years experience as chief financial officer of and financial consultant for a number of technology companies, bring financial and accounting knowledge to the board and qualify him to serve as one of Occam s directors.

Thomas E. Pardun has served as one of Occam s directors since September 2004. Since April 2007, Mr. Pardun has served as chairman of the board of directors of Western Digital Corporation, a manufacturer of hard-disk drives for the personal computer and home entertainment markets. He previously served as chairman of Western Digital from January 2000 to November 2001, and he has served as a director of Western Digital since January 1993. In July 2000, Mr. Pardun retired as president of MediaOne International, Asia-Pacific (formerly US West Asia-Pacific), an owner/operator of international properties in cable television, telephone services, and wireless communications. Prior to that, he served as president and chief executive officer of US West Multimedia Communications, Inc. and held numerous other executive positions with US West. Prior to joining US West,

Mr. Pardun was president of the Central Group for Sprint as well as president of Sprint s West Division. He also served as senior vice president of United Telecommunications, a predecessor company to Sprint. Mr. Pardun spent the first 19 years of his career at IBM. In addition to Western Digital Corporation, Mr. Pardun serves on the boards of CalAmp Corporation, Finisar Corporation Megapath, Inc and MaxLinear, Inc. Mr. Pardun received a B.B.A. in economics and marketing from the University of Iowa and Management School Certificates from Harvard Business School, Stanford University, and The Tuck School of Business at Dartmouth College.

Occam believes Mr. Pardun s experience serving for several years in executive positions for large telecommunication companies, his long history in the technology industry and his experience serving as a director for other public companies bring valuable industry knowledge and practical experience to the board and qualify him to serve as one of Occam s directors.

Albert J. Moyer was appointed to the Occam board on November 29, 2007. Mr. Moyer has served as a business consultant. Mr. Moyer served as executive vice president and chief financial officer of QAD Inc., a publicly-held software company that is a provider of enterprise resource planning software applications, from March 1998 until February 2000, and he subsequently served as a consultant to QAD, assisting in the Sales Operations of the Americas Region. From February to July 2000, he served as president of the commercial division of Profit Recovery Group International, Inc. (now known as PRG-Schultz International, Inc.), a publicly-held provider of recovery audit services. Prior to joining QAD in 1998, Mr. Moyer served as chief financial officer of Allergan Inc., a specialty pharmaceutical company based in Irvine, California, from 1995 to 1998. Previously, Mr. Moyer served as Chief Financial Officer of National Semiconductor Corporation, a semiconductor company. Mr. Moyer also served as Chief Financial Officer of CalAmp Corp., a provider of wireless communications solutions, Collectors Universe, Inc., a third-party grading and authentication services of high-value collectibles, Virco Manufacturing Corporation, LaserCard Corporation, a provider of secure identification solutions and MaxLinear, Inc., a provider of radio-frequency and mixed signal semiconductor solutions. Mr. Moyer received his Bachelor of Science degree in Finance from Duquesne University and graduated from the Advanced Management Program at the University of Texas, Austin.

Occam believes Mr. Moyer s several years experience as chief financial officer for other public companies and his service on the board of directors of several other companies bring financial and accounting knowledge to the board and qualify him to serve as one of Occam s directors.

Brian H. Strom was appointed to the Occam board on May 17, 2006. Mr. Strom served as president and chief executive officer of SureWest Communications from December 1993 to December 2005 and as a director of SureWest from December 1993 to May 2006. He served as chairman of the United States Telecom Association (US Telecom) from October 2003 to October 2004. He also served as chair of the Sacramento Area Commerce and Trade Organization (SACTO) from July 2003 to July 2004, and served as chairman of the California Communications Association (CalCom) from February 2001 to February 2002.

Occam believes Mr. Strom s long history in the telecommunications industry, including in executive positions and as a director of a large telecommunications company, together with his accounting and financial background bring a combination of industry knowledge and financial expertise to the board and qualify him to serve as one of Occam s directors.

Director Compensation

Cash Compensation of Non-Employee Directors

Occam compensates non-employee directors in cash for their service as members of the board, in addition to reimbursing directors for all reasonable expenses incurred by them in attending board and committee meetings. In October and November 2007, the compensation committee of the Occam board evaluated Occam s director

and executive compensation policies to determine whether they were competitive in the current marketplace. In conducting its evaluation, the committee retained and relied on analysis, evaluation, and recommendations prepared by an independent compensation consultant.

At the November 29, 2007 meeting, Occam s compensation committee recommended and its board of directors approved adjustments to its cash compensation program for members of the board of directors. Each member of The Occam board receives an annual cash retainer of \$25,000. In addition, the chair of the audit committee receives an additional annual cash retainer of \$20,000, the chair of the compensation committee receives an additional annual cash retainer of \$20,000, the chair of the compensation committee receives an additional annual cash retainer of \$5,000. Other committee members receive additional annual cash retainers as follows: audit committee, \$7,500; compensation committee, \$5,000; and nominating and governance committee, \$2,500. Finally, the non-executive chairman of the Occam board receives an additional annual cash retainer of \$20,000. All retainers are paid in four equal quarterly installments.

Steven M. Krausz, chairman of The Occam board, and Robert B. Abbott, one of its independent directors, waived all of their rights to receive cash compensation under Occam s cash compensation program for non- employee directors until Occam s employee s salaries are restored to their historic levels. The waiver applied to any cash compensation otherwise payable for services rendered during calendar year 2009, but did not apply to any forms of non-cash compensation (including, without limitation, equity incentives) payable to non-employee directors. In addition, the waiver does not apply to the directors rights to reimbursement for director travel or incidental expenses incurred in connection with attending board meetings.

Equity Compensation of Non-Employee Directors

In November 2007, the Occam board approved an amendment to its 2006 Equity Incentive Plan to eliminate the automatic grant of stock options to new directors at the time of initial election and to continuing directors on an annual base thereafter. In lieu of the previous program, the board of directors approved a policy providing for the initial grant to newly elected non-employee directors of shares of restricted stock with an approximate value of \$80,000 based on the closing price of Occam s common stock over the fifteen trading days prior to and including the date of approval of the grant. Initial grants would vest in three equal annual installments on each anniversary of the date of grant. Follow-on grants with an approximate value of \$40,000, to be made on an annual basis to continuing directors, would be valued on the same basis and would vest in two equal annual installments on each anniversary of the date of grant.

At the November 18, 2009 meeting, Occam s compensation committee recommended and the board of directors approved an annual restricted stock grant to each non-employee director, with a value of \$40,000, with the number of shares being based on the average closing price of Occam s common stock over the 15 trading days prior to and including November 18, 2009. Based on the established formula, the number of shares of restricted stock granted was determined to be 12,345 for each eligible director. The restricted stock grants made to non-employee directors will vest in two equal annual installments on each anniversary of the date of grant.

Compensation of Non-Employee Directors in 2009

The following table sets forth information concerning compensation paid or accrued for services rendered to Occam in all capacities by the non-employee members of The Occam board for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009:

Name	Fees Earned or Paid in Cash (\$)	Stocks Awards (\$) ⁽¹⁾	Total (\$)
Steven M. Krausz			
Non-executive Chairman of the Board	(2)	44,565 ⁽³⁾	44,565
Robert B. Abbott			
Director	(2)	44,565 ⁽³⁾	44,565
Robert E. Bylin			
Chairman of the Audit Committee	45,000	44,565 ⁽³⁾	89,565
Thomas E. Pardun			
Chairman of the Compensation Committee	37,500	44,565 ⁽³⁾	82,065
Brian H. Strom			
Director	35,833	44,565 ⁽³⁾	80,398
Albert J. Moyer			
Chairman of the Nominating and Governance Committee	36,667	44,565 ⁽³⁾	81,232

(1) Amounts do not reflect compensation actually received by the director. Instead the amounts included under the Stock Awards column represent the aggregate grant date fair value of restricted stock awards granted during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, computed in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Codification Topic, 718. See Equity Compensation of Non-Employee Directors, above for a full description of these awards. For a discussion of the valuation assumptions, see Note 10 to Occam s consolidated financial statements included in Occam s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009.

(2) In connection with the company-wide temporary salary reduction implemented in 2009, Messrs. Krausz and Abbott elected to waive, solely for the year ended December 31, 2009, their rights to receive cash compensation (during the company-wide salary reduction period) under Occam s cash compensation program for non-employee directors in the amounts of \$50,000 and \$30,000, respectively.

(3) Represents restricted stock awards granted on November 18, 2009, which vest in two annual installments.

The aggregate number of shares subject to stock awards and stock options outstanding at December 31, 2009 for each non-employee director was as follows:

	Aggregate Number of Stock Awards Outstanding as of	Aggregate Number of Option Awards Outstanding as of
Name	December 31, 2009	December 31, 2009
Steven M. Krausz	20,965	1,750
Robert B. Abbott	20,965	1,250
Robert E. Bylin	20,966	16,875
Thomas E. Pardun	20,965	16,875
Brian H. Strom	20,965	16,250
Albert J. Moyer	28,762	

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

Occam s compensation committee is responsible for determining salaries, incentives, and other forms of compensation for Occam s directors, officers, and other employees. No member of Occam s compensation committee in 2009 was an officer or employee of the company during 2009. No current executive officer of Occam has ever served as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee of any other entity that has or has had one or more executive officers serving as a member of the Occam board or compensation committee.

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMBINED COMPANY

Transactions described below are transactions and series of similar transactions, since January 1, 2007, to which Calix was or will be a party, in which:

the amounts involved exceeded or will exceed \$120,000; and

any of Calix s directors, executive officers, holders of more than 5% of Calix capital stock or any member of their immediate family had or will have a direct or indirect material interest, other than compensation arrangements with directors and executive officers, which are described where required under the sections titled Management Following the Merger Director Compensation and Management Following the Merger Executive Compensation.

Preferred Stock Issuances

Issuance of Series J Convertible Preferred Stock

During May, July and August 2009, Calix issued and sold in a series of closings, an aggregate of 6,311,897 shares of Calix Series J convertible preferred stock at a price per share of \$7.9215, for aggregate consideration of approximately \$50.0 million. The table below sets forth the number of shares of Series J convertible preferred stock purchased by Calix s directors, executive officers and 5% stockholders and their affiliates.

Name	Number of Shares of Series J Convertible Preferred Stock	Aggr	regate Purchase Price (\$)
Funds affiliated with Foundation Capital ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾	1,262,387	\$	10,000,001
Funds affiliated with TeleSoft Partners ⁽³⁾	482,444		3,821,691
Funds affiliated with Azure Capital Partners ⁽¹⁾⁽⁴⁾	476,971		3,778,334
Funds affiliated with Meritech Capital Partners ⁽⁵⁾	382,954		3,033,575
Funds affiliated with Redpoint Ventures ⁽⁶⁾	343,494		2,720,993
Funds affiliated with Sprout Group ⁽¹⁾⁽⁷⁾	169,300		1,341,121
Carl Russo ⁽⁸⁾	1,515,502		12,005,054
Don Listwin	64,258		509,020
Michael Ashby	234,918		1,860,908

- (1) Adam Grosser is a member of Calix s board of directors and a general partner of Foundation Capital, Paul Ferris is a member of Calix s board of directors and a general partner of Azure Capital Partners, and Wayne Nemeth is a former member of Calix s board of directors and at the time of the Series J financing was affiliated with Sprout Group.
- (2) Consists of 1,235,561 shares purchased by Foundation Capital V, LP and 26,826 shares purchased by Foundation Capital V Principals Fund, LLC.
- (3) Consists of 258,191 shares purchased by TeleSoft Partners II SBIC, L.P., 209,962 shares purchased by TeleSoft Partners II QP, L.P. and 14,291 shares purchased by TeleSoft Partners II, L.P.
- (4) Consists of 457,908 shares purchased by Azure Venture Partners I, L.P., 13,564 shares purchased by Azure Ventures I, L.P., 5,222 shares purchased by Azure Partners I, L.P. and 277 shares purchased by Azure I, L.P.
- (5) Consists of 376,827 shares purchased by Meritech Capital Partners L.P. and 6,127 shares purchased by Meritech Capital Affiliates L.P.
- (6) Consists of 334,907 shares purchased by Redpoint Ventures I, L.P. and 8,587 shares purchased by Redpoint Associates I, LLC.
- (7) Consists of 159,424 shares purchased by Sprout Capital IX, L.P., 6,362 shares purchased by DLJ ESC II, L.P., 1,912 shares purchased by DLJ Capital Corporation, 972 shares purchased by Sprout IX Plan Investors, L.P. and 630 shares purchased by Sprout Entrepreneur s Fund L.P.
- (8) Includes 719,856 shares purchased by the Crescentico Trust, 658,474 shares purchased by Equanimous Investments and 13,414 shares purchased by Calgrat Partners, L.P.

Table of Contents

Issuance of Series I Convertible Preferred Stock

During June and September 2007, Calix issued and sold in a series of closings, an aggregate of 1,716,172 shares of Series I convertible preferred stock at a per share price of \$24.84, for aggregate consideration of approximately \$42.6 million. The table below sets forth the number of shares of Series I convertible preferred stock purchased by Calix s directors, executive officers and 5% stockholders and their affiliates.

Name	Number of Shares of Series I Convertible Preferred Stock	Aggr	egate Purchase Price (\$)
Funds affiliated with Foundation Capital ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾	805,152	\$	19,999,992
Funds affiliated with TeleSoft Partners ⁽³⁾	40,256		999,992
Carl Russo ⁽⁴⁾	24,154		600,002
Don Listwin	40,258		1,000,009

- (1) Adam Grosser is a member of Calix s board of directors and a general partner of Foundation Capital.
- (2) Consists of 788,043 shares purchased by Foundation Capital V, LP and 17,109 shares purchased by Foundation Capital V Principals Fund, LLC.
- (3) Consists of 21,538 shares purchased by TeleSoft Partners II SBIC, L.P., 17,526 shares purchased by TeleSoft Partners II QP, L.P. and 1,192 shares purchased TeleSoft Partners II, L.P.
- (4) Consists of 24,154 shares purchased by The Crescentico Trust, of which Mr. Russo is the trustee.

From the third quarter of 2007 until immediately prior to Calix s initial public offering, Calix paid quarterly and annual dividends to its Series I convertible preferred stockholders in the form of additional shares of Series I convertible preferred stock. The table below sets forth the number of shares of Series I convertible preferred stock issued or declared as dividends to Calix s directors, executive officers and 5% stockholders and their affiliates.

Name	Number of Shares of Series I Convertible Preferred Stock
Funds affiliated with Foundation Capital ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾	270,021
Funds affiliated with TeleSoft Partners ⁽³⁾	13,460
Carl Russo ⁽⁴⁾	8,089
Don Listwin	13,488
Michael Marks ⁽⁵⁾⁽⁶⁾	34,893

- (1) Adam Grosser is a member of Calix s board of directors and a general partner of Foundation Capital.
- (2) Consists of 264,296 shares issued to Foundation Capital V, LP and 5,725 shares issued to Foundation Capital V Principals Fund, LLC.
- (3) Consists of 7,210 shares issued to TeleSoft Partners II SBIC, L.P., 5,865 shares issued to TeleSoft Partners II QP, L.P. and 385 shares issued to TeleSoft Partners II, L.P.
- (4) Consists of 8,089 shares issued to The Crescentico Trust, of which Mr. Russo is the trustee.
- (5) Michael Marks was a member of Calix s board of directors from August 2009 to December 2010 and is a founding partner of Riverwood Capital LLC.

(6) Consists of 34,893 shares issued or declared as dividends to Riverwood Capital LLC in September 2009, December 2009 and March 2010. *Description of Series I and J Convertible Preferred Stock*

Please see Note 12 to Calix s financial statements included in this proxy statement/prospectus for a summary description of the terms of the Series I and J convertible preferred stock.

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

Investors Rights Agreement

Calix is party to an amended and restated investors rights agreement which provides that the holders of common stock issuable upon conversion of Calix convertible preferred stock have the right to demand that Calix file a registration statement or request that their shares of common stock be covered by a registration statement that Calix is otherwise filing. The provisions of the amended and restated investors rights agreement, other than those relating to registration rights, terminated upon the completion of Calix s initial public offering in March 2010.

Voting Agreement

Calix had entered into an amended and restated voting agreement with certain holders of Calix common stock and certain holders of Calix convertible preferred stock. The amended and restated voting agreement terminated upon the closing of Calix s initial public offering in March 2010.

Promissory Note

On January 15, 2003, Calix issued a non-interest bearing promissory note for \$5.0 million due January 15, 2008 to Michael Hatfield, a former member of Calix s board of directors. The note was amended and restated on May 7, 2003. The amended and restated note had a principal amount of \$4.3 million and an annual interest rate of 3.04%, payable on a quarterly basis. As of December 31, 2007, there was \$4.3 million outstanding under the amended and restated note. Calix repaid the principal amount of the note, plus accrued interest, on January 15, 2008. Over the term of the note, Calix paid an aggregate of approximately \$0.6 million in interest.

Stock Purchase Agreement

On August 28, 2009, Calix entered into a stock purchase agreement with The Crescentico Trust and Equanimous Investments, which are entities affiliated with Carl Russo, Calix s president and chief executive officer and a member of the board of directors, and certain purchasers, including entities affiliated with Foundation Capital, Riverwood Capital LLC, WB Investors, LLC, Michael Everett and Don Listwin. Adam Grosser is a member of Calix s board of directors and a general partner of Foundation Capital, one of Calix s 5% stockholders. Michael Marks was a member of Calix s board of directors and is a founding partner of Riverwood Capital LLC and a manager of WB Investors, LLC. Messrs. Everett and Listwin are members of Calix s board of directors. Under this stock purchase agreement, the entities affiliated with Mr. Russo agreed to sell to the purchasers 617,009 shares of Series J convertible preferred stock for aggregate consideration of \$4.9 million. In connection with this transaction, Calix waived its right of first refusal with respect to the sale by The Crescentico Trust and Equanimous Investments.

2008 Stock Option Repricing

In April 2008, Calix reset the exercise price of stock options granted between February 28, 2006 and December 31, 2007 (i.e., those stock options having a per share exercise price of \$19.56 or higher) and repriced those options to \$15.42, which represented the fair market value of Calix s common stock as of that date. All of Calix s executive officers and directors who held eligible stock options participated in the repricing.

The following table sets forth the options held by Calix s executive officers and directors, which were repriced in April 2008.

	Exercise or Base Price Stock of		
Name	Number of Options	Stock and Options Awards (\$/Sh)	Grant Date Fair Value of Stock and Options Awards (\$) ⁽¹⁾
Carl Russo	\$ 658,133	15.42	\$ 1,194,512
Roger Weingarth	49,999	15.42	120,000
Tony Banta	9,877	15.42	23,237
John Colvin	20,418	15.42	46,869
Michael Ashby	133,333	15.42	240,000
Frank Wiener	91,331	15.42	124,640

(1) Amounts represent the incremental fair value of the repriced options on April 22, 2008 calculated in accordance with ASC Topic 718. See Note 13 to Calix s financial statements included in this proxy statement/prospectus for a discussion of assumptions made in determining the grant date value and compensation expense of Calix stock options.

2009 Stock Option Exchange Program

In August 2009, Calix offered current employees, including its executive officers and directors, the opportunity to exchange eligible stock options having a per share exercise price of \$17.55 or lower for restricted stock units, or RSUs, on a one-for-one basis. The vesting schedule for the RSUs is as follows: 50% of the RSUs vested on October 26, 2010, and the remaining 50% of the RSUs will vest on the first day the trading window opens for employees following April 24, 2011, subject to the employee or director s continuous service to Calix through the vesting date. However, any unvested RSUs will become immediately vested prior to the closing of a change in control, subject to the employee or director s continuous service to Calix through such date. All of Calix s executive officers and directors who held eligible stock options participated in the stock option exchange.

The following table sets forth the number of options exchanged for RSUs by Calix directors and named executive officers.

Name	Number of Options Exchanged for RSUs
Carl Russo	658,133
Kelyn Brannon	200,000
Tony Banta	66,543
John Colvin	41,884
Kevin Pope	120,000
Roger Weingarth	160,665
Don Listwin	23,332
Michael Ashby	107,333
Michael Everett	23,332
Robert Finzi	
Michael Flynn	29,998
Adam Grosser	
Michael Marks ⁽¹⁾	

(1) Mr. Marks was a member of Calix s board of directors from August 2009 to December 2010.

Stock Option Grants

Calix has granted stock options to its executive officers and certain members of its board of directors. For a description of these options, see the section titled Management Following the Merger Executive Compensation Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2009 and Management Following the Merger Director Compensation beginning on pages 255 and 243, respectively.

Change in Control Arrangements

Calix has entered into change in control agreements with certain of its executive officers that, among other things, provide for certain change in control benefits. For a description of these agreements, see the section titled Management Following the Merger Offer Letters beginning on page 257.

Indemnification Agreements

Calix entered into indemnification agreements with each of its current directors, officers and some employees in connection with the company s initial public offering in March 2010. See the section titled Management Following the Merger Limitation of Liability and Indemnification beginning on page 258.

Other than as described above under this section titled Related Party Transactions of Directors and Executive Officers of the Combined Company, since January 1, 2007, Calix has not entered into any transactions, nor are there any currently proposed transactions, between Calix and a related party where the amount involved exceeds, or would exceed, \$120,000, and in which any related person had or will have a direct or indirect material interest. Calix believes the terms of the transactions described above were comparable to terms Calix could have obtained in arm s length dealings with unrelated third parties.

Policies and Procedures for Related Party Transactions

Calix s board of directors and audit committee have adopted a written related person transaction policy, that sets forth the policies and procedures for the review and approval or ratification of related person transactions that may be deemed related person transactions under the rules of the SEC. This policy covers any transaction, arrangement or relationship, or any series of similar transactions, arrangements or relationships in which Calix was or is to be a participant, the amount involved exceeds \$120,000 and a related person had or will have a direct or indirect material interest, including, without limitation, purchases of goods or services by or from the related person or entities in which the related person has a material interest, indebtedness, guarantees of indebtedness or employment by Calix of a related person. For purposes of the policy, a related person is a director, officer, or greater than 5% beneficial owner of Calix s stock and their immediate family members.

Calix recognizes that related person transactions can present potential or actual conflicts of interest or create the appearance of a conflict of interest. Management presents to the Audit Committee each proposed Related Party Transaction, including all relevant facts and circumstances, and the Audit Committee reviews the relevant facts and circumstances of each related party transaction, including if the transaction is on terms comparable to those that could be obtained in arm s length dealings with an unrelated third party and the extent of the related party s interest in the transaction, take into account the conflicts of interest and corporate opportunity provisions of Calix s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, and either approves or disapproves the related party transaction. Any related party transaction may be consummated and shall continue only if the Audit Committee has approved or ratified such transaction in accordance with the guidelines set forth in the policy. No director may participate in approval of a related party transaction for which he or she is a related party. As required under rules issued by the SEC, transactions that are determined to be directly or indirectly material to Calix or a related person are or will be disclosed in Calix s proxy statements.

DESCRIPTION OF CALIX CAPITAL STOCK

The following discussion is a summary of the terms of Calix common stock and should be read in conjunction with the section entitled Comparison of Rights of Calix Stockholders and Occam Stockholders beginning on page 273. This summary is not meant to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of Calix. You are urged to read those documents carefully. Copies of the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of Calix have been filed with the SEC. See Where You Can Find More Information beginning on page 284.

Authorized Share Capital

Under the certificate of incorporation of Calix, the total number of shares that Calix is authorized to issue is 105,000,000 shares, 100,000,000 shares of which shall be common stock, par value \$0.025 per share and 5,000,000 shares of which shall be preferred stock, par value \$0.025 per share. As of December 7, 2010, Calix had issued and outstanding 38,537,854 shares of common stock and no shares of preferred stock.

Voting Rights

Pursuant to the Calix certificate of incorporation, each share of Calix stock conveys the right to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders, including the election of directors. Calix stockholders do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. Accordingly, holders of a majority of the shares of common stock outstanding will be able to elect all of Calix s directors. To determine the stockholders entitled to vote at any stockholder meeting, the Calix board fixes, in advance, a record date, between ten (10) and sixty (60) days before the date of a stockholder meeting, to establish the stockholders of record for that meeting. Each stockholder entitled to vote at a stockholder meeting may authorize another person or persons to act for the stockholder by proxy authorized by an instrument in writing or by a transmission permitted by law.

All stockholder actions must be effected at a duly called meeting of stockholders and not by a consent in writing. Only Calix s board of directors, chairman of the board, chief executive officer or president (in the absence of a chief executive officer) may call a special meeting of stockholders.

Supermajority Voting

The Calix certificate of incorporation and bylaws require the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the then outstanding shares of voting stock of Calix to approve the following matters:

the amendment of certain provisions of the Calix certificate of incorporation;

the amendment of the Calix bylaws; and

the removal of the board of directors or any individual director from office without cause.

Quorum

All resolutions and elections voted on in stockholder meetings require the presence of a quorum of stockholders. The holders of a majority in voting power of the stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at all stockholder meetings.

Dividend Rights

Subject to preferences that may be applicable to any then outstanding preferred stock, holders of Calix common stock are entitled to receive dividends, if any, as may be declared from time to time by the board of directors out of legally available funds.

Edgar Filing: CALIX, INC - Form 424B3

Rights and Preferences

Holders of Calix common stock have no preemptive, conversion, subscription or other rights, and there are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to Calix common stock. The rights, preferences and privileges of the holders of Calix common stock are subject to and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of shares of any series of Calix preferred stock that the board of directors may designate in the future.

Board of Directors Number, Removal and Classification

The DGCL states that the board of directors must consist of one or more members with the number of directors to be fixed as provided in the certificate of incorporation or bylaws, and that the directors may be divided into one, two, or three classes by the certificate of incorporation or by a bylaw adopted by the stockholders. Calix s bylaws provide that the Calix board of directors shall consist of one or more members, with the exact number to be determined from time to time by the board of directors. Calix currently has 8 directors.

The Calix certificate of incorporation also provides for a classified board of directors. The board is divided into three classes, designated as Class I, Class II and Class III, as nearly equal in number as possible, with each class standing for election once every 3 years. Calix s bylaws provide that directors will be elected by a plurality in voting power of the shares present at the stockholder meeting when a quorum is present. Cumulative voting is prohibited in the election of directors.

Liquidation Rights

In the event of Calix s liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, whether voluntary or involuntary, holders of Calix common stock will be entitled to share ratably in the net assets or funds that are legally available for distribution to stockholders after the payment of all debts and other liabilities and the satisfaction of any liquidation preference granted to the holders of any then outstanding shares of Calix preferred stock.

New Shares

The Calix stock to be issued to Occam stockholders as merger consideration will be issued out of Calix s authorized share capital.

Preferred Stock

Calix s board of directors has the authority, without further action by Calix stockholders, to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions thereof. These rights, preferences and privileges could include dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, liquidation preferences, sinking fund terms and the number of shares constituting any series or the designation of such series, any or all of which may be greater than the rights of common stock. The issuance of Calix preferred stock could adversely affect the voting power of holders of common stock and the likelihood that such holders will receive dividend payments and payments upon liquidation. In addition, the issuance of preferred stock could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of Calix or other corporate action. No shares of preferred stock are currently outstanding, and Calix has no present plan to issue any shares of preferred stock.

Registration Rights

Demand Registration Rights

The holders of approximately 26.0 million shares of Calix common stock are entitled to certain demand registration rights. At any time, the holders of at least 40% of these shares can, on not more than two occasions, request that Calix register all or a portion of their shares. Such request for registration must cover that number of

shares with an anticipated aggregate offering price, net of underwriting discounts and commissions, of at least \$10,000,000. Additionally, Calix will not be required to effect a demand registration during the period beginning 60 days prior to the filing and 180 days following the effectiveness of a company-initiated registration statement relating to a public offering of Calix securities.

Piggyback Registration Rights

In the event that Calix proposes to register any of its securities under the Securities Act, either for its own account or for the account of other security holders, the holders of approximately 26.0 million shares of Calix common stock will be entitled to certain piggyback registration rights allowing the holder to include their shares in such registration, subject to certain marketing and other limitations. As a result, whenever Calix proposes to file a registration statement under the Securities Act, other than with respect to a registration related to employee benefit plans, debt securities or corporate reorganizations, the holders of these shares are entitled to notice of the registration and have the right, subject to limitations that the underwriters may impose on the number of shares included in the registration, to include their shares in the registration.

Form S-3 Registration Rights

The holders of approximately 26.0 million shares of Calix common stock will be entitled to certain Form S-3 registration rights. The holders of more than 30% of these shares can make a written request that Calix register their shares on Form S-3 if Calix is eligible to file a registration statement on Form S-3 and if the aggregate price to the public of the shares offered is at least \$1 million. These stockholders may make an unlimited number of requests for registration on Form S-3. However, Calix will not be required to effect a registration on Form S-3 if Calix has previously effected two such registrations in the 12-month period preceding the request for registration.

Calix will pay the registration expenses of the holders of the shares registered pursuant to the demand, piggyback and Form S-3 registrations described above. In an underwritten offering, the managing underwriter, if any, has the right, subject to specified conditions, to limit the number of shares such holders may include.

The demand, piggyback and Form S-3 registration rights described above will expire, with respect to any particular stockholder, five years after the date of Calix s initial public offering, or on March 24, 2015, or when that stockholder can sell all of its shares under Rule 144 of the Securities Act during any three-month period. In any event, all such registration rights shall expire upon the earlier of March 24, 2015 or the consummation of certain events, including the sale of all of Calix s assets or a change in control of Calix in which Calix stockholders receive cash or marketable securities.

Antitakeover Provisions

The classified board, the lack of cumulative voting and the supermajority requirements described above serve as an impediment to certain takeover attempts by making it more difficult for existing Calix stockholders to replace the board of directors or for another party to obtain control of Calix by replacing the board. Since the board of directors has the power to retain and discharge Calix officers, these provisions could also make it more difficult for existing stockholders or another party to effect a change in management. In addition, Calix s certificate of incorporation permits the board of directors to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences in one or more series out of authorized share capital without stockholder approval.

These provisions may have the effect of deterring hostile takeovers or delaying changes in Calix s control or management. These provisions are intended to enhance the likelihood of continued stability in the composition of Calix s board of directors and its policies and to discourage certain types of transactions that may involve an actual or threatened acquisition of Calix. These provisions are designed to reduce Calix s vulnerability to an unsolicited acquisition proposal. The provisions also are intended to discourage certain tactics that may be used

in proxy fights. However, such provisions could have the effect of discouraging others from making tender offers for Calix s shares and, as a consequence, they also may inhibit fluctuations in the market price of Calix s stock that could result from actual or rumored takeover attempts. Such provisions may also have the effect of preventing changes in Calix s management.

Stock Exchange Listing

Calix common shares are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol CALX.

COMPARISON OF RIGHTS OF CALIX STOCKHOLDERS

AND OCCAM STOCKHOLDERS

This section of the proxy statement/prospectus describes the material differences between the rights of Calix stockholders and Occam stockholders. Calix and Occam are both incorporated under the DGCL. Any differences, therefore, between the rights of Calix stockholders and Occam stockholders are due to differences in each company s respective certificate of incorporation, bylaws and agreements, if any, defining the rights of stockholders. Upon completion of the merger transaction, Occam stockholders will exchange their shares of Occam for cash and shares of Calix stock, at which time they will become stockholders of Calix and their rights as stockholders will be governed by Calix s certificate of incorporation and bylaws.

The summary does not purport to be a complete description of the differences. You are urged to read carefully the relevant provisions of the DGCL and the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of Calix and the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of Occam. The certificates of incorporation and bylaws of Calix and Occam are subject to amendment in accordance with their respective terms. Copies of the governing corporate instruments are available, without charge, to any person, including any beneficial owner to whom this proxy statement/prospectus is delivered, by following the instructions listed under Where You Can Find More Information beginning on page 284.

Supermajority Voting	Calix The affirmative vote of a supermajority of stockholders entitled to vote is required to amend certain provisions of the Calix certificate of incorporation; to amend the Calix bylaws; and to remove the board of directors or any individual director from office without cause.	Occam The affirmative vote of a supermajority of stockholders entitled to vote is required to amend certain provisions of the Occam certificate of incorporation; to amend the Occam bylaws; and to remove any director or the entire board of directors for cause.
Number of Directors	Calix s bylaws provide that the Calix board of directors shall consist of one or more members, with the exact number to be determined from time to time by the board of directors. Calix currently has 8 directors.	Occam s bylaws provide that the number of Occam directors shall be determined by resolution of the board of directors; provided, however, that no decrease in the number of directors shall have the effect of shortening the term of an incumbent director. Occam currently has 7 directors.
Classification of Directors	The Calix certificate of incorporation provides for a classified board of directors. The board is divided into three classes, designated as Class I, Class II and Class III, as nearly equal in number as possible, with each class standing for election once every 3 years.	Occam s certificate of incorporation and bylaws do not provide for classification of the Occam board of directors.

Election of Directors	Calix Calix s bylaws provide that directors will be elected by a plurality in voting power of the shares present at the stockholder meeting provided that a quorum is present.	Occam s bylaws provide that directors shall be elected by a plurality of the voting power of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the election of directors.
	Cumulative voting is prohibited in the election of directors.	Cumulative voting is prohibited in the election of directors.
Removal of Directors	The Calix bylaws provide that the board or any individual director may be removed from office with cause at any time by the majority of the voting power of all the then outstanding shares of voting stock entitled to vote.	The Occam certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide that any director or the entire board of directors may be removed, but only for cause, by the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the shares then entitled to vote at an election of directors.
	Directors may also be removed without cause by a vote of the holders of at least sixty six and two thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the then outstanding shares of the voting stock entitled to vote.	
	No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall result in removal of a director prior to the expiration of the director s term.	
Amendment of Charter Documents	The affirmative vote of the holders of at least 66-2/3% of the then outstanding shares of the voting stock is required to alter, amend or repeal certificate of incorporation provisions relating to the election and removal of directors; the indemnification of directors and officers, employees or agents of Calix; and the vote required to amend certain provisions of the certificate of incorporation.	Under the Occam certificate of incorporation, a supermajority vote is required to amend certain provisions the certificate of incorporation.
Amendment to Organizational Bylaws	The Calix certificate of incorporation provides that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make alter or	The Occam certificate of incorporation provides that the board of directors is expressly

expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal the Calix bylaws. The bylaws

may also be rescinded, altered, amended or repealed by the

incorporation provides that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, repeal, alter, amend and rescind any or all of the Occam bylaws. The bylaws

affirmative vote of the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the voting power of all the then-outstanding shares of the voting stock.

may also be amended by the affirmative vote of holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the outstanding shares of voting stock of Occam entitled to vote.

Nomination of Directors and Stockholder Proposals

Calix

Nominations for election to the Calix board may be made at stockholder meetings only (a) by or at the direction of the board, board committee or persons appointed by the board, or (b) by a stockholder who (A) was a Calix stockholder of record both at the time of giving the notice provided for and at the time of the meeting, (B) is entitled to vote at the meeting and (C) has complied with the requirements of the nomination process.

For a stockholder to make any nomination for election to the board, the stockholder must (a) provide timely notice in writing and in proper form and (b) provide any updates or supplements.

To be in proper form, the stockholder s notice must set forth: (A) all information with respect to such proposed nominee that would be required to be set forth in a stockholder s notice if such proposed nominee were nominating himself or herself;(B) all information relating to such proposed nominee that is required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for election of directors in a contested election pursuant to Section 14(a) under the Exchange Act; (C) a description of all direct and indirect compensation and other material monetary agreements, arrangements and understandings during the past three (3) years, and any other material relationships, between or among the stockholder making the nomination, on the one hand, and each proposed nominee, his or her respective affiliates and associates and any other persons with whom such proposed nominee, on the other hand, including, without

Occam

Nominations of persons for election to Occam s board shall be made at an annual meeting of stockholders only (A) by or at the direction of the board or (B) by an Occam stockholder who (1) was a stockholder of record at the time of the giving of the notice and on the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the annual meeting and (2) has complied with the notice procedures. The stockholder must give timely notice in proper written form to the Occam secretary not later than the later of the 90th day prior to such special meeting or the tenth day following the day on which Public Announcement is first made of the date of the meeting.

To be in proper written form, the stockholder s notice to the secretary must set forth: (i) as to each: (A) the name, age, business address and residence address of the nominee, (B) the principal occupation or employment of the nominee, (C) the class and number of Occam shares held of record or are beneficially owned by the nominee and any derivative positions held or beneficially held by the nominee, (D) whether and the extent to which any hedging or other transaction or series of transactions has been entered into by or on behalf of the nominee with respect to any Occam securities, and a description of any other agreement, arrangement or understanding, the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss to, or to manage the risk or benefit of share price changes for, or to increase or decrease the voting power of the nominee, (E) a description of all arrangements or understandings between the stockholder and each nominee and any other person or persons

limitation, all information that would be

pursuant to which the nominations are to be made by the stockholder,

Calix

required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404 under Regulation S-K if such stockholder were the registrant for purposes of such rule and the proposed nominee were a director or executive officer of such registrant; and (D) a completed and signed questionnaire, representation and agreement. In addition, Calix may require any proposed nominee to furnish such other information (A) as may reasonably be required by Calix to determine the eligibility of the proposed nominee to serve as an independent director of Calix or (B) that could be material to a reasonable stockholder s understanding of the independence or lack of independence of such proposed nominee.

For business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder, the stockholder must (a) provide timely notice in writing and in proper form and (b) provide any updates or supplements.

To be timely, a stockholder s notice must be delivered to the principal executive offices of Calix not less than ninety (90) days nor more than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the one-year anniversary of the preceding year s annual meeting.

To be in proper form, a stockholder s notice shall set forth: (A) the name and address of such Proposing Person (including, if applicable, the name and address that appear on the Corporation s books and records) and (B) the class or series and number of Calix shares that are, directly or indirectly, owned of record or beneficially owned by the stockholder. As to each item of business the stockholder proposes to bring before the annual

Occam

(F) a written statement executed by the nominee acknowledging that as a director, the nominee will owe a fiduciary duty to Occam and its stockholders, and (G) any other information relating to the nominee that would be required to be disclosed if proxies were being solicited for the election of the nominee as a director.

To be properly brought before an annual meeting, business must be brought: (A) pursuant to the corporation s proxy materials with respect to such meeting, (B) by or at the direction of the board of directors, or (C) by an Occam stockholder who (1) is a stockholder of record at the time of the giving of the notice and on the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the annual meeting and (2) has timely complied in proper written form with notice procedures. In addition, for business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder, such business must be a proper matter for stockholder action and applicable law.

A stockholder s notice must set forth all information required under the bylaws and must be timely received by the secretary of the corporation at the principal executive offices of the corporation not later than the 45th day nor earlier than the 75th day before the one-year anniversary of the date on which the corporation first mailed its proxy materials or a notice of availability of proxy materials (whichever is earlier) for the preceding year s annual meeting.

For each matter of business the stockholder intends to bring before the annual meeting: (1) a brief description of the business

Calix

meeting, (A) a reasonably brief description of the business desired to be brought before the meeting, the reasons for conducting such business at the stockholder meeting and any material interest in such business of each Proposing Person, (B) the text of the proposal or business (including the text of any resolutions proposed for consideration and in the event that such business includes a proposal to amend the Calix bylaws, the language of the proposed amendment) and (C) a reasonably detailed description of all agreements, arrangements and understandings between or among any of the proposing stockholder and any other person or entity (including their names) in connection with the proposal of such business by such stockholder.

Occam

intended to be brought before the annual meeting and the reasons for conducting such business at the annual meeting, (2) the name and address, as they appear on the corporation s books, of the stockholder proposing such business and any Stockholder Associated Person (as defined below), (3) the class and number of shares of the corporation that are held of record or are beneficially owned by the stockholder or any associated person and any derivative positions held or beneficially held by the stockholder, (4) whether and the extent to which any hedging or other transaction or series of transactions has been entered into by or on behalf of such stockholder with respect to any Occam securities, and a description of any other agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any short position or any borrowing or lending of shares), the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss to, or to manage the risk or benefit from share price changes for, or to increase or decrease the voting power of, such stockholder with respect to any securities of the corporation, (5) any material interest of the stockholder in such business, and (6) a statement whether either such stockholder will deliver a proxy statement and form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the corporation s voting shares required under applicable law to carry the proposal.

Limitation of Liability of Directors

Calix

The Calix certificate of incorporation provides that a director of Calix shall not be personally liable to Calix or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director to the maximum extent permitted by DGCL.

Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Dividends

The Calix certificate of incorporation provides that Calix will indemnify directors for breach of fiduciary duty to the maximum extent under the DGCL and may provide indemnification to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL of any of Calix s directors, officers, employees or agents in any action or proceeding by reason of their relationship and services rendered to Calix.

The Calix bylaws provide that the board may declare and pay dividends upon the shares of its capital stock. Dividends may be paid in cash, in property or in shares of the Calix s capital stock. The board may set apart out of any of the Calix funds available for dividends a reserve or reserves for any proper purpose and may abolish any such reserve. Such purposes shall include but not be limited to equalizing dividends, repairing or maintaining any property of Calix, and meeting contingencies.

Occam

The Occam certificate of incorporation provides that no Occam director shall be personally liable to Occam or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except if the director (1) breached the director s duty of loyalty to Occam or its stockholders, (2) acted in bad faith, engaged in intentional misconduct or knowingly violated a law; or (3) derived an improper personal benefit.

The Occam bylaws provide that Occam shall indemnify any director made, or threatened to be made, a party to an action or proceeding, whether criminal, civil, administrative or investigative, by reason of being a director of Occam, to the fullest extent authorized under the DGCL.

The Occam bylaws provide that the board of directors may declare dividends upon the capital stock of Occam at any regular or special meeting, pursuant to law. Dividends may be paid in cash, in property, or in shares of the capital stock, subject to the provisions of the certificate of incorporation. Before payment of any dividend, there may be set aside out of any Occam funds available for dividends such sum or sums as the directors think proper as a reserve to meet contingencies, or for equalizing dividends, or for repairing or maintaining any Occam property, or for such other purposes as the directors shall think conducive to Occam s interest and the directors may modify or abolish any such reserve in the manner in which it was created.

PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS OF CALIX

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of Calix s common stock as of December 7, 2010 by:

each person who the company knows beneficially owns more than 5% of Calix s common stock;

each of Calix s directors;

each of Calix s named executive officers; and

all of Calix s directors and executive officers as a group.

The percentage of ownership is based upon 38,537,854 shares of common stock outstanding as of December 7, 2010. Beneficial ownership of shares is determined under the rules of the SEC and generally includes any shares over which a person exercises sole or shared voting or investment power. Except as indicated by footnote, and subject to applicable community property laws, each person identified in the table possesses sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock held by them. Shares of common stock subject to options currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of December 7, 2010 and not subject to repurchase as of that date are deemed outstanding for calculating the percentage of outstanding shares of the person holding these options, but are not deemed outstanding for calculating the percentage of any other person.

Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner listed in the table below is c/o Calix, Inc., 1035 N. McDowell Boulevard, Petaluma, California 94954.

		Beneficial Ownership ⁽¹⁾			
	Common Stock	Options Exercisable within 60 Days	RSUs Vesting within 60 Days	Number of Shares Beneficially Owned	Percent
5% Stockholders:					
Funds Affiliated with Foundation Capital ⁽²⁾	2,943,440			2,943,440	7.64%
250 Middlefield Road					
Menlo Park, CA 94025					
Funds affiliated with TeleSoft ⁽³⁾	2,690,526			2,690,526	6.98%
950 Tower Lane, Suite 1600					
Foster City, CA 94404					
Funds affiliated with Azure Capital Partners ⁽⁴⁾	2,644,743			2,644,743	6.86%
650 California Street, 11th Floor					
San Francisco, CA 94108					
Funds affiliated with Meritech Capital ⁽⁵⁾	2,119,540			2,119,540	5.50%
245 Lytton Avenue, Suite 350					

Table of Contents

Palo Alto, CA 94301

Executive Officers and Directors:					
Carl Russo ⁽⁶⁾	5,092,537		280,000	5,372,537	13.84%
Kelyn Brannon	45,469			45,469	*
Roger Weingarth	129,636	40,160		169,796	*
Tony Banta	21,075			21,075	*
John Colvin	213,264			213,264	*
Kevin Pope	22,339			22,339	*
Don Listwin	437,282	1,250	2,266	440,798	1.14%
Michael Ashby	1,588,862	5,916		1,594,778	4.14%
Michael Everett	19,289	2,500		21,789	*
Robert Finzi ⁽⁷⁾	1,046,017			1,046,017	2.71%
Michael Flynn	14,999	5,000	2,266	22,265	*
Adam Grosser ⁽²⁾	2,943,440			2,943,440	7.64%
Michael Matthews ⁽⁸⁾					*

	Beneficial Ownership ⁽¹⁾				
		Options	RSUs	Number of	
		Exercisable	Vesting	Shares	
	Common	within 60	within 60	Beneficially	
	Stock	Days	Days	Owned	Percent
All executive officers and directors as a group (13 persons)	11,574,209	54,826	284,532	11,913,567	30.64%

- * Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1% of the outstanding common stock.
- (1) Shares shown in the table above include shares held in the beneficial owner s name or jointly with others, or in the name of a bank, nominee or trustee for the beneficial owner s account.
- (2) Represents 2,880,916 shares held by Foundation Capital V, LP and 62,524 shares held by Foundation Capital V Principals Fund, LLC. The sole general partner of Foundation Capital V, LP and Foundation Capital V Principals Fund, LLC is Foundation Capital Management Co. V, LLC. The managers of Foundation Capital Management Co. V, LLC are William B. Elmore, Adam Grosser, Paul R. Holland, Paul G. Koontz, Charles P. Moldow, Richard A. Redelfs, Michael N. Schuh and Warren M. Weiss. These individuals may be deemed to have shared voting and investment power of the shares held by Foundation Capital V, LP and Foundation Capital V Principals Fund, LLC. Each of these individuals disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares, except to the extent of his or her pecuniary interest therein.
- (3) Represents 1,449,286 shares held by TeleSoft Partners II SBIC, L.P., 1,160,747 shares held by TeleSoft Partners II QP, L.P., 78,979 shares held by TeleSoft Partners II, L.P. and 1,514 shares held by TeleSoft NP Employee Fund, L.L.C. The sole general partner of TeleSoft Partners II SBIC, L.P. is TeleSoft II SBIC-GP, Inc. The sole stockholder of TeleSoft II SBIC-GP, Inc. is TeleSoft Management II, L.L.C. The sole general partner of TeleSoft Partners II QP, L.P. and TeleSoft Partners II, L.P. is TeleSoft Management II, L.L.C. The sole general partner of TeleSoft Partners II QP, L.P. and TeleSoft Partners II, L.P. is TeleSoft Management II, L.L.C. The executive manager of TeleSoft Management II, L.L.C. is Arjun Gupta. The sole manager of TeleSoft NP Employee Fund, L.L.C. is Al Howard. Mr. Gupta may be deemed to have shared voting and investment power over the shares held by TeleSoft Partners II SBIC, L.P., TeleSoft Partners II QP, L.P. and TeleSoft Partners II, L.P. Mr. Howard may be deemed to have shared voting and investment power over the shares held by TeleSoft NP Employee Fund, L.L.P. Each of these individuals disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares, except to the extent of his or her pecuniary interest therein.
- (4) Represents 2,523,656 shares held by Azure Venture Partners I, L.P., 78,476 shares held by Azure Ventures I, L.P., 41,430 shares held by Azure Partners I, L.P. and 1,181 shares held by Azure I, L.P. The sole general partner of each of Azure Venture Partners I, L.P. and Azure Ventures I, L.P. is Azure Capital Partners VC Administrators, LLC. The general partners of Azure Capital Partners VC Administrators, LLC are Paul Ferris, Michael Kwatinetz, Cameron Lester and Paul Weinstein. The sole general partner of each of Azure Capital Partners I, L.P. and Azure I, L.P. is Azure Capital Partners CO Administrators, LLC. The general partners of Azure Capital Partners CO Administrators, LLC are Paul Ferris, Michael Kwatinetz, Cameron Lester and Paul Weinstein. These individuals may be deemed to have shared voting and investment power over the shares held by Azure Venture Partners I, L.P., Azure Ventures I, L.P., Azure Partners I, L.P. and Azure I, L.P. Each of these individuals disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares, except to the extent of his or her pecuniary interest therein.
- (5) Represents 2,085,647 shares held by Meritech Capital Partners L.P. and 33,893 shares held by Meritech Capital Affiliates L.P. The general partner of Meritech Capital Partners L.P. and Meritech Capital Affiliates L.P. is Meritech Capital Associates L.L.C. The managing member of Meritech Capital Associates L.L.C. is Meritech Management Associates L.L.C. The managing members of Meritech Management Associates L.L.C. are Paul S. Madera and Michael B. Gordon. These individuals may be deemed to have shared voting and investment power over the shares held by Meritech Capital Partners L.P. and Meritech Capital Affiliates L.P. Each of these individuals disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares, except to the extent of his or her pecuniary interest therein.
- (6) Includes 2,239,188 shares held by The Crescentico Trust, Carl Russo, Trustee, 275,633 shares held by Equanimous Investments and 73,758 shares held by Calgrat Partners, L.P. The managing members of Equanimous Investments are Carl Russo and Tim Pasquinelli. The managing partner of Calgrat Partners, L.P. is Tim Pasquinelli. These individuals may be deemed to have shared voting and investment power over the shares held by Equanimous Investments and Calgrat Partners, as applicable. Each of these individuals disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares, except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein. The address of each of The Crescentico Trust, Carl Russo, Trustee, Equanimous Investments and Calgrat Partners, L.P. is 1960 The Alameda #150, San Jose, California 95126.
- (7) Represents 982,618 shares held by Sprout Capital IX, L.P., 39,228 shares held by DLJ ESC II, L.P., 14,301 shares held by DLJ Capital Corporation, 5,986 shares held by Sprout IX Plan Investors, LP and 3,884 shares held by Sprout Entrepreneurs Fund L.P., which we collectively refer to as the Sprout Funds. The members of the investment committee of the Sprout Funds have voting and dispositive power over the shares of

common stock held by the Sprout Funds. The investment committee consists of Robert Finzi, Janet Hickey, Kathleen LaPorte, Philippe Chambon and Nicole Arnaboldi. Each of Ms. Arnaboldi, Ms. Hickey, Ms. LaPorte and Messrs. Finzi and Chambon disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares held by the Sprout Funds, except to the extent of her or his pecuniary interest therein. DLJ Capital Corporation is the managing general partner of Sprout Capital IX, L.P. and the general partner of Sprout Entrepreneurs Fund, L.P. DLJ LBO Plans Management Corporation is the general partner of DLJ ESC II, L.P. DLJ LBO Plans Management Corporation II is the general partner of Sprout IX Plan Investors, L.P. DLJ LBO Plans Management Corporation are each wholly owned subsidiaries of Credit Suisse (USA) Inc., or CS-USA. The address for the Sprout Funds is c/o Credit Suisse, Eleven Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10010.

Credit Suisse, a Swiss bank, owns the majority of the voting stock of Credit Suisse Holdings (USA), Inc., which in turn owns all of the voting stock of CS-USA. The entities discussed above are private equity funds managed by indirect subsidiaries of CS-USA and form part of Credit Suisse s asset management business. The ultimate parent company of Credit Suisse is Credit Suisse Group AG, or CSG. CSG disclaims beneficial ownership of the reported common stock that is beneficially owned by its direct and indirect subsidiaries. The address for CS-USA and CSG is Eleven Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10010.

(8) On December 7, 2010, in connection with his appointment as a member of Calix s board of directors, Mr. Matthews received an option to purchase 10,000 shares of Calix s common stock at an exercise price of \$15.20 per share and 4,533 restricted stock units. Following the grant of such option and restricted stock units, as of December 7, 2010, Mr. Matthews was the beneficial owner of no shares of Calix s common stock.

PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS OF OCCAM

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of Occam s common stock as of November 30, 2010 by:

each person who the company knows beneficially owns more than 5% of Occam s common stock;

each of Occam s directors;

each of Occam s named executive officers; and

all of Occam s directors and executive officers as a group.

The percentage of ownership is based upon 21,414,116 shares of common stock outstanding as of November 30, 2010. Beneficial ownership of shares is determined under the rules of the SEC and generally includes any shares over which a person exercises sole or shared voting or investment power. Except as indicated by footnote, and subject to applicable community property laws, each person identified in the table possesses sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock held by them. Shares of common stock subject to options currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of November 30, 2010 and not subject to repurchase as of that date are deemed outstanding for calculating the percentage of outstanding shares of the person holding these options, but are not deemed outstanding for calculating the percentage of any other person.

Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner listed in the table below is c/o Occam Networks, Inc., 6868 Cortona Drive, Santa Barbara, California 93117.

		Beneficial Ownership ⁽¹⁾ Number of		
	Common Stock	Options Exercisable within 60 Days	Shares Beneficially Owned	Percent
5% Stockholders:				
U.S. Venture Partners ⁽²⁾ 2735 Sand Hill Road, Menlo Park, CA 94025	3,110,893		3,110,893	14.5%
Ilex Partners, LLC ⁽³⁾ 650 Madison Avenue, 17th Floor, New York, New York 10022	2,839,983		2,839,983	13.3%
Norwest Venture Partners ⁽⁴⁾ 525 University Avenue, Suite 800, Palo Alto, CA 94301	2,009,662		2,009,662	9.4%
Executive Officers and Directors:				
Robert L. Howard-Anderson ⁽⁵⁾	58,208	335,230	393,438	1.8%
Jeanne Seeley	28,808	109,792	138,600	*
Mark Rumer ⁽⁶⁾	110,356	157,781	268,137	1.2%
David C. Mason	17,167	162,063	179,230	*
Russell J. Sharer	27,150	173,948	201,098	*
Greg Dion	16,046	155,750	171,796	*
Steven M. Krausz ⁽⁷⁾	3,172,497	1,000	3,173,497	14.8%
Robert B. Abbott ⁽⁸⁾	2,062,640	1,250	2,063,890	9.6%

Robert E. Bylin	52,978	16,875	69,853	*
Thomas E. Pardun	64,228	5,625	69,853	*
A.J. Bert Moyer	52,978		52,978	*
Brian Strom	58,978	16,250	75,228	*
All executive officers and directors as a group (12 persons)	5,722,034	1,135,564	6,857,598	30.4%

- * Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1% of the outstanding common stock.
- (1) Based on outstanding shares of common stock as of November 30, 2010, and includes options to acquire shares of common stock held by the named individual or entity, and all executive officers as a group, that were exercisable within 60 days after November 30, 2010.
- (2) Includes 3,110,893 shares held directly by US Venture Partners VII, L.P. (USVP VII), USVP Entrepreneur Partners VII-A, L.P. (EP VII-A), USVP Entrepreneur Partners VII-B, L.P. (EP VII-B), and 2180 Associates Fund VII, L.P. (2180 VII). Presidio Management Group VII, LLC (PMG VII), the general partner of USVP VII, EP VII-A, EP VII-B and 2180 VII, and Irwin Federman, Steven M. Krausz, Jonathan D. Root, Philip M. Young, Winston Fu and David Liddle the managing members of PMG VII, may be deemed to share voting and dispositive power over the shares held by USVP VII, EP VII-A, EP VII-B and 2180 VII. Such persons and entities disclaim beneficial ownership of shares held by USVP V, V Int 1, 2180 V and EP V except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein. Information to the number of shares held by U.S. Venture Partners is based on the Form 13D/A filed with the SEC on November 1, 2010. Also includes 23,392, 17,241 and 12,345 of restricted stock granted to Mr. Krausz on November 29, 2007, December 10, 2008 and November 18, 2009, respectively, in his capacity as a non-employee director. Also includes 8,626 shares held by Krausz Family Limited Partnership.
- (3) This information is based solely on a Schedule 13D filed with the SEC by Ilex Partners, L.L.C. on September 27, 2010. Ilex Partners, L.L.C. and Michael H. Steinhardt share voting and disposition power over these common shares. Michael H. Steinhardt is the Managing Member of Ilex Partners, L.L.C.
- (4) Includes (i) 5,518 shares of Common Stock held by Norwest Equity Capital, L.L.C. (NEC); (ii) 1,909,493 shares of Common Stock held by Norwest Venture Partners VIII, L.P. (NVP VIII); and (iii) 94,651 shares of Common Stock held by NVP Entrepreneurs Fund VIII, L.P. (NVP-E VIII). George J. Still and Promod Haque are managing partners of Itasca NEC LLC, the managing member of NEC, and may be deemed have indirect beneficial ownership of the shares held by NEC. Messrs. Still and Haque are also managing partners of Itasca VC Partners VIII, the general partner of NVP VIII and NVP-E VIII and may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of the shares held by NVP VIII and NVP-E VIII. Messrs. Haque and Still disclaim beneficial ownership of such shares except to the extent of their pecuniary interest therein.
- (5) Includes 2,698 ESPP shares purchased by Mr. Howard-Anderson August 16, 2010.
- (6) Includes 1,038 ESPP shares purchased by Mr. Rumer on August 16, 2010.
- (7) Includes 3,110,893 shares held directly by US Venture Partners VII, L.P. (USVP VII), USVP Entrepreneur Partners VII-A, L.P. (EP VII-A), USVP Entrepreneur Partners VII-B, L.P. (EP VII-B), and 2180 Associates Fund VII, L.P. (2180 VII). Presidio Management Group VII, LLC (PMG VII), the general partner of USVP VII, EP VII-A, EP VII-B and 2180 VII, and Irwin Federman, Steven M. Krausz, Jonathan D. Root, Philip M. Young, Winston Fu and David Liddle the managing members of PMG VII, may be deemed to share voting and dispositive power over the shares held by USVP VII, EP VII-A, EP VII-B and 2180 VII. Such persons and entities disclaim beneficial ownership of shares held by USVP V, V Int 1, 2180 V and EP V except to the extent of any pecuniary interest therein. Information to the number of shares held by U.S. Venture Partners is based on the Form 13D/A filed with the SEC on November 1, 2010. Also includes 23,392, 17,241 and 12,345 of restricted stock granted to Mr. Krausz on November 29, 2007, December 10, 2008 and November 18, 2009, respectively, in his capacity as a non-employee director. Also includes 8,626 shares held by Krausz Family Limited Partnership.
- (8) Includes (i) 5,518 shares of Common Stock held by NEC; (ii) 1,909,493 shares of Common Stock held by NVP VIII; (iii) 94,651 shares of Common Stock held by NVP-E VIII; and (iv) 52,978 of restricted stock granted to Mr. Abbott in his capacity as non-employee director. George J. Still and Promod Haque are managing partners of Itasca NEC LLC, the managing member of NEC, and may be deemed have indirect beneficial ownership of the shares held by NEC. Messrs. Still and Haque are also managing partners of Itasca VC Partners VIII, the general partner of NVP VIII and NVP-E VIII and may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of the shares held by NVP VIII and NVP-E VIII. Messrs. Haque and Still disclaim beneficial ownership of such shares except to the extent of their pecuniary interest therein. Mr. Abbott is a non-managing member of Itasca NEC LLC and non-managing partner of Itasca VC Partners VIII, has no voting or dispositive power with respect to the shares held by NEC, NVP VIII or NVP-E VIII, and disclaims all beneficial ownership with respect to such shares except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein.

LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the Calix common shares to be issued in connection with the merger transaction and being offered by this proxy statement/prospectus will be passed upon by Latham & Watkins LLP. Certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger transaction will be passed upon for Occam by Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati P.C. Certain investment partnerships comprised of members of, and persons associated with, Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati P.C. beneficially hold shares of Occam common stock, which represented less than 0.1% of Occam s outstanding shares of common stock on November 30, 2010.

EXPERTS

The financial statements of Calix, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2009, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009, appearing in this proxy statement/prospectus have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, as set forth in their report thereon appearing elsewhere herein, and are included in reliance upon such report given on the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

The consolidated financial statements and effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Occam Networks, Inc. and subsidiary appearing in this proxy statement/prospectus have been audited by SingerLewak LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their reports appearing elsewhere herein, and are included in reliance upon such reports, and upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

FUTURE STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

It is not expected that Occam will hold an annual meeting of stockholders for 2011 unless the merger transaction is not completed. In order to be considered for inclusion in the proxy statement for the 2011 annual meeting of stockholders, should one be held, stockholder proposals must have been submitted in writing and received by the Secretary of Occam at its principal executive offices located at 6868 Cortona Drive, Santa Barbara, California 93117 no later than December 9, 2010 and must otherwise comply with the requirements of Rule 14a-8 of the Exchange Act.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

Calix has filed with the SEC a registration statement under the Securities Act of which this proxy statement/prospectus forms a part, which registers the shares of Calix common shares, to be issued to Occam stockholders in connection with the merger transaction. The registration statement, including the attached exhibits and schedules, contains additional relevant information about Calix and its common stock. The rules and regulations of the SEC allow Occam to omit certain information included in the registration statement from this document.

Occam and Calix file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy this information at the Public Reference Room of the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the SEC s Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. You can also inspect reports, proxy statements and other information about Calix at the offices of the NYSE, 20 Broad Street, New York, New York 10005. You may also obtain copies of this information by mail from the Public Reference Section of the SEC, 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549, at prescribed rates, or from commercial document retrieval services. The SEC also maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy statements and other information about issuers, like Calix and Occam, who file electronically with the SEC. The address of the site is *www.sec.gov*. The

reports and other information filed by Calix with the SEC are also available at Calix s website at *http://investors.Calix.com*. The reports and other information filed by Occam with the SEC are also available at Occam s website at *http://www.occamnetworks.com/aboutus/investor/*. The web addresses of the SEC, Calix, and Occam have been included as inactive textual references only. Except as specifically incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus, information on those web sites is not part of this proxy statement/prospectus.

Occam stockholders requesting documents should do so by January 20, 2011 to receive them before the Occam special meeting. You will not be charged for any of these documents that you request.

Neither Calix nor Occam has authorized anyone to give any information or make any representation about the merger transaction or the respective companies that is different from, or in addition to, that contained in this proxy statement/prospectus. Therefore, if anyone does give you information of this sort, you should not rely on it. If you are in a jurisdiction where offers to exchange or sell, or solicitations of offers to exchange or purchase, the securities offered by this proxy statement/prospectus or the solicitation of proxies is unlawful, or if you are a person to whom it is unlawful to direct these types of activities, then the offer presented in this proxy statement/prospectus does not extend to you. The information contained in this proxy statement/prospectus speaks only as of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus unless the information specifically indicates that another date applies.

Annexes

Annex A: Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated as of September 16 2010, by and among Calix, Inc., Ocean Sub I, Inc., Ocean Sub II, LLC, Occam Networks, Inc.

Annex B: Opinion of Jefferies & Company, Inc.

Annex C: Section 262 of the Delaware General Corporations Law

Annex D: Support Agreement

CALIX, INC.

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	F-2
Balance Sheets	F-3
Statements of Operations	F-4
Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders Deficit	F-5
Statements of Cash Flows	F-6
Notes to Financial Statements	F-7
CALIX, INC.	

For the Nine Months Ended September 25, 2010 and September 26, 2009

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets	F-34
Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders Deficit	F-34
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations	F-35
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	F-36
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	F-37

F-1

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Calix, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Calix, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2008 and 2009, and the related statements of operations, convertible preferred stock and stockholders deficit, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in Part II, Item 21.(b). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Calix, Inc. at December 31, 2008 and 2009, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Jose, California

February 8, 2010, except for Note 17, as to which the date is March 23, 2010

F-2

CALIX, INC.

BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except par value data)

	December 31,		Pro Forma Stockholders Equity as of
	2008	2009	December 31, 2009 (See Note 1) (Unaudited)
Assets			
Current assets:			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 23,214	\$ 31,821	
Marketable securities		36,228	
Restricted cash	4,856	629	
Accounts receivable, net	32,783	46,992	
Inventory	23,397	18,556	
Deferred cost of goods sold	14,208	16,468	
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	2,247	4,018	
Total current assets	100,705	154,712	
Property and equipment, net	9,940	11,293	
Goodwill	65,576	65,576	
Intangible assets, net	12,875	6,695	
Other assets	359	2,840	
Total assets	\$ 189,455	\$ 241,116	
Liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders equity (deficit) Current liabilities:			
Accounts payable	\$ 18,490	\$ 14,635	
Accrued liabilities	16,347	28,629	
Preferred stock warrant liabilities	232	195	\$
Current portion of loan payable		3,333	
Deferred revenue	24,233	29,921	
Total current liabilities	59,302	76,713	
Loan payable	21,000	16,667	
Long-term portion of deferred revenue	4,580	6,556	
Other long-term liabilities	567	910	
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)			
Convertible preferred stock, \$0.025 par value, issuable in series: 38,760 shares authorized; 15,908 and 22,492 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2008 and 2009; aggregate liquidation preference of \$512,184 as of December 31, 2009, and			
no shares outstanding pro forma (unaudited) Stockholders equity (deficit)	426,403	479,628	
Common stock, \$0.025 par value: 62,975 shares authorized; 4,024 and 4,087 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2008 and 2009, and 32,131 shares	105	10-	
outstanding pro forma (unaudited)	100	102	803
Additional paid-in capital	43,497	52,739	531,861
Other comprehensive loss		(17)	(17)
Accumulated deficit	(365,994)	(392,182)	(392,182)

Total stockholders equity (deficit)	(322,397)	(339,358)	\$ 140,465
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders equity (deficit)	\$ 189,455	\$ 241,116	

See notes to financial statements.

F-3

CALIX, INC.

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)

	Years 2007	Years Ended December 2007 2008		
Revenue	\$ 193,819	\$ 250,463	\$ 232,947	
Cost of revenue:				
Products and services ⁽¹⁾	128,025	165,925	150,863	
Amortization of existing technologies	5,440	5,440	5,440	
Total cost of revenue	133,465	171,365	156,303	
Gross profit	60,354	79,098	76,644	
Operating expenses:				
Research and development ⁽¹⁾	44,439	44,348	46,132	
Sales and marketing ⁽¹⁾	28,439	31,627	33,486	
General and administrative ⁽¹⁾	12,103	15,253	15,613	
Amortization of intangible assets	740	740	740	
Total operating expenses	85,721	91,968	95,971	
Loss from operations	(25,367)	(12,870)	(19,327)	
Other income (expense):				
Interest income	1,094	620	245	
Interest expense	(2,330)	(2,089)	(3,867)	
Change in fair value of preferred stock warrants	1,634	1,329	37	
Other income	132	10	119	
Net loss before provision (benefit) for income taxes	(24,837)	(13,000)	(22,793)	
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	102	(81)	(352)	
Net loss	(24,939)	(12,919)	(22,441)	
Preferred stock dividends	1,016	4,065	3,747	
Net loss attributable to common stockholders	\$ (25,955)	\$ (16,984)	\$ (26,188)	
Net loss per common share:				
Basic and diluted	\$ (6.96)	\$ (4.27)	\$ (6.48)	
Pro forma basic and diluted (unaudited) ⁽²⁾			\$ (0.77)	
Weighted average number of shares used to compute net loss per share:				
Basic and diluted	3,727	3,975	4,040	
Pro forma basic and diluted (unaudited) ⁽²⁾			28,991	

(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:

Table of Contents

	Years Ended December 31,				
	2007	2008	2009		
Cost of revenue	\$ 379	\$ 619	\$ 581		
Research and development	1,852	3,189	2,657		
Sales and marketing	1,285	1,998	1,840		
General and administrative	2,738	4,134	4,118		
	\$ 6,254	\$ 9,940	\$ 9,196		

(2) Pro forma weighted average shares outstanding reflects the conversion of our convertible preferred stock (using the if-converted method) into common stock as though the conversion had occurred on the original dates of issuance. See notes to financial statements.

F-4

CALIX, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS DEFICIT

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007, 2008 AND 2009

(In thousands)

	Convertible Preferred Stock		Common Stock		Additional (Paid-in	Other Comprehensive Income	Accumulated	Total Stockholders
	Shares	Amount	Shares	Amount	Capital	(loss)	Deficit	Deficit
Balance at December 31, 2006	13,943	\$ 379,316	4,199	\$ 89	\$ 25,973	\$	\$ (323,055)	\$ (296,993)
Amortization of early exercise								
liability				7	848			855
Stock-based compensation					6,254			6,254
Exercise of stock options and								
preferred stock warrants		5	45	1	151			152
Repurchase of common stock			(72)		(16)			(16)
Issuance of Series I preferred stock,								
net of issuance costs	1,716	42,000						
Issuance of Series I preferred stock								
dividends	43	1,016					(1,016)	(1,016)
Comprehensive loss:								
Net loss							(24,939)	(24,939)
Unrealized gain on short-term								
investments						27		27
Total comprehensive loss								(24,912)
r i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i								
Balance at December 31, 2007	15,702	422,337	4,172	97	33,210	27	(349,010)	(315,676)
Amortization of early exercise	- ,	,	, .		, -		())	(, ,
liability				2	263			265
Stock-based compensation					9,940			9,940
Exercise of stock options and					- ,			- ,
preferred stock warrants	1	1	25	1	103			104
Repurchase of common stock	-		(173)	_	(19)			(19)
Issuance of Series I preferred stock			(2.2)		()			()
dividends	205	4,065					(4,065)	(4,065)
Comprehensive loss:	200	1,000					(1,000)	(1,000)
Net loss							(12,919)	(12,919)
Unrealized loss on short-term							(12,717)	(12,)1))
investments						(27)		(27)
nivestinents						(27)		(27)
Total comprehensive loss								(12,946)
rotar comprehensive 1088								(12,740)
Delense of Desembles 21, 2000	15 000	106 100	4 00 4	100	42 407		(265 00 A)	(222.207)
Balance at December 31, 2008	15,908	426,403	4,024	100	43,497		(365,994)	(322,397)
Stock-based compensation			()	0	9,196			9,196
Exercise of stock options			64	2	58			60
Repurchase of common stock			(1)		(12)			(12)
Issuance of Series I preferred stock		<u> </u>						
dividends	272	3,747					(3,747)	(3,747)
Issuance of Series J preferred stock,								
net of issuance costs	6,312	49,478						

Comprehensive loss:								
Net loss							(22,441)	(22,441)
Unrealized loss on short-term								
investments						(17)		(17)
Total comprehensive loss								(22,458)
Balance at December 31, 2009	22,492	\$ 479,628	4,087	\$ 102	\$ 52,739	\$ (17)	\$ (392,182)	\$ (339,358)

See notes to financial statements.

F-5

CALIX, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

	Years 2007	er 31, 2009	
Operating activities			
Net loss	\$ (24,939)	\$ (12,919)	\$ (22,441)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:			
Depreciation	6,201	5,423	4,942
Amortization of intangible assets	6,180	6,180	6,180
Revaluation of warrant liability	(1,634)	(1,329)	(37)
Stock-based compensation	6,254	9,940	9,196
Amortization of warrant issued to reseller	233		
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:			
Change in restricted cash		(4,856)	4,227
Accounts receivable, net	15,702	(5,228)	(14,209)
Inventory	(4,582)	(2,334)	4,841
Deferred cost of goods sold	419	13,104	(2,260)
Prepaid expenses and other assets	245	(71)	(4,252)
Accounts payable	(9,587)	1,743	(3,855)
Accrued liabilities	(3,101)	1,920	12,138
Other long-term liabilities	(291)	567	(744)
Deferred revenue	(2,973)	(17,691)	7,664
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities	(11,873)	(5,551)	1,390
Investing activities			
Acquisition of property and equipment	(5,650)	(5,427)	(5,064)
Purchase of marketable securities	(23,946)		(36,245)
Sale of marketable securities	15,670	8,276	
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	(13,926)	2,849	(41,309)
Financing activities			
Proceeds from loans		21,000	20,000
Principal payments on loans	(6,750)	(12,250)	(21,000)
Principal payments on related party loan		(4,262)	
Proceeds from preferred stock investors	57,500		49,478
Repayments to preferred stock investors	(20,000)		
Net proceeds from issuance of preferred stock	4,500		
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants	157	105	60
Repurchase of common and preferred stock	(16)	(19)	(12)
Net cash provided by financing activities	35,391	4,574	48,526
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	9,592	1,872	8,607
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	11,750	21,342	23,214
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 21,342	\$ 23,214	\$ 31,821

Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and financing activities

Table of Contents

Interest paid	\$ 2,429	\$ 1,193	\$ 4,384
Income taxes paid	\$ 230	\$ 93	\$ 39
Amortization of liability related to early exercise of common stock	\$ 855	\$ 265	\$
Conversion of loan to Series I preferred stock	\$ 37,500	\$	\$
Issuance of Series I preferred stock dividends	\$ 1,016	\$ 4,065	\$ 3,747

See notes to financial statements.

F-6

CALIX, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2008 AND 2009 AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED

DECEMBER 31, 2007, 2008 AND 2009

1. ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization

Calix, Inc. (the Company), which was incorporated in Delaware in August 1999, develops, markets and sells communications access systems and software that enable communications service providers to connect to their residential and business subscribers.

Significant Accounting Policies

Applicable Accounting Guidance

Any reference in these notes to applicable accounting guidance (guidance) is meant to refer to the authoritative nongovernmental U.S. generally accepted accounting principles as found in the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC).

Fiscal Year End

The Company operates on a 4-4-5 fiscal calendar which divides the year into four quarters with each quarter having 13 weeks which are grouped into two 4-week months and one 5-week month. The Company s fiscal year ends on December 31.

Unaudited Pro Forma Stockholders Equity

The Company has filed a Registration Statement on Form S-1 with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission for its proposed initial public offering of shares of its common stock (the IPO). When the IPO is consummated, all of the convertible preferred stock outstanding will automatically convert into 28.0 million shares of common stock based on the shares of convertible preferred stock outstanding as of December 31, 2009. In addition, the outstanding preferred stock warrants will automatically convert into warrants to purchase common stock and the preferred stock warrant liabilities of \$0.2 million as of December 31, 2009 will be reclassified to additional paid in capital. Unaudited pro forma stockholders equity, as adjusted for the assumed conversion of the convertible preferred stock and the reclassification of the preferred stock warrant liabilities, is set forth on the balance sheets.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the applicable accounting guidance requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. For the Company, these estimates include, but are not limited to: allowances for credit losses, excess and obsolete inventory, allowances for obligations to its contract manufacturer, useful lives assigned to long-lived assets and acquired intangible assets, the valuation of common and preferred stock and related warrants and options, warranty costs, and contingencies. Actual results could differ from those estimates, and such differences could be material to the Company s financial position and results of operations.

CALIX, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenue primarily from sales of its hardware products and its related software. Shipping charges billed to customers are included in revenue and the related shipping costs are included in cost of revenue.

The Company recognizes revenue under the applicable accounting guidance, as prescribed in ASC Topic 985, for software revenue recognition. Revenue is recognized when the following basic criteria of revenue recognition have been met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. The Company uses the residual method to recognize revenue when an agreement includes one or more elements to be delivered at a future date and vendor-specific objective evidence, or VSOE, of the fair value of all undelivered elements exists. Under the residual method, the fair value of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee is recognized as revenue. If VSOE of the fair value of one or more undelivered elements does not exist, all revenue is deferred and recognized when delivery of those elements occurs or when fair value can be established. Deferred revenue consists of arrangements that have been partially delivered, contracts with the U.S. Department of Agriculture s Rural Utility Service (RUS) that include installation services, special customer arrangements and ratably recognized services.

As noted above, the Company derives revenue primarily from the sales of its hardware products and related software. In certain cases, the Company s products are sold along with services, which include installation, training, post-sales software support and/or extended warranty services. Installation is typically provided shortly after delivery of the product. Training services include the right to a specified number of training classes. Post-sales software support consists of the Company s management software, including rights, on a when-and-if available basis, to receive unspecified software product upgrades to either embedded software or the Company s management software, maintenance releases and patches released during the term of the support period and product support, which includes telephone and Internet access to technical support personnel. Extended warranty services include the right to warranty coverage beyond the standard warranty period.

Revenue from installation and training services is recognized when the respective services are rendered. Revenue from post-sales software support and extended warranty services is recognized on a straight-line basis over the service contract term. The Company has established VSOE of the fair value for training, post-sales software support and extended warranty services. VSOE of fair value is based on the prices a customer pays for these elements when they are sold separately. The Company is required to exercise judgment in determining whether VSOE exists for each element in an arrangement based on whether its pricing for these elements is sufficiently consistent. The Company has not established VSOE of the fair value for its products or installation services, because the Company infrequently sells its products and installation services separately and/or the pricing of such products and installation services are not deemed to be sufficiently consistent as prescribed by the appropriate accounting guidance. Therefore, revenue from product sales is recognized upon full shipment and title transfer of all products, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met. Revenue from products that are sold in combination with installation services is deferred and recognized upon delivery of all products. In certain instances where substantive acceptance provisions are specified in the arrangement or extended return rights exist, revenue is deferred until all acceptance criteria have been met or the extended return rights expire. From time to time, the Company offers customers sales incentives, which include volume rebates and discounts. These amounts are accrued on a qua